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01. INAPA GROUP

Presence in  

8 countries

spain

portugal

France

belgium

luxembourg

materials used on the map:
Germany – cotton canvas
France – double corrugated kraft box
Belgium – paper keaykolour plain red 300 gr/m2

Luxembourg – paper chagall oceano
Spain – paper director grey 100 gr/m2

Switzerland - kraft paper natural 130 gr/m2
Portugal – sealed air bag
Angola – paper curious Metalics super gold 300 gr/m2

two consecutive years 

being considered the 

comPany with the best 

corPorate governance
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germany

angola

28 warehouses
with 12,000 sku
and 1450 employees
serving 70,000 clients
delivering 
900,000 tonnesswitzerland
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01. INAPA GROUP

group holding 
structure

32.5%

47%
Gestinapa 
SGPS, SA

100%

Inapa France, 
SAS

Inapa Portugal 
Distribuição de Papel, SA

Inapa España 
Distribución de Papel, SA

100%
Inapa Deutschland, 

GmbH

50.6%100% 99.75%

Surpapel Inapa Angola, SA

Logistipack, 
SAS

Inapa 
Belgique, SA

Papier Union, 
GmbH

Inapa Suisse, SA

99.94% 25% 100% 94.9% 67.5%

100%

Inapa Luxembourg, 
SA

Inapa Logistics 
GmbH

Inapa Viscom 
GmbH

PMF - Print Media 
Factoring, GmbH

Inapa Packaging, 
GmbH

100% 100%100%97.81% 100%

Hennessen 
& Potthoff, GmbH

HTL - Verpackung, 
GmbH 

Complott Papier Union, 
GmbH

100% 100% 100%

Europackaging 
SGPS, Lda.

100%

inapa - investimentos 
participaÇÕes 

e gestÃo sa

GrOUP hOLdING STrUcTUrE

leGend:

Holding paper packaging visual communication
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paper

visual 
communication

distribution of a complete range of products and 
services to the graphic and office customers  - paper 
(coated, offset, cutsize, digital, carbonless, board, 
envelopes, special papers), graphic supplies (plates, 
inks, chemicals), graphic supplies, factoring and logistic 
services.

distribution of a complete range of packaging products 
– boxes, films, tapes, fillers, bags, tags, machines – 
and tailor made solutions – packaging customization, 
fulfillment and logistics.

distribution of a complete range of products and 
services to the large format digital printing – printers, 
inks/tonners, media, software and technical support.

925 m2  
in saLes

packaging

5.1% 
ebit

4.5% 
ebit

paper market 
shares in 2011

inaPa is the 

4th Largest 

euroPean 

PaPer 
merchant

17% 

17% 

52% 

22% 

23% 

germany

switzerland

Portugal

France

spain

source: eugropa
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01. INAPA GROUP

message  
from  
the ceo

2011 was a challenging year for the european economy, with the 
consumers and companies levels of confidence in decline, a re-
duction in global demand and the crisis in the financial sector, 
factors that combined led to one of the worst macroeconomic 
frameworks of the past ten years.

especially in the second semester, with the loss of confidence 
among market players, the economy reflected the fears felt for 
the contagion effect from greece to other countries of the euro, 
and the risk it would represent for the future of the single cur-
rency.

in the last quarter of the year, european economy presented a 
contraction for the first time since the global recession. real 
gdp growth was lower than in 2010 and private consumption 
grew considerably weaker than the previous year.

financial markets also experienced difficulties as a result of the 
sovereign debt crisis, leading to a deterioration of credit condi-
tions for market players and increased difficulties in accessing 
credit. the reduction in financing the economy was reflected in 
rising unemployment to relevant levels and in the contraction 
of investment in advertising and promotion, key factors for the 
behaviour of paper consumption.

the paper sector reflected the difficulties experienced at a mac-
roeconomic level and registered a decrease in demand, partially 
offset by price increases, although not impacting on margins, 
which suffered a significant contraction.

given the european macroeconomic context and the sector’s 
scenario, inapa’s performance in 2011 was strongly impacted by 
exogenous circumstances and fell short of targets.

however, despite the difficult external environment, inapa 
registered a slight increase in sales, in comparison with 2010, 
reflecting the strategy that has been implemented, including 
the commitment to grow complementary businesses. sales of 
packaging produtcts solutions, visual communication products, 
graphic and office supplies have increased their contribution to 
consolidated net sales, as in the previous year, accounting for 
19% of operating results.

due to the strong competitive pressure present in the sector, 
inapa wasn’t able to pass on the full increase of the average cost 
on paper to customers, leading to a decrease in gross margin. 
this decrease explains the decrease in re-ebitda, given the in-
elasticity of operating costs.

inapa remains in a leading position in the markets where it oper-
ates, with a slight improvement in the global market share.

overall, the group’s subsidiaries which are dedicated to the pa-
per segment have presented a decrease in sales in comparison 
with the previous year, except for spain and france. companies 
dedicated to packaging and visual communication increased 
their sales. Margins presented deterioration, strongly condi-
tioned by the competition.

despite the challenging exogenous context in 2011, inapa contin-
ued the implementation of its strategic plan set out for the pe-
riod 2010-2013. among the achievements i would like to mention, 
for its relevance, the continuous optimization of working capital, 
the capital increase carried out in an adverse economic environ-
ment, the strategic partnerships celebrated, the divestment of 
non-core assets, new businesses acquisitions with potential for 
the group and improvements in operational efficiency.

“in 2011 important 

steps were taken 

towards the achieve
ment 

of the strategic
 

objective of grow
ing 

the complementary 

businesses.”

mESSAGE frOm ThE cEO
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efforts of the several subsidiaries, we were able to reduce terms 
and levels of receivables and inventories, resulting in a reduc-
tion of 27 million euros for 2010, which represents a third of the 
reduction in consolidated debt in 2011.

regarding the strengthening of the capital structure, in late oc-
tober the capital increase process, launched in 2010, was con-
cluded and resulted on an increase of approximately 54 million 
euros that were fully used in the amortization of the group’s 
debt. despite the repeated delays in this process, it reflects the 
confidence and support of shareholders and financial institu-
tions to the repositioning plan of inapa.

the group’s reduction of debt reached 75 million euros, and one 
third of this reduction was carried out through funds generated 
by operating activities of the group, as mentioned above. how-
ever, either due to the increase in spreads, or to the late com-
pletion of capital increase, the financial costs this year are not 
reflecting yet the improvement associated with debt reduction.

in 2011 important steps were taken towards the achievement of 
the strategic objective of growing the complementary business-
es. notwithstanding the results of this effort being visible only 
upon the completion of transactions, i must mention the com-
mercial partnership agreement celebrated with heidelberg for 
the sale of graphic consumables. in early 2012 the acquisition of 
seMaQ, a packaging company operating in the french market, 
was carried out. this acquisition will allow to double packaging 
sales in that market, the completion of the product portfolio and 
the full coverage of the market. also earlier this year, the ac-
quisition of fls bildsysteme vertriebs was performed, and will 
allow the consolidation of the visual communication business of 
our german subsidiary in the south of that market.

also in this context, and to strengthen the means of manage-
ment in the relevant markets, in 2011 we proceeded to the dis-
posal of the united kingdom operation, that back in 2007 had 
already been referred as non-strategic for the development of 
the group.

regarding the operational efficiency improvement, in 2011 an en-
largement of the undertakings included in the shared services 
centre located in sintra was made, along with the roll-out of the 
group’s corporate management it system and the adjustment of 
resources allocated to operations, the latter impacting on non-
recurring costs.

despite the implementation of the objectives set out in the stra-
tegic plan for the period 2010-2013, the results for the year are 
strongly determined by exogenous factors that have penalized 
companies in general, as the economic downturn and the rising 
costs of financing for companies, together with the worsening of 
the fiscal framework reflected in higher taxes through the re-
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José félix Morgado
ceo

duction of the tax deductibility of losses from prior years.

inapa was once again recognized by the strength and quality of 
its corporate governance winning for the second consecutive 
year the award for best corporate governance in portugal, by 
world finance magazine. this distinction is the recognition of 
the effort in the reorganization and adoption of best governance 
practices that inapa started in 2007.

the group is prepared for the challenges of 2012. the position 
strengthening in the european markets with greater potential, 
the improvement in the sales mix and product portfolio, together 
with the commitment to increase operational efficiency and in-
vestment in markets with greater growth potential and profit-
ability, legitimate the confidence in the achievement of a positive 
performance in the year already underway, supporting a positive 
outlook in the short and medium term.

i conclude by thanking all the employees, shareholders, custom-
ers, suppliers and financial institutions’ confidence in the com-
pany’s strategy and execution capability of the team i represent.
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inapa is one of the leading players in the paper merchanting business in europe, 
with an annual turnover of approximately 1 million euros and a relevant position 
in all markets where it operates. inapa is also the only listed company of the 
sector in europe.
inapa began its activity in 1965 in the paper production business, having di-
vested from this business in 2000 to focus on the distribution of paper. in 2007 
inapa’s areas of growth and development were considered to be the paper dis-
tribution, distribution of solutions and packaging materials alongside visual 
communication solutions, which are areas that present significant growth 
rates and contribution margins higher than in the paper business. inapa - 
investimentos, participações e gestão, s.a. is the company which consolidates 
the group’s operating companies, which act on the sectors of paper distribution, 
packaging and visual communication.

group profile

ViSuAL
communicAtion

PAckAGinG

PAPer
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01. INAPA GROUP

PAPer

paper
distribution

the european paper merchanting business represents 
about 10 million tons, a value of 10 billion euros and em-
ploys over 25,000 people.

with about 900 000 tons distributed annually, inapa holds a 
market share of around 19%, considering only those markets 
where it operates and is currently one of the leaders among the 
european paper merchants.
to meet the needs of its 70,000 customers in the eight coun-
tries in which it operates, inapa offers a portfolio of more than 
12,000 references of paper.
today inapa presents itself as a full service provider, comple-
menting the paper merchanting business with the supply of 
consumables for the printing and office industries, logistics 
services and factoring. additionally, and in order to respond 
to the increasing complexity of the graphic printing, the group 
provides its clients the support of specialized teams for techni-
cal advice.
inapa ensures a delivery service within 24 hours at any point 
in the markets where it operates, being that period within 12 
hours in the major economic centres. this level of service in-
volves more than 5000 deliveries per day and is secured from 
27 warehouses and logistics platforms.
in 2011 the paper distribution activity represented about 90% 
of inapa’s turnover and the sale of office papers represented 
about 25% of turnover.

em
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GrOUP PrOfILE . PAPEr

70.000
cLients

12.000
 sKu
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the privileged relationship with custom-
ers and the large technical expertise of 
its teams make the area of distribution of 
graphic consumables a logical extension 
of the range of graphical papers distribu-
tion. this fact, together with the knowl-
edge of customer needs, has enabled the 
group to position itself as a global sup-
plier to the printing industry and contrib-
ute to its customers’ value creation.
the turnover and penetration achieved, 
together with the recognition by custom-
ers of the value generated by this ap-
proach, justify the positive expectations 
about the growth of this business area, 
especially as this has been the segment 
which has shown more synergies with 
the area of paper distribution.
inapa’s portfolio of graphic consumables 
was developed based on partnerships 
with brands of recognized notoriety and 
includes several products, from paints 
to cleaning products, additives, printing 
blankets, sheets and coatings, among 
others, providing a portfolio of quality 
and with an offer quite comprehensive. 
in the composition of this portfolio en-
vironmental concerns were taken into 
consideration, particularly regarding 
paints, all of which are produced with 
renewable vegetable raw materials.
in the effort for the development of this 
business in 2011 inapa signed an im-
portant partnership in the segment of 
graphics consumables, with the compa-
ny heidelberg for the sale of consuma-
bles from the saphira range. heidelberg 
is the world’s leading supplier of printing 
solutions and its core business covers 
the entire production chain with equip-
ment, services and supplies for offset 
printing and digital printing solutions. 
this partnership allows us to expand the 
product portfolio and boost cross-selling 
in the current base of customers.

office supplies

in the office paper segment inapa’s 
customer base is comprised of com-
panies, offices and agencies, who have 
particular needs and a demanding level 
of service. in order to provide these cus-
tomers with one point of contact and a 
single supply source, inapa developed 
an area of distribution of office supplies.
for this purpose partnerships have been 
established with some of the relevant 
operators in this area, aiming to pro-
vide customers with the widest range of 
office supplies and a high level of ser-
vice. in this context we emphasize the 
partnership established between inapa 
portugal and liderpapel, a spanish 
group that is the exclusive distributor in 
portugal for several prestigious interna-
tional brands. through this partnership 
inapa portugal offers the market a wide 
range of office supplies, with over 8,500 
references, especially directed to the 
segment of medium-sized enterprises.
currently inapa sells office supplies in 
belgium, france, switzerland, germany 
and spain.
the future will surely be based on the 
expansion and development in those 
markets where inapa is present, with a 
very remarkable growth potential, cou-
pled with the introduction of this busi-
ness model in other countries where it 
operates.
in the office segment in 2011 stood out 
the celebration of inapa tecno’s 10th an-
niversary. this own brand continues to 
increase its visibility and contribution to 
group results.
also notable was the relaunch of the 
inapa office store in inapa switzerland, 
in partnership with waser ltd, which 
allows addressing the concept of one-
stop shop, enabling an improvement 
in efficiency and time management for 
clients.

logistics services

as a provider of services in the area of 
printing and packaging, inapa developed 
several solutions to meet the needs of 
its customers. in this sense, the provi-
sion of logistics services is an asset in 
any market where it is available, allow-
ing the increase in competitiveness of its 
customers.
with about 300 trucks into service and 
many employees to serve a storage area 
over 180 square meters - a unique offer 
with regard to storage and transporta-
tion services - inapa is able to act as a 
logistics operator for its customers, with 
the resulting efficiency gains and cost 
savings that this process allows.
inapa’s provision of logistics stands out 
by the combination of logistics expertise 
with extensive knowledge of the paper 
industry, making inapa a benchmark in 
logistics services for the printing indus-
try and manufacturing.
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01. INAPA GROUP

packaGinG

the distribution of packaging solutions and materials is 
the second most important business area of inapa. with 
operations in germany, france and portugal, this busi-

ness presents multiple synergies with the paper distribution 
and potential for cross selling, for both graphic and office cus-
tomers.
the european market for packaging distribution has a sig-
nificant size, although highly fragmented, coexisting general-
ist distributors and retail outlets, focusing on only one type of 
packaging material or a limited number. economic globaliza-
tion - with regard to specialization and geographic concentra-
tion of production, change in consumer behavior and, in par-
ticular, the increase in online sales - caused a very significant 
increase of the needs for safe, versatile and fast packaging for 
varied types of products, allowing us to foresee a sustained 
growth in the consumption in the medium to long term.
Moreover, the packaging is, in many cases, the first contact be-
tween customer, supplier and product, so the investment made 
by companies in this area should not only be maintained but 
even increased, this being an additional factor for the dynami-
zation of this segment.
inapa, alongside the distribution of packaging materials, also 
develops technologies and unique packaging concepts, offering 
customers not only the design of their unique packaging, but 
also the services of packing and logistics that may be associ-
ated.
the group anticipates an increase in the weight of the distri-
bution area of packaging materials and solutions in its consoli-
dated sales as a result of not only of the expansion of this busi-
ness segment to other geographies where inapa operates, but 
also organic growth of existing units. accordingly, in 2011 some 
decisive steps were taken, through the creation of a company in 
portugal dedicated to this segment as well as a holding company 
that will centralize and coordinate the activities of several com-
panies dedicated to the packaging segment within the group.

in early 2012 inapa took another step in the development of this 
segment by acquiring the french company semaq (société 
d’emballage of Manutention et d’aquitaine), which operates in 
the segments of packaging and storage in the south and west 
of france.

GrOUP PrOfILE . PAckAGING

packaging  
solutions and material

39m2

oF saLes

90 emPLoyees

lo
os

e 
fil

l m
at

er
ia

l



15

0
1

. I
N

A
P

A
 G

R
O

U
P

Visual  
communication

visual 
communication

new printing technologies, innovation of support materi-
als and new concepts of communication led to the crea-
tion of a specific market, still in development and with 

interesting returns on invested capital.
given this new market’s potential, and in association with the 
strong complementarity revealed with the paper business, 
inapa decided in 2007 to acquire complott, a major operator in 
the german market.
visual communication is the business segment with the high-
est growth rate in the printing industry, including not only print 
media, but also supplies, sale of printing equipment, software 
and respective maintenance.
the rapid development of digital printing technology, in combi-
nation with the large format printers, has created a new mar-
ket for graphics applications. large format printers, operating 
between 60 cm and 5 meters wide, allow the most varied type 
of prints in a wide range of media such as paper, canvas, vinyl, 
film, fabric or wood.
these developments allow for applications as varied as the 

panels of outdoor advertising, indoor advertising, sign making, 
printing for use on furniture or appliances, advertising on roofs 
of buildings and on transports.
inapa’s offer includes the distribution of a range of products 
and materials, as well as consumables, sale of printing equip-
ment (hardware), software and its maintenance (hardware and 
software).
on the german market, acting through its subsidiary, complott 
papier union, inapa is currently the 3rd largest player in the 
market.
this business’ contribution has proved to be extremely posi-
tive, justifying the favorable future expectations, both in terms 
of performance and organic growth in markets where inapa al-
ready develops this activity, either as regards the extension to 
other markets where inapa is present.
in late 2011  complott papier union acquired 100% of the share 
capital of fls bildsysteme vertriebs gmbh, located in south-
ern germany. this acquisition complements the group’s visual 
communications offer.

57 emPLoyees

26m2

oF saLes
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01. INAPA GROUP
GrOUP PrOfILE . hISTOry

history

1965

1998

1999

1969

1978

1980

1987

1989

1992

idisa foundation (spain). 
acquisition of  lucchetti 
decart (italy).

start paper production.

inapa 
foundation.

acquisition of  mafipa group 
(france, belgium, luxembourg, 
switzerland) in June. 
acquisition of  tavistock paper 
sales (uk). s.d.p. robotizes 
its main warehouse (sintra/
portugal).

acquisition of  J. gaspar 
carreira (paper merchant 
and envelope manufacturer).

shares are listed 
in the lisbon 
stock exchange.

group is restructured, 
transforming inapa in a 
holding. creation of  edições 
inapa (portugal).

acquisition 
of  sacopel 
(portugal).Paper merchant 

business expands, 

having 10 warehouses 

(5 in continental 

Portugal, 2 in azores, 

2 in spain and 1 in 

the uK).
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2002

2004

2005

2006

2008

2009

2010

2001

2011

2012

2000 launch of  first 
own-brand  
inapa-tecno.

open the new logistic 
center of  idisa, in 
leganés (madrid).  
launch of  first inapa 
group e-commerce site  
www.papel.online.pt.

acquisition of   
baumgartner  
– paper merchant in 
switzerland.

acquisition of  
olímpia – paper 
merchant in belgium.

acquisition of  
complott arte 
vertrieb – visual 
communication 
company in germany.

start-up 
of  inapa 
angola.

acquisition of  burgo 
business in spain, becoming 
the third largest paper 
merchant.

acquisition of  
semaq – packaging 
company in france.

sale of  
tavistock paper 
sales (uk).

start the construction of  
logistic center in madrid. 
papéis inapa is sold to 
papercel/portucel (february 
25). inapa focus in paper 
merchant business. 
acquisition of  papier union, 
the 3rd largest paper 
merchant in germany. 
acquisition of  buropapier 
(belgium).

acquisition of htL and hennessen & Potthoff – packaging companies in germany. acquisition of Logistipack – packaging company in France.



18

01. INAPA GROUP

markets

At the end of 2011 inapa group had operations in 
eight countries: germany, france, spain, portugal, 
switzerland, belgium, luxembourg and angola.

during the same year, inapa sold 100% of the share capital of 
tavistock paper sales ltd, thus terminating its business in the 
uk, since this operation was not considered strategic to the 
development of the group, as the strategic plan duly presented 
referred.
in all markets where it operates inapa is between the 3 most 
relevant market players. although the group has been founded 
in portugal and has its headquarters here, most of its reve-
nue comes from operations in other european countries, with 
germany and france accounting for about 78% of group rev-
enues.
the group provides a portfolio of more than 12,000 references 
of paper, 16,000 references of office supplies, 4,000 references 
of packaging and a full range of materials for visual communi-
cation and graphic supplies to its more than 70,000 customers, 
in several areas of business in which the group operates.
with over 300 trucks daily in circulation and storage area over 
180 square meters spread over 27 warehouses and logistics 
platforms, the group ensures annually the placement of about 
900 thousand tons of paper to its customers.
inapa’s subsidiaries in germany are papier union, whose sales 
accounted for approximately 51% of paper sales in the group, 
inapa packaging and complott papier union, acting in the seg-
ment of visual communication. this is the group’s largest 
market, holding a market share of approximately 17%.
inapa france is the second largest distributor, with a market 
share of approximately 23%. its sales represent about 24% of 
total sales of the group. in france inapa holds inapa france, in 
the paper business, and logistipack in the packaging business 
area.
inapa spain is currently the third largest player in the spanish 
market with a market share of approximately 23%, after the ac-
quisition of the distribution business of burgo group in spain, 
under the brand ebix, in 2010. its sales represent about 9% of 
consolidated sales of paper.
inapa portugal is the country’s leader in the paper distribution 
segment, with a market share of around 50%. the portuguese 
subsidiary’s sales represent approximately 6% of paper sales 
group.

inapa switzerland has a market share close to 17%. the com-
pany has prospered in this market by introducing innovations 
such as the online platform for customers in the office seg-
ment.
in belgium and luxembourg inapa holds affiliates of inapa 
france, which are focused primarily in the office segment, be-
ing the leading distributors of paper in this segment. combined 
sales of these geographic areas represent approximately 2% of 
total paper sales group.
angola is the latest country where the group decided to invest, 
in 2009, and the first one outside europe. this market entry 
is part of inapa’s consolidation strategy in the paper business, 
exploring the existing potential in less mature markets. the re-
sults are already very positive. last year operations in angola 
doubled its volume and are already contributing positively to 
the group’s performance.

employees per country

0,3% 

others

3%  

belux

6%  

switzerland

8%  

spain 9%  

portugal

55%  

germany

20%  

france

mArkETS
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Spain

Belgium

Switzerland

Luxembourg Angola

Germany

France

Portugal

#1

#1
oFFice

#1

#3

#3

#3

#2
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01. INAPA GROUP
STrATEGIc GUIdELINES

strategic 
guidelines

2011 was a challenging year for the european economy, paper 
merchanting business and inapa. in this context, inapa has de-
veloped a set of initiatives in the context of the implementation 
of the strategic plan submitted to the general assembly in May 
2010.
these strategic actions were designed to ensure the strong 
growth of inapa in a turbulent market environment, and consist 
of five line of actions:

(i) conSoLidAtion oF PoSition in tHe PAPer mArket: 

in the paper business inapa’s orientation for the next years, is 
based on the consolidation of the group’s position in its five 
major markets (germany, france, switzerland, spain and 
portugal). in this context, in 2010 inapa made an acquisition 
in spain (ebix) that allowed the achievement of the necessary 
dimension to ensure the profitability of the assets held in this 
market and in early 2011 divested from the united kingdom op-
eration, where it had a small niche operation.

in the sequence of the strategic guidelines defined, inapa ac-
knowledges new investment projects in nearby markets with 
growth potential and that allow the creation of value.

expansion into mature markets is not considered a priority 
given the limited available opportunities for value creation.

inapa is also commited on expanding its product portfolio, par-
ticularly through partnerships with other companies, such as 
sun chemical, spycers or lider. the agreement reached in 2011 
with heidelberg for the sale of graphic consumables is a step 
further in the implementation of this strategy envisaging the 
integrated offer of products and services to its customers.

(ii) enHAncement oF comPLementAry BuSineSSeS:

the distribution of packaging solutions and materials and visu-
al communication, integrate the complementary businesses of 
inapa, and already account for about 6.8% of revenue and about 
15% of the recurring ebitda generated by the group.

it is intended that these two business areas increase its weight 
in the group significantly, since they present operational and 

commercial synergies with the paper business and a positive 
outlook for growth and profitability.
the development of these businesses should be performed not 
only by exploring opportunities for organic growth, but also by 
means of acquisitions.

in 2011 inapa considered the opportunity for acquisition of 
semaq, which operates in the french packaging market, and 
that has incorporated in the group in early 2012.
also in the visual communication segment the acquisition of 
fls bildsysteme vertriebs gmbh was performed. this com-
pany operates in southern germany, and will contribute con-
tributing to the activity consolidation that the group has in this 
business area in the german market, where it is currently the 
third largest player.

as part of the packaging business growth and in order to cen-
tralize and coordinate the activities of the companies operating 
in this business segment, in 2011 a specific holding company 
was formed for the packaging segment, europackaging, which 
will have an autonomous management, in order to accelerate 
the growth of this business.

(iii) imPLementAtion oF A Second wAVe oF oPerAtionAL 
eFFiciency: 

despite the structure optimization performed in the last three 
years, it is essential to further improve the group’s efficiency 
in order to extract the maximum value, namely in the paper 
business. in this context inapa launched in 2010 a new wave of 
operational efficiency.

in 2011 the efforts to change the operational paradigm of the 
group continued. in this respect a reference should be made 
to the extension of the undertakings included in the shared 
services center alongside the roll-out of the enterprise re-
source planning (erp), which will act as facilitator for optimiz-
ing administrative areas and allowing an alignment in the areas 
of it and communication, procurement and financial manage-
ment.

as a result of the greater coordination in the group and of the 
changing market conditions, we highlight the integration of all 
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subsidiaries in the group’s credit insurance in 2011, allowing for 
significant overall savings.

(iV) reBALAncinG oF tHe cAPitAL Structure:

although the debt level has been reduced quite significantly, it 
is essential that inapa keeps the effort of rebuilding its capital 
structure to ensure its sustainability, reducing the burden of in-
terest bearing debt. it is our strategic goal to approach industry 
the levels in order to ensure a lower exposure of the results to 
external factors (such as the evolution of interest rates).

in this sense, and despite the difficult year for global financial 
markets, inapa proceeded to strength its social capital in 54 
million euros, which were fully geared for the amortization of 
short-term debt, after the payment of the operation costs.

 the company remains committed to rebalance its capital 
structure, using at least two thirds of the generated operating 
cash flow to repay debt.

5 strategic guideLines:

(i) consolidation of positi
on in the paper 

market;

(ii) enhancement of complementary businesses;

(iii) iimplementation of a second
 wave of 

operational efficienc
y;

(iv) rebalancing of the c
apital structure;

(v) optimization of the capit
al structure to 

achieve a roce of 12%.
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(V) oPtimizAtion oF tHe cAPitAL Structure to AcHieVe 
A roce oF 12%: 

in addition to the above mentioned measures, reducing the 
weight of working capital in sales is another measure that will 
allow the increase in the return on capital employed to levels of 
12%. in this sense inapa continues to promote various actions 
aiming to achieve optimal levels of capital to fund its business.

in the year 2011, and as a result of efforts made by the group, 
there was a reduction of eur 27 million in working capital.

the achievement of this strategic plan will transform inapa’s 
profile, making it less dependent of a lower margins business 
and with limited growth prospects, and will certainly strength-
en the group’s sustainability and value creation for sharehold-
ers and other stakeholders.
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inapa - investimentos, participações e gestão, sa

rua castilho, n.º 44 -3 .º, 1250-071 lisboa

www.inapa.pt
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statutory bodies

GenerAL meetinG oF SHAreHoLderS

João Vieira de Almeida – chairman
Sofia Barata – secretary

BoArd oF directorS

chairman
Álvaro João Pinto correia | age - 79
election year - 2010

Vice-chairman of the Board / ceo
José manuel Félix morgado | age - 51
election year - 2007

member of the Board / executive committee
António José Gomes da Silva Albuquerque | age - 59
election year - 2010 

member of the Board / executive committee
Jorge manuel Viana de Azevedo Pinto Bravo  | age - 49
election year - 2010

member of the Board / executive committee
Arndt Jost michael klippgen | age - 61
election year - 2007

member of the Board / chairman of Audit 
committee
emídio de Jesus maria |  age - 60
election year - 2008

member of the Board / Audit committee
Acácio Jaime Liberado mota Piloto | age - 54
election year - 2010

member of the Board / Audit committee
eduardo Gonzalo espinar Fernandez | age - 49
election year - 2010

executiVe committee oF tHe BoArd 
oF directorS 

José manuel Félix morgado – chairman 
Arndt Jost michael klippgen – sourcing and Marketing
António José Gomes da Silva Albuquerque - finance
Jorge manuel Viana de Azevedo Pinto Bravo  
- operations

Audit committee

emídio de Jesus maria – chairman
Acácio Jaime Liberado mota Piloto – Member 
eduardo Gonzalo espinar Fernandez – Member 

cHArtered AccountAnt And 
AuditorS
 
Pricewaterhousecoopers & Associados, Sroc, Lda 
represented by José Pereira Alves
alternate chartered accountant - José manuel 
Henriques Bernardo

remunerAtionS committee

mário Alberto duarte donas – chairman
maria Amália Freire de Almeida, representing 
Parpública
rui manuel Alexandre Lopes, representing 
millennium BcP
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pursuant to a resolution of the general assembly of shareholders dated 31 May 2007, the company adopted the provisions of sub-
paragraph b) of paragraph 1 of article 278 of the csc (portugal’s companies act) as its administration and supervisory governance 
model, which comprises a board of directors, an audit committee, and a chartered accountant and auditor.

The composiTion of The 
aforemenTioned sTaTuTory bodies 
is as follows:
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corporate governance

in conformance with the provisions of the corporate governance model adopted, and in broad terms, the following powers are 
attributed to the above mentioned corporate governance bodies:

•	 the Board of directors represents the company and manages its business operations but in this instance, it is subjected to 
the resolutions of shareholders and to instructions issued by the Audit committee where applicable legislation or the pro-
visions of the company’s Articles of Association so dictate, as well as deliberates on the matters set out in the provisions of 
Sub-paragraphs a) to n) of Article 406 of the companies Act, and:

•	 delegates the day-to-day management of the company and any other powers it may deem fit to delegate on an executive 
committee of the board by special resolution to the effect;

•	 delegates, subject to the limitations set out in applicable legislation, specific management powers on one or more of the 
directors of the company under necessarily defined limits;

•	 resolves on whether to issue binding instructions to subordinated companies, in conformance to the provisions and subject 
to the limitations set out in applicable legislation;

•	 resolves on the plan and budget of the company and its subordinated companies, under recommendation of the executive 
committee;

•	 Makes investment or disinvestment decisions of relevance concerning and to be effected by subordinated companies;
•	 resolves on the acquisition and sale of majority or controlling shareholding interests as well as on transactions that are 

subject to special purchase and sale proceedings in compliance with the provisions of the securities Market code (“codvM”);
•	 resolves on possible company splits, mergers, or dissolution transactions by subordinated companies or companies where 

inapa holds an interest;
•	 resolves on any matter that any of its directors may submit to the board for resolution;

in this regard, it is important to note that, per the adopted corporate governance model, non-executive directors have a duty to 
monitor the performance of the executive and audit committees, to air their views on matters that fall under the scope of duties of 
the board where they sit or that may be submitted to it by either of the aforementioned committees, and to act in an advisory role 
to the company’s executive management, which role is of the most relevance since it is based on an in-depth knowledge of the 
matters at hand while sufficiently distanced from the demands and constraints of daily management.

cOrPOrATE GOvErNANcE
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board of direcTors
leFt to right: 
acácio piloto, emídio maria, 
Jorge bravo, arndt Klippgen, 
José Félix morgado, Álvaro 
pinto correia, antónio 
albuquerque, eduardo espinar.

generaL assembLy
oF sharehoLders

remunerations
committee

executive committee

board oF directors

José félix Morgado (chairman) 

arndt klippgen 

antónio albuquerque | Jorge bravo

Álvaro correia (chairman of the board | José Morgado (vice-chairman of the board ) 

antónio albuquerque | Jorge bravo | arndt klippgen

emídio Maria | acácio piloto | eduardo espinar 

audit
committee
emídio Maria  (chairman) 

acácio piloto | eduardo espinar

revisor 
oFiciaL de contas

pricewaterhousecoopers &  

associados, sroc, lda
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the performance of those duties by the members of the board of 
directors acting in a non-executive capacity has been relevant in 
ensuring that this governance model performs adequately, and, 
to date, no constraints have arisen on that account.

•	 the executive committee of the Board of directors is res-
ponsible for the day-to-day management of the company 
and for the following additional duties:
•	 setting out plans for implementation of the company’s 

and group policies, objectives, and strategy for approval 
by the board of directors;

•	 setting out general guidelines concerning the company’s 
internal organization for approval by the board of 
directors;

•	 present operational budgets, medium and long-term 
investment and development plans, for approval by the 
board of directors;

•	 approving contracts for the procurement of goods and 
services up to a limit of 500,000.00 euros or less, per cat-
egory of goods or services;

•	 negotiating and contracting short-term bank finance 
agreements to fund the company, subject to terms and 
conditions that most adequately suit the interests of the 
company.

•	 negotiating bank finance agreements of a term longer 
than a year and a day to fund the company and its sub-
ordinated companies and the issuing of corporate bonds 
and commercial paper programs, for which purpose a 
binding of the company under any such transactions shall 
be made expressly conditional to a prior resolution of the 
board of directors to the effect;

•	 purchasing, selling, and pledging goods or assets ac-
counted for as fixed assets of the company in conform-
ance with budgets approved by the board of directors;

•	 purchasing, selling, and pledging goods or assets ac-
counted for as fixed assets of the company not included in 
budgets approved by the board of directors up to a value 
of 1.5% percent of realized share capital per item and up 
to a limit of 5% of the aforementioned capital, per annum;

•	 renting or letting out any buildings or sectional title prop-
erties;

•	 represent the company in court and elsewhere, actively 
or passively, as well as propose and pursue actions, con-
fess them and give up, settle and engage in arbitration;

•	 purchasing, selling, or pledging shares in other compa-
nies, provided the transactions in question are included 
in the budget or in approved action plans not exceeding a 
limit of 5,000,000.00 euros per transaction, above which 
limit prior approval from the board of directors shall be 
required;

•	 entering into, amending, and terminating employment 
contracts and exercising powers of discipline over the staff;

•	 opening, transacting, and closing bank accounts;
•	 appointing duly mandated representatives of the company.

•	 the Audit committee has the following duties:
•	 supervising the administration of the company;
•	 ensuring due compliance with the law and the provi-

sions of the articles of association;
•	 verifying due compliance of the accounting books, re-

cords, and supporting documentation;
•	 verifying, as and when it may deem fit and in the manner 

it may find appropriate, cash balances and stocks of any 
type of goods or assets owned by the company or held in 
lieu of security or in trust or under any other entitlement;

•	 verifying the accuracy of the financial statements;
•	 verifying whether the accounting policies and valuation 

criteria adopted by the company are conducive to appro-
priately representing its assets and results;

•	 compiling an audit report on its audit and supervisory 
action and issuing an opinion on that report and ac-
counts and proposals of the board of directors, on an 
annual basis;

•	 convening a meeting of the general assembly of 
shareholders, should its chairman fails to do so, having 
a duty to so act;

•	 auditing the efficacy of the risk management system, the 
internal control system, and the internal audit system;

•	 being the recipient of reports on irregularities which 
shareholders, employees or the company, or other par-
ties may submit;

•	 auditing the process of preparation and disclosure of fi-
nancial statements;

•	 recommending to the general assembly of shareholders 
the appointment of a chartered accountant and auditor;

•	 supervising the audit of the financial statements of the 
company;

•	 supervising the chartered accountant and auditor’s 
independence, namely with regard to provision of addi-
tional services;

•	 notifying the office of the public prosecutor of any con-
traventions of the law constituting a public crime of 
which it may have become aware;

•	 contracting for the provision of expert services in order 
to assist one or more of its members in the performance 
of their duties.

the chartered Accountant and Auditor have the following du-
ties: under the law, verifying due compliance of the accounting 
books, records, and supporting documentation; verifying, as and 
when he or she may deem fit and in the manner he or she may 
find appropriate, cash balances and stocks of any type of goods 
or assets owned by the company or held in lieu of security or in 
trust or under any other entitlement; verifying the accuracy of 
the financial statements; and verifying whether the accounting 
policies and valuation criteria adopted by the company are con-
ducive to correctly representing its assets and results.

cOrPOrATE GOvErNANcE
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% of capital 
in ordinary 

shares

no.of ordinary 
shares

% VotinG 
riGhts

49,084,738

27,361,310

16,491,898

10,869,412

3,000,000

79,446,048

32.72%

18.24%

10.99%

7.25%

2.00%

52.96%

32.72%

18.24%

10.99%

7.25%

2.00%

52.96%

the volume of shares traded during the year 2011 stood at 27 million shares, which represents about 18% company’s share capital. 
no new qualified holdings in conformance with the provisions of article 16 of the cvM code were announced during the financial 
year and the position remained unchanged by its close.
total qualified holdings account for 52,96% of share capital, meaning a free-float of 47,04%.

Parpública – Participações Públicas SGPS, SA

Shares attributable to Millennium BCP

(article 20 of CVM)

   Pensõesgere – Fundo de Pensões do Grupo BcP

Banco comercial Português SA

Nova Expressão SGPS, SA

Total
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as oF december 31, 2011,  
shareholders  
with qualiFied holdings  
in conFormity with the 
revisions oF articles 16 oF 
the cvm were as Follows:
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human resources

in a year marked by continued high unemployment rate in most european countries, inapa although adapting its structure to 
market conditions, as well as to the evolution of the business of each company, gave priority to maintaining the highest possible 
number of jobs .

indeed, the average number of employees of all group companies stood at 1,455 in 2011, a decrease of 7 employees compared to 
1,462 recorded in the same date last year. 

reflecting the composition of the business, 87% of the total 
workforce is engaged in the paper distribution area of the five 
major markets where inapa operates.

when analyzed per country, and with reference to the group’s 
total business, germany accounts for 54% of the group’s total 
staff members, much in line with the number it had already 
reached in 2009 and with its share of consolidated turnover.

france, the group’s second largest market with a share of 23% 
of turnover, is similarly the group’s second largest employer 
with 288 staff members, accounting for 20% of total personnel.

in spain, with the acquisition of the burgo business and the 
restructuring of the operation, the number of employees went 
from 118 to 110, representing a 7% decrease over the same pe-
riod last year. with this reduction, spain now accounts for 8% 
of the total employees.

portugal, including the staff of the group’s holding company, em-
ploys 134 staff members and accounts for about 9% of total staff.

switzerland with 81 employees showed a decrease of nine em-
ployees over the same period and represents about 6% of total 
group.

2008 2009 2010 2011

714

284

109

106

83

39

5

4

n.a.

3

70

21

27

24

1,489

689

277

99

110

86

37

5

4

5

3

70

22

54

23

1,484

663

264

90

105

118

33

4

2

5

3

68

25

57

25

1,462

662

263

81

108

110

33

4

n.a.

5

3

72

25

63

26

1,455

Papier union

inapa France

inapa Switzerland

inapa Portugal

inapa Spain

inapa Belgium

inapa Luxembourg

tavistock

inapa Angola

PmF

inapa Packaging

carton Service

inapa Viscom

iPG

evoluTion of employees’ per Group subsidiary 

hUmAN rESOUrcES
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the remaining countries account for 3% of total group person-
nel, with their 42 staff members.

when personnel is desagregated per business segment, it is to 
be noted that paper distribution accounts for 89%, the packag-
ing business accounts for 6%, visual communication for 4%, 
and shared services and the holding company jointly account 
for 2%, respectively, of the group’s total personnel.
 
given the group’s commercial nature, logistic and transport 
and sales and marketing are the most representative func-
tional areas with a share of about 40% and 37% of the total staff 
respectively. administrative and back-office areas account for 
16% of the total staff.

board Members and senior management account for around 
6% of the group’s total personnel.

the distribution of the staff remained roughly unchanged when 
compared to 2010.
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Paper merchanting is the core business of the inapa group 
and, as such, the group acts as a conduit between up-
stream paper producers and downstream intermediate 

paper consumers (namely companies and paper manufactur-
ing industries, such as printers, advertisers, media companies, 
and newspaper and book publishers, inter alia), modern dis-
tributors (large-scale suppliers and specialized retail chains), 
and end consumers (companies in the office segment and in-
dividuals).

therefore, inapa is subject to the risks inherent to the eco-
nomic sector where it operates and especially to fluctuations 
in the price of paper, short-term imbalances between the de-
mand and supply, trends in paper consumption patterns, and 
the performance of the economy in general.

in this context, the most relevant risks to which inapa is ex-
posed while conducting this business are associated with its 
capacity to pass changes in the purchase price of paper and in 
its operating costs on to customers via selling prices, particu-
larly highlighting costs relative to logistics, warehousing, and 
transport.

Moreover, the paper merchanting business is sensitive to 
changes in the behavioral patterns of the demand for paper, 
mainly in segments such as advertising and the media, and to 
changes in the structure of paper distribution.

balance between supply and demand is a function of a number 
of factors, among which trends in installed production capacity 
and the level of overall economic activity are worth mentioning.

inapa group’s ability to pass paper price and/or oil price in-
creases on to its customers via the selling prices of its products 
or the fees it charges for the services it provides is not fully 
elastic, and straight margins on products sold and the net con-
tribution of services rendered may be adversely impacted by 
such adverse trends, with the result that transport costs asso-
ciated with its delivery services may increase and consequently 
adversely impact on the group’s performance, financial situa-
tion, and earnings.

inapa has at its disposal some means of mitigating this risk, 
among which stands out their systems, which in the sales 
process, introduce various levels of authority according to the 
margin generated by the operation.

developments in the productive capacity of various geographi-
cal markets, trends in the demand for paper in emerging 
economies such as china and india and its impact on suppliers 
to those markets, the impact of exchange rate fluctuation on 
the competitiveness of the various markets, and a number of 
regulatory issues that affect the world paper trade are all fac-
tors which, either in combination or in isolation, may directly or 
indirectly impact the performance of the company, its financial 
situation, and its earnings performance.

furthermore, the paper merchanting business has under-
gone structural changes in recent years, as a result of merg-
ers among paper merchants, especially in europe. competitor 
moves may directly or indirectly impact the company’s future 
strategic decisions and, therefore, its positioning in each par-
ticular market and, consequently, affect economic and finan-
cial returns and asset allocation.

given the fact that inapa conducts its business in seven 
european countries, and, since 2009, in angola as well, in con-
junction with the fact that about 95% of its total turnover is 
sourced in foreign markets, the company is naturally exposed 
to risks arising as a result of the specific performance of the 
economies of the countries where it operates, notwithstanding 
the fact that the very nature of that exposure may equally con-
stitute a risk-mitigating factor as a result of the low probability 
that exactly the same economic performance pattern will occur 
at once in every one of those markets.

risk factors

as a credit risk mitigation 

factor, inapa contracted in 

2011, a credit insurance 

policy to cover for credit 

risk of its operating 
subsidiaries with a major 

insurance company in 
europe. 

rISk fAcTOrS
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its currency risk exposure is limited but real on account of 
the fact that its aggregate turnover in currencies other than 
euro (namely swiss franc; us dollar and angolan kwanza) ac-
counts for less than 7.2% of the group’s total turnover.

as it is the case with any other company or group of compa-
nies, inapa’s performance depends on its ability to retain its 
customer base.

in addition to serving quite a significant client base – of over 
70,000 customers – that are widely distributed from a geo-
graphical perspective and to offering a wide range of competi-
tive, top-quality products and appropriate service levels, inapa 
has been developing a customer loyalty program aimed at its 
traditional clientele through a comprehensive offer of products 
and services that complement its core business with a view to 
increasingly assert itself as a global paper service provider.

the impact on local economies of a downturn in the world 
economy may make it difficult for customers of the inapa 
group to meet their obligations towards the group.

as a credit risk mitigation factor, inapa contracted in 2011, a 
credit insurance policy to cover for credit risk of its operat-
ing subsidiaries with a major insurance company in europe. 
this insurance covers the five major countries of the group 
(germany, france, switzerland, portugal and spain), thus cov-
ering about 90% of group sales.

regardless of the coverage contemplated above, inapa also 
manages credit risk by acting as follows: each group subsidi-
ary has its credit committee composed by the ceo, cfo and 
head of sales and purchases; credit limits are defined and re-
corded in the computer system and inhibit new orders which 
limit is fully utilized; limits of credit granting are subject to an-
nual review and / or whenever there is some relevant infor-
mation arising from the recommendation of the internal and 
external monitoring systems ; approval of sales above the de-
fined credit limits are subject to board approval.

a slowdown in economic growth rates or a falling in consumer 
and producer confidence indexes may, in turn, lead to a slow-
down or fall in the paper demand, namely the demand for writ-
ing and printing paper, thereby adversely affecting its opera-
tions, sales, earnings, and the overall financial standing of the 
inapa group.

the inapa group’s ability to successfully implement the strat-
egy it devised is a function of its ability to retain, and if neces-
sary to hire, the most competent and adequately skilled staff 
to perform each duty.

although the inapa group’s human resources policy strives to 
reach these objectives, it is not possible to guarantee that con-
straints may not arise in that regard.

inapa awards supplemental retirement and subsistence pen-
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sion benefits to the personnel of its subsidiaries inapa france, 
logistipack, inapa switzerland and papier union, having duly 
accounted for the inherent expenses and costs associated 
with such benefits in accordance with the specifications of 
international accounting standard 19 (ias 19).

the balance reported in the consolidated accounts under li-
abilities for pension benefits is based on preset assumptions 
on mortality rates, whereas the beneficiaries of the pension 
fund schemes in question may live longer than what such as-
sumptions accounted for and, as such, may draw benefits from 
the pension fund in excess of the provisions for such benefits. 
therefore, liabilities for pension benefits may have an adverse 
impact on cash flows.

as regards the consolidation of accounts, inapa has methods to 
mitigate internal and external risks.

internally, the holding company has a team that sets the ac-
counting policies to be used in the group, validates all the 
movements of consolidation of each company and controls the 
processing of local accounts under ifrs. additionally, all com-
panies report their monthly accounts to the group’s holding 
company (income statements and balance sheets), enabling to 
monitor regularly the progress of the accounts of each group 
company. 

inapa group’s Finance 

department strives to 

manage the impact of 

changing interest r
ates on 

the group by monitoring 

market developments on an 

ongoing basis and by
 being 

in a position to contr
act 

the type of financia
l 

instruments employed to 

mitigate the impact of 

interest rate volatil
ity.

externally, in order to mitigate the risks arising from the clas-
sification into different accounting categories, proper account-
ing and consolidation reports of each company and criteria, we 
chose to use a common auditor in the main geographical regions 
in which inapa operates, in this case pricewaterhousecoopers. 
the work done by the holding company is also subject to verifi-
cation by the same external auditor, ensuring the adequacy and 
transparency of the consolidated accounts.

in the future, inapa may be a party in litigation arising from 
the conduct of its business, including legal proceedings which 
may have been ruled in favour of the group, fully or partially, or 
sentences that may be subject to recourse or petition for their 
annulment by the counterparties in conformance with applica-
ble legal procedure and until that time as such sentences have 
been upheld in a court of final appeal.

at present, the main legal suit to which inapa is a party con-
cerns a petition under ordinary procedure filed by papelaria 
fernandes – indústria e comércio, sa, in august 01, 1997, which 
claim has been valued at 24,459,906.14 euros, relative to events 
occurring from 1991 to 1994.

in the aforementioned legal suit, and in essence, papelaria 
fernandes is petitioning to be declared null the contracts and 
transactions entered into during the above mentioned period 
by the group and papelaria fernandes. notwithstanding the 
group’s firm belief that it is right, inapa cannot guarantee that 
the court case in question will be ruled in its favour or that any 
other such legal suits relative to its operations will be ruled in 
its favour in the future. unfavourable rulings on legal suits filed 
against it may have an adverse impact on the operations, finan-
cial situation, and earnings performance of the inapa group.

the inapa group’s operations require investments. it is inapa’s 
intention to partly fund those investments with cash resources 
generated from operations. however, should its operations fail 
to generate sufficient cash resources, inapa may be required 
to partly fund the envisaged investments with funding raised 
from external sources, including bank finance and bond issues.

in addition, the inapa group is exposed to a number of other 
risks, namely liquidity risk, interest rate risk, market risk on the 
price of raw materials, operating risk, and other risks.

interest expense on most of the inapa group’s financial indebt-
edness bears interest at rates linked to variable market rates, 
on account of which inapa is exposed to market risk on changes 
in interest rates.

considering that inapa does not hedge its exposure to adverse 
changes in market interest rates, such changes may, in turn, 
have an adverse impact on its performance, financial situation, 
and earnings.

rISk fAcTOrS
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group’s finance department strives to manage the impact of 
changing interest rates on the group by monitoring market de-
velopments on an ongoing basis and by being in a position to 
contract the type of financial instruments employed to mitigate 
the impact of interest rate volatility.

in a context of sector consolidation, inapa may be the target of a 
public tender offer. under such a scenario, significant changes 
to inapa’s current strategy may occur with consequent reper-
cussions for its various businesses and the markets it serves.

despite the fact that the group has been implementing strin-
gent risk management methodologies to manage every type of 
risk to which it is exposed, in the event of exceptionally adverse 
scenarios materializing, the policies and procedures employed 
by inapa to identify, monitor, manage, and mitigate such risks 
may prove not to be fully effective.

the company believes that it is sufficiently equipped to effec-
tively control the risks arising from the business conducted by 
the company and the companies it controls, and deems that 
the actions being conducted by the heads of its Management 
control and finance departments, who have been specifically 
charged to manage its risks, particularly inapa group’s liquidity 
risk, are effective.

inapa manages the group’s liquidity risk by following a twofold 
approach: striving to structure the group’s financial indebted-
ness to feature a large percentage of medium and long-term 
debt of a maturity that adequately matches its ability to gen-
erate cash resources; and resorting to credit facilities it may 
draw on at any time (credit facilities on current accounts); 
treasury management is done locally in each group company 
supervised by the holding company, the cash flow forecast is 
regularly updated and monitored to avoid potential deviations.

in the course of conducting inapa’s normal business, and ow-
ing to its organizational structure, the group is subject to cer-
tain operational risks, including possible interruptions in the 
services it renders or delays in providing such services, omis-
sions, errors.

those risks are monitored by the company on an ongoing ba-
sis by means of the administrative and information systems it 
implemented for that purpose, having also arranged for insur-
ance policies to cover certain operational risks.

inapa group’s operations are also dependent on it processing. 
it processing involves the storing and processing of financial 
reporting records, monitoring and control records from its 
logistics, warehousing, and delivery services, and internal ac-
counting records.
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notwithstanding its ongoing assessment of the condition of its 
computer systems and the fact that their capacity has proven 
to be reliable, it is not possible to absolutely guarantee a full 
identification and timely redressing of every single issue con-
cerning its information technology systems or the unqualified 
success of every single implementation of a technological en-
hancement to such systems.

in this scenario, there could be significant changes in the cur-
rent strategy of inapa with implications for the several busi-
nesses and markets where it operates.

inapa group may be adversely affected by amendments to 
ruling legislation and to other tax legislation applicable in 
portugal, the european union, and the particular countries 
where it operates.

the inapa group’s units are subject to risks that are inher-
ent to the conduct of any economic activity, such as accidents, 
faults, or natural catastrophes that may cause damages to the 
group’s assets or a temporary interruption of its trading activi-
ties.
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social and 
environmental 
responsibility

 
enVironmental 
responsiBility

environmental sustainability is one of the pillars of inapa’s 
corporate culture and is shared and developed in all markets 
where it operates through four main principles: obtain environ-
mental certification of its subsidiaries, reduce levels of co2, 
employ renewable energies and design and supply waste pro-
cessing solutions to its customers.

certiFicAtion oF enVironmentAL comPLiAnce 

since 2007 inapa has been making a significant investment in 
environmental certification of its subsidiaries.
inapa deutschland/papier union, inapa france, inapa 
switzerland and inapa spain have completed their certification 
processes, followed by inapa portugal, that completed its cer-
tification of iso 9001 Quality standard in early 2011, providing 
products and services that meet the requirements and satis-
faction of its customers including processes for continual im-
provement of its systems, and iso 14001 environment standard, 
which ensures a more effective management of environmental 
aspects of its business activities, taking into consideration en-
vironmental protection, pollution prevention, compliance with 
legal and socio-economic needs.
as a result of this quality of service and environment policy, 
inapa portugal is the first paper merchant in portugal to obtain 
these certifications, further preparing for the next step, to ob-
tain the fsc and pefc certification.
through fsc (forest stewardship council) and pefc 
(programme for the endorsement of forest certification) certi-
fications inapa ensures that paper sent to its warehouses, and 
that contain certification symbols, come from sustainably man-
aged forests. inapa has one of the widest ranges of certified 
papers, including offset papers, coated fine papers and card-
boards, enabling a competitive response to the needs of our 
customers. through its range of recycled papers and commer-
cial activity, inapa also has a positive contribution with regard 
to preserving the environment. this choice reflects our concern 
to contribute to an environmentally sustainable policy, not only 
of inapa but also for our customers.

in 2011, alongside the celebration of the 10th anniversary of the 
own label inapa techno, the ecological performance indica-
tor was released. this indicator appears on the packages of 
techno paper with relevant information and assessment of en-
vironmental performance based on criteria such as the origin 
of the fibres, air pollution and water and waste to landfill. 
also the own label inapa oxygen, marketed by inapa france, 
assumes a strong commitment in communicate with the mar-
ket, providing its customers all the necessary information to 

speaking about 
social responsability is 
discussing the role of 
corporations in building 
a common future

inapa tecno environmental performance indicator.
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enable them to make an environmentally responsible pur-
chase and making available a range of compatible products. to 
achieve this goal the brand has its own website, which exposes 
all the relevant information.

SuStAinABLe enVironment

regarding sustainability, inapa is already in a final stage of the 
preparation of the carbon balance in its most relevant opera-
tions, namely germany and france.
transport plays a relevant role in the distribution activity, so 
inapa has assumed strategic options with a view to preserving 
the environment also in this operational area. among the vari-
ous actions we highlight the fleet used for distribution. given 
the fact that the majority of group companies do not have its 
own fleet, inapa imposes to its suppliers of transport services a 
requirement of compliance with the standards for the emission 
of co2 ruling in the european union. regarding the group’s 
fleet, whose weight in the total transport is residual, inapa uses 
blue tec vehicles, which consists in adding adblue to diesel, 
thus substantially reducing the emission of co2.
the group’s motto is: “our paper is ecologically certified, as 
are our delivery trucks which employ bluetech technology – for 
nature’s protection.”
in germany, papier union has recently begun efforts in order 
to determine and publish its environmental footprint, which is 
expected to occur in 2012.

renewABLe enerGieS

the use of alternative energy sources, environmentally clean, 
is another of the measures implemented in the warehouses 
and offices of the group. an example is the installation of solar 
panels in the group’s warehouses, alongside the use of renew-
able energies in the two largest warehouses in germany.
all subsidiaries, in several countries, aim to increase the use 
of alternative energy sources that are more efficient, to achieve 
reductions in consumption and, that are more eco-friendly.

SuPPLy cHAin

inapa is aware of the importance of promoting environmental 
sustainability throughout the paper chain - starting in the for-
est, through production to distribution. in some cases, internal 
and external checks and confirmations are made in order to 
validate that all the procedures are environmentally sustain-
able.
under this policy it should be noted that inapa switzerland was 
one of the first european merchants to obtain the supply chain 
certification according to the procedures of iso 9001. the case 
of papier union should also be mentioned as the company aims 
to have its supply chain certified in 90% over the next year, hav-
ing already certified about 90% of the chain of main suppliers 
(representing approximately 80% of sales).

wASte mAnAGement

as regards to waste management, inapa has in progress the 
development of a set of initiatives to offer its customers cost 
effective solutions and effective treatment of their waste. for 
example inapa france provides waste collection and treatment 
services in partnership with veolia.

social responsiBility

inapa faces social responsibility as a contribution to the con-
struction of a sustainable future, fair and balanced, reason why 
solidarity actions are part of the culture and management of 
inapa in the various countries where it operates.
on behalf of the employees and shareholders, the group takes a 
socially responsible attitude because it believes small gestures 
make a difference and can improve a life path. through its sub-
sidiaries, the group responds each year to a set of requests 
from organizations to support social, cultural and sports at a 
local, national or international range.
inapa is a member of the reflection and support to corporate 
citizenship group (grace) and integrates association epis - 
entrepreneurs for social inclusion.
in 2011 inapa employees made donations to institutions as 
banco alimentar contra a fome (food bank), appacdM 
(portuguese association of parents and friends of Mentally 
retarded citizens), caritas and unicef. patronage offerings 
were also made to pixel reply and the associations tiflos and 
Mãos unidas do padre damião.
still regarding the social policy, we mention the granting 
of scholarships to young people of portuguese speaking 
countries, donations to the foundation city of lisbon and to 
karacter, an organization dedicated to social inclusion pro-
jects, as well as the support for the belgian cancer foundation 
in belgium.
social responsibility is already a part of inapa’s corporate cul-
ture in the sense of promoting the welfare of communities and 
agencies with which it relates, from the perspective of having 
them participating in the generated value.



37

0
1

. i
n

a
p

a
 g

r
o

u
p

S
O

c
IA

L 
A

N
d

 E
N

v
Ir

O
N

m
E

N
TA

L 
r

E
S

P
O

N
S

Ib
IL

IT
y

 



Inapa is the fourth largest European paper merchant, with a lead-
ership position, in the top three in Germany, France, Switzerland, 
Spain and Portugal.

It offers to its customers a diversified product range (paper, 
graphic and office supplies) from several brands (including own 
brands), delivering to the majority its customers in less than 24 
hours.

PAPEr
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11/10

-3.2%

0.6%

-4.0%

-0.9 p.p.

3.5%

-56.6%

-25.1%

-o.8 p.p.

-27.9%

-0.6 p.p.

+26.8%

-138%

-310%

-1.8 p.p.

+39.0%

11/10

-17.6%

-0.9 x

-12.7%

MAin consolidAtEd
businEss indicAtors

Glossary

Re-EBITDA: Recurrent results before depreciation and 
amortization, non-current cost, financial costs and taxes

Re-EBITDA margin: Re-EBITDA/ Sales

EBIT margin: EBIT/ Sales

Net debt: Medium and long term loans + short term 
loans + fixed asset supplies + financial leases - cash and 
cash equivalents

Working capitals: Clients + Stocks - Suppliers

Market capitalization: number of shares x stock price

ROCE: Re-EBITDA/ (Tangible fixed assets + non current 
investments + working capital)

Interest coverage: Re-EBITDA/ Net financial costs

1 Net of other income and excludes provisions 
2 In 2012 includes preferred shares 
3 Includes securitization

Million euros

Tons (‘000)

Sales

Gross margin

Gross margin %

Operational costs 1

Provision for current assets

Re-EBITDA

Margin Re-EBITDA (%)

EBIT

Margin EBIT (%)

Net financial costs

EBT

Net income

ROCE (%)

Market capitalization 2 

Net debt 3

Interest coverage

Working capital

2011

885

986.5

174.0

17.6%

145.9

2.9

25.2

2.6%

17.4

1.8%

20.4

-3.1

-6.2

8.8%

78.2

31-12-11

357.7

1.2 x

190.2

2009

887

937.8

170.3

18.2%

133.1

6.3

30.9

3.3%

22.1

2.4%

19.1

3.4

0.6

10.4%

96.0

31-12-09

422.1

1.7 x

185.5

2010

914

980.3

181.2

18.5%

141.0

6.6

33.7

3.4%

24.2

2.4%

16.1

8.1

2.9

10.6%

56.3

31-12-10

434.0

2.1 x

217.9

2008

984

1,044.2

183.4

17.6%

137.9

3.9

41.6

4.0%

32.9

3.2%

32.4

1.5

1.0

11.8%

51.0

31-12-08

475.6

1.3 x

233.8

MAIn COnSOlIdATed bUSIneSS IndICATORS
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01/06/2011
Closure of the securitization and con-
tracting of 133 million Euros in credit 
lines

01/11/2011
Notice about the financial conditions of 
the 133 million Euros of credit lines

01/19/2011
Inapa Portugal obtains certification 

February
02/03/2011
Solicitation to call up the General 
Meeting March

March
03/02/2011
Alienation of the subsidiary in the UK

03/10/2011 
2010 results announcement

april
04/06/2011
Resolutions of the General Meeting

04/20/2011 
Inapa recognized by World Finance with 
the award Best Corporate Governance

MAin consolidAtEd
businEss indicAtors

rElEVAnt 
FActs durinG 
2011
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1

May
05/16/2011
Announcement of a qualified stake by 
Nova Expressão SGPS, SA

June
06/09/2011
Inapa Tecno 10th anniversary

auGust
08/25/2011
Hire investment bank to organize and 
assist in the public offer to subscribe 
the capital increase 

septeMber
09/22/2011
CMVM approval to do a capital increase

october
10/04/2011
End of qualified stake by Albano R. N. 
Alves - Distribuição de papel, SA

10/18/2011
Results of the public offer of the capital 
increase

10/21/2011 
Registration of the capital increase

1/21/2011 
Partnership with Heidelberg 
Druckmaschinen AG

noveMber
11/07/2011
Inapa’s subsidiary awarded in Germany 
recognizing the innovation of a marke-
ting book about Galaxi products (own 
brand)

11/11/2011 
Clarification of piece in Diário 
Económico

DeceMber

12/30/2011
Change of representative of 
PricewaterhouseCoopers & Associados 
SROC, Lda.
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EconoMicAl 
contEXt

MacroeconoMic landscape

The year of 2011 was marked by uncertainty about the balance 
of public accounts, which led to a generalized cut in the rat-
ings of countries and European companies, and the crisis in 
the financial sector.

In 2011 there was a high suspicion about the ability, of several 
European countries, to honor their debt payments. These coun-
tries have seen their debt issuance costs increase abruptly to 
historically high levels, making access to funding difficult and 
increasing their financing cost, which led to the Portuguese 
Government foreign assistance call to fulfill their obligations.

During 2011 the financial sector has seen its situation dete-
riorate even further. The interbank market trend continued 
to difficult the access to credit, registered since the previous 
year, which led the European Central Bank to intervene to 
minimize the effects of illiquidity. Financial institutions in ad-
dition to having been affected by the downgrade of its ratings 

were also required to take additional measures to balance its 
balance sheet, to meet the new demands of capital ratios that 
have been introduced. These factors together led to recorded 
historic low levels of lending in countries such as Portugal.

The rating downgrade of several euro area countries, led to 
a similar move in the corporate arena, were the major com-
panies (public and nonpublic) saw their rating downgraded. 
This effect, coupled with the crisis in the financial sector made 
it even more difficult the access to credit by businesses and 
worsened considerably the spreads on credit lines that were 
provided.

The European Commission estimates indicate that the 
Eurozone in 2011 will have grown 1.5%, a decrease compared 
to 1.9% in 2010. During the first half, the main European econo-
mies continued the growth trend recorded in 2010. However 
this trend was reversed in the second half of the year, having 
the last quarter of 2011, according to estimates by Eurostat, 
registered a contraction of 0.3% of Eurozone GDP.

subsEQuEnt 
FActs
February
02/13/2012
Acquisition of Semaq (packaging company in France)

02/15/2012
Increase of qualified stake by Nova Expressão SGPS, SA

02/23/2012
Inapa wins for the second consecutive year the award Best Corporate Governance

March
03/27/2012
Announcement of a qualified stake by Tiago Moreira Salgado

SUbSeqUenT FACTS
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Unemployment continued to increase, particularly in countries 
of southern Europe, where it reached historic levels. This ef-
fect contributed to the increase in social spending, higher than 
originally planned, which obliged the governments to intro-
duce restrictive measures to ensure the balancing of national 
accounts. During the first half of 2011, interest rates rose in 
relation to reference levels of 2010. In the second half of the 
year as a result of the economic downturn and the two cuts 
in interest rates from the European Central Bank, rates have 
reversed the trend and having experienced a slight decrease. 
However, during this period there was also a significant in-
crease in spreads as a result the scarcity of credit. In con-
clusion, 2011 was a year marked by the deep crisis of public 
accounts and the financial sector, with strong reflections in 
the “real” economy.

 The latest trend economic and markets growth allows to fore-
see a slowdown in economic activity, being expected, in some 
countries, a negative GDP growth as a result of strong restric-
tive measures.

paper sector

The behavior of the paper industry in 2011 was marked by vol-
umes decrease, partially offset by price increases, due to the 
economic slowdown, which led to a downturn in demand.

Indeed, demand in coated (CWF) and uncoated paper (UWF) 
decreased. According to CEPIFINE, the variation in CWF com-
pared with 2010 was minus 4.9%. As for the UWF, the fall was 

country  2010   2011 E

Germany 
France 
Spain 
Switzerland
Portugal
Belgium 
Luxembourg
 
Euro Zone (17)   
Source: Eurostat

 +3.7%
+1.5%
-0.1%
+2.7%
+1.4%
-0.1%
+2.7%

+1.9%

+3.0%
+1.6%
+0.7%
+1.7%
-1.9%
+0.7%
+1.6%

+1.5%
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real Gdp Growth trend  
in europe

slightly lower, with a reduction of 2.6% over the previous year.
It should be noted, however, that compared to 2008, a refer-
ence pre-economic crisis, in the European markets where 
Inapa has a presence there was a decrease of 16% in the CWF 
and 12% in UWF.

The reduction of excess supply justified the increases in pric-
es by producers registered between April and September, in 
coated and uncoated papers.

The weight of paper merchants on the market remained sta-
ble. During 2011 the merchants represented 84% of the paper 
market. There continued to be an increase in market concen-
tration in the main distributors, reflecting the greater efficien-
cy of these operators. 

In 2011, according to data from Eugropa, paper volumes in the 
five core markets where Inapa operates - Germany, France, 
Switzerland, Portugal and Spain – registered falls with dif-
ferent magnitudes, in line with developments of their respec-
tive economies. Germany, France and Switzerland registered 
volumes variations of -2.0%, -3.3% and -4.0% respectively.  In 
the Iberian market, due to the high instability and restrictive 
measures, there was a volume decrease of 12% in Spain and 
14% in Portugal. In aggregate terms, the five markets regis-
tered a decrease of 3.6% compared to 2010, 3.7% in indent and 
3.6% in stock sales.
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To balance the public accounts, the various European govern-
ments have introduced restrictive measures that seek to re-
duce the budget deficit. These measures had a strong negative 
effect on the consumption and the economic growth. 
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Consolidated Inapa sales increased 0.6% relatively to 2010 
to 986.5 million euros. The main contributor to the slight in-
crease came from complementary businesses that grew 11%, 
already accounting for 9.3% of the Group sales.

During 2011 there were registered successive price increas-
es from paper producers. Due to the shrinking demand and 
strong competitive pressure in the markets, it was not possi-
ble to pass all the price increase to the customers, as reflected 
in a reduction in the margin stood at 17.6%, 7.3 million euros 
less than a year earlier. 

Operational costs, after provisions, stood in 148.8 million eu-
ros, a slight increase of 0.8% relatively to 2010. Distribution 
cost, as a consequence of fuel price increase, had the high-
est increase, 2.0 million euros more than in 2010. Personnel 
costs had an increase of only 1.8%, as the Group was able to 
compensate the nominal increases, required by law in some 
countries, through an adjustment of the number of employees 
and lower variable. Administrative costs increased slightly due 
to the new credit insurance policy, but have been more than 
compensated by the reduction on the provision levels, that re-
duced 49% to 2.9 million euros, representing 0.3% of sales.

Recurrent EBITDA fell to EUR 25.2 million, a decrease of 8.5 
million euros compared to 2010, corresponding to a contrac-
tion of 0.8 percentage point margin following the trend in com-
parable European players. 

Operational results (EBIT) fell 6.7 million euros to 17.4 million 
euros, representing 1.8% of sales.

Due to the financial sector crisis, and despite Inapa has se-
cured the funds necessary for its activity, the year of 2011 was 
marked by a general increase in spreads that combined with 
the increase of the reference rate, the Euribor, determined 
the higher costs of financing. Despite the reduction of con-
solidated debt at 1 76.3 million, this context was reflected in 
net financial costs of the period increased by 4.3 million euros 

consolidAtEd 
PErForMAncE

COnSOlIdATed PeRFORMAnCe

44

net debt 

reduced in  

76.3 million 

euros
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compared to 2010, an increase of 27%, settling at 20.4 million. 
Although about a third of debt reduction has due to internal 
generation of cash flow, the effect of the reduction recorded 
in net debt had little impact on the aggregate level of finan-
cial costs, since the capital increase was carried out in late 
October.

The consolidated profits before tax were EUR -3.1 million, 
compared with 8.1 million in 2010. The main factors contribut-
ing to this decrease were the reduction in gross margin and an 
increase in financial costs mentioned above.

In 2011 taxes were EUR 2.9 million, of which 0.6 relating to cur-
rent taxes, deferred taxes 0.3 and 2.0 relating to cancellation 
of tax credits from previous years due to changing tax environ-
ment including by reducing the tax credits deductible. 

Consolidated net income reduced from 2.9 million Euros in 
2010, to -6.2 million euros.

Working capital at December 2011 was 190.2 million euros, a 
27.6 million euros reduction relatively to December 31 2010, or 

a reduction from 81 to 70 days of sales. This reduction was 
mainly due to the effort that the Group did to lower its receiv-
able and stock levels.

Consolidated net debt at 31 December 2011 was 357.7 million 
euros, a decrease of 76.3 million euros compared to 434.0 
million euros at December 31 2010. The debt reduction is ex-
plained in about one third by higher operational cash flow and 
the remainder by the capital increase in October. Following 
the strategic objectives for 2010-2013 presented at the trien-
nial General Meeting, Inapa saw improved its capital structure, 
with a smaller percentage of net debt relatively to the total 
assets, from 59% to 52%. 

Gross debt at 31 December 2010 totaled 372.8 million euros. 
Compere with 2010, exposure to short-term debt was reduced 
significantly, from 249.9 million euros to 177.6 million euros. 
The long-term debt remained at similar levels to last year, ac-
counting for 195.2 million euros, of which 38.1 million euros 
are related to the securitization of loans, 148.5 million euros 
on loans for medium and long-term and 8.7 million of finance 
leases. 
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PErForMAncE  
oF tHE GrouP  
businEss ArEAs
In 2011 the business mix has undergone a slight change from 
the previous year, due to the increased weight of the com-
plementary businesses from 8.4% to 9.3%, as a result of the 
growth strategy of the Group in these businesses. For this im-
provement contributed the 14% organic growth of the packag-
ing business and 10% of the visual communication business. 
In terms of operating results (EBIT) generation, packaging and 
visual communication saw their weight increase, contributing 
already with 18.6% of the Group’s results generation (12.6% in 
2010). These two business areas were identified by the strategic 
plan 2010-2013, as the areas where the Group will invest to con-
tinue to grow, improve profitability and sustainability.

81.4% 
Paper 

7.3% 
Visual
Communication

11.3%  
Packaging

PeRFORMAnCe OF THe GROUP bUSIneSS AReAS

46
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Ebit (Million euros)

sAlEs (Million euros)

24.5

17.421.1

Sales volume fell 3.2% compared to 2010 from 914 thousand 
tonnes to 885 thousand tonnes. The sale of Tavistock (UK op-
eration), which in 2010 accounted for 10,000 tons, accounts for 
about 35% of the decrease of the volumes recorded in 2011.

 Inapa in 2011 consolidated its position in the core five markets 
(Germany, France, Switzerland, Spain and Portugal), having 
its market share rose 0.4 percentage points to 19.1%. This im-
provement has achieved mainly to the growth in the Spanish 
market, through the acquisition of the business of EBIX and 
organic growth, and the operations in French and Portuguese 
markets.

Despite the decrease in volumes, sales in value remained virtu-
ally unchanged at 929.3 million euros, compared to 928.9 mil-
lion euros in 2010. Paper sales fell 0.2%, but other products, 
including graphic and office supplies, grew 11%, accounting for 
26.3 million euros. Paper prices increased 1 30 per tonne rela-
tively to 2010, from an average of 991 to 1021 euros per tonne. 
During the first half of 2011 there was a price increase as a re-
sult of the increase in producer prices, and at the end of the 
year it was registered a slight decrease.

Despite the increase in prices due to shrinking demand and a 
stronger competitive environment, it was not enough to offset 
the increase in producer prices. Thus, compared with the previ-
ous year, there was a reduction in gross margin of 1.0 percent-
age points to stand at 16.7% of sales. 

In terms of operational costs, excluding distribution costs that 
arose as a result of rising fuel, there was a strong contention, 
which resulted in a slight decrease from the previous year.

Paper business operational results (EBIT) now represent 1.4% 
of sales, compared to 2.5% in the previous, reaching 12.8 mil-
lion euros. This development is a consequence of the reduction 
recorded at the margins.

PAPEr

2009

2009

893.3

2011

2011

925.2

2010

2010

925.2

P
e

R
FO

R
M

A
n

C
e

 O
F 

T
H

e
 G

R
O

U
P

 b
U

S
In

e
S

S
 A

R
e

A
S

sales maintained 
on 2010 levels, 
ebit decreased 
due to strong 
margin pressure
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Ebit (Million euros)

sAlEs (Million euros)

PAckAGinG

2009

2009

28.7

1.3

2011

2011

38.6

2.0

2010

2010

33.9

1.9

Packaging business, similar to what was recorded in 2010, con-
tinued to show strong growth during this year, with sales of 
38.6 million euros, an increase of 14% over the previous year.

Sales growth was particularly driven by direct sales channel 
and the online contract packaging, value added services re-
lated to packaging (such as fulfilling and consulting). In all ge-
ographies in which the Group operates (Germany, France and 
Portugal) were recorded satisfactory growth over the previous 
year.

Packaging operational results (EBIT) rose 4% of compared to 
2010, standing at 2.0 million, or 5.1% of sales. The improvement 
in performance is mainly explained by sales growth coupled 
with the containment of operating costs.

PeRFORMAnCe OF THe GROUP bUSIneSS AReAS

B
ub

bl
e 

fo
il



49

0
2

. S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
 O

F
 G

R
O

U
P

 A
C

T
IV

IT
Y

P
e

R
FO

R
M

A
n

C
e

 O
F 

T
H

e
 G

R
O

U
P

 b
U

S
In

e
S

S
 A

R
e

A
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sAlEs (Million euros)VisuAl coMMunicAtion

2009

2009

20.7

0.4

2011

2011

28.1

1.3

2010

2010

25.5

1.4

The technological developments that have taken place in large 
format digital printing, with higher productivity printer and bet-
ter print quality, has motivated the change of many graphic off-
set to digital technology. This factor remains the main driver 
behind the growth of the industry.

As in previous years, this business continues with double-digit 
growth. Sales in this business area amounted to 28.1 million 
euros, an increase of 10% over 2010. Despite the good perfor-
mance over the previous year, the overall financial sector has 
placed strong obstacles to the sector, especially in the first half 
of the year, as access to credit limited equipment sales.

Operational results (EBIT) were 1.3 million euros, representing 
4.5% of sales, a decrease of 6.6% over 2010.
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02. SUMMARY OF GROUP ACTIVITY

Inapa – IPG main goal is the definition of Group guidelines, the coordination of the activities in the subsidiaries of the different 
countries, and the search for synergies between the different businesses. The company activity extended to the following areas: 

•	 Definition of the Group strategic guidelines;
•	 Definition of commercial guidelines for each market;
•	 Setting purchase and negotiation policies among the biggest suppliers of the Group;
•	 Setting a funding policy and coordinate its implementation;
•	 Coordination of treasury and develop relationships within the financial system;
•	 Planning and management control;
•	 Definition of Group accounting policies;
•	 Internal audit;
•	 Defining risk management and control systems and monitoring their implementation;
•	 Developing relationships with shareholders, investors and regulatory bodies;
•	 Setting an investment policy and coordinate its implementation;
•	 Definition and coordination of information systems;
•	 Corporate communications;
•	 Group legal advisory.

Inapa – Investimentos, Participações e Gestão, SA posted a net income of -6.2million euros, which compare with 2.9 million euros 
in the previous financial year. 

According to the new accounting rules SNC, sales and service rendered and other income (arising from services rendered to 
subsidiaries, the negotiation of purchases from leading suppliers and own brand management) reached 13.3 million Euros. 2011 
operational results were  6.0 million Euros. 

As of 31 December 2010, equity reached 199.3 million Euros, up 46.7 million Euros, due to the capital increase through the emission 
of preferred shares in October. Net total assets totaled 357.2 million Euros, 2.8 million Euros above previous year.

suMMArY oF 
inAPA-iPG ActiVitY

SUMMARY OF InAPA-IPG ACTIVITY
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outlook 
For 2012

For 2012 it is expected a slight decrease in the level of paper sales, due to slowdown that the major European economies have 
been experiencing. Conversely, it is expected that complementary businesses, because of the partnerships established and best 
prospects for the industry, continue to grow. In terms of average prices for next year should expect a slight correction compared to 
the average level in 2011. The volumes in the paper industry should continue closely linked to economic growth. For 2012 Eurostat 
foresees a slowdown in the growth of European economies in which the Group is present compared to the figures recorded in 2011. 
Germany expected to grow in the next year 0.6% compared to 3.0% this year, while France expected to pass from 1.7% to 0.4%. In 
Spain, Portugal and it is estimated that in the near savings retract 1.0 years and 3.3% respectively. Switzerland should be the only 
economy that will maintain a growth rate similar to the previous year, 1.9%.It is expected that during the year 2012, other products 
inside the paper business have a significant growth as a result of the partnership that Inapa established with Heidelberg for the 
graphic supplies. In implementing its Strategic Plan during 2012 Inapa also aims to consolidate its paper business, investing in 
close markets but with better growth prospects and higher profitability potential. Paper merchants should maintain or improve 
its share of total paper sold in Europe, continuing the trend that has been recorded in the last decade. In order to extract the 
maximum value of the paper business, the Group will remain focused on the analysis of possible opportunities for optimization in 
markets where it operates to reduce their operating costs, particularly through the standardization of information systems and 
business support consolidation on the shared services center. Packaging business will continue to absorb a significant portion of 
the Group’s investment, being expected to grow more significant. To make this possible, in the course of 2012, the Group made the 
acquisition of Inapa Semaq, a packaging company in France in 2011 with a turnover of 10.9 million euros. This acquisition will enable 
Inapa to consolidate its position in this market.

Debt reduction will remain a priority for the group, maintaining the objective of allocating two thirds of the operational cash flow 
generated for this purpose.

Inapa will continue to follow the guiding lines for 2010-2013 which received the vote of support and confidence of shareholders in 
the General Meeting on May 11, 2010.
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54

total ordinary shares 
trading volume
(Thousand of shares)

stock EXcHAnGE 
PErForMAncE

1. Closure of securitization and hire of 133 million euros of 

credit lines (January 6)

2. Sale of subsidiary in the UK (February 3)

3. 2010 results announcements (March 10)

4. General Meeting (April 6)

5. Qualified stake of Nova Expressão (May 16)

6. 1st quarter results (May 27)

7. 1st half results (August 25)

8. CMVM approval of capital increase (Septembe

9. Qualified stake of Albano Alves (October 4)

10. Results of the public offer of the capital increase 

(October 18)

11. 3rd quarter results (November 4)

2011 was marked by the economic environment, in particular the uncertainty about the performance of European economies and 
external intervention in Greece, Ireland and Portugal.

The Portuguese market has been one of the hardest hit, recording a contraction of its main index, the PSI-20, 27.6%. The volume of 
shares traded on Euronext Lisbon were also affected, decreasing 31% compared to 2010, settling at 27.9 billion euros.

 Ordinary shares of Inapa during 2011 fell by 63%, from 0.375 euros to 0.14 euros.

2011 ordinary stock quote 
evolution

0.10 1

0.15 1

0.20 1

0.25 1

0.30 1

0.35 1

0.40 1

0.45 1

1

2
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9 11

The evolution of Inapa title was penalized by the context of the 
Portuguese market, despite its diminutive weight in consoli-
dated sales, and high levels of debt which continues to present.

When we compared the performance of the title with compa-
rable entities, it is clear that their development is in line with 
the trend of the sector. Shares turnover during 2011 decreased 
significantly compared with the same period in 2010. The exit of 
the PSI-20 has contributed to the drop in volumes, due to less 
exposure that the title has to have.

Legend of chart:

PeRSPeCTIVAS PARA 2012

2008

20092008 2010 2011

185,503

349,400

78,439
26,932

STOCK exCHAnGe PeRFORMAnCe

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec
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October 26, 2011 marked the debut of the preferred shares listing, issued with the capital increase this year. There was a low volume 
of transactions during the year, only 125 shares were traded, closing the year at 1 0.19, an increase of 5.5% over the issue price.

Inapa continued to be monitored in terms of economic and financial analysis by analysts Portuguese Investment Bank and the 
Housing Investment Bank, which during the year 2011, issued several reports of analysis.

A final note for the recognition that the prestigious international magazine World Finance has made giving Inapa, for the second 
consecutive year, the award for Best Corporate Governance 2012 - Portugal. This recognition rewards transparency and adoption 
since 2007 of best practices in governance.
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oWn sHArEs
The Company did not sell or purchase any of its own shares during the course of 2011 and, as of the close of the financial year, does 
not own any of its own shares.

AUTHORIZATION GRANTED FOR TRANSACTIONS BETWEEN THE COMPANy AND ITS DIRECTORS
During the course of the financial year under analysis, no transactions were entered into by the Company and any of its Directors, 
and no requests for authorization of any such transactions were submitted to the Company.

ProPosEd EArninGs 
distribution
The Board of Directors hereby propose that Inapa – Investimentos, Participações e Gestão, SA’s net profit for the year, totaling 
-6,161,365 Euros, be transferred to Retained Income.

OWn SHAReS



57

0
2

. S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
 O

F
 G

R
O

U
P

 A
C

T
IV

IT
Y

In conformance with the provisions of Subparagraph c) of Paragraph 1 of Article 245 
of the Código de Valores Mobiliários (the Securities Market Code), the members of the 
Board of Directors of Inapa – Investimentos, Participações e Gestão, SA hereby de-
clare that, to the best of their knowledge, the information contained in the Directors’ 
Report, the Annual Accounts, the Legal Certification of the Accounts, and ancillary 
financial statements reported through 31 December 2011 to be submitted in compli-
ance with the provisions of applicable legislation and regulations were prepared in 
conformance with applicable accounting standards and regulations and represent the 
assets and liabilities, financial situation, and results of the Company and its subsidiary 
and associate companies included in its consolidation perimeter in a truthful and ap-
propriate manner, and that the Directors’ Report faithfully presents the performance 
of its corporate business and the financial performance and standing of the Company 
and its subsidiary and associate companies included in its consolidation perimeter, 
including a description of the main risks and uncertainties incurred by the aforemen-
tioned companies.

dEclArAtion  
oF conForMAncE

LISBON APRIL 20, 2012

Álvaro João pinto correia
Chairman of the Board of Directors

José Manuel Félix Morgado
Vice-Chairman of the Board of Directors and CEO

arndt Jost Michael Klippgen
Director and member of the Executive Committee of the Board of Directors

antónio José Gomes da silva albuquerque
Director and member of the Executive Committee of the Board of Directors

Jorge Manuel viana de azevedo pinto bravo
Director and member of the Executive Committee of the Board of Directors

emídio de Jesus Maria
Director and Chairman of the Audit Committee

acácio Jaime liberado Mota piloto
Director and member of the Audit Committee

eduardo Gonzalo Fernández espinar
Director and member of the Audit Committee
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Packaging

Operating in Germany, France and Portugal (since 2010), Inapa 
offers to its custmors packing solutions and products.

It has a diverse product range, offering standard products (card-
board and carton boxes, wraps, stretch films, tapes, strapping 
machines) and personalized. Additionally, it offers specialized 
services that address all the customer needs (such as logistic and 
consulting servicea).
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03. FINANCIAl INFormAtIoN

consolidated
accounts 

7
8
9

10
11
15
12

13
14
15
11
15
16

95,884 
140,338 
111,227 

1,071 
47 

21,835 
19,526 

389,928 

71,029 
166,619 

7,286 
628 

38,392 
15,047 

299,000 

-

688,928 

101,298 
138,871 
110,941 

1,104 
9,294 

18,933 
22,374 

402,815 

65,292 
174,240 

7,567 
- 

39,486 
7,621 

294,207 

297 

697,318 

99,180 
139,661 
111,570 

1,068 
673 

21,833 
20,994 

394,979 

79,298 
197,322 

6,422 
- 

38,387 
16,573 

338,002 

-

732,981 

ASSETS

Non-current assets
Tangible fixed assets
Goodwill
Other intangible assets
Investment in associate companies
Available-for-sale financial assets
Other non-current assets
Deferred tax assets

Total non-current assets

Current assets
Inventories
Trade receivables
Tax to be recovered
Available-for-sale financial assets
Other current assets
Cash and cash-equivalents

Total current assets

Discontinued operations assets

Total assets

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2011, DECEMBER 31, 2010 AND 
JANUARY 1, 2010
(Amounts expressed in thousand of Euros)

CoNsolIdAted ACCouNts

DECEMBER 31, 
2011

NOTES DECEMBER 31, 
2010

(restated)

JANUARY 1, 
2010

(restated)
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2011, DECEMBER 31, 2010 AND 
JANUARY 1, 2010
(Amounts expressed in thousand of Euros)

SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY

Share capital
Own shares
Share issue premium
Reserves
Retained earnings
Net profit for the period

Minority interests

Total shareholders equity

LIABILITIES

Non-current liabilities
Loans
Financing associated to financial assets
Deferred tax liabilities
Provisions
Liabilities for employee benefits
Other non-current liabilities

Total non-current liabilities

Current liabilities
Loans
Financing associated to financial assets
Suppliers
Tax liabilities
Other current liabilities

Total current liabilities

Total shareholders equity and liabilities

18
19
19
19

21

22
22
12
23
24
25

22

25
25
25

204,176
450

44,465
-43,667

-6,161
199,263

3,991

203,254

148,469
38,061
21,128

391
3,518
8,711

220,278

176,259
-

47,402
18,073
23,661

265,395

688,928

150,000
2,937

44,558
-47,920

2,942
152,517

1,032

153,549

157,227
32,800
20,264

1,202
3,387

10,572

225,452

248,571
-

58,733
15,491
31,185

353,980

732,981

150,000
2,937
41,165

-48,173
-

145,929

1,033

146,962

97,610
-

18,888
825

3,075
11,443

131,841

210,070
112,180
54,012
10,642
31,611

418,515

697,318

To be read in conjuction with the Notes to the consolidated financial statements
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DECEMBER, 31 
2011

NOTES DECEMBER, 31
2010

(restated)

JANUARY 1,
2010

(restated)
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CONSOLIDATED SEPARATE INCOME STATEMENT AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2011
(Amounts expressed in thousand of Euros)

Tonnes *
Sales and service rendered
Other Income
Total Income

Cost of sales
Personnal costs
Other costs

Depreciations and amortizations
Impairment in non current assets
Gains / (losses) in associates
Net financial function
Net profit before Income tax

Income tax

Net profit / (loss) for the period

Attributable to:
Shareholders of the company
Non controlling interests

Earnings per share of continued 
operations - 3
    Basic
    Diluted

2011

4TH QUARTER 
2011 *

215,359
244,339

6,673
251,013

-201,052
-21,411

-24,809
3,740

-1,505
-
1

-4,771
-2,535

-2,617

-5,152

-5,192
39

-0.035
-0.035

2010

4TH QUARTER 
2010 *

(restated)

240,290
269,981

7,069
277,050

-218,832
-21,871

-26,620
9,727

-1,643
-

-14
-4,420
3,651

-2,928

724

724
-

0.005 
0.005 

DECEMBER 31, 
2011

884,612
998,115
27,328

1,025,443

-823,471
-80,682
-97,965
23,326

-5,977
-
3

-20,423
-3,072

-2,906

-5,978

-6,161
183

-0.041
-0.041

DECEMBER 31, 
2010

(restated)

913,508
991,586
25,885

1,017,471

-809,899
-79,200
-97,793
30,579

-6,463
-46

10
-15,959

8,122

-5,079

3,044

2,942
102

0.020 
0.020 

NOTES

26 
26 

13
27 
28 

29 

10
30 

31 

20 
20 

To be read in conjuction with the Notes to the consolidated financial statements

* Non audited

CoNsolIdAted ACCouNts
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2011
(Amounts expressed in thousand of Euros)

Net profit for the period before 
non-controlling interests

Available-for-sale financial assets carried 
at fair value
Exchange differences on translating foreign 
operations 

Earnings directly recognised in equity

Total comprehensive income for the 
period

Attributable to:
Shareholders of the company
Non-controlling interests

2011

4TH QUARTER 
2011 *

-5,152

 -   

-364

-364

-5,516

-5,556
39

-5,516

2010

4TH QUARTER 
2010 *

(restated)

724

 -   

105

105

829

830
-1

829

DECEMBER 31, 
2011

-5,978

 -   

-93

-93

-6,071

-6,254
183

-6,071

DECEMBER 31, 
2010

(restated)

3,044

 -   

3,799

3,799

6,843

6,741
102

6,843

To be read in conjuction with the Notes to the consolidated financial statements

*  Non audited
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2011 
(Amounts in thousand Euros) - direct method

2011

4TH QUARTER 
2011 *

284,870
-219,084

-19,172

46,614

-1,038
464

32,586

-49,050

29,576

70
10
 -   

244
-

324

-3
-471
-930

 -   
 -   

-1,404

-1,080

2010

4TH QUARTER 
2010 *

308,502
-228,689

-20,256

59,557

-383
436

24,750

-60,956

23,405

8,742
5

349
217
52

9,364

-437
-377
-70

 -   
 -   

-883

8,481

DECEMBER 31, 
2011

1,053,344
-847,899

-77,189

128,256

-1,581
775

78,160

-157,863

47,748

934
382

 -   
793

 -   
2,109

-818
-1,559
-1,603

 -   
 -   

-3,980

-1,871

DECEMBER 31, 
2010

1,034,449
-832,524

-73,974

127,951

-1,204
436

88,804

-203,603

12,384

8,742
146
350
743

52
10,032

-3,735
-1,511

-2,339

 -   
-18

-7,604

2,428

CoNsolIdAted ACCouNts

NOTES

CASH FLOW gENERATED FROM 
OPERATINg ACTIVITIES  
 
Cash receipts from customers 
Payments to suppliers   
Payments to personnel   
  
Net cash from operational activities 
    
Income taxes paid    
Income taxes received   
Other proceeds relating to operating 
activity  
Other payments relating to operating 
activity 
 
Net cash generated from operating 
activities |1|
   
CASH FLOW FROM INVESTINg 
ACTIVITIES   
 
Proceeds from:   

Financial investments   
Tangible fixed assets   
Intangible assets   
Interest and similar income  
Dividends    
 
  

Payments in respect of:
Financial investments
Tangible fixed assets   
Intangible assets   
Advances from third-party expenses 
Loans granted   
 

Net cash used in investing  
activities |2|
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2011 
(Amounts in thousand Euros) - direct method

CASH FLOW FROM FINANCINg 
ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from: 
Loans obtained    
Capital increases, repayments and share 
premiums
Treasury placements   
Changes in ownership interests   
  

Payments in respect of:   
Loans obtained    
Amortization of financial leases  
Interest and similar expenses   
Dividends    
 

NET CASH USED IN FINANCINg 
ACTIVITIES |3|

Increase / (decrease) in cash and 
cash-equivalent  |4|=|1|+|2|+|3|
Effect of exchange differences                    

Cash and cash-equivalents at the 
begining of period
Cash and cash-equivalents at the 
end of period

2010

4TH QUARTER 
2010 *

34,278

 -   
 -   
 -   

34,278

-48,338
-391

-6,435
 -   

-55,164

-20,886

11,000
-434

10,566

 -   

10,566
10,566

2011

4TH QUARTER 
2011 *

20473

51,690
1

 -   
72,164

-81,819
-1,079
-6,163

 -   
-89,060

16,896

11,600
-60

11,540

 -   

11,540
11,540

DECEMBER 31, 
2011

122,383

51,690
1

700
174,774

-165,539
-2,358

-17,693
-710

-186,300

-11,526

34,350
109

34,459

-105,285

-70,826
34,459

DECEMBER 31, 
2010

78,292

 -   
 -   
 -   

78,292

-94,600
-1,446

-16,567
 -   

-112,613

-34,321

-19,508
-196

-19,704

-85,581

-105,285
-19,704

To be read in conjuction with the Notes to the consolidated financial statements

* Non audited 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANgES IN SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY AS AT DECEMBER 31, 
2011 AND DECEMBER 31, 2010
(Amounts expressed in thousand of Euros)

BALANCE AS AT JANUARY 1, 2010
RESTATEMENT EFFECT

BALANCE AS AT JANUARY 1, 2010 
RESTATED
Total earnings and costs 
recognized in the period (restated)
Changes in capital
Capital increase
Dividends
Other changes

Total Gains and losses of the 
period

BALANCE AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2010
(restated)

BALANCE AS AT JANUARY 1, 2011
Total earnings and costs 
recognized in the period
Previous year net profit and loss 
result
Capital increase
Dividends
Other changes

Total Gains and losses of the 
period

BALANCE AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2011

To be read in conjuction with the Notes to the consolidated financial statements

ATTRIBUTABLE TO SHAREHOLDERS 

TOTAL 

SHAREHOLD-

ERS EQUITY

152,547
-5,585

146,962

6,843
 -   
-

-102
-154

6,587

153,549

153,549

-6,071

 -   
51,689

-102
4,189

49,705

203,254

OTHER 

RESERVES 

AND RETAINED 

EARNINgS

-2,962
-5,585

-8,547

 -   
 -   
-

 -   
-153

-153

-8,700

-8,700

 -   

2,942
 -   
 -   

1,311

4,253

-4,447

TOTAL

151,514
-5,585

145,929

6,741
 -   
-
 -   

-153

6,588

152,517

152,517

-6,254

 -   
51,689

 -   
1,311

46,746

199,263

SHARE 

ISSUANCE 

PREMIUM

2,937
-

2,937

 -   
-

 -   
 -   
 -   

 -   

2,937

2,937

 -   

 -   
-2,487

 -   
 -   

-2,487

450

NON-

CONTROLLINg 

INTERESTS

1,033
-

1,033
 

102
-   
-

-102
-1

-1
 

1,032
 

1,032

183

 -   
 -   

-102
2,878

2,959
 

3,991

FOREIgN 

ExCHANgE 

ADJUSTMENTS

1,539
-

1,539

3,799
 -   
-

 -   
 -   

3,799

5,338

5,338

-93

 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   

-93

5,245

NET PROFIT / 

(LOSS) FOR 

THE PERIOD

-
 -

   

-

2,942
 -   
-

 -   
 -   

2,942

2,942

2,942

-6,161

-2,942
 -   
 -   
 -   

-9,103

-6,161

SHARE 

CAPITAL

150,000
-

150,000

-   
-
 -   
 -   
 -   

 -   

150,000

150,000

 -   

 -   
 54,176   

 -   
 -   

54,176

204,176

CoNsolIdAted ACCouNts
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notes to the 
consolidated 
financial 
statements 
as at December 31, 2011
(Values expressed in thousands of Euros, except where explicitly stated otherwise) 

Notes to the CoNsolIdAted FINANCIAl stAtemeNts 

NOTe 1

INTRODUCTION

Inapa-Investimentos, Participações e gestão, S.A. (Inapa - 
IPg) is the parent company of the Inapa Group, with the busi-
ness purpose of owning and managing movable and fixed as-
sets, holding shares in other companies, exploiting its own and 
third-party commercial and industrial establishments and pro-
viding support to companies in which it is a shareholder. Inapa 
- IPG is listed on the Euronext Lisbon stock exchange.

Head Office: Rua Castilho 44, 3º 1250-071 Lisboa, Portugal
Share capital: 204,176,479.38 euros
N.I.P.C. (Corporate Tax Identification Number): 500 137 994

The Group includes a sub-holding (Gestinapa - SGPS, SA) that 
holds the investments related to Supply. 

As a result of its development and internationalisation plan, the 
Inapa Group holds shares in the Paper distribution sector in 
various European countries, specifically (i) Inapa Deutschland, 
GmbH headquartered in Germany, which has a stake in Papier 
Union, GmbH, which in turn holds shares in Inapa Packaging, 
GmbH, Inapa Viscom, GmbH and PMF-Factoring, GmbH, head-
quartered in the same country, (ii) Inapa France, SA and sub-
sidiary companies, operating in France and Belux, (iii) Inapa 
Suisse, a subsidiary controlled directly and indirectly through 
Inapa Deutschland, GmbH, which operates in the Swiss market, 
(iv) Inapa Portugal - Distribuição de Papel, SA, the Portuguese 
company in the Group which has a stake in Inapa Angola- 
Distribuição de Papel, SA , (v) Inapa España Distribuición de 
Papel, SA, operating in Spain, which has a stake in Surpapel, SL 
(a company that markets paper) and (vi) in one company located 
in the United Kingdom - Inapa Merchants Holding, Ltd, com-
pany without activity. The subsidiary Inapa Packaging, GmbH, 

in turn has two companies for marketing packaging material, 
Hennessen & Potthoff, GmbH and HTL - Verpackung, GmbH. 

These consolidated financial statements were approved by the 
Inapa-IPG’s Board of Directors on April 20, 2011, being subject to 
shareholder approval at a General Meeting. It is the opinion of 
the Board that these financial statements appropriately reflect 
the Group’s operations and financial position.

NOTe 2

MAIN ACCOUNTING POLICIeS 

The main accounting policies used in the preparation of the 
consolidated financial statements are described below. These 
policies were applied consistently in all of the given exercises, 
unless otherwise stated. 

2.1. BASIS Of PReSeNTATION

The consolidated financial statements for the Inapa Group 
are prepared in accordance with the International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IAS/IFRS) issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and with the interpreta-
tions issued by the International Financial Interpretations 
Committee (IFRIC) or by the earlier Standing Interpretations 
Committee (SIC), as adopted by the European Union and in force 
on December 31, 2011. 

The Inapa consolidated financial statements are prepared as-
suming the continuity of operations, from the financial books 
and records of the companies that make up the Group, which 
are listed in Note 35. 
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The preparation of the consolidated financial statements demands the use of estimates and judgements regarding the application 
of the Group’s accounting policies. The principal assertions, where a greater degree of judgement or complexity is involved, and 
the more significant assumptions and estimates used for preparing the consolidated financial statements are described in Note 5. 

2.2. ReSTATeMeNT Of fINANCIAL INfORMATION PReVIOUSLY DISCLOSeD

The Group participated in a securitization of credit for a period of seven years, taking the last credits for this operation been securitized 
in late 2010. For the duration of the operation, securitized assets were registered in balance sheet as an asset and in liabilities the cor-
responding obtained financing, with a maximum amount of 140,000 thousand euros. On December 31, 2010, obtained funding for this 
operation was fully repaid.
Following the final determination of the operation conducted in 2011, an error was detected relating to prior periods, resulting from the 
misinterpretation information available. This correction, treated as an unrecoverable balance, totaled an amount of 6,309 thousand 
euros in December 31, 2010 under the heading Other receivables accounts. Under these circumstances and in accordance in IAS 8, an 
impairment loss has been registered through the restatement of financial information previously disclosed for comparative purposes, 
for the year ended December 31, 2010, including the opening balances with effect from January 1 of 2010. Thus, the results of year 2010 
were reduced by 724.2 thousand euros and the remaining effect was recognized in retained earnings with effect from 1 January 2010. As 
part of this restatement the balance of Other receivables at 31 December 2010 was reduced by the reclassification of an amount of 1,000 
thousand euros in the item Other payables The restatement had the following impact:

Assets 
Other current assets 
 
Liabilities 
Other current liabilities 
 
Equity 
Retained earnings 
Net profit and loss for the period 
 
Income statement 
Other expenses 
Net financial function

01-01-2010 
RESTATED

31-12-2010
RESTATED

RESTATEMENT 
EFFECT

RESTATEMENT 
EFFECT

01-01-2010 
PUBLISHED

31-12-2010 
PUBLISHED

42,135

109,244

-42,588

-2,649

2,936

-5,585

39,486

112,180

-48,173

45,696

32,185

-42,335
3,666

-96,069
-16,959

-7,309

-1,000

-5,585
-724

-1,724
1,000

38,387

31,185

-47,920
2,942

-97,793
-15,959

Assets 
Other current assets

Liabilities 
Financing associated to financial assets

Equity 
Retained earnings
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Notes to the CoNsolIdAted FINANCIAl stAtemeNts 

2.3. BASIS fOR CONSOLIDATION

Investments in subsidiary companies 

The Group’s holdings in companies that, directly or indirect-
ly, give it the power to control their financial and operational 
policies, usually represented by holding more than 50% of the 
(subsidiary) voting shares, were included in this financial state-
ments using the full consolidation method (Note 35). The equity 
and the net profit of companies where there is a third-party 
participation are given under the heading non controlling inter-
ests on the consolidated balance sheet and on the consolidated 
income statement. 

The subsidiaries are included in the Consolidation from the 
date on which control was acquired until the date on which this 
effectively ends. 

Accounting for the acquisition of subsidiaries is carried out us-
ing the purchase method, where the assets and liabilities of 
each subsidiary on the date of acquisition are identified at their 
fair value, in accordance with IFRS 3. Any surplus/(deficit) in 
the acquisition cost in comparison with the fair value of the net 
assets and liabilities is recognised as the consolidation differ-
ence (Goodwill), which is described in Note 8, and in the case 
of a deficit, if the fair value is maintained after reviewing the 
valuation, in the income statement for the period. The minority 
shareholder interests are given by the respective proportion of 
the fair value of the identified assets and liabilities. 

Transactions of sale, acquisition of participation shares of non 
controlling interests do not result in the recognition of expens-
es, loss or goodwill, being any difference between the transac-
tion value and book value of the traded participation, recognize 
in Equity.

Whenever necessary, the financial statements of the subsidiar-
ies are adjusted to bring them into line with the Group’s cur-
rent accounting policies. Inter-company transactions, balances 
and dividends distributed between Group companies and unre-
alised gains are eliminated during the consolidation process. 
Unrealised losses are also eliminated, unless they cannot be 
recovered due to evidence of impairment. 

Investments in associated companies 

Holdings in companies where Inapa exercises significant influ-
ence, directly or indirectly, but does not have control, generally 
where holdings represent between 20% to 50% of the (associ-
ated company) voting shares, are accounted for by the equity 
method. 

In accordance with the equity method, the holdings are record-
ed at their acquisition cost, adjusted by an amount correspond-

ing to the Group’s share of variations in the equity of the associ-
ates (including net profit or loss) and by the dividends received. 
The variation in associate equity resulting from net profit or 
loss is recorded against the losses and gains for the period. 

Positive differences between the acquisition cost and the fair 
value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of an associate 
on the date of acquisition are recognised as Goodwill and are 
included in the value of the investment in the associates (Note 
10). If these differences are negative, they are recorded as rev-
enue for the period in the line Gains/ (losses) in associated 
companies. 

The investments in associated companies are evaluated if there 
are indications that there may be impairment of the asset and 
any impairment losses found to exist are recorded as a cost. 
When impairment losses recognised in previous years cease 
to exist, they are reversed, unless they correspond to Goodwill. 
When the participation of the Group in the losses of an associ-
ate equals or exceeds its investment in the associate, includ-
ing receivables not covered by guarantees, the Group no longer 
records additional losses, unless it has incurred obligations or 
made payments in the name of the associate. 

Whenever necessary, adjustments are made to the financial 
statements of the associates to bring them into line with the 
Group’s current accounting policies. The balances and divi-
dends distributed between the companies of the Group and the 
associates, as well as the unrealised gains from inter-company 
transactions, are eliminated in the consolidation process, to 
the extent of the Group’s holding in the associate. Unrealised 
losses are also eliminated, unless they cannot be recovered 
due to evidence of impairment. 

The investments in associates are described in Note 10.

2.4. GOODwILL (CONSOLIDATION 
DIffeReNCeS)

Goodwill corresponds to the difference between the acquisi-
tion cost of the investments in the companies of the Group and 
the fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities (including 
contingent liabilities) of these companies on the date of their 
acquisition (Note 8). Goodwill is recorded in the reporting cur-
rency of the subsidiary and converted to the reporting currency 
of the Group (Euro) at the exchange rate in force on the date of 
the Group’s financial statements. Exchange differences arising 
from this conversion are recorded in Foreign exchange adjust-
ments. 

The consolidation differences are not amortised as annual 
impairment tests are conducted and, whenever the value of 
the consolidation differences is greater than the recoverable 
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amount, this is recognised as an impairment loss and recorded 
on the income statement. These impairment losses cannot be 
reversed. 

2.5. CURReNCY CONVeRSION 

The financial statements of each of the companies in the Group 
are prepared in their functional currency, defined as the cur-
rency of the economic environment where they operate. The 
Group’s functional and reporting currency is the Euro. 

All of the monetary assets and liabilities expressed in foreign 
currency are converted to the functional currency at the ex-
change rate in force on the date of the balance sheet. Foreign 
currency transactions are converted at the rate in force on the 
date of each operation. The differences resulting from this con-
version are recorded on the income statement. 

The following criteria are used to convert the financial state-
ments of the foreign companies included in the consolidated fi-
nancial statements that use a functional currency different from 
the Group reporting currency:

Assets and liabilities: Exchange rate parities in force of the 
date of the balance sheet.

gains and losses: Average exchange rates parities observed 
during the period.

The differences resulting from the currency conversion proce-
dure described above are recorded in the heading specifically 
for Shareholders equity (Foreign exchange adjustments). 

The exchange rates used for converting the financial statements 
of the English, Swiss and Angolan subsidiaries were as follows: 

•	 GBP	 Exchange	 rate	 used	 for	 converting	 income	 state-
ment items: 1.19717 Euros

•	 GBP	 Exchange	 rate	 used	 for	 converting	 balance	 sheet	
items: 1.14825 Euros

•	 CHF	 Exchange	 rate	 used	 for	 converting	 income	 state-
ment items: 0.81303 Euros

•	 CHF	 Exchange	 rate	 used	 for	 converting	 balance	 sheet	
items: 0.82264 Euros

•	 USD	 Exchange	 rate	 used	 for	 converting	 income	 state-
ment items: 0.71528 Euros

•	 USD	 Exchange	 rate	 used	 for	 converting	 balance	 sheet	
items: 0.77286 Euros

2.6. INTANGIBLe ASSeTS

Intangible assets are recorded at their acquisition cost, less 

amortisation and impairment losses, and are recognised to 
the extent that it is probable they will produce future econom-
ic benefits for the Group, provided their value can be reliably 
measured. 

The heading Other intangible assets (Note 9) essentially con-
sists of brand names identified during the acquisition of sub-
sidiaries, initially recorded at their fair value. These are used by 
Papier Union, GmbH, Inapa France, SA and Inapa Portugal, SA, 
and annual amortisation is not applied as they were judged to 
have an indefinite useful life and are subject to regular impair-
ment tests, either conducted internally by the Group or based 
on evaluations by a specialist entity external to the Group. 
When impairment losses recognised in previous periods cease 
to exist, they are reversed. 

Also recorded under this heading are software, patents and 
other licenses, which are amortised using the straight line 
method over a period varying from three to five years, and the 
cost of acquiring customer portfolios, which are amortized over 
a period between ten to twenty years.

2.7. TANGIBLe fIxeD ASSeTS 

In accordance with the transitional arrangement included in 
IFRS 1, land was recorded at its fair value at the date of transi-
tion to IAS/IFRS (January 1, 2004). The adjustments resulting 
from the land revaluations were recorded as a correction to 
shareholders equity. 

The other tangible assets acquired by December 31, 2003 
were recorded at their deemed cost, which corresponds to 
the acquisition cost or to the acquisition cost revalued in ac-
cordance with accounting principles generally accepted in 
Portugal up to that date, less depreciations and accumulated 
impairment losses. 

The tangible assets acquired after January 1, 2004 are record-
ed at their acquisition cost, less depreciations and accumu-
lated impairment losses. 

Depreciation is booked after the assets are in condition for 
use and is imputed on a systematic basis over their useful life, 
which is determined by taking into account the Group’s planned 
use of the asset, its expected wear and tear, subject to a fore-
seeable technical obsolescence and the residual value attribut-
able to the asset. The residual value attributable to the asset is 
an estimate based on the prevailing residual value, at the date 
of the estimate, for similar assets that have reached the end of 
their useful life and which have been operating under condi-
tions similar to those under which the asset will be used. 
Depreciations are calculated using the straight line method, on 
a monthly basis, at the following representative rates for esti-
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mated useful life: 

Buildings and other constructions 2% - 10%
Basic equipment 7.14% - 12.5%
Transport equipment  12.5% - 25%
Office equipment  10% - 33%

Expenditure on maintenance and repair costs that neither 
increases the useful life nor results in significant benefits or 
improvements to the tangible asset elements, are recorded as 
costs in the year when they occur. 

If the amount recorded is greater than the recoverable value of 
the asset, this is reduced to the estimated recoverable value by 
recording impairment losses. 

When the item is disposed of or sold, the difference between 
the sales receipts and the sum recorded for the asset are rec-
ognised in the income statement, under Other income or Other 
costs headings. 

Notes to the CoNsolIdAted FINANCIAl stAtemeNts 

2.8. LeASeS

Assets used under a finance lease, where the Group substan-
tially assumes all of the risks and advantages inherent to its 
possession of the leased asset, are classified as tangible fixed 
assets and are depreciated in accordance with the policy estab-
lished by the Group for such assets (Notes 7 and 22). 

Interest included in the value of the rent and the depreciations 
of the respective tangible assets are recognised as costs in the 
income statement for the year to which they relate. 

Operating leases are leases where the Group companies, is the 
lessee and the lesser and on which it assumes a significant 
part of the risks and benefits of ownership (Note 32 a). The pay-
ments arising as these contracts are implemented recorded on 
the income statement during the period of the lease. 

2.9. NON-CURReNT ASSeTS heLD fOR SALe 
AND DISCONTINUeD OPeRATIONS 

Non-current assets are classified as held for sale if their bal-
ance sheet value is principally recoverable through sale and not 
through their continued use. For assets to be classified in this 
way, in accordance with IFRS 5, they must be available for im-
mediate sale in their current condition, the sale has to be highly 
probable and the Board of Directors has to have committed to 
make the sale within a period of 12 months. 

Non-current assets classified as held for sale are recorded at 
their acquisition value or at their fair value, whichever is smaller, 
less the expected costs of the sale.

The liquidation value of assets and liabilities relating to discon-
tinued operations appear under their own heading on the con-
solidated balance sheet assets and liabilities, respectively, and 
the net profit or loss results for the period of these operations 
is recorded separately on the consolidated income statement. 

2.10. fINANCIAL ASSeTS

The Group classifies financial assets as follows (excluding fi-
nancial investments in subsidiaries and in associates): 

Held-to-maturity investments: Non-derivative financial as-
sets, with fixed or variable repayments, with fixed maturity and 
which the Board of Directors intends to retain until their respec-
tive maturity dates; 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss: Financial 
assets which are held for short-term purposes, including finan-
cial assets held for trading and derived instruments not involved 
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in hedging. The assets and liabilities are measured at fair value 
through profit or loss;

Loans and receivables: Non-derivative financial assets, with 
fixed or determined payments, which are not quoted in an active 
market. The balances related to these assets are recorded on 
the consolidated balance sheet under Customers, Other current 
and non-current assets and Cash and cash equivalent;

Available-for-sale financial assets: Non-derivative financial 
assets considered available for sale or which do not fit in any of 
the preceding categories. 

Held-to-maturity investments, loans and receivables are clas-
sified as non-current assets, unless they will settled within 12 
months of the date of the balance sheet.  Investments regis-
tered at fair value through profit or losses are classified as cur-
rent investments. 

Investments and disinvestments are recognised on the trade 
date regardless of the settlement date. 

Financial assets are initially recorded using their acquisition 
value, which corresponds to their fair value on that date, and in-
cludes transaction costs, with the exception of held-to-maturity 
investments, which are recorded at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method. 

After initial recognition, the investments recorded at fair value 
through profit or loss and the available-for-sale investments 
are revalue for their fair values, with reference to their market 
value at the date of closing the balance sheet. Available-for-sale 
financial assets representing share capital in unlisted compa-
nies, where it is impossible to determine their fair value, are 
recorded at the acquisition cost, taking any impairment losses 
into account. Gains and losses arising from an alteration in the 
fair value of available-for-sale investments are recorded under 
equity until the investment is sold, matures or is otherwise liq-
uidated, at which time the accumulated gain or loss that was 
recorded under equity is moved to the income statement. In 
situations in which the fair value of the investment is less than 
its acquisition cost and this situation is considered to be a per-
manent loss (impairment), the loss is recorded on the income 
statement and the sum recorded under equity is removed. 

2.11. fINANCIAL LIABILITIeS

IAS 39 provides for two classifications for financial liabilities: 

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss: 
Financial liabilities held for the purpose of selling in the short 
term, including financial liabilities held for trading and de-
rivative instruments not involved in hedging. The liabilities are 

measured at fair value through profit and loss; and 

Other financial liabilities: Non-derivative financial liabilities, 
with fixed or determined payments, which are not quoted in an 
active market. Other financial liabilities include Loans (Note 
2.20) and Suppliers and other payables (Note 2.24). These liabil-
ities are initially recognised at fair value and are subsequently 
measured at amortised cost in accordance with the effective 
interest rate. Financial liabilities are derecognised when the 
underlying obligations are extinguished by payment, canceled 
or expire.

2.12. SeCURITISATION Of TRADe 
ReCeIVABLeS

In accordance with IAS 39, trade receivables balances subject 
to securitisation contracts are only derecognised if the follow-
ing conditions are met simultaneously: 

•	 The right to receive the remuneration underlying the asset 
has been transferred;

•	 A substantial part of the associated benefits and risks of the 
asset has not been retained;

•	 Control over the operations has been transferred. 

The Group only derecognises customer balances and other re-
ceivables (removed from the asset) when it has substantially 
transferred the associated risks and benefits from holding 
those assets, as set out above. The pending receivables are 
included under Trade receivables and the funds received from 
securitisation are recorded under Financing associated to fi-
nancial assets (Notes 22 and 37).  

2.13. IMPAIRMeNT

An evaluation is conducted of asset impairment at the date on 
which the balance sheet is closed and whenever a change in 
circumstances indicates that the sum recorded for an asset 
cannot be recovered (Note 17). The non-current assets that are 
not amortised as they do not have a finite useful life are sub-
jected to periodic impairment tests.

Whenever the carrying value of an asset is shown to be greater 
than its recoverable value, an impairment loss/provision is rec-
ognised and recorded on the income statement, or the asset is 
revalue and the revaluation recorded under equity. The recov-
erable value is either the fair value of an asset less the cost of 
selling it, or its value in use, whichever is the higher. 

An impairment loss recognised in preceding years is reversed 
when the reasons for recording the loss no longer exist (with 
the exception of Goodwill). The reversal is recorded on the in-
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come statement, unless the asset has been revalued and the 
revaluation was recorded under shareholders equity, having 
been reduced by the impairment loss. 

2.14. INVeNTORIeS

Merchandise, maintenance and repair materials, and packag-
ing materials are valued at either the net realisable value or the 
acquisition cost, including necessary expenditure on storage, 
whichever is the lower. The Group uses the weighted average 
cost method for costing goods sold. 

2.15. ThIRD PARTY DeBTS 

Third party debts are recorded at their nominal value less any 
impairment losses, recognised under Other costs - impairment 
of current assets, so these reflect their net current realisable 
value. 

Trade receivables balances securitised by discounted bills and 
pending at the date of the balance sheet, are recognised on 
the Group financial statements until these have been received. 

2.16. fACTORING

As described in Note 35, one of the Group’s subsidiaries, 
headquartered in Germany, carries out factoring activities. As 
a result of factoring, the sum to be received from customers 
includes the advances made during factoring with recourse 
and the values of invoices transferred for collection without 
recourse, where the intention is not short-term sale, these 
being recorded on the date the surrendered invoices are ac-
cepted by the participating entities. To offset this, an entry is 
made under Other current liabilities.

The Group makes contractual advances on the value of credits 
taken during factoring. The amount advanced to the participat-
ing entities is net of commissions and interest, if applicable. 

2.17. CASh AND CASh eqUIVALeNTS 

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash, bank deposits and 
other short-term investments maturing in less than 3 months, 
which can be immediately mobilised without significant risks 
of fluctuation in value. For the purposes of the cash flow state-
ment, this heading also includes bank overdrafts, which are 
given on the balance sheet, under current liabilities and under 
Loans. 

2.18. ShARe CAPITAL AND OwN ShAReS

The costs directly attributable to issuing new shares are given 
as a deduction, net of taxes, from the amount received as a re-
sult of the issue and are recorded under shareholders equity. 
Costs directly attributable to the issuance of new shares are 
shown as a deduction, net of taxes, to the received amount, as 
a result of the issuance and are recorded in equity.

Own shares are accounted for by their acquisition value as a 
reduction to the shareholders equity. The gains and losses in-
herent in the sale of own shares are recorded under share-
holders equity.
 

2.19. DIVIDeNDS

Dividends are recorded as liabilities in the period in which their 
distribution is approved by the shareholders of Inapa - IPG un-
til the date of payment. 

2.20. LOANS 

Loans are initially recorded under liabilities at their nominal 
value, net of issuing costs, and subsequently at the amortised 
cost. Financial costs are calculated in accordance with the ef-
fective interest rate, including premiums, and accounted for in 
the income statement in accordance with the accruals basis of 
accounting and added to the current liabilities, if they are not 
paid during the period. 

Loans are classified under current liabilities, unless the Group 
has the unconditional right to defer the reimbursement of the 
loan for a period of not less than 12 months counting from the 
date of the balance sheet. 

2.21. INCOMe TAx 

Income tax includes current taxes and deferred taxes. 

Inapa - IPG and its subsidiaries headquartered in Portugal 
are taxable to Corporate Income Tax (IRC - Imposto sobre o 
Rendimento de Pessoas Colectivas), through the special tax 
regime for groups consisting of companies where the holding 
is 90% or more and which meet the requirements of articles 
69 and after of the IRC Code. Inapa - IPG, as the parent com-
pany, is responsible for calculating the Group’s taxable profit, 
through the algebraic sum of the taxable profits and the tax 
losses on the income statements of each of the subsidiary 
companies belonging to the Group. The foreign subsidiaries of 
the Company are taxed in accordance with the tax regimes in 
force in their respective countries of origin. 



75

0
3

. f
in

a
n

c
ia

l
 in

f
o

r
m

a
t

io
n

N
o

t
e

s
 t

o
 t

h
e

 C
o

N
s

o
lI

d
A

t
e

d
 F

IN
A

N
C

IA
l 

s
tA

t
e

m
e

N
t

s
 

Deferred tax situations are recognised in the accounts, when 
relevant. The recognised deferred taxes correspond to tempo-
rary differences between the sums of assets and liabilities for 
the purposes of the financial report and the respective sums 
for tax purposes. Assets are recorded for deferred taxes when 
there is a reasonable expectation of future taxable income for 
them to be used. On the date of each balance sheet a reap-
praisal is carried out of the temporary differences underlying 
the assets for deferred taxes in accordance with the present 
expectation of their future recovery. The deferred taxes are re-
corded on the income statement, except when related to val-
ues that have been entered under shareholders equity, which 
implies their recognition in the shareholders equity. 

The income tax is recognized in interim financial statements, 
based on estimated annual effective rate for the annual finan-
cial statements.

2.22. PROVISIONS

Provisions are recognised when, and only when, there is a pre-
sent (legal or implicit) obligation from a past event, it being 
probable that resource outflow will occur to meet this obli-
gation and the sum of the obligation can be reasonably esti-
mated. Provisions are reviewed on the date of each balance 
sheet, and are adjusted so as to reflect the best estimate on 
this date (Note 23). 
 

2.23. eMPLOYee BeNefITS 

Pension plan – defined benefit plans 

The subsidiaries Inapa France, SA and Papier Union, GmbH 
have taken responsibility for contributing to defined benefit 
pension plans for some of their employees. 

The obligation of Inapa regarding each of these plans is esti-
mated by specialised, independent entities, at least annually on 
the date of the balance sheet for each year, using the projected 
unit credit method. In accordance with IAS 19, the costs related 
to the obligations are recorded to the extent that the services 
are provided to the employees benefiting from the plans. 

As allowed by IAS 19, the Group uses the “corridor” method by 
which the calculated actuarial gains and losses, resulting from 
the difference between the assumptions used in calculating the 
estimates of the obligations and reality, are deferred and only 
recognised in the income statement to the extent that, at the 
start of the year, its accumulated value exceeds (i) 10% of the 
value of the funds allocated to meeting the obligations of the 
Group’s companies and (ii) 10% of the obligations for past ser-
vices, whichever of the two is the higher.  In years in which the 

initial accumulated value of the actuarial gains and losses still 
not reflected in the income exceeds the limits given above, the 
initial excess value will be imputed to the income for the year 
as a function of the average number of years of work remaining 
for the employees covered by the plans. 

The calculated obligations for past services, less the market 
value of the funds that have been established to meet these ob-
ligations and the actuarial losses and gains, are recorded un-
der Employee benefits. The income statement includes records 
of the costs of current services, interest, income expected from 
funds and the recognition value of actuarial losses and gains 
arising from applying the “corridor” method, if the situation 
warrants. 

Pension plans - defined contribution plans

The subsidiary Inapa Suisse has a defined contribution plan 
for some of its employees, where a contribution to the plan is 
made annually, this being recorded in the income statement 
as a cost. 

Post-retirement benefits 

In accordance with local legislation, the subsidiaries Inapa 
France, SA and Logistipack, SA have to pay their employees a 
sum on the date of retirement based on the number of years 
of employment with the company. The value of this obligation, 
resulting from past services, is estimated, at least annually on 
the date of the balance sheet for each year, by specialised, in-
dependent entities using the projected unit credit method and 
is recorded under Employee benefits, using a methodology 
similar to the benefit plans described above. 

2.24. SUPPLIeRS AND OTheR CURReNT 
PAYABLeS 

The balances to be paid to suppliers, for taxes and other cur-
rent liabilities are recorded by their nominal value, which on 
the date of initial entry corresponds to their fair value. 

2.25. ReCOGNISITION Of INCOMe AND ex-
PeNSeS 

Income resulting from sales is recognised on the consolidated 
income statement when the associated risks and benefits re-
lating to the assets are transferred to the purchaser and the 
amount of income can be reasonably quantified. Income result-
ing from service rendered is recognised on the consolidated 
income statement with reference to the phase of completion 
of the service rendered at the date of the balance sheet. Sales 
and service rendered are recognised net of tax, discounts and 
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other inherent costs at their concretisation, by the fair value of 
the amount received or receivable. 

Group companies record their income and expenses in accord-
ance with the accrual basis of accounting, in which the income 
and expenses are recognised as they arise, independently of 
when they are received or paid. The difference between the 
amounts received or paid and the corresponding income and 
expenses are recorded under Trade receivables, Other current 
assets, and Suppliers and Other current liabilities (Notes 14, 
15 and 25). 

2.26. SeGMeNT RePORT 

An operating segment is an identifiable component of the 
Group that performs business activities and whose financial 
information is used in the Group Management decision mak-
ing process. 

The Group has identified three operating segments: paper 
distribution, packaging and visual communication. The finan-
cial information relating to the various operating segments is 
shown in Note 6. Paper distribution is performed in all of the 
countries where the Group is present. Packaging is performed 
in France and Germany. Visual communication is performed in 
Germany. 

2.27. CONTINGeNT ASSeTS AND LIABILITIeS

Contingent liabilities in which a possible outflow of funds af-
fecting future economic benefits is unlikely are not recognised 
in the consolidated financial statements, being included in the 
Notes to the financial statements (see Note 33), unless the pos-
sibility of achieving the outflow of funds affecting future eco-
nomic benefits is remote, in which case they are not included. 
Provisions are recognised for the situations satisfying the con-
ditions set out in Note 2.22.

Contingent assets are not recognised in the consolidated fi-
nancial statements, but are given in the Notes to the financial 
statements when a future economic benefit is likely. 

2.28. SUBSeqUeNT eVeNTS 

Events after the date of the balance sheet that provide addi-
tional information about conditions existing at the date of the 
balance sheet are reflected in the consolidated financial state-
ments. Events after the date of the balance sheet that provide 
information about conditions that occur after the date of the 
balance sheet are given in the notes to the consolidated finan-
cial statements, if material (see Note 39). 

Notes to the CoNsolIdAted FINANCIAl stAtemeNts 

2.29. New STANDARDS, INTeRPReTATIONS 
AND AMeNDMeNT TO The STANDARDS

During the year 2010 the following standards came into effect 
following their publication by IFRIC and their adoption by the 
European Union: 

•	 IAS 24 (amendment) – Related Party Disclosures;

•	 IAS 32 (amendment) – Financial Instruments: 
Presentation;

•	 IFRS 1 (amendment) – First time adoption of IFRS;

•	 IFRIC 14 (amendment) – IAS 19 - The Limit on a Defined 
Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding Requirements and 
their Interaction;

•	 IFRIC 19 (new) – Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with 
Equity Instruments;

•	 Annual improvements to standards 2010 – to apply most-
ly to periods beginning on or after January 1, 2011. The 
main standards subject to improvements were: IFRS 1, 
IFRS 3, IFRS 7, IAS 1, IAS 27, IAS 34 and IFRIC 13.

The present financial statements of the Group were not affect-
ed by these coming into effect.

New standards, amendments to existing standards and inter-
pretations, the application of which is still not obligatory for the 
period beginning until July 1, 2010 or after that Inapa has opted 
not to adopt them before time: 

•	 IAS 1 (amendment) - Presentation of Financial 
Statements (to apply in periods beginning on or after 
July 1, 2012). Not yet approved by European Union;

•	 IAS 12 (amendment) – Income Taxes (to apply in periods 
beginning on or after January 1, 2012). Not yet approved 
by European Union;

•	 IAS 19 (revision 2011) - Employee Benefits (to apply in pe-
riods beginning on or after January 1, 2015). Not yet ap-
proved by European Union;

•	 IAS 27 (revision 2011) - Separate Financial Statements (to 
apply in periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013). 
Not yet approved by European Union;

•	 IAS 28 (revision 2011) - Investments in Associates and 
Joint Ventures (to apply in periods beginning on or after 
January 1, 2013). Not yet approved by European Union;
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•	 IAS 32 (amendment) - Offsetting Financial Assets and 
Financial Liabilities (to apply in periods beginning on 
or after January 1, 2014). Not yet approved by European 
Union;

•	 IFRS 1 (amendment) - First time adoption of IFRS (to ap-
ply in periods beginning on or after July 1, 2011). Not yet 
approved by European Union;

•	 IFRS 7 (amendment) - Financial Instruments: 
Disclosures – Transfers of financial assets (to apply in 
periods beginning on or after July 1, 2011);

•	 IFRS 7 (amendment) - Financial Instruments: Disclosures 
– Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities (to 
apply in periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013). 
Not yet approved by European Union;

•	 IFRS 9 (new) - Financial Instruments – Classification and 
Measurement (to apply in periods beginning on or after 
January 1, 2013). Not yet approved by European Union;

•	 IFRS 10 (new) - Consolidated Financial Statements (to 
apply in periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013). 
Not yet approved by European Union;

•	 IFRS 11 (new) - Joint Arrangements (to apply in periods 
beginning on or after January 1, 2013). Not yet approved 
by European Union;

•	 IFRS 12 (new) - Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities 
(to apply in periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013). 
Not yet approved by European Union;

•	 IFRS 13 (new) - Fair Value Measurement (to apply in pe-
riods beginning on or after January 1, 2013). Not yet ap-
proved by European Union;

•	 IFRIC 20 (new) - Stripping Costs in the Production Phase 
of a Surface Mine (to apply in periods beginning on or af-
ter January 1, 2013). Not yet approved by European Union;

•	 According to the company analysis it is not estimated 
that implementing the changes and new standards set 
out above, which were not yet applicable to years begin-
ning on January 1, 2011 have a significant impact with its 
entry into force, with exception of IAS 19, which includes 
recognition in equity of actuarial gains and losses.

NOTe 3
fINANCIAL RISK MANAGeMeNT 

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risk fac-
tors: market risk (including foreign risk and risk associated 
with interest rates and prices), credit risk and liquidity risk. 
The Group’s exposure to financial risk is essentially associated 
with customer receivables and loans obtained from financial 
entities, which give rise to risks derived from non-compliance 
with contract conditions and the risk of fluctuations in interest 
rates. 

Financial risk is managed centrally by the Financial Department 
located in Portugal, in accordance with the policies approved by 
the Board of Directors, and in direct cooperation with the vari-
ous subsidiaries. Fluctuations in the financial market, particu-
larly with regard to interest rates, are continuously analysed 
and measures taken as considered necessary to minimise the 
Group’s exposure to financial risk. 

A) MARKeT RISK 

Changes in foreign Exchange rate 

Variations in the exchange rate for the Euro into other cur-
rencies, particularly the Swiss franc and Kwanza, can impact 
on the financial situation of the company as Inapa operates in 
Switzerland and Angola. 

Even though these markets do not represent more than 7.3% of 
Group sales, possible devaluations in these currencies against 
the Euro could have a negative impact on activity, the financial 
situation and income. 

The Group also has indirect exposure to the US dollar and other 
currencies due to the impact that variations in these curren-
cies have on its competitiveness, as whenever the Euro climbs 
against other currencies, the distributors based in the zone of 
influence of these currencies become more competitive com-
pared to European producers, who are the principal suppliers 
of the Group. 
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The following table shows the Group’s exposure to foreign exchange rate risk on 31 December, based on the balance sheet values 
for the financial assets and financial liabilities of the Group:
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On December 31, 2011 a positive variation of the Euro on 1% 
against other currencies would result in a negative impact on 
the results of the period of 124 thousand euros (December 31, 
2010: 144 thousand euros).

Changes in interest rates

The cost of the majority of the financial debt contracted by 
Inapa is indexed to variable reference rates, exposing Inapa to 
interest rate risk at the current time. If Inapa does not hedge 
this exposure to adverse variations in interest rates, these vari-
ations may have a negative material effect on its operations, 

financial situation and income to the extent of the lack of hedg-
ing. However, as a way of managing these variations, the Group 
financial department continuously follows the development of 
the market, being ready to use financial instruments to mini-
mise the effects of the volatility in interest rates. 

On December 31, 2011, if the reference interest rate used for 
the contracted loans varied by 0.1%, keeping all other variables 
constant, the annualised financial charges would vary by about 

DECEMBER 31, 2011

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade receivables and other assets
Available-for-sale assets

Total financial assets

Liabilities
Loans and other financial instruments
Suppliers and other liabilities

Total of financial liabilities

Balance sheet - net financial position

DECEMBER 31, 2010 (RESTATED)

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade receivables and other assets
Available-for-sale assets

Total financial assets

Liabilities
Loans and other financial instruments
Suppliers and other liabilities

Total of financial liabilities

Balance sheet - net financial position

*Information prepared concurrently in two currencies: kwanzas and US dollars.

EURO

10,229
215,054

651

225,934

362,426
75,947

438,373

-212,439

13,133
249,219

650

256,002

438,252
96,435

534,687

-278,685

gBP

6
203

-

209

-
4

4

205

4
2,366

-

2,370

-
1,328

1,328

1,042

CHF

4,613
10,552

24

15,189

-
3,751

3,751

11,438

2,998 
12,440

23

15,461

-
2,554

2,554

12,907

USD*

199
1,037

-

1,236

363
72

435

801

438
517

-

955

346
173

519

436

TOTAL

15,047
226,846

675

242,568

362,789
79,774

442,563

-199,995

16,573
257,542

673

274,788

438,598
100,490

539,088

-264,300
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DECEMBER 31, 2011

ASSETS

Non current assets
Available-for-sale financial assets
Current
Available-for-sale financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents

Total of financial assets

LIABILITIES

Non current
Loans
Financing associated to financial assets
Other liabilities - finance leases 
Current
Loans
Other liabilities - finance leases

Total of financial liabilities

DECEMBER 31, 2010

ASSETS

Non current
Available-for-sale financial assets
Current
Cash and cash equivalents

Total of financial assets

LIABILITIES

Non current
Loans
Financing associated to financial assets
Other liabilities - finance leases
Current
Loans
Other liabilities - finance leases

Total of financial liabilities

LESS THAN 
1 MONTH

-

-
15,047

15,047

-
38,061

8,711

70,956
1,295

119,023

LESS THAN 
1 MONTH

-

16,573

16,573

-
32,800
10,572

123,592
1,371

168,335

1 TO 3 
MONTHS

-

-
-

-

56,732
-
-

56,276
-

113,008

1 TO 3 
MONTHS

-

-

-

75,844
-
-

32,974
-

108,818

3 TO 12 
MONTHS

-

-
-

-

91,627
-
-

48,907
-

140,534

3 TO 12 
MONTHS

-

-

-

81,155
-
-

91,896
-

173,051

1 TO 5 
YEARS

47

628
-

675

111
-
-

120
-

231

1 TO 5 
YEARS

673

-

673

228
-
-

109
-

337

MORE THAN 
5 YEARS

-

-
-

-

-
-
-

-
-

-

MORE THAN 
5 YEARS

-

-

-

-
-
-

-
-

-

TOTAL

47

628
15,047

15,722

148,470
38,061

8,711

176,259
1,295

372,796

TOTAL

673

16,573

17,246

157,227
32,800
10,572

248,571
1,371

450,541

On December 31, 2011 the change in the financial assets and liabilities with exposure to foreign exchange rate risk because of ma-
turity or the date of revision of the interest rate (Euribor 1, 3 or 6-month) is given below: 
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B) CReDIT RISK 

Inapa is exposed to this kind of risk because of the credit it provides to its customers. The Group does not have significant credit 
risk and has credit risk evaluation and monitoring policies that ensure that sales are made only to customers with an appropriate 
credit history. 

Whenever appropriate solutions are available for the contingencies the companies face, they hedge these risks by contracting 
credit insurance. 

In addition, Inapa has a policy of monitoring trades receivable accounts closely and continuously, particularly taking their age and 
associated risks into consideration and if risks are found regarding their collection, these will be recognised as an impairment loss. 

The maximum exposure to credit risk corresponds to the accounting values of the financial assets given in the following tables 
regarding the concentration of credit risk. 

On 31 December 2011 and 2010, the ageing of trade receivables balances and the credit limit for the customer portfolio were as 
follows: 

Current accounts not due
Past due accounts
    1 to 30 days
    31 to 90 days
    + than 91 days

Doubtfull accounts
Impairment
Net trade receivables 
balances

Trade credit insurance limit

20102011

CUSTUMERS

136,324

13,567
5,077
9,001

163,969

13,909
-11,259

166,619

340,217

OTHER  
FINANCIAL

ASSETS

60,145

47
29
6

60,227

11,549
 -11,549

60,227

CUSTUMERS

169,044

15,081
5,073
7,136

196,334

11,754
-10,766

197,322

299,546

OTHER FINANCIAL
ASSETS

(restated)

54,893

2,670
1,176
1,481

60,220

11,476
 -11,476

60,220

For past-due balances, Inapa considers that no risk of losses will be coming for no-payment debt.
The entities with debts for the Group have no known rated “rating”.
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C) CONCeNTRATION Of CReDIT RISK 

Concentration of financial assets by operating segment 

The table below gives Inapa’s exposure to credit risk on December 31, 2011 and 2010, in accordance with the asset balances, cat-
egorised by operating segment: 

Concentration of financial assets by geographical region  

The table below gives Inapa’s exposure to credit risk on December 31, 2011 and 2010, in accordance with the asset balances, cat-
egorised by geographical region:

DECEMBER 31, 2011

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Available-for-sale financial assets
Trade receivables and other assets

Total assets

DECEMBER 31, 2010 (RESTATED)

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Available-for-sale financial assets
Trade receivables and other assets

Total assets

TOTAL

15,047
675

226,846

242,568

16,574
673

257,542

274,788

PAPER

14,399
34

192,708

207,141

15,908
32

227,495

243,435

PACkAgINg

438
1

3,726

4,165

290
-

3,076

3,366

VISUAL
COMMUNICATION

13
-

2,927

2,940

82
-

547

629

OTHER BUSINESS 
AND ACTIVITIES

197
640

27,485

28,322

293
641

26,424

27,358

DECEMBER 31, 2011

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Available-for-sale financial assets
Trade receivables and other assets

TOTALOTHERSANgOLASWITzERLAND 
AND gERMANY

FRANCEIBERIA

15,046
675

226,846

242,567

1,920
642

71,893

74,455

769
6

57,640

58,415

12,055
24

93,411

105,490

199
-

1,037

1,236

104
3

2,865

2,972

Notes to the CoNsolIdAted FINANCIAl stAtemeNts 
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D) LIqUIDITY RISK 

Inapa manages the Group’s liquidity risk using two approaches: by ensuring that the medium and long-term component of its 
financial debt is appropriate to the volume of funds expected to be generated and by having credit facilities continuously available 
(lines in the current account). 

The following table analyses the Group’s remunerated financial liabilities on 31 December 31, 2011 and 2010 by applicable maturity 
groupings, based on the period remaining until contractual maturity.  The sums given in the table are undiscounted contractual 
cash flows. 

DECEMBER 31, 2010 (restated)

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Available-for-sale financial assets
Trade receivables and other assets

TOTALOTHERSANgOLASWITzERLAND 
AND gERMANY

FRANCEIBERIA

16,573
673

257,542

274,788

1,917
649

68,684

71,250

306
1

63,375

63,682

13,619
23

120,188

133,830

438
-

516

954

293
-

4,779

5,072

DECEMBER 31, 2011

Liabilities
Loans and financial instruments 

Commercial Paper
Bank loans
Other loans
Financing associated to financial assets

Other liabilities - finance lease

DECEMBER 31, 2010

Liabilities
Loans and financial instruments

Commercial paper
Bank loans
Other loans
Financ. associated with finance assets

Other liabilities - finance lease

LESS THAN 
1 MONTH

-
1,702

160
92

382
2,337

742
6,380

108
67

391
7,688

1 TO 3 
MONTHS

1,276
10,497
2,303

179
5

14,259

3,029
32,465

1,836
128

3
37,461

3 TO 12 
MONTHS

73,152
93,150
8,787

819
1,145

177,053

113,766
102,968

871
597

1,199
219,401

1 TO 5 
YEARS

-
78,040
46,816
38,874

5,187
168,917

-
72,935
52,682
34,184
5,548

165,348

MORE THAN 
DE 5 YEARS

-
34,474

-
-

4,411
38,885

-
45,480

-
-

5,968
51,448

TOTAL

74,427
217,863
58,066
39,964

11,130
401,452

117,537
260,228
55,496
34,976
13,109

481,346
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Notes to the CoNsolIdAted FINANCIAl stAtemeNts 

NOTe 4

fINANCIAL ASSeTS AND fINANCIAL LIABILITIeS 

Reconciliation of the consolidated balance sheet with the various categories of financial assets and liabilities is detailed below:

DECEMBER 31, 2011

Assets
Available-for-sale financial assets
Other non-current assets 
Trade receivables and others current assets 
Cash and cash equivalents
Assets

Liabilities
Loans and other non-current  financial instruments
Other non-current liabilities
Current loans 
Suppliers and Other current liabilities
Liabilities

DECEMBER 31,  2010 (restated)

Assets
Available-for-sale financial assests
Other non-current assets
Trade receivables and other current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Assets

Liabilities
Loans and other non-current financial instruments
Other non-current liabilities
Current loans
Suppliers and Other current liabilities
Liabilities

The fair value of the assets and liabilities is equivalent to their balance sheet value. 

OTHER FINANCIAL
LIABILITIES

AVAILABLE-FOR SALE
 FINANCIAL ASSETS

CREDIT AND
RECEIVABLES

-
21,835

205,011
15,047

241,893

-
-
-
-
-

-
21,833

235,709
16,573

274,115

-
-
-
-
-

675
-
-
-

675

-
-
-
-
-

673
-
-
-

673

-
-
-
-
-

-
-
-
-
-

186,530
8,711

176,259
71,063

442,563

-
-
-
-
-

190,027
10,572

248,571
89,918

539,088
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NOTe 5

ReLeVANT eSTIMATeS AND jUDGMeNTS 

The preparation of the financial statements was in conformity 
with generally accepted accounting principles, using estimates 
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets 
and liabilities and of income and expenses during the reporting 
year. While the estimates have been based on the best knowl-
edge of the Board of Directors regarding current events and 
operations, actual results may differ from these in the final 
analysis. It is, however, the conviction of the Board of Directors 
that the estimates and assumptions do not incorporate signifi-
cant risks that could cause material adjustments to the value 
of assets and liabilities during the course of the following year. 

Estimates that present a significant risk of producing a mate-
rial adjustment in the accounting value of the assets and liabili-
ties in the following period are given below: 

a) Estimates of impairment of goodwill and own brands 
The Group tests Goodwill for impairment annually, in accord-
ance with the accounting policy given in Note 2.4. Recoverable 
values for cash flow generating units are determined based on 
calculated usage value.  These calculations require estimates 
to be used (Note 8). 

A figure for average sales growth was estimated for calculat-
ing the cash flow generated by cash-generating units. If this is 
0.5% lower, with all other variables remaining constant, it is not 
necessary to record an impairment loss. Nor would an impair-

Financial assets and financial liabilities gains and losses for 2011 and 2010 breakdown as follows: 

ment loss be recorded if the discount rate is 0.5% higher and all 
other variables remained constant.  However, in the case of an 
increase of not less than 1.6% discount rate would be required 
to register an impairment loss.

Similarly, impairment tests are conducted on the brands re-
corded in other intangible assets, where estimates were used 
(Note 9). If all other variables remain constant and the discount 
rate is 0.5% higher, it is not necessary to record an impairment 
loss.  However, in the case of an increase of not less than 2.2% 
of the discount rate would be required to register an impair-
ment loss. In the case of estimating the average sales growth 
down by 0.5% and all other variables remain constant, there 
would not be needed to recognize an impairment loss recorded 
in the value of own brands.

b) Actuarial assumptions 
The obligations for defined benefits are calculated based on ac-
tuarial assumptions. Differences arising between the assump-
tions and reality may affect the financial statements in ways 
that may or may not be significant.  

c) Income Tax 
The Group is subject to income tax in various jurisdictions and 
the tax calculation made by the Group is subject to review by 
various tax authorities. If the final results from these reviews 
differ from the initially recorded values, the differences will 
have an impact on income tax and the provisions for deferred 
taxes in the year in which such differences are identified. 

In addition, the assets for deferred taxes correspond to the 
value of tax losses for which there is an expectation of future 

Gains / (losses) from loans and receivables 
Gains / (losses) from other financial liabilities 
Gains / (losses) from available-for-sale financial assets 
Interest obtained:

From available-for-sale 
From loans and other receivables 

Interest paid:
From financial liabilities measured at amortised cost
Commission, guarantee and other costs of financial liabilities

Total net gains and losses

2011

-1,105
-
-

15
573

-15,715
-5,102

-21,334

2010

-4,774
-

154

429
1,789

-9,782
-7,649

-19,833
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recovery. A failure to recover tax losses or an alteration in the expectation of recovery in future years will have an impact on the 
income for the year in which the situation occurs. 

d) Doubtful accounts 

Impairment losses related to doubtful accounts are based on an evaluation the Group conducts into the probability of recovering 
receivables. This evaluation process is subject to various estimates and judgements. Alterations to these estimates may have an 
impact on impairment levels and, consequently, have an impact on the results. 

e) Provisions for litigation

The Groups is involved in various on-going legal actions and provisions are made in accordance with management estimates when-
ever considered necessary, based on the legal opinion of the Group’s lawyers (Note 2.21). 
A negative decision in any on-going action may have an adverse effect on operations, the financial situation and Group results. 

Notes to the CoNsolIdAted FINANCIAl stAtemeNts 
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NOTe 6 

SeGMeNT RePORT 

The information in the report by segment is presented in accordance with the identified operating segments: paper supply, packag-
ing and visual communication. The two latter segments are grouped under Other businesses. Holdings that are not imputed to the 
identified businesses are recorded under Other operations. 
The results, assets and liabilities for each segment correspond to those that are directly attributable and those for which there 
is reasonable basis for attribution. Inter-segmental transfers are carried out at market prices and are not materially significant.

The breakdown of financial information on December 31, 2011 and 2010 for operating segments is as follows: 

DECEMBER 31, 2011 

REVENUES

External sales
Inter-segment sales
Other revenues

Total Revenues

RESULTS

Segment results
Operacional results

Interest expenses
Interest income
Tax on profits

Income from ordinary activities
Gains/ (losses) in associated companies

Net profit /(loss) for the year attributable to:
Equity shareholders
Minority interests

OTHER INFORMATIONS

Segment assets
Non-imputable Group assets
Total consolidated assets

Segment liabilities
Non-imputable Group liabilities

Total consolidated liabilities
Capex
Depreciation
Provisions (impairment of assets)

986,467
-

38,976

1,025,443

17,348
17,348
-21,264 

841 
-2,906

-5,981
3

-5,978
-6,161

183

667,326
21,602

688,928
310,422
175,251

485,673
3,019
5,977
2,964

-
-5,558

-

-5,558

339

4,728
-5,349

-

-

-

-
-
-

29

780

809

-3,660

-13,663
2,337

-

30,165

487

83
747

-

25,106
3,043

572

28,721

1,311

-288
1
-

13,222

2,143

12
77
51

36,867
1,757

424

39,048

1,966

-310
8
-

18,543

3,831

346
300

14

924,465
758

37,200

962,423

17,394

-11,731
3,844

-

605,396

303,962

2,578
4,853
2,899

CONSOLIDATED
ELIMINATIONS

ON CONSOLI-
DATIONS

OTHER
OPERATIONS

VISUAL
COMMUNICATION

PACkAgINgPAPER
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DECEMBER 31, 2010

REVENUES

External sales
Inter-segment sales
Other revenues

Total Revenues

RESULTS

Segment results
Operacional results

Interest expenses
Interest income
Tax on profits

Income from ordinary activities
Gains/ (losses) in associated companies

Net profit /(loss) for the year attributable to:
Equity shareholders
Minority interests

OTHER INFORMATIONS

Segment assets
Non-imputable Group assets
Total consolidated assets

Segment liabilities
Non-imputable Group liabilities

Total consolidated liabilities
Capex
Depreciation
Provisions (impairment of assets)

23,269
2,269

458

25,995

1,394

-268
8
-

8,814

843

60
103
169

281
8

1,294

1,583

-2,356

-13,865
3,875

-

41,066

760

14
806

1,724

-
-4,644

-

-4,644

412

3,382
-4,397

-

-

-

-
-
-

980,263
-

37,208

1,017,471

24,072
24,072
-18,314

2,355
-5,079

3,034
10

3,044
2,942

102

720,919
12,062

732,981
360,706
218,726

579,432
5,134
6,463
4,574

924,741
459

35,150

960,350

24,462

-9,019
2,865

-

655,828

355,328

4,929
5,223
4,652

VISUAL
COMMUNICATION

31,973
1,908

306

34,188

1,884

-269
3
-

15,211

3,775

131
330

29

88

Notes to the CoNsolIdAted FINANCIAl stAtemeNts 

CONSOLIDATED
ELIMINATIONS

ON CONSOLI-
DATIONS

OTHER
OPERATIONS

PACkAgINgPAPER
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On December 31, 2011 and 2010, the values of assets located in 
the different markets where Inapa has supply operations and 
the sales by country were as follows: 

Non-current assets by geographical region 

On December 31, 2011 and 2010 the values of non-current assets by location were as follows: 

Germany
France
Portugal
Others

2011

SALES

472,256
230,996
53,466

167,748

924,465

2010

SALES

481,686
221,979
59,888
161,188

924,741

ASSETS

245,116
124,483

59,718
226,511

655,828

ASSETS

207,567
109,489

42,102
246,283

605,396

2011

Tangible fixed assets - net
Other non current assets

2010

Tangible fixed assets - net
Other non current assets

gERMANY FRANCE PORTUgAL OTHERS TOTAL

95,884
21,835

117,719

99,180
21,833

121,013

3,139
750

3,889

7,872
110

7,982

28,313
16,999

45,312

21,670
16,895

38,565

24,202
4,044

28,246

27,921
4,769

32,690

40,230
42

40,272

41,717
59

41,776

89
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Notes to the CoNsolIdAted FINANCIAl stAtemeNts 

NOTe 7

TANGIBLe fIxeD ASSeTS 

During the years 2011 and 2010, the tangible fixed assets movements and the related depreciations, were as follows : 

LAND BUILDINgS  

AND OTHER  

CONSTRUCTIONS

BASIC  

EQUIPMENT

TRANSPORT 

EQUIPMENT

OFFICE 

EQUIPMENT  

AND OTHERS

IN PROgRESS TOTAL

27,247
-
-
-

256
-

27,503

-
-
-
-
-
-
-

27,503

101,732
-

210
-415

-8,455
-

93,072

36,908
-

2,188
-124

-3,994
-

34,978

58,094

37,064
94

286
-330

4,738
-

41,852

32,364
91

1,240
-314
672

-
34,053

7,799

2,292
2

192
-179
-121

-
2,186

1,911
0

221
-242
-78

-
1,812

375

14,951
154
710

-543
-3,324

-
11,948

13,017
363
746

-459
-3,300

-
10,367

1,581

94
-

300
-

138
-

532

-
-
-
-
-
-
-

532

183,380
250

1,698
-1,467
-6,768

-
177,093

84,200
454

4,394
-1,139
-6700

-
81,209

95,884

2011

90

ACQUISITION COSTS
Balance as at January 1, 2011
Exchange rate differences
Increases
Disposals
Transfers/ cut
Changes in consolidation perimeter
Balance as at December 31, 2011

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION
Balance as at January 1, 2011
Exchange rate differences
Increases
Disposals
Transfers/ cut
Changes in consolidation perimeter
Balance as at December 31, 2011

Net value
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LAND BUILDINgS  

AND OTHER  

CONSTRUCTIONS

BASIC  

EQUIPMENT

TRANSPORT 

EQUIPMENT

OFFICE 

EQUIPMENT  

AND OTHERS

IN PROgRESS TOTAL
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On December 31, 2010, the gross value of tangible fixed assets 
funded by finance leases amounts to 15,742 thousand Euros 
(2010: 15,614 thousand Euros), with accumulated depreciations 
of 3,878 thousand Euros (2010: 3,768 thousand Euros) and debt 
value of 10,007 thousand Euros (2010: 11,943 thousand Euros). 

The net values of assets on December 31, 2011 and 2010 under 
the finance lease regime were registered as follows: 

27,305
-
-

-58
-
-

27,247

-
-
-
-
-
-
-

27,247

98,930
-

755
-111

2,158
-

101,732

34,725
-

2,171
-12
24

-
36,908

64,824

38,683
517
445
-159

-2,422
-

37,064

31,103
492

1,174
-172
-233

-
32,364

4,700

3,450
12

102
-637
-635

-
2,292

3,019
1

113
-580
-642

-
1,911

381

14,911
840

1,102
-1,070

-832
-

14,951

13,231
798

1,030
-1,051

-991
-

13,017

1,934

97
-

76
-2

-76
-

95

-
-
-
-
-
-
-

95

183,376
1,369
2,480

-2,038
-1,807

-
183,380

82,078
1,291

4,488
-1,815
-1,842

-
84,200

99,180

2010

Land
Buildings and other construction
Transport equipment
Total

2011

2,182
9,569

113
11,864

2010

2,182
9,645

77
11,904

ACQUISITION COSTS
Balance as at January 1, 2010
Exchange rate differences
Increases
Disposals
Transfers/cuts
Changes in consolidation perimeter
Balance as at December 31, 2010

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION
Balance as at January 1, 2010
Exchange rate differences
Increases
Disposals
Transfers/cuts
Changes in consolidation perimeter
Balance as at December 31, 2010

Net value
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92

Notes to the CoNsolIdAted FINANCIAl stAtemeNts 

When the various subsidiaries were acquired, the difference 
between the value of the acquisition and the fair value of the 
assets and liabilities acquired were calculated. 

The variation in 2011 results from Goodwill related for the pack-
aging activity to the sum of 769 thousand Euros as a result of 

the concretisation of the conditions contained in the acquisi-
tion contract for one of the Group subsidiaries, implemented 
in preceding years.  

Additionally in 2011, through its subsidiary Inapa Inapa 
Merchants Holding Ltd,  100% of the share capital of the 
Tavistock Paper Sales Ltd based in the UK was sold. This op-
eration resulted in a Goodwill decrease of 92 thousand euros.

The variation in the value of Goodwill in the 2010 resulted from 
the acquisition, amounting to 322 thousand Euros, made by 
the subsidiary Logistipack, SA of a company in the packaging 
segment. The net assets acquired were value by 175 thousand 
euros.

As the subsidiaries principally perform the activity of “paper”, 
the Board of Directors decided to treat the supply activity in 
its entirety as a group of cash-generating units, in compliance 
with IAS 36 and taking into consideration the direct inter-de-
pendency of the supply operations. A similar approach is also 
applicable to the packaging activity performed in Germany. 
Accordingly, the allocation of Goodwill can be broken down as 
follows: 

PAPER

 VISUAL COM. TOTAL

PACkAgINg

DISTRIBUITION PMF-FACTORINg

COMPLOTT

FRANCE gERMANY

125,019 553

5,929

140,338

1,042 7,795

As described in Note 2.4, the values recorded in Goodwill are 
tested for impairment annually or whenever there is an indica-
tion of a possible loss in value. Annually the Group calculates 
the recoverable value of the assets and liabilities associated 
with the paper activity, packaging, factoring and visual com-
munication activities by determining the value in use by means 
of the discounted cash flow method. 

The values from the impairment tests conducted for the pur-
poses of the financial statement on December 31, 2011, were 

150,637
-11,766

138,871

-
790

-
-
-

139,661

151,427
-11,766

139,661

-
769

-
-

-92

140,338

152,104
-11,766

140,338

NOTe 8

GOODwILL

During the years 2011 and 2010 the Goodwill’s movements were 
as follows:

gOODWILL

January 1, 2010
Acquisition value
Accumulated Impairment losses 

Balance as at January 1, 2010 

Movements during 2010
Exchange rate differences
Increases
Impairment
Transfers and disposals
Changes in consolidation perimeter

December 31, 2010
Acquisition value
Accumulated Impairment losses 

Balance as at December 31, 2010

Movements during 2011
Exchange rate differences
Increases
Impairment
Transfers and disposals
Changes in consolidation perimeter

December 31, 2011
Acquisition value
Accumulated Impairment losses 

Balance as at December 31, 2011
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supported by the expectations of market performance as de-
tailed in the future cash flow projections, based on medium and 
long-term plans approved by the Board of Directors that cover 
the period to 2016. The cash flow projections beyond the period 
of the plans are extrapolated, using the estimated growth rates 
given below. The growth rates used for the impairment tests do 
not exceed the long-term average growth rate for the supply 
activity or other operations. 

The management determines the budgeted gross margin 
based on past performance and their expectations for mar-
ket performance. The weighted average growth rate used is 
consistent with the predictions given in reports for the sector. 
The after-tax discount rate used is 6.24%, corresponding to 8% 
before tax, and reflects specific risks related to the relevant 
segments.

The assumptions used as a basis for the impairment test were 
as follows: 

To calculate the discount rate of impairment tests were kept 
the same assumptions that were used in the previous year:

•	 Risk-free interest rate:  bond yield of the German state 
for 30 years;

•	 Spread: Inapa average spread debt for the year;
•	 Beta:  analysts’ average reports following the Inapa (BPI 

and Caixa BI);
•	 Market risk premium: analysts’ average reports follo-

wing the Inapa (BPI and Caixa BI);
•	 Optimal capital structure: analysts’ average reports 

following the Inapa (BPI and Caixa BI);
•	 Tax rate: Inapa nominal tax rate for the year 

The differences registered over the previous year, at the dis-
count rate in each of the following assumptions were as follow:

Sales growth rate (in perpetuity)
EBITDA margin (Paper)
Inflation rate
After-tax discount rate
Before-tax discount rate

DECEMBER
2010

1.85%
4.7%
2.0%
7.0%
8.8%

DECEMBER
2011

1.85%
4.3%
2.0%
6.2%
8.0%

30 years bond yield of the German 
state 
Inapa average spread
Beta
Market risk premium
Optimal capital structure
Tax rate

DECEMBER
 2010

3.52%
2.5%

1.11
5.0%

43.0%
30.0%

DECEMBER
 2011

2.46%
3.1%

1.11
5.0%
43%

30.0%
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NOTe 9

OTheR INTANGIBLe ASSeTS 

During the years 2011 and 2010, the movements in intangible assets and related depreciations were as follows: 

ACQUISITION COSTS

Balance as at January 1, 2011
Exchange rates differences
Increases
Disposals
Transfers/cuts
Changes in consolidation perimeter
Balance as at December 31, 2011

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATIONS

Acquisition costs
Exchange rates differences
Increases
Disposals
Transfers/cuts
Changes in consolidation perimeter
Balance as at December 31, 2011

Net value

INDUSTRIAL PROPERTY 
AND OTHER RIgHTS

ADVANCES AND  
INTANgIBLE IN PROgRESS

TOTAL

157,493
38

774
-

-77
-

158,228

47,223
11

1,583
-138
160

-
48,839

109,389

1,300
-

547
-

-9
-

1,838

-
-
-
-
-
-
-

1,838

158,793
38

1,321
-

-86
-

160,066

47,223
11

1,583
-138
160

-
48,839

111,227

2011
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 Inapa identified as intangible assets with an indefinite useful 

life, a set of brand names created by itself or registered when 
acquired with subsidiaries, for which there is no time limit 
at which they will stop generating economic benefits for the 
Group.

That value of intangible assets is subject to annual imparity 
tests, in accordance with the definitions of IAS 36, which re-
sults in an impairment loss of 27,464 thousand Euros recorded 
in 2006, determining its value on December 31, 2011 and 2010 at 
103,227 thousand Euros. The impairment tests are either based 
on an evaluation conducted by a specialised, independent en-
tity or on calculations made by the Group following the same 
methodology. 

As an external evaluation was conducted by the Group in 2010, 
in 2011 this evaluation was performed by the company using for 

In the brands evaluating, the methodology for determining the 
discount rate was the same assessment of the Goodwill (see 
Note 8).

ACQUISITION COSTS

Balance as at January 1, 2010
Exchange rates differences
Increases
Disposals
Transfers/cuts
Changes in consolidation perimeter
Balance as at December 31, 2010

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATIONS

Balance as at January 1, 2009
Exchange rates differences
Increases
Disposals
Transfers/cuts
Changes in consolidation perimeter
Balance as at December 31, 2009

Net value

INDUSTRIAL PROPERTY 
AND OTHER RIgHTS

ADVANCES AND  
INTANgIBLE IN PROgRESS

TOTAL

154,734
35

2,538
-146
332

-
157,493

45,774
17

2,005
-8

-565
-

47,223

110,270

1,981
148
242

-129
-942

-
1,300

-
-
-
-
-
-
-

1,300

156,715
183

2,780
-275
-610

-
158,793

45,774
17

2,005
-8

-565
-

47,223

111,570

2010

Sales growth rate (in perpetuity)
Inflation rate
After-tax discount rate

DECEMBER 31,
2011

1.85%
2.0%
6.2%

DECEMBER 31,  
2010

0%
2.0%
7.1%

the calculation of the estimated value of the brands, the cash 
flow method. The assumptions used as a basis for the calcula-
tion were supported by expectations of market development, 
having been prepared projections of future “cash flows” based 
on plans of medium and long term covering a period up to 2016. 
The assumptions that formed the basis for calculations were 
as follows:



96

03. FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Notes to the CoNsolIdAted FINANCIAl stAtemeNts 

The examination of the “discounted cash flow” has resulted in 
the following recoverable amount by brand:

On December 31, 2011, the remaining of the value recorded in 
Industrial property and other rights net of amortisations, to the 
sum of 6,162 thousand Euros (December 31, 2010: 7,043 thou-
sand Euros), corresponded essentially to the costs of software, 
patents and other licences as well as customers portfolio 
amounting to 3,373 thousand Euros. 

The most significant change in other industrial property rights 
in 2011 is mainly due to investment in commercial software of 
around 793 thousand euros.

For 2010, the biggest variation was due mainly to the acquisition 
of a portfolio of clients in Inapa Spain, amounting to 1,870 thou-
sand euros. The remaining part is due to investment in com-
mercial software and integrated business management (ERP).

Additions for the year and the balance shown as assets under 
construction and advances the 31 December 2011 amounted to 
1,838 thousand euros (2010: 1,300 thousand euros) correspond 
mainly to advances made following the acquisition by Inapa 
France, SA and Papier Union GmbH licenses for commercial 
software. 

NOTe 10

INVeSTMeNT IN ASSOCIATe COMPANIeS 

On December 31, 2011 and 2010, the breakdown of Investment in 
associate companies was as follows:

Surpapel, SL
Inapa Logistics
Inapa Veerbereints

2011

1,021
25
25

1,071

2010

1,018
25
25

1,068

DESIgNATION

Bavaria
Galaxi
Gemini
Inapa Imagine
Inapa Tecno
Lumi
Tauro
Primaset
Others

EVALUATION AMOUNT

17,229
36,908

5,358
20,268
50,546
26,497

9,591
16,507
83,191

266,096
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The movements that took place under the heading Investment 
in associate company, for the years 2011 and 2010 were as fol-
lows: 

NOTe 11

AVAILABLe-fOR-SALe fINANCIAL ASSeTS 

On December 31, 2011 and 2010, the breakdown of Available-for-
sale financial assets was as follows: 

On December 31, 2011, the financial information regarding the holdings recorded in Investment in associate companies was as 
follows (Note 36):

Surpapel, SL

Inapa Logistics

Inapa Vertriebs
GmbH

ASSETSHEADQUARTERCOMPANY SHAREHOLDERS

EQUITY

REVENUES NET PROFIT

AND LOSS *

% SHARE

CAPITAL

APPROPRIATED 

NET  PROFIT  

AND LOSS

BALANCE

SHEET VALUE

nd

25

25

Polígono Industrial
Guadalquivir, c/ 

Tecnología,1
41120 Gelves Seville

Warburgstasse,28
20354 Hamburg

Germany

Warburgstasse,28
20354 Hamburg

Germany

nd

25

25

nd

-

-

10,7

-

-

25%

100%

100%

3

-

-

3

1,021

25

25

1,071

* Estimation

1,104
-
-

-46
10

1,068

-
-
-
3

1,071

Non current
BANIF - Unidades de participação 
em fundos de investimento
Others

Non current
BANIF - Unidades de participação 
em fundos de investimento

2011

-
47
47

628
675

2010

628
45

673

-
673

Balance as at January 1, 2010
Acquisitions
Disposals
Changes in consolidation perimeter
Share of results

Balance as at December 31, 2010

Acquisitions
Disposals
Changes in consolidation perimeter
Share of results

Balance as at December 31, 2011
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The Available-for–sale financial assets movements for the year 
ending December 31, 2011 and 2010 was as follows:

During 2010 Inapa - IPG sold  some units held in BANIF - 
Unidades de participação em fundos de investimento, that 
originated a gain of 147.7 thousand euros. Additionally, in 2010 
the “Junior Notes” associated with the securitization transac-
tion amounting to EUR 7.6 million were due, which given its 
nature did not produce any more or less value, having during 
the interest period generated a 5% per year rate profit.

NOTe 12

DefeRReD TAx

All situations that may significantly affect future taxes are recorded on the financial statements on December 31, 2011 and 2010.
 
In 2011 and 2010, the movements in assets and liabilities due to deferred tax were as follows: 

Balance as at January 1, 2010
Acquisitions
Disposals
Changes in fair value
Balance as at December 31, 2010

Acquisitions
Disposals
Changes in fair value
Balance as at December 31, 2011

9,294
4

-8,625
-

673

2
-
-

675

01-01-2011 CHANgES IN 

PERIMETER

FAIR VALUE  

RESERVE AND 

OTHER RESERVES

NET PROFIT  

AND LOSS FOR 

THE YEAR

31-12-2011

53
17,848
3,093

20,994

-8,142
-11,363

-759
-20,264

730

-
-
-
-

-
-
-
-

-

-
-
-
-

-
-
-
-

-

-
-1,423

-45
-1,468

-10
-1,098

245
-864

-2,332

53
16,425
3,048

19,526

-8,152
-12,461

-514
-21,128

-1,602

2011

Deferred tax assets
Taxable provisions
Unused taxes losses
Others

Deferred tax liabilities
Revaluation of fixed assets
Depreciations
Others

Net deferred tax
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With regard to deferred tax assets in respect of tax losses, the 
reduction in 2011 was due to reversal on tax losses for 2007 and 
2008, whose use is not considered likely. In 2010 its reduction 
was due to the disposal of assets that generate capital gains tax 
and in turn profits tax, allowing the use of tax losses from prior 
years reported.

The main change occurred in 2011 and 2010 under the heading 
of deferred tax liabilities, is related to depreciation, totaling 
1,098 thousand euros and 1,304 thousand euros, respectively, 
and is justified by the effects of amortization of goodwill in Inapa 
Belgium and on Papier Union, accepted for tax purposes in their 
respective countries. The variation in Other at 2011 corresponds 
to an annulation by prescription event the deferred tax liability.

Deferred tax assets for tax losses are recognised to the extent 
that it is probable that there will be a fiscal benefit, through the 
existence of future taxable income. The Group recognised defer-
red tax assets to the value of 16,425 thousand Euros regarding 
the tax losses that can be offset against future taxable profits, 
as given below:

Deferred tax assets
Taxable provisions
Unused taxes losses
Others

Deferred tax liabilities
Revaluation of fixed assets
Depreciations
Others

Net deferred tax

01-01-2010 CHANgES IN 

PERIMETER

FAIR VALUE  

RESERVE AND 

OTHER RESERVES

NET PROFIT  

AND LOSS FOR 

THE YEAR

31-12-2010

54
18,524
3,796

22,374

-8,022
-10,059

-807
-18,888

3,486

-
-
-
-

-
-
-
-

-

-
-
-
-

-
-
-
-

-

-1
-676
-703

-1,380

-120
-1,304

48
-1,376

-2,756

53
17,848
3,093

20,994

-8,142
-11,363

-759
-20,264

730

2010

Inapa France
Portuguese Group
Inapa España
Inapa Belgium
Inapa Suisse
Others

FINAL 
UTILISATION DATE

ilimited
2017

2021-2026
ilimited

TAx 
VALUE

8,581
177

5,619
1,776

90
182

16,424

NOTe 13

INVeNTORIeS

On December 31, 2011 and 2010, the Inventories consisted of the 
following:

No inventories were allocated as a guarantee of fulfilling con-
tractual obligations.

Finished and intermediate products
Merchandise

Adjustment for realisable 
value (Note 17)

2011

936
71,151

72,087

-1,059
71,029

2010

942
79,470

80,412

-1,114
79,298
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The cost of sales for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 
amounted to 823,471 and 809,899 thousand euros, respectively, 
and was calculated as follows:

NOTe 14

TRADe ReCeIVABLeS

On December 31, 2011 and 2010, trade receivables consisted of 
the following: 

NOTe 15

TAx TO Be ReCOVeReD AND OTheR ASSeTS 

On December 31, 2011 and 2010, Tax to be recovered consisted 
as follows: 

The balance of Other current receivables, on December 31, 
2010 was restated in accordance with the mentioned in Note 
2.2. Thus, the balance previously disclosed by the amount of 
17,548 thousand euros was reduced in 7,309 thousand euros, to 
the present amount of 10,239 thousand euros.

Initial inventories
Changes in perimeter
Purchasing and inventory 
adjustments
Final inventories

Impairment losses
Reversals of impairment losses

2011

80,412
-

815,201
72,087

823,526

114
-169

823,471

2010

66,525
-

823,786
80,412

809,899

-
-

809,899

2011

150,188
13,781
13,909

177,878

-11,259
166,619

2010

184,975
11,359
11,754

208,088

-10,766
197,322

Income tax
VAT
Other taxes

2011

1,651
2,831
2,805

7,286

2010

3,078
2,664

680
6,422

2011

23,056
-1,221

21,835

1
562

15,959
-3,019

12,940
23,147
1,742

38,392

2010
(restated)

23,345
-1,512

21,833

48
486

20,203
-9,964

10,239
25,489

2,125
38,387

Trade receivables
Trade receivables - current account
Trade receivables - bills of exchange
Doubtful trade receivables

Accumulated impairment 
losses  (Note 17)
Trade receivables - net balance

During the years 2011 and 2010, the Group recognised impair-
ment losses of 2,854 thousand Euros and 4,578 thousand 
Euros, respectively, which was recorded under Other costs 
(Note 28).

On December 31, 2011 and 2010, the balances for Other non-
current assets and Other current assets breakdown as follows: 

Other non-current assets
Other debtors
Accumulated impairment losses

Other current assets
Stockholdings and stockholders
Advances to suppliers
Other debtors
Accumulated impairment losses

Accrued income
Deferred costs
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Bank overdrafts include the credit balances in current ac-
counts with financial institutions, booked on the balance sheet 
under Loans (Note 22).   

2011

14,865
182

15,047

-85,873

-70,826

2010

16,397
176

16,573

-121,858

-105,285

On December 2011 and 2010, the Other non-current debtors bal-
ance included an Inapa – IPG credit of 16.7 million Euros over 
Fimopriv H, SA, arising from this company acquiring shares 
held by Inapa – IPG. Inapa – IPG acknowledges that, in the fu-
ture, it will utilize this credit to acquire the holding Fimopriv H, 
SA has in Papier Union, GmbH. 

Additionally, the account included a guarantee given by a for-
eign Group company related with factoring operation, amount-
ing to 2.814 thousand Euros.

On December 31, 2011 and 2010, Accrued income corresponds, 
fundamentally, of the amounts to be received relative to rev-
enue obtained by the Group from negotiations over purchases 
and bonuses, over receivables from suppliers. 

NOTe 16 

CASh AND CASh eqUIVALeNTS 

The breakdown of Cash and cash equivalents on December 31, 
2011 and 2010, was as follows: 

Immediatly available bank 
deposits
Cash

Cash and cash equivalents in 
balance sheet

Bank overdrafts

Cash and cash equivalents on 
the cash flow statement
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NOTe 17

IMPAIRMeNTS

During the years 2011 and 2010, movements in the recognised asset impairments were as follows: 

In 2011 results the effect of increases and reversals of impair-
ment losses of inventories are recorded in cost of sales (Note 
13)

NOTe 18

ShARe CAPITAL AND OwN ShAReS 

Share capital

At 31 December 2011 share capital was represented by 
450,980,441 shares, of which 150,000,000 shares have no par 
value ordinary nature and 300,980,441 preferred shares without 
voting rights, certificated and bearer with no par value (in 2010 
share capital was represented by 150,000,000 ordinary shares 
with a nominal value of Euro 1 each). As at December 31, 2011, 
Equity was fully subscribed and issued. 

The preference shares confer the right to a preferential divi-
dend of 5% of their issue price (0.18 euros per share), taken 
from the profits that, under applicable law, may be distributed 
to shareholders. In addition to the preferential dividend rights, 
preference shares confer all the rights attaching to ordinary 

Balance as at January 1, 2010
Increases
Utilisation
Reverseals
Changes in the consolidation perimeter
Exchange rate differences
Balance as at December 31, 2010

Increases
Utilisation
Reverseals
Changes in the consolidation perimeter
Exchange rate differences
Balance as at December 31, 2011

TOTALgOODWILL

11,766
-
-
-
-
-

11,766

-
-
-
-
-

11,766

OTHER 

INTANgIBLE

ASSETS

27,464
-
-
-
-
-

27,464

-
-
-
-
-

27,464

INVENTORIES

1,233
272

-482
-
3

88
1,114

110
-

-169
-
4

1,059

TRADE

RECEIVABLES

10,794
4,578

-4,797
-
1

190
10,766

2,854
 -592
-1,741

-84
56

11,259

OTHER 

CURRENT 

ASSETS

9,752
1,724

-
-
-
-

11,476

-
-7,236

-
-
-

4,240

61,009
6,574

-5,279
-
4

278
62,586

2,964
-7,828
-1,910

-84
60

55,788

shares, except the right to vote. The preferred dividend that is 
not paid in a year must be paid within the following three years, 
before dividends on these, as long as there are distributable 
profits. In the case of the priority dividend is not fully paid dur-
ing two years, preference shares are to confer voting rights on 
the same terms that the ordinary shares and only lost it in the 
year following that in which the dividends have been paid prior-
ity.

Other than Parpública - Participações Públicas, SGPS, SA, 
which holds 49,084,738 shares, corresponding on December 31, 
to 32.72% of the equity and rights to vote, of Banco Comercial 
Português, SA, holding 27,361,310 shares corresponding to 
18.24% of the equity and rights to vote (*) and Nova Expressão 
SGPS, SA, holding 3,000,000 shares corresponding to 2.00% of 
the equity and rights to vote, no other individual or company 
was recognised on the date the year was closed as holding 2% 
or more of voting rights. 

(*) the nominal shares held by Banco Comercial Português, SA 
is attributed as follows:

- Banco Comercial Português, SA ……… 10,869,412 shares 
corresponding to 7.25% of the rigths to vote;
- Fundo de Pensões do Grupo BCP …… 16,491,898 shares 
corresponding to 10.99% of the rigths to vote;
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The Shareholders with holdings of 2% or more December 31, 2011 and 2010, are summarised as follows:

Own shares

The Group did not hold any of its own shares on December 31, 
2011 and 2010. 

NOTe 19

Share issuance premium, Reserves and Retained earnings  

On December 31, 2011 and 2010, the breakdown of Share issu-
ance premium, Reserves and Retained earnings was as follows: 

The Share issuance premiums correspond to the difference 
between the nominal value of held Inapa – IPG shares and their 
issue value and cannot be distributed as dividends, but may be 
included in the Share capital or for covering losses. The vari-

SHAREHOLDER

Parpública – Participações Públicas (SGPS), SA 

Fundo de Pensões do Grupo Banco Comercial 
Português

Banco Comercial Português 

Albano R.N. Alves - Distribuição de Papel,SA
Próprias

Stocks hold by person or entity according to 
article 447

Nova Expressão SGPS, SA

SHARES

49,084,738

16,491,898

10,869,412

-

-

3,000,000

SHARES

49,084,738

16,491,898

10,869,412

50,000

5,138,305

-

2011

%

32.72%

10.99%

7.25%

-

-

2.00%

2010

%

32.72%

10.99%

7.25%

0.03%

3.43%

-

Share issuance premium

Foreign exchange adjustments
Revaluation reserve
Legal reserve
Other reserves

Retained earnings

2011

450

5,245
31,495
7,500

225
44,465

-43,667

2010
restated

2,937

5,338
31,495
7,500

225
44,558

-47,920

ation in year 2011 in Share issuance premium is related to in-
curred costs with the capital increase operation carried out in 
2011.

The Foreign exchange adjustments account includes the differ-
ence in foreign exchange conversion for all the Group’s assets 
and liabilities, expressed in foreign currency for Euros using 
the exchange rates applying on the date of the balance sheet. 
The Revaluation reserves correspond to the value of the assets 
revalued on the date of transition to IAS/IFRS. 

Business legislation requires that at least 5% of the net annual 
income is held in a legal reserve account until this represents 
at least 20% of the share capital. This reserve may not be dis-
tributed unless the company is liquidated, but may be used to 
absorb losses after other reserves are exhausted, or incorpo-
rated in the share capital. 

As a result of the a partial sale of Inapa Deutschland GmbH 
participation, was registered on retained earnings the capital 
gain resulting from this operation in the amount of 1,371 thou-
sand euros.

In accordance with a decision taken on April 6, 2011 by the Inapa 
– IPG shareholder meeting, the net profit in the individual fi-
nancial statements for the year 2010 to the sum of 3,665,724.32 
Euros was transferred to the retained earnings. 

Following the restatement made, as detailed in Note 2.2., the 
negative balance of Retained earnings at December 31, 2010 
previously presented by the amount of 42,335 thousand euros, 
was increased by 5,585 thousand euros, to a present value of 



104

03. FINANCIAl INFormAtIoN
Notes to the CoNsolIdAted FINANCIAl stAtemeNts

47,920 thousand euros and the Profit for the year ended on that date was reduced by 724 thousand euros presenting a restated 
amount of 2,942 thousand euros.

NOTe 20

eARNINGS PeR ShARe

The basic earnings per share is calculated from the net profit and loss for the year distributable to Inapa-IPG shareholders and the 
weighted average number of ordinary shares in circulation. As there were no diluting operations for Inapa – IPG shares, the diluted 
earnings per share is equal to the basic earnings per share, as follows: 

Papier Union
Inapa Deutschland
Others

2011

968
2,960

63
3,991

2010

968
-

64
1,032

NOTe 21

MINORITY INTeReST

On December 31, 2011 and 2010, the value of the Minority inter-
ests included under shareholders equity, refers to the following 
subsidiary companies:

Net profit and loss for the period   - in euros

Weighted average number of ordinary shares

Basic earning per share  - in euros
Diluted earning per share  - in euros

2011

-6,161,368

150,000,000

-0.041
-0.041

2010

2,941,480

150,000,000

0.020
0.020

The non controlling interest at Inapa Deutschland resulte of 
2,960 thousand euros, is a result from the 2.4% share capital 
sale made in the year.
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a) The bank overdrafts are renewable annually and bear inter-
est at the Euribor 1 or 3-month rate plus an average spread of 
2.44 percentage points. 

b) The commercial paper debt is as follows: 

i) A Commercial Paper Programme issued by Inapa – IPG in 
2004 with a 2009’s addition with a subscription guarantee, 
to the value of 14,350,000 Euros, to be repaid in 2014. The 
maximum nominal interest rate is the Euribor rate for the 
issue period plus 6.0 percentage points. Interest is debited 
on the dates of issue. 

ii) A Commercial Paper Programme issued by Inapa – IPG 
in 2005 with a 2010’s addition with a subscription guarantee, 

to the value of 22,500,000 Euros, to be repaid in 2015. The 
maximum nominal interest rate is the Euribor rate for the 
issue period plus 1.5 percentage points. Interest is debited 
on the dates of issue. 

iii) A Commercial Paper Programme issued together by 
Inapa – IPG and Inapa Portugal in 2009 with a subscription 
guarantee, to the value of 20,000,000 Euros, to be repaid in 
5 instalments, the first was due in October 2009 and the last 
in 2014.   The maximum nominal interest rate is the Euribor 
rate for the issue period plus 4.25 percentage points. In 
December 2011, the value of this programme reached 
11,800,000 Euros. Interest is paid in each issuance date. 

iv) A Commercial Paper Programme issued by Inapa – 

NOTe 22

LOANS AND OTheR fINANCIAL INSTRUMeNTS

On December 31, 2011 and 2010, the breakdown of loans was as follows: 

CURRENT DEBT  
  
Bank loans  
Bank loans and other current financial instruments 
Commercial paper, redeemable at its nominal value,
renewable, with maturity within one year

Medium and long-term financial instruments
(portion maturity within 1 year )
 Other current financial loans 
  
  
Financing associated to financial assets - securitisation  (Note 37) 
 
Total current debt 
 
 
NON- CURRENT DEBT  
  
Bank loans   
Medium and long-term financial instruments
Other loans
 
 
Financing associated to finantial assets - securitisation (Note 37) 
  
Total non-current debt 

a)

b)

c)

c)
c) g. h.

2010

121,858

113,000

12,081
1,632

248,571

-

248,571

106,520
50,707

157,227

32,800

190,027
438,598

2011

85,873

68,310

12,546
9,530

176,259

-

176,259

102,572
45,897

148,469

38,061

186,530
362,789
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IPG in 2008 with a subscription guarantee, to the value of 
11,000,000 Euros, to be repaid in 5 instalments, the first was 
due in March 2012 and the last in 2013. The nominal interest 
rate is the Euribor rate for the issue period plus 5.25 per-
centage points. Interest is paid in each issuance date

v) A Commercial Paper Programme issued by Inapa – IPG 
and Inapa Portugal in 2011 with a subscription guarantee, to 
the value of 5,000,000 Euros, to be repaid in 3 semiannual 
instalments, the first is due in June 2012 and the last in June 
2013 . The nominal interest rate is the Euribor rate for the 
issue period plus 5.0 percentage points. Interest is paid in 
each issuance date. 

vi) A Commercial Paper Programme issued by Inapa 
Portugal in 2010 with a subscription guarantee, to the value 
of 5,000,000 Euros, to be repaid in 2013. The nominal inter-
est rate is the Euribor rate for the issue period plus 2.25 
percentage points. Interest is paid in each issuance date. 

vii) Financial expenses in the amount of 1,340 thousand eu-
ros incurred in the hiring of commercial paper programs 
listed above. 

c) The medium and long-term financial instruments are, es-
sentially, as follows: 

a. Bank loans amounting to 66,4000 thousand euros.  
Interest rate is the 6-month Euribor plus 1.75 percentage 
points. Interest is debit twice a year, in April and October. 
Loans are repaid in 10 annually installments, being the first 
in 2009 and the last in 2018. 

b. Bank loan as commercial paper amounting to 21,000 
thousand Euros. Interest is at the 9-month Euribor rate plus 
3.6 percentage points. Interest is debited every 9 months. 
The loan shall be fully repaid in 2013. 

c. Bank loan amounting to 773 thousand Euros. Interest is 
at the 6-month Euribor rate plus 2.75 percentage points. 
Interest is debit in a three month basis. Loan is repaid in 
12 instalements, being the first in September 2010 and the 
last in 2013. 

d. Bank loan amounting to 7,500 thousand Euros. Interest 
is at the 3-month Euribor rate plus 5.0 percentage points. 
Interest is debit every three month. The loan is reimbursed 
in 2013. 

e. Bank loan amounting to 13,200 thousand Euros. Loan 
bears interest at 12-month Euribor rate plus 1.25 percent-
age points. Interest is debit every three month. The loan is 
reimbursed in 10 annually equal installments, being the first 
in 2010 and the last in 2019.

f. Bank loan amounting to 4,000 thousand Euros. Loan 
bears interest at 3-month Euribor rate plus 1.0 percentage 
points. Interest is debit quarterly. The loan capital is reim-
bursed in 8 annually installments, being the first in 2010 and 
the last in 2018.

g. Bank loan related with factoring operations in the amount 
of 37,847 thousand Euros. Interest is at 3-month Euribor 
rate plus 0.9 percentage points. The capital is guaranteed by 
trade receivables invoices and the interest is debit monthly. 
The loan will be total reimbursed in 2013. 

h. Bank loan related with factoring operations in the amount 
of 8,050 thousand Euros. Interest is at 3-month Euribor rate 
plus 1.0 percentage points. The capital is guaranteed by 
trade receivables invoices and the interest is debit monthly. 
The loan will be total reimbursed in 2013. 
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DEBT RELATED TO FINANCE LEASES  
  
Suppliers of non-current fixed assets - finance lease
Suppliers of current fixed assets - finance lease
  
  
DEBT RELATED TO FINANCE LEASES  

Rents - not discounted  
at less than a year
between 1 year and 5 years
at more than 5 years

  

FINANCE COSTS TO BE SUPPORTED  

2010

10,572
1,371

11,943

394
6,747
5,968

13,109

-1,166
11,943

2011

8,711
1,295

10,006

1,532
5,188
4,411

11,131

-1,125
10,006

On December 31, 2011 and 2010, the debit related to finance leases included in Other liabilities (Note 25) were as follows: 

On December 31, 2011 and 2010, the non-current and current loans obtained and the obligations under finance lease contracts had 
the following repayment terms and periods: 

Bank Loans
Commercial Paper
Other loans
Financing associated to financial assets
Factoring
Finance lease obligations

Bank Loans
Commercial Paper
Other loans
Financing associated to financial assets
Factoring
Finance lease obligations

INTEREST RATE

INTEREST RATE

CURRENCY

CURRENCY

LESS THAN 

1 YEAR

LESS THAN 

1 YEAR

1 TO 5 YEARS

1 TO 5 YEARS

gREATER THAN  

5 YEARS

gREATER THAN  

5 YEARS

TOTAL

TOTAL

4.2%
7.0%
3.3%
3.0%
3.4%
2.2%

3.1%
4.4%
3.3%
2.4%
2.4%
1.7%

Eur
Eur
Eur
Eur
Eur
Eur

Eur
Eur
Eur
Eur
Eur
Eur

85,873
68,310
12,546

-
9,530
1,295

177,554

121,858
113,000

12,081
-

1,632
1,370

249,941

-
-

69,805
38,061
45,897

4,512
158,275

-
-

63,586
32,800
50,707
4,893

151,986

-
-

32,767
-
-

4,199
36,966

-
-

42,934
-
-

5,680
48,614

85,873
68,310
115,118
38,061
55,427
10,006

372,795

121,858
113,000
118,601
32,800
52,339
11,943

450,541

2011

2010

On December 31, 2011, the group had about 76,200 thousand Euros available in unused lines of credit (December 31, 2010: 63,700 
thousand Euros). 
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Loans 
Current
Non-current

 
 
Financing associated to financial assets 
Finance lease obligations 
 
  
Cash and cash equivalents 
Bonds (listed shares) 
Available-for-sale financial investments (listed shares)

2010

248,571
157,227

405,798

32,800
11,943

450,541

16,573
-
-

16,573

433,968

2011

176,259
148,469

324,728

38,061
10,006

372,795

15,047
-
-

15,047

357,748

On December 31, 2011 and 2010, the net sum of the consolidated financial debt was as follows: 

Several Loan contracts are subject to financial covenants, which if not complied with the definitions can obliged to its anticipated 
reimbursement.

The covenants in force and the ratios are as follows:

The information used for this calculation corresponds to each company financial statement.

LOANS

Bank loan

Bank loan

Bank loan

Securitisation

Factoring

Commercial paper

Commercial paper

RATIO DESCRIPTION

Ajusted gearing ratio  =  (Shareholders equity + Reserves - Goodwill + Net loans 
obtained from shareholders) / (Net assets - Goodwill)

Adjusted gearing ratio =  (Shareholders equity - Goodwill + Net loans obtained 
from shareholders) / (Net assets - Goodwill)

Adjusted gearing ratio = (Shareholders equity - Goodwill + Net loans obtained 
from shareholders) / (Net assets - Goodwill - Loans conceded to shareholders)

Adjusted gearing ratio   = (Shareholders equity - Goodwill + Net loans obtained 
from shareholders) / (Net assets - Goodwill - Loans conceded to shareholders)

Adjusted gearing ratio  = (Shareholders equity - Goodwill + Net loans obtained 
from shareholders) / (Net assets - Goodwill - Loans conceded to shareholders)

Gearing ratio =  Shareholders equit / Net assets
Net Debt Cash Flow =  Net debt / (RLE + Depreciation)

Banco Comercial Português, S.A. Rating Fixed by Standard&Poors

2011
(Thousand  euros)

15.256

28.200

19.000

38.061

15.000

5.000

11.000

RATIO

17.9%

19.9%

18.3%

18.3%

18.3%

38.4%
12,0

BBB-
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Given the contracted limits, the Group complied with the limits 
that the contracts require except with the commercial paper 
of 11,000 thousand euros, whose rating of Banco Commercial 
Portuguese, SA was set by the rating agency Standard & Poors 
below BBB + resulting in a total settlement funding in March 
23, 2012. 

NOTe 23

PROVISIONS 

During the years 2011 and 2010, the following movements took 
place under Provisions: 

The balance under this heading corresponds to the provisions 
for the risks inherent in litigation in ongoing legal actions. 

Balance as at January 1, 2010
Increases
Utilisation
Transfers
Changes in the consolidation perimeter
Exchange rate differences

Balance as at December 31, 2010
Increases
Utilisation
Transfers
Changes in the consolidation perimeter
Exchange rate differences

Balance as at December 31, 2011

825
988
-611

-
-
-

1,202
49

-861
-
-
-

391

Regarding the proceedings brought against the company by 
Papelaria Fernandes – Indústria e Comércio, SA, see Note 33 
– Contingencies.

NOTe 24

eMPLOYee BeNefITS

As explained in Note 2.23, the Group has implemented defined 
benefit pension plans for some of its employees. In addition, 
other types of post-employment benefits exist, as described 
below:

Balances on the balance sheet for:
Employee benefits:
Contribution to pension plan 
- defined benefits
Other post-employment benefits 
- defined benefits 
Others

Expenditure in the Income 
Statement: 
Contribution to pension plan 
- defined benefits
Other post-employment benefits 
- defined benefits 
Contribution to pension plan 
- defined contribution

2011

1,282

2,168
68

3,518

234

254

473
961

2010

1,328

1,991
68

3,387

383

250

459
1,092
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The total amount of liabilities for past services and their funding for the defined benefit plans granted to employees are as follows:

December 31 of

Past service liabilities
Fund
Surplus or deficit of the plan

Experience adjustments plan liabilities
Experience adjustments on plan assets

2009

-3,952
47

-3,905

-314
-10

2011

-4,312
208

-4,104

138
4

2008

-4,092
506

-3,586

581
-6

2010

-4,272
0

-4,272

-361
-8

2007

-4,482
431

-4,051

829
-20

A) DefINeD BeNefITS PeNSION PLAN 

Companies located in Portugal

On December 31, 2011 and 2010, there were no pension plans for 
members or employees of the Group’s Portuguese companies.
 
Inapa France, SA

Defined benefit pension plans exist for nine employees of Inapa 
France, which are managed by an external entity. The obliga-
tion is financed in part by the fair value of assets, also managed 
by an external entity (insurance company), and with contribu-
tions made annually. 

Actuarial valuation conducted by an independent organization 
reported the following actuarial assumptions for December 31, 
2011 and 2010:

In accordance with the respective actuarial valuations, on 
December 31, 2011 and 2010, the current value of the obligation 
for defined pension plans and the corresponding accounting 
provision, were as follows: 

The movements occurred in the past service liability related to 
pension supplements and respective fund was made up as fol-
lows:

Due to the change in the discount rate used for the present 
value obligation calculation, a loss of 31 thousands Euros was 
recognize and booked under Actuarial loss / (gains) heading. 

Future salary  increases rate
Discount rate
Mortality table

2011

2.5%
4.70%

INSEE 2006-2008

2010

2.5%
4.60%

INSEE 2000-2002

BALANCE SHEET AMOUNTS

Present value of the obligation
Fair value of the fund
Present value of the uncovered 
obligation
Past service costs not recognised
Obligation recognised

2011

858
208

650
-363
287

2010

903
-

903
-588
315

DEFINED BENEFIT OBLIgATION

Beginning of year
Current service cost
Interest cost
Actuarial losses / (gains)  
Benefits paid
End of year

2011

903
41
42

-128
-

858

2010

883
31
36

148
-195
903
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The movements recorded in the Assets plan formed were as 
follows:

The movements verified in Past service cost not recognized in 
Income statement were as follows: 

The values recognised during the year in Income statement are 
as follows:

Papier Union, gmbH

Papier Union, GmbH, allocated a supplementary pension 
scheme (closed in 1982) to 28 of its current employees and ex-
employees, active and retired, calculated on the basis of 0.4% 

FUND’S FAIR VALUE

Beginning of year
Contributions to the Plan
Expected return on Plan assets
Acturial (losses)/gains (dif. Between 
expected and real return on assets)
Benefits paid
End of year

2011

-
205

-

3
-

208

2010

47
154

2

-8
-195

-

PAST SERVICE COST NOT 
RECOgNISED

Beginning of year
Actuarial losses/(gains) not 
recognised  during the year 
in profit and loss
Actuarial (losses)/gains recognised 
during the year  
Actuarial (losses)/gains recognised on 
curtailment
Others
End of year

2011

588

-131

-122

-
28

363

2010

836

156

-89

-170
-145
588

COSTS RECOgNISED IN THE YEAR

Current service costs
Interest costs
Actual return on plan assets
Actuarial losses /(gains) recognised
Actuarial losses / (gains) recognised 
on curtailment
Others
Total costs included in Personnel 
costs 

2011

41
42

-
122

-
-28

177

2010

31
36
-2
89

170
-

324

of the salary earned in each year of service with the company 
up to a maximum of 12%. The obligation regarding this pension 
plan is not covered by any pension plan assets formed for this 
purpose and consequently it is recorded in its entirety on the 
Group balance sheet. 

The obligation, calculated on the basis of an actuarial study val-
uation conducted by an independent organisation, for the pur-
pose of applying the International Accounting Standard No. 19, 
is recognised under the balance sheet heading Liabilities for 
employee benefits and amounted, on December 31, 2011, 995 
thousand Euros (2010: 1,013 thousand Euros). 

The actuarial assumptions used by the independent entity, 
which carried the actuarial studies for December 31, 2011 and 
2010 are as follows: 

In accordance with the respective actuarial studies, on 
December 31, 2011 and 2010, the present value of the defined 
benefit obligation for defined pension plans and the corre-
sponding accounting provision, were as follows: 

The movements recorded under past service costs obligations 
were as follows:

Future salary increases rate
Discount rate
Future pension increases rate
Mortality table

2011

2.0%
5.0%
2.0%

Heubeck2005 G

2010

2.0%
5.0%
2.0%

Heubeck2005 G

BALANCE SHEET AMOUNTS

Past service costs
Past service costs not recognised
Net obligations

2011

1,000
-5

995

2010

1,063
-50

1,013

RESPONSIBILITIES

Begining of year
Current service cost
Interest cost
Actuarial losses/ (gains)
Benefits paid
End of year

2011

1,063
6

51
-45
-75

1,000

2010

1,076
7

52
2

-74
1,063
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PAST SERVICES COST NOT 
RECOgNISED

Beginning of year
Actuarial losses /(gains) not recognised 
in profit and loss during the year
Amortisation of actuarial losses / 
(gains)  diferred from previous years
End of year

2011

50

-45

-
5

2010

48

2

-
50

COSTS FOR THE YEAR

Current service costs
Interest costs
Recognition of actuarial losses / 
(gains)- “curtailment”
Total included in Personnel costs

2011

6
51

-
57

2010

7
52

-
59

BALANCE SHEET AMOUNTS

Past service costs
Past service cost not recognised
Net obligation is the balance 
sheet

2011

2,110
-287

1,823

2010

1,977
-315

1,662

Future salary increase rate
Discount rate
Mortality table

2011

2.50%
4.70%

INSEE 2006-2008

2010

2.13%
4.60%

INSEE 2000-2002

The movements under past service costs not recognised in 
Income statement were as follows:

In accordance with the respective actuarial studies valuation, 
on December 31, 2011 and 2010 the present value for the defined 
benefit obligation plans and the corresponding accounting pro-
vision were as follows: 

The movements recorded under past service costs obligations 
were as follows:

Due to the change in the discount rate used for the present 
value obligation calculation, a loss of 3 thousands Euros was 
recognized.

The values recognised on the Income statement, are as follows: 

The values recognised on the Income statement, are as follows: 

B) OTheR POST-eMPLOYMeNT BeNefITS 

In accordance with local legislation, the French subsidiary 
is obliged to pay its workers a sum on the date of retirement 
based on the number of years of employment with the com-
pany, the profession category and the salary earned at the date 
of retirement. The value of these obligations is recorded on the 
balance sheet on December 31, 2011 amounting to 1.823 million 
Euros (2010: 1.662 million Euros). 

The obligations relating to these pension benefits for services 
performed were determined based upon the following actuarial 
assumptions: 

DEFINED BENEFIT OBLIgATIONS 

Beginning year
Current services
Interest costs
Actuarial losses / (gains) 
Benefits paid
Ending balance

2011

1,977
102
91

-20
-40

2,110

2010

1,688
90
88

170
-59

1,977

COST FOR THE YEAR

Current service costs
Interest costs
Amortisation of actuarial losses/ 
(gains) deferred 
Total included on Personnel costs

2011

102
91

8
201

2010

90
88

-
178
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The movements under past service costs not recognised in 
Income statement were as follows:

In addition, Inapa France provides employees who have more 
than 20 years of service on the date of retirement with a fixed 
contribution based on their time of service, as follows: 

The obligations on December 31, 2011 reached 345 thousand 
Euros (2010: 329 thousand Euros), registered on the balance 
sheet in their entirety. These were calculated based on the 
following assumptions, using the INSEE 2006-2008 mortality 
table and the current value of projected salaries, for active per-
sonnel: 

The movements recorded with Past service obligations were 
as follows:  

The values recognised on the Income statement, are as follows: 

C) DefINeD CONTRIBUTION PeNSION PLANS 

There is defined contribution plan at Inapa Switzerland. The 
value of contributions made in the period 2011 by subsidiary 
reached 473 thousand Euros (2010: 453 thousand Euros), and 
its recorded under Personnel costs. 

NOTe 25

TAx LIABILITIeS, OTheR NONCURReNT LIABILITIeS, 
SUPPLIeRS AND OTheR CURReNT LIABILITIeS 

On December 31, 2011 and 2010 the heading Tax liabilities break-
down as follows: 

PAST SERVICE COSTS NOT RECOgNISED

Beginning of year
Actuarial losses/(gains) not 
recognised in Income statement 
during the year 
Amortisation of actuarial losses/
(gains) deferred from previous years
Closing balance

2011

315

-20

-8
287

2010

145

170

-
315

TIME TO SERVICE

20 years
30 years
35 years
40 years

AMOUNT

0.5 net monthly salary 
2/3 net monthly salary
1 net monthly salary
1 net monthly salary

Future salary increase
Discount rate
Mortality table

2011

2.5%
4.70%

INSEE 2006-2008

2010

2.1%
4.60%

INSEE 2000-2002

PAST SERVICE OBLIgATION

Beginning of year
Current services
Interest costs
Actuarial losses/ (gains) 
Benefits paid
End of year

2011

329
17
15
21

-37
345

2010

305
16
16
41

-49
329

COSTS FOR THE YEAR

Current service costs
Interest costs
Actuarial losses/(gains)

Total included in Personnel costs

2011

17
15
21

53

2010

16
16
41

73

Income tax
VAT
Social security contributions
Other taxes

2011

4,635
10,094
2,077
1,267

18,073

2010

3,126
8,963
2,076
1,327

15,491
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Personnal costs to be paid
Accrued interest
Transportation costs
Honoraries
Marketing support
Other accrued bank charges
Interest debit to trade receivables
Social charges
Others

2010
(restated)

5,216
955

1,673
502
518
449

-
-

2,768
12,081

Other non-current liabilities
    Other creditors
    Fixed assets suppliers

Suppliers
    Current account
    Bills of exchange
    Invoices in progress

Other current liabilities
    Advances from trade receivables
    Fixed assets suppliers
    Other creditors
    Accruals and deferrals

2010
(restated)

-
10,572

10,572

54,972
-

3,761
58,733

1,220
1,371

16,513
12,081

31,185

2011

-
8,711

8,711

42,722
-

4,680
47,402

1,601
1,295

10,724
10,041

23,661

2011

2,362
630

1,681
227
510

-
1,443

649
2,540

10,041

On December 31, 2011 and 2010, Other non-current liabilities, Suppliers and Other current liabilities consists of the following: 

The balances with Fixed assets suppliers, are mainly related to finance lease operations (Notes 7 and 22).

On December 31, 2011 and 2010 the heading Accruals and deferrals breakdown as follows: 

The balance of Accruals and deferrals - Other, was restated in accordance with the mentioned in Note 2.2. Thus, the previously 
reported balance was reduced by 1,000 thousand euros, presenting a restated amount of 2,768 thousand euros.
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Sales of merchandise and 
Other products 
Service rendered

Supplementary income
Net cash discounts
Other income

2011

986,467
11,648

998,115

2011

691
10,972
15,665

27,328

2010

980,263
11,323

991,586

2010

440
10,872
14,573

25,885

NOTe 26

SALeS, SeRVICe ReNDeReD AND OTheR INCOMe 

Sales and Service rendered for the years ending on December 
31, 2011 and 2010, breakdown as follows: 

The Other personnel costs heading include compensation for 
termination of work contracts, to the sum of 2,281 thousands 
Euros (2010:  1,096 thousand Euros). 

During the year the Group employed, on average, 1,455 employ-
ees (2010: 1,462), of which 1,321 (2010: 1,332) were in companies 
headquartered in foreign countries. 

NOTe 28

OTheR COSTS

In 2011 and 2010, the balances under Other costs breaks down 
as follows: 

Following the restatement mentioned in Note 2.2., the balance 
of the impairment of current assets was previously disclosed 
for 2010 increased by 1,724 thousand euros, to the restated 
amount of 6,574 thousand euros.

NOTe 29

DePReCIATIONS AND AMORTIzATIONS

In 2011 and 2010, the balances under this heading break down 
as follows: 

In 2011 and 2010, the balances under Other income break down 
as follows: 

Other income refers to services charged to trade receivables, 
publicity, debt recovery, income for rental space, amongst others. 

NOTe 27

PeRSONNeL COSTS 

In 2011 and 2010, the balances under Personnel costs break 
down as follows: 

Wages and salaries
Social security contributions
Pension costs
Other personnel costs

2011

59,585
14,366

961
5,770

80,682

2010

58.916
14.271
1.092
4.921

79.200

Administratives expenses
Indirect taxes
Other costs
Provisions (Note 23)
Impairment of current assets 
(Note 17)

2011

88,457
3,574
3,031

49

2,854
97,965

2010
(restated)

83,044
3,291
3,896

988

6,574
97,793

Tangible fixed assets
Intangible assets

2011

4,394
1,583

5,977

2010

4,488
1,975 

6,463
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Financial income
Interest obtained
Gains from disposal of investment
Income from capital investments
Positive FX
Other profits and financial income

Financial costs
Interest paid
Losses on disposal of investments
Negative FX
Other costs and financial losses

Net financial function

2010
(restated)

1,558
-

52
86

659
2,355

9,782
-

883
7,649

18,314

-15,959

2011

222
-
-

252
366
840

15,715
-

446
5,102

21,263

-20,423

Current taxes
Deferred taxes (Note 12)

2011

-574
-2,332

-2,906

2010

-2,322
-2,757

-5,079

NOTe 30

fINANCIAL fUNCTION 

Financial income and financial costs for 2011 and 2010 are as follows: 

Following the restatement mentioned in Note 2.2., the balance 
of other financial expenses for 2010 was reduced by previously 
announced 1,000 thousand euros, to restated amount of 7,649 
thousand euros.

The heading Other costs and financial losses includes, amon-
gst others, costs associated with securitisation contracts (2011: 
1,662 thousand Euros, 2010: 4,272 thousand Euros), costs for 
issuing commercial paper (2011: 1,576 million Euros; 2010: 1,623 
thousand Euros), guarantee commissions (2011: 1,105 thousand 
Euros; 2010: 875 thousand Euros), for finance leases (2011: 982 
thousand Euros, 2010: 215 thousand Euros) and stamp duty (2011: 
454 thousand Euros, 2010: 242 thousand Euros) and factoring 
(2011: 1.032 thousand Euros, 2010: 11 thousand Euros).

NOTe 31

INCOMe TAx

Income tax for the years ending on December 31, 2011 and 2010 
breaks down as follows: 

In accordance with the tax law in force in each country, the tax 
declarations of the companies included in the consolidation are 
subject to revision and correction on the part of the tax authori-
ties over the course of a period, which in Portugal is four years. 
In the majority of the companies where the Group operates, the 
tax losses can be deducted to collect in the following periods, in 
Portugal this being for a maximum period of 6 years for losses 
originated until 2009, and 4 years after 2010 (inclusive)  and in 
other countries for a greater period, although subject to revi-
sion by tax authorities. 

The Group Board of Directors understands that possible cor-
rections may be made by the tax authorities as a result of in-
spections/revision will not have a significant impact on the fi-
nancial statements consolidated on December 31, 2011. 
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Less than 1 year
Between 1 year and 5 years
More than 5 years

Bank guarantees
In favour of financial institutions
In favour of third parties and of an 
operational nature

Real guarantees
On tangible fixed assets

2011

7,840
17,520
5,303

30,662

2011

118,150

500

17,200
135,850

2010

7,419
18,281
9,537

35,237

2010

139,500

1,000

19,067
159,567

Net income before tax on profits
Nominal average tax on profits
Income tax - value

Write-off of deferred tax assets
Permanent differences  - Switzerland
Permanent differences  - Portugal
Permanent differences  - France
Permanent differences  - other countries
Tributtable dividends 
Changes in tax rates  - opening balances
Others

2010

8,122
-2,388
-5,079
-2,691

-955
-

-288
-433

-76
-492
-260
-187

-2,691

2011

-3,072
922

-2,906
-3,828

-2,156
-47

-806
-1,110

282
-

-118
127

-3,828

In 2011 the nominal weighted average rate of tax on profits is 30 % (2010: 29.4%). 

The tax on Group profits before tax differs from the theoretical amount that would result from applying the weighted mean tax on 
profits to the consolidated profit as can be seen below: 

The average nominal rate of tax resulting from the average of 
nominal rates of various countries in which the Group operates. 
The change between 2010 and 2011 results from variations in 
the generation of results between different jurisdictions.

NOTe 32

COMMITMeNTS

A) OPeRATIONAL LeASe

The Group leases various offices, warehouses and transporta-
tion equipment through operating leases. The contracts have 
different maturity terms, readjustment clauses and renewal 
rights. 

On 31 December 2011 and 2010, the values for maturing rents, in 
accordance with their due dates, were as follows: 

In 2011 and 2010 the sums of 10,322 thousand Euros and 7,784 
thousand Euros, respectively, were recorded as the operational 
lease costs for each year.

B) GUARANTeeS

On December 31, 2011 and 2010, the obligations assumed by the 
Group in guarantees to third parties, were as follows: 

On December 31, 2011, the financial obligations regarding the 
guarantees made by the Company to various financial institu-
tions totalled 118.2 million Euros (2010: 139.5 million Euros), 
of which about (i) 6.5 million Euros (2010: 6.5 million Euros) 
in favour of Inapa France was for the purposes of contracted 
loans, (ii) 90.6 million Euros (2010: 113 million Euros) was for the 
purposes of issuing Inapa – IPG, (iii) 1 million euros for Inapa 
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– Portugal financing purposes (2010: 0 million euros) and (iv) 
20 million Euros in favour of Inapa Espanha related with the 
financing of factoring. 

A foreigner Group Inapa subsidiary had given several real guar-
antees on tangible fixed assets, amounting to 17.2 million Euros 
related to medium and long term loans.

NOTe 33

CONTINGeNCIeS

Contingent liabilities 

On August 1, 2007, Papelaria Fernandes - Indústria e Comércio, 
SA brought proceedings against Inapa Investimentos, 
Participações e Gestão, SA and its subsidiaries Inaprest - 
Prestação de Serviços, Participações e Gestão, SA (now de-
funct) and Inapa Portugal - Distribuição de Papel, SA request-
ing, in summary: 

the cancellation of the following acts: 

•	 the formation in June 2006 of collateral security as a 
counter-guarantee for the letters of comfort issued by 
Inapa - Investimentos, Participações e Gestão, SA as a 
guarantee for the financial instruments held by that com-
pany with the Banco Espírito Santo and Caixa Central de 
Crédito Agrícola Mútuo; 

•	 the reorganisation performed in 1991 to concentrate the 
paper supply activity in SDP (the present Inapa Portugal) 
and the production and marketing of envelopes in 
Papelaria Fernandes; 

•	 the acquisition in 1994 of the stake held by Papelaria 
Fernandes in SDP (the present Inapa Portugal); 

•	 compensation for credits arising in 1994 between 
Papelaria Fernandes and Inaprest. 

demanding that Inapa: 

•	 maintain the comfort letters issued in favour of Banco 
Espírito Santo and Caixa Central de Crédito Agrícola 
Mútuo;

 
•	 compensate Papelaria Fernandes should there be call on 

the collateral security as counter-guarantee for the let-
ters of comfort. 

Papelaria Fernandes - Indústria e Comércio, SA subsequently 
came to put its obligations to Banco Espírito Santo and Caixa 
Central de Crédito Agrícola Mútuo in order, such that: 

•	 the letters of comfort issued by Inapa - IPG ceased to have 
purpose, having been returned by the respective benefi-
ciaries;

 
•	 consequently this company communicated to Papelaria 

Fernandes - Indústria e Comércio, SA, the confirmation 
that the collateral security formed by this in its favour was 
terminated. 

The action, which had a value of 24.46 million Euros allocated 
to it, was contested by Inapa – IPG and by its subsidiary Inapa 
Portugal – Distribuição de Papel, SA and presently the deter-
mination of the Court is awaited for dissolving / liquidating 
Inaprest – Prestação de Serviços, Participações e Gestão, SA. 
The Group understands that this process will not have financial 
impacts, and, consequently, no provision has been made. 
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NOTe 34

ReLATeD PARTIeS TRANSACTIONS 

The balances on December 31, 2011 and 2010 with entities related to the Group are as follows: 

The transactions during the years 2011 and 2010 with entities related to the Group are as follows: 

The related parties considered relevant for the purposes of the financial statements were the subsidiaries mention on Note 35, the 
associated companies given in Note 10, the shareholders given in Note 18 and the Governing Bodies. 

2011

Surpapel SL
Megapapier
Medialivros
BCP

2010

Surpapel SL
Megapapier
Medialivros
BCP

TRADE

RECEIVABLES

BANk

DEPOSITS

OTHER

CURRENT

ASSETS

BANk

LOANS

FIxED 

ASSETS

SUPPLIER

SUPPLIERS OTHER

CURRENT 

LIABILITIES

47
-
-

16
64

35 
- 
4 
1 

40 

-
-
-

194
194

- 
- 
- 

432
432

-
-

88
-

88

- 
- 

88 
- 

88

-
-
-

71,516
71,516

- 
- 
- 

100,449 
100,449 

-
-
-

5,326
5,326

- 
- 
- 

6,520 
6,520 

-
-
-
-
-

- 
- 
- 
- 
- 

12
-
-

139
151

9 
- 
- 

222 
231 

2011

Surpapel SL
Megapapier
Medialivros
BCP

2010

Surpapel SL
Megapapier
Medialivros
BCP

SALES AND SERVICE  

RENDERED

OTHER

INCOME

OTHER

COSTS

FINANCIAL

COSTS

113
-
-
5

118

92 
- 

27 
169 

288 

46
-
-
-

46

11 
- 

31 
- 

31 

31
-
-
-

31

26 
- 
- 
- 

26 

-
-
-

3,864
3,864

-
-
-

3,621 
3,621 
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Board of Directors
Wages
Post-employment benefits 
Other long-term benefits
Termination benefits
Payments in shares

Audit Commitee*
Remuneration

General Meeting Board
Remuneration

2010

901.60
-
-
-
-

901.60

94.94

7.00

2011

1,139.50
-
-
-
-

1,139.50

103.50

7.00

*The remuneration paid to the members of the Audit Committee is included in the remuneration of the Board of Directors 

REgISTERED OFFICEDESIgNATION gROUP 

%  STAkE

ACTIVITY DIRECT 

SHAREHOLDER

INCORPORATION 

DATE

Rua Castilho, nº 44-3º
1250-071 Lisboa - Portugal

Rua das Cerejeiras, nº 5, 
Vale Flores
São Pedro de Penaferrim
2710  Sintra - Portugal

c/ Delco
Polígono Industrial 
Ciudad del Automóvil
28914 Leganés, Madrid
Spain

91813 Corbeil Essones
Cedex 
France

14, Impasse aux Moines
91410 Dourdon
France

Gestinapa - SGPS,SA 

Inapa-Portugal, SA 

Inapa España 
Distribuición de 
Papel 

Inapa France, SA 

Logistipack – Carton 
Services,SA

 

100.00

99.75

100.00

100.00

100.00

SGPS

Paper

Paper

Paper

Packaging

Inapa – IPG, SA

Gestinapa 
-SGPS,SA

Gestinapa
- SGPS, SA

Inapa – IPG, SA

Europacking 
SGPS, Lda

June 1992

1988

December 
1998

May 1998

January 
2008

governing Bodies’s - Remuneration Report  
The remuneration paid by Inapa – IPG to the members of the management bodies in 2011 and 2010, breaks down as follows (Euros): 

NOTe 35

COMPANIeS INCLUDeD IN CONSOLIDATION 

The subsidiaries included in the consolidation by the integral consolidation, on December 31, 2011, were as follows: 
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Vaucampslan, 30
1654 Huizingen
Belgium

211, Rue des Romains. L.
8005 Bertrange
Luxembourg

Warburgstraß, 28
20354 Hamburg
Germany

Warburgstraße, 28
20354 Hamburg
Germany

Warburgstraße, 28
20354 Hamburg
Germany

Warburgstraß, 28
20354 Hamburg
Germany

Werner-von-Siemens 
Str 4-6 21629 Neu 
Wulmstrof
Germany

Tempelsweg 22
Tonisvorst
Germany

Warburgstraß, 28
20354 Hamburg
Germany

Industriestrasse
40822 Mettmann
Germany

Torrington House, 811 
High Road
Finchley N12 8JW
UK

Inapa Belgique 

Inapa Luxembourg 

Inapa Deutschland, 
GmbH

Papier Union, GmbH

PMF- Print Media 
Factoring, GmbH

Inapa Packaging, 
GmbH

HTL Verpackung, 
GmbH

Hennessen & 
Potthoff, GmbH

Inapa Viscom, GmbH

Complott Papier 
Union, GmbH

Inapa – Merchants, 
Holding, Ltd

 

99.94

97.81

97.60

94.90

100.00

100.00

100.00

100.00

100.00

100.00

100.00

Paper

Paper

Holding

Paper

Factoring

Holding

Packaging

Packaging

Holding

Visual
Communication

Holding

Inapa-France, 
SA

Inapa Belgique

Gestinapa
- SGPS, SA

Inapa 
Deutschland, 
GmbH

Papier Union, 
GmbH

Papier Union, 
GmbH

Inapa 
Packaging, 
GmbH

Inapa 
Packaging, 
GmbH

Papier Union, 
GmbH

Inapa VisCom, 
GmbH

Gestinapa 
– SGPS ,SA

May 1998

May 1998

April 2000

April 2000

September 
2005

2006

January 
2006

January 
2006

January 
2008

January 
2008

1995

REgISTERED OFFICEDESIgNATION gROUP 

%  STAkE

ACTIVITY DIRECT 

SHAREHOLDER

INCORPORATION 

DATE



122

03. FINANCIAl INFormAtIoN
Notes to the CoNsolIdAted FINANCIAl stAtemeNts 

Althardstrasse 301
8105 Regensdorf  
Switzerland

Rua Amílcar Cabral nº 211
Edifício Amílcar Cabral 8º 
Luanda - Angola

Rua Castilho, 44-3º
1250-071 Lisbon - Portugal

Rua Castilho, 44-3º
1250-071 Lisbon - Portugal

Inapa Suisse

Inapa Angola 
Distribuição de 
Papel,SA

Edições Inapa, Lda

Europackaging 
SGPS, Lda

 

100.00

100.00

100.00

100.00

Paper

Paper

Editing

Holding

Inapa - IPG,SA 
and Papier 
Union, GmbH

Inapa 
Portugal,SA

Inapa - IPG,SA
and Gestinapa,
SGPS,SA 

Inapa - IPG,SA
and Gestinapa,
SGPS,SA

May 1998

December 
2009

November 
2009

October 2011

In 2011, there were the following amendments in respect of companies included in consolidation: (i) establishment of a new entity 
based in Portugal, Europackaging, SGPS, SA, (ii) sale of the Tavistock Paper Sales Ltd, subsidiary, (iii) change of interest percent-
age in Inapa Deutschland GmbH, with the sale of 2.4% of this company to a foreign entity, in result of which was determined a gain 
in the amount of 1,371 thousand euros, recorded in retained earnings, (iv) merger between the entity in MDE Logistipack - Carton 
Services, SA, and (v) sale of the participation of Logistipack - Carton Services, by Inapa France SA, to Europackging, SGPS, Lda.

The subsidiary Papier Union, GmbH made Inapa – IPG aware of the relevance of the provisions of paragraph 3, Section 264 of the 
German Commercial Code. 

The related parties considered relevant for the purposes of the financial statements were the subsidiaries given above, the associ-
ated companies given in Note 10, the shareholders given in Note 18 and the Governing Bodies. 

All balances and transactions with the subsidiaries were eliminated in the consolidation process. All balances and transactions 
with associates, which were not consolidated using the full consolidation method (Notes 10 and 36), and other companies where 
the Inapa Group has shares, are given in Note 34. 

NOTe 36

COMPANIeS exCLUDeD fROM CONSOLIDATION 

The stakes given below were not included in the consolidation using the full consolidation method. The impact of not integrating 
them is not materially relevant, as they have been recorded by the equity method, as described in Notes 10 and 2.3. Megapapier 
was not consolidated by the full consolidation method as it is the intention of the Group to liquidate it as its value has been evalu-
ated as zero. 

REgISTERED OFFICEDESIgNATION gROUP 

%  STAkE

ACTIVITY DIRECT 

SHAREHOLDER

INCORPORATION 

DATE



123

0
3

. f
in

a
n

c
ia

l
 in

f
o

r
m

a
t

io
n

N
o

t
e

s
 t

o
 t

h
e

 C
o

N
s

o
lI

d
A

t
e

d
 F

IN
A

N
C

IA
l 

s
tA

t
e

m
e

N
t

s
 

REgISTERED OFFICECOMPANY DIRECT SHAREHOLDER gROUP % STAkE

PO Box 1097
3430 BB Nieuwegein
Netherlands

Warburgstrasse, 28
20354 Hamburg
Germany

Warburgstrasse, 28
20354 Hamburg
Germany

Megapapier - Mafipa 
Netherland BV

Inapa Logistics

Inapa Vertriebs GmbH

Inapa France, SA

Papier Union, GmbH

Papier Union, GmbH

100

100

100

Chartered of Accounts services
Tax consultantion services
Other services

2011

556
11
11

578

2010

565
6

25
596

NOTe 37

TRADe ReCeIVABLeS SeCURITISATION

In the end of 2010, one of the Group companies, headquartered 
in Germany, had proceed to a new securitization operation for 
a period of 7 years, with the maximum amount of 45,000 thou-
sand Euros.

These credits are booked in Balance sheet under Trade re-
ceivables against de heading Financing associated to financial 
assets (Note 22).

NOTe 38

COSTS ReLATeD TO The SeRVICeS PROVIDeD BY 
The CURReNT AUDITORS 

In the years ending on December 31, 2011 and 2010, the costs 
relating to the services provided to subsidiary companies by the 
principal auditors, were as follows: 

NOTe 39

SUBSeqUeNT eVeNTS

The following events took place after December 31, 2011:
 
•	 Semaq acquisition (packaging company in France);
•	 Increased of the qualified participation of Nova Expressão 

SGPS, SA
•	 Establishment of a new qualified participation of Tiago 

Moreira Salgado

INFORMATION REQUIRED BY LEgISLATION 

Under the terms of n° 1 of Art°21 of Decree Law n° 411/91, of 
October 17, we hereby declare that the consolidated companies 
do not owe any due Social Security contributions to the State. 
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audit rePort for 
statutory and stock 
exchange regulatory 
PurPoses on the 
consolidated financial 
information

INTRODUCTION

1 As required by law, we present the Audit Report for Statutory and Stock Exchange Regulatory Purposes on the financial 
information included in the Directors’ Report and in the attached consolidated financial statements of Inapa – Investimentos, 
Participações e Gestão, SA, comprising the consolidated balance sheet as at December 31, 2011 (which shows total assets of 
Euro 688,928 thousand and total shareholder’s equity of Euro 203,254 thousand, including non-controlling interests of Euro 3,991 
thousand and a net loss of Euro 6,161 thousand), the consolidated separate income statement, the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in shareholders equity and the consolidated cash flow statement 
for the year then ended, and the corresponding notes to the accounts.

ReSPONSIBILITIeS 

2 It is the responsibility of the Company’s Board of Directors (i) to prepare the Directors’ Report and the consolidated financial 
statements which present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company and its subsidiaries, the consolidated 
results and the consolidated comprehensive income of their operations, the changes in consolidated equity and the consolidated 
cash flows; (ii) to prepare historic financial information in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted 
by the European Union and which is complete, true, up to date, clear, objective and lawful, as required by the Portuguese Securities 
Market Code; (iii) to adopt appropriate accounting policies and criteria; (iv) to maintain appropriate systems of internal control; 
and (v) to disclose any significant matters which have influenced the activity, financial position or results of the Company and its 
subsidiaries. 

3 Our responsibility is to verify the financial information included in the financial statements referred to above, namely as to 
whether it is complete, true, up to date, clear, objective and lawful, as required by the Portuguese Securities Market Code, for the 
purpose of issuing an independent and professional report based on our audit. 

AudIt report For stAtutory ANd stoCk exChANge regulAtory purposes 

oN the CoNsolIdAted FINANCIAl INFormAtIoN

(Free translation from the original in Portuguese)
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4 We conducted our audit in accordance with the Standards and Technical Recommendations issued by the Institute of Statutory 
Auditors which require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated 
financial statements are free from material misstatement. Accordingly, our audit included: (i) verification that the Company and its 
subsidiaries’ financial statements have been appropriately examined and, for the cases where such an audit was not carried out, 
verification, on a sample basis, of the evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements, 
and assessing the reasonableness of the estimates, based on the judgements and criteria of the Board of Directors used in the 
preparation of the consolidated financial statements; (ii) verification of the consolidation operations and the utilization of the equity 
method; (iii) assessing the appropriateness of the accounting principles used and their disclosure, as applicable; (iv) assessing 
the applicability of the going concern basis of accounting; (v) assessing the overall presentation of the consolidated financial 
statements; and (vi) assessing the completeness, truthfulness, accuracy, clarity, objectivity and lawfulness of the consolidated 
financial information.

5 Our audit also covered the verification that the information included in the Directors’ Report is consistent with the financial 
statements, as well as the verification set forth in paragraphs 4 and 5 of Article 451º of the Companies Code. 

6 We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

OPINION

7 In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above, present fairly in all material respects, the consolidated 
financial position of Inapa – Investimentos, Participações e Gestão, SA as at December 31, 2011, the consolidated results and the 
consolidated comprehensive income of its operations, the changes in consolidated equity and the consolidated cash flows for 
the year then ended, in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union and the 
information included is complete, true, up to date, clear, objective and lawful.

RePORT ON OTheR LeGAL ReqUIReMeNTS

8 It is also our opinion that the information included in the Directors’ Report is consistent with the consolidated financial statements 
for the year and that the Corporate Governance Report includes the information required under Article 245º-A of the Portuguese 
Securities Market Code.

eMPhASIS

9 Without qualifying our opinion in paragraph 7 above, we draw attention that, as mentioned in Note 33 of the notes to the accounts, 
Papelaria Fernandes – Indústria e Comércio, SA has raised in 2007 against Inapa – Investimentos, Participações e Gestão, SA a 
legal proceedings, related to events occurred in previous years.  Inapa – Investimentos, Participações e Gestão, SA considered 
that they do not have any relevant liability with Papelaria Fernandes – Indústria e Comércio, SA as a result of the transactions 
mentioned in the legal proceedings raised by this company, therefore, no provision had been created in the consolidated financial 
statements.

Lisbon, April 20, 2012

PricewaterhouseCoopers & Associados
 – Sociedade de Revisores Oficiais de Contas, Lda
Registered in the Comissão do Mercado de Valores Mobiliários with no. 9077
represented by:

José Pereira Alves, R.O.C.
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individual
accounts

NOTES

7
8
9

10
10
15
11
12

13
14
15

11
4

DECEMBER 31,
2011

29.1
16,540.4

105.0
258,291.1

12.7
37,212.3

-
380.2

312,570.8 

639.7
922.1

42,114.7
192.6
628.0
140.6

44,637.7

357,208.5

DECEMBER 31,
2010

(restated)

31.4
17,104.2

55.3
258,362.2

12.7
37,212.3

628.0
2,563.1

315,969.3 

1,027.4
502.5

36,332.7
349.6

-    
229.1

38,441.3

354,410.6

ASSETS

Non-current assets
Tangible fixed assets
Investment properties
Other intangible assets
Investments - equity method 
Investments - others methods
Other non-current receivables
Other financial assets
Deferred tax assets

Total non-current assets

Current assets
Trade receivables
Tax to be recovered
Other current receivables
Deferrals
Other financial assets
Cask and bank deposits

Total current assets

Total assets

BALANCE SHEET AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2011
(Amounts expressed in thousand Euros) 
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BALANCE SHEET AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2011
(Amounts expressed in thousand Euros) 

SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY

Share capital
Issuance premium
Legal reserves
Other reserves
Retained earnings
Other shareholders equity changes
Net profit/ (loss) for the year

Total shareholders equity

LIABILITIES

Non-current liabilities
Loans
Deferred tax liabilities
Other payables

Total non-current liabilities

Current liabilities
Suppliers
Tax liabilities
Loans
Other payables

Total current liabilities

Total liabilities

Total shareholders equity and liabilities

NOTES

17
17
17
17
17
17
17

18
12
19

14
18
19

DECEMBER 31,
2011

204,176.5
451.1

7,500.0
225.5

-16,245.7
9,317.4

-6,161.4

199,263.4

60,235.5
34.0

3,804.3

64,073.8

203.7
250.4

86,254.2
7,163.0

-

93,871.3

157,945.1

357,208.5

DECEMBER 31,
2010

(restated)

150,000.0
2,937.3
7,500.0

225.5
-14,887.4

3,798.4
2,941.5

152,515.3

62,336.6
45.4

4,570.1

66,952.1

140.7
227.1

132,566.1
2,009.4

-

134,943.3

201,895.3

354,410.6

To be read in conjunction with the Notes to the individual financial statements
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INCOME STATEMENT AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2011
(Amounts expressed in thousand Euros) 

PROFIT AND LOSS

Sales and Service rendered
Gains / (losses) in associated/subsidiary companies 
General and administrative expenses
Personnel costs
Impairment on current assets
Other gains and profits 
Other losses and expenses

Net profit / (loss) before depreciations, financial 
function and income tax 

Depreciations and amortizations

Operacional result  (before financial function and 
income tax)

Financial income - intererest and similar gains
Financial costs - interest and similar costs

Net profit / (loss) before Income tax

Income tax

Net profit / (loss) for the period

NOTES

20
10
21
22
16
20
23

24

25
25

12

DECEMBER 31,
2011

1,462.0
-1,658.4
-1,550.2
-3,199.9

-    
11,801.4
-259.0

6,595.9

-599.5

5,996.4

977.4
-10,938.1

-3,964.3

-2,197.1

-6,161.4

DECEMBER 31,
2010

(restated)

2,249.7
4,531.6
-973.4

-2,832.5
-2,154.9
10,382.3

-344.6

10,858.1

-649.4

10,208.7

2,200.9
-8,986.1

3,423.5

-482.0

2,941.5

To be read in conjuction with the Notes to the Individual financial statements
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STATEMENT OF CHANgES IN SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2011,  AND 
DECEMBER 31, 2010
(Amounts expressed in thousand Euros) 

AS AT JANUARY 1ST OF 2010
Restatement effect (Note 5)

As at January 1st of 2010 (restated)

Changes in period

Equity method application
Other changes on shareholders 
equity

Net profit/ (loss) for the period 
(restated)

Total profit / (loss)
Sahreholders equity movements 
in the  period 
Distribuitions
Other operations
    - Net profit /(loss) applications

AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2010

Changes in period

Equity method application
Other changes on shareholders 
equity

Net profit/ (loss) for the period

Total profit / (loss)
Sahreholders equity movements 
in the  period 
Capital increase
Capital changes
Distribuitions
Other operations
    - Net profit /(loss) applications

AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2011

To be read in conjuction with the Notes to the Individual financial statements

RETAINED 

EARNINgS

-9,184.5
-5,585.0

-14,997.5

-

-117.9
-117.9

-

-117.9

-

-
-

-14,887.4

-4,299.8 

-
-4,299.8

- 

-4,299.8

- 
- 
-

2,941.5 
2,941.5 

-16,245.7

NET PROFIT /  

(LOSS) FOR 

THE PERIOD

-
-

-

-

- 
-

2,941.5 

2,941.5 

-

-
-

2,941.5 

- 

-
- 

-6,161.4

-6,161.4

- 
- 
-

-2,941.5
-2,941.5

-6,161.4

SHARE 

ISSUANCE 

PREMIUM

2,937.3
-

2,937.3

-

-
- 

-

-

-
- 

2,937.3

- 

-
-

- 

-

- 
-2,486.2

-

-
-2,486.2

451.1

TOTAL

151,781.3
-5,585.0

146,196.3

3,495.4 

-117.9
3,377.5

2,941.5 

6,319.0 

-

- 
- 

152,515.3

1,219.2

-
1,219.2

-6,161.4

-4,942.2

54,176.5
-2,486.2

-

- 
51,690.3 

199,263.4 

RESERVES 

7,725.5 
-

7,725.5

-

-
- 

-

-

-

- 

7,725.5

- 

-
- 

- 

-

- 
- 
-

- 

7,725.5

ADJUSTMENTS 

ON FINANCIAL 

ASSETS

303.0
- 

303.0

3,495.4 

-
3,495.4 

-

3,495.4 

-

-
- 

3,798.4 

5,519.0 

- 
5,519.0

- 

5,519.0

- 
- 
-

- 

9,317.4 

SHARE 

CAPITAL

150,000.0
- 

150,000.0

-

-
- 

- 

-

-
- 

150,000.0 

- 

-
-

- 

-

54,176.5
- 
-

-
54,176.5 

204,176.5
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2011
(Amounts expressed in thousand Euros)  - direct method

CASH FLOW gENERATED FROM OPERATINg ACTIVITIES

Cash receipts from customers   
Payments to suppliers    
Payments to personnel

Net cash from operational activities

Income taxes paid    
Income taxes received    
Other proceeds relating to operating activity   
Other payments relating to operating activity

Net cash generated from operating activities |1|

CASH FLOW FROM INVESTINg ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from:     
Financial investments
Tangible fixed assets    
Interest and similar income
Loans conceded
Dividends

Payments in respect of:
Financial investments    
Tangible fixed assets    
Intangible assets    
Loans granted 

Net cash used in investing activities  |2|

NOTES DECEMBER 31,
2011

2,573.1
-2,150.2
-2,985.5

-2,562.6

-121.3
 -     

32,544.0
-24,542.2

5,317.9

0.0
2.0

441.0
27,425.2

231.8
28,099.9

-600.0
 -     
 -     

-24,400.2
-25,000.2

3,099.7

DECEMBER 31,
2010

3,345.0
-1,851.8

-2,303.4

-810.2

-182.9
436.4

22,355.3
-15,948.6

5,849.8

8,742.0
1.5

873.3
40,132.2
1,978.2

51,727.3

-1,544.2
-10,868.5

-
-37,491.4

-49,904.1

1,823.2
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2011
(Amounts expressed in thousand Euros)  - direct method

CASH FLOW FROM FINANCINg ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from:     
Loans obtained    
Capital increases, repayments and share premiums 
Treasury placements

Payments in respect of: 
Loans obtained    
Amortization of financial leases  
Interest and similar expenses
Dividends

Net cash used in financing activities  |3|

Increase / (decrease) in cash and cash-equivalent |1+2+3|
Effect of exchange differences

Cash and cash equivalents - begining of period
Cash and cash equivalents - end of period

NOTES

4
4

DECEMBER 31,
2011

107,580.0
51,690.4

-
159,270.4

-155,111.2
-901.2

-9,042.8
-

-165,055.2

-5,784.8

2,632.7
0.3

2,633.0

-21,032.2
-18,399.2

2,633.0

DECEMBER 31,
2010

36,208.9
-
-

36,208.9

-36,462.6
-777.7

-7,977.7
-

-45,218.0

-9,009.1

-1,336.1
1.5

-1,334.6

-19,697.6
-21,032.2

-1,334.6

To be read in conjuction with the Notes to the Individual financial statements
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notes to the 
individual
financial
statements
NOtes tO FINaNcIaL statemeNts FOr tHe Year eNDeD 31 
December 2011
(Amounts in thousands of euros, except if mentioned otherwise)

NOTe 1
 
INTRODUCTION AND IDeNTIfICATION 

Inapa - Investimentos, Participações e gestão, S/A (Inapa 
- IPg) is the parent company of Inapa Group, being a stake-
holder in the ownership and management of movable goods 
and real estate, making equity investments in other companies, 
the exploration of commercial and industrial establishments, 
whether its own or of others, as well as providing assistance 
to companies whose equity it partakes in. Inapa - IPG is listed 
on Euronext Lisbon. The most significant shareholdings are set 
out in note 17.

Registered Office: Rua Castilho nº44 3º, 1250-071 Lisbon, 
Portugal
Capital: 204,176,479.48 euros
NIPC (Corporate Taxpayer ID Nr): 500 137 994

The financial statements of the fiscal year were prepared 
in all material respects, in accordance  to the  standards of 
the Sistema de Normalização Contabilística [Accounting 
Standardisation System] (SNC) 

These financial statements were approved by the Board 
of Administration, at the meeting of April 20th 2012. It is the 
Administration’s opinion that these financial statements truly 
and properly reflect the transactions of Inapa - IPG as well as 
its status, financial performance and cash flows.

NOTe 2
 
ACCOUNTING RefeReNCe IN The PRePARATION 
Of The fINANCIAL STATeMeNTS

2.1. BASIS Of PRePARATION

These financial statements have been prepared under the 
disclosures in force in Portugal, issued by Decree-Law nº 
158/2009, of 13 July, and according to the Estrutura Conceptual 
[Framework] (EC), Normas Contabilísticas e de Relato 
Financeiro [Accounting and Financial Reporting Standards] 
(NCRF) and Normas Interpretativas [Interpretative Standards] 
(NI) listed in the Accounting Standardisation System (SNC)

2.2. wAIVeR Of The SNC PROVISIONS

In this exercise no SNC provisions were waived. 

2.3. COMPARABILITY Of fINANCIAL STATeMeNTS

The figures in the financial statements for the fiscal year ended 
31 December 2011 are comparable in all significant aspects with 
those of fiscal year 2010. However, it should be taken in consid-
eration that these comparative figures were restated to reflect 
the situation referred at note 5.

Notes to the INdIvIduAl FINANCIAl stAtemeNts
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NOTe 3

MAIN ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLeS AND VALUATION 
CRITeRIA

The attached financial statements have been prepared assum-
ing the continuity of operations, from the Company’s account-
ing records. The main accounting principles and valuation 
criteria adopted in preparing the financial statements are the 
following: 

(i)Tangible fixed assets (NCRF 7)

The tangible fixed assets are booked at cost of acquisition, less 
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. This cost in-
cludes the cost estimated on the date of transition to the SNC, 
and the costs for acquisitions of assets obtained afterwards.

The acquisition cost includes the purchase price of the asset, 
the costs directly attributable to their acquisition, including 
non-deductible taxes, and charges incurred in preparing the 
asset so as to be in a usable condition. 
The land plots are not depreciated. Depreciation of other as-
sets is calculated after the date on which the goods are avail-
able for use by the straightline method, according to the period 
of useful life for each one and which correspond to the follow-
ing rates - 

Buildings and other constructions 2% - 5%
Basic equipment 6.66% - 12.5%
Equipment transport 20% - 50%
Office equipment 10% - 12.5%

The depreciation process by twelfths, starts in the fiscal year’s 
month when the respective asset goes into operation.

The costs of maintenance and repairs that do not increase the 
useful life of the assets, nor result in significant benefits or 
enhancement in items of tangible fixed assets, are booked as 
expenses in the fiscal year they occur.

(ii) Investment Properties (NCRF 11)

Tangible fixed assets are classified as investment property 
when held with the aim of achieving capital appreciation and 
income.

Investment property is initially valued at cost of acquisition, in-
cluding transaction costs that can be directly assignable. After 
the initial recognition, the investment properties are stated at 
cost less the depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

Costs incurred for investment property in use, namely, mainte-

nance, repairs, insurance and taxes on proprieties are recog-
nized as expenses in the period to which they relate. The lease-
hold improvements or investment property for which there are 
expectations that they will generate additional future economic 
benefits beyond initial estimates, are capitalized under the 
heading of investment properties.

(iii) Intangible Assets (NCRF 6)
 
Intangible assets are booked at cost of acquisition, less depre-
ciation and accumulated impairment losses. Intangible assets 
are recognized only if it is likely that future economic benefits 
attributable to the asset will flow to the Company, are control-
lable and their cost can be assessed reliably.

The cost of acquisitions correspond to the price of purchase, 
including costs related to intellectual property rights and taxes 
on non redeemable purchases, after deducting trade discounts 
and rebates.

The assets without defined useful life are not subject to depre-
ciation, but to an annual impairment tests.

The development expenses are recognized whenever the 
Company demonstrates the ability to complete its development 
and initiate their use and for which it is likely that the asset cre-
ated will generate future economic benefits. The development 
costs that do not meet these criteria are recorded as expenses 
in the fiscal year they are incurred.

The amortization of an intangible asset with finite useful lives 
is calculated from the date of first use, according to the the 
straightline method, in accordance with the estimated period of 
useful life, taking into account the residual value.

Intangible assets booked are depreciated over a period of 5 
years.

(iv) Lease contracts (NCRF 9)

The assets used under financial leasing contracts, for which 
the Company assumes substantially all risks and rewards in-
herent to its possession of the leased asset are classified as 
tangible fixed assets and the debts pending settlement are rec-
ognized according to the contractual financial plan.

Interest included in the income and depreciation value of the 
respective tangible fixed asset is recognized as expenses in the 
profit and loss account for the fiscal year to which they relate.

In lease contracts where the lessor undertakes a significant 
portion of the risks and benefits to the property, being the com-
pany the lessee, is classified as operating leases. The payments 
resulting from the completion of these contracts are booked in 
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the profit and loss account over the lease term.

The classification of leases as either financial or operational 
depends on the substance of the transaction rather than the 
form of contract.

(v) Investments in subsidiaries and associates (NCRF 15 & 
NCRF 13)

Investments in subsidiaries and associates are booked under 
the equity method.

The subsidiaries are all entities (including special-purpose 
ones) over which Inapa - IPG has the power to decide on the 
financial or operational policies, what normally is associated 
with direct or indirect control of more than half of the voting 
rights.  The associates are entities over which Inapa - IPG has 
between 20% and 50% of the voting rights or over which Inapa - 
IPG has significant influence, but cannot exercise control.

Upon acquisition, the excess cost in relation to the fair value 
of the Inapa - IPG portion in the identifiable assets acquired 
is booked as goodwill, which, less accumulated impairment 
losses, is considered under the heading of Investments – equity 
method. If the cost of acquisition is less than the fair value of 
net assets of the acquired subsidiary, the difference is recog-
nized directly in the profit and loss account.

Under the equity method, the financial statements include the 
Company’s share of total recognized gains and losses since 
the date that the control or significant influence begins until 
the date it effectively ends. Gains or losses that are not due 
to transactions made between companies of the Inapa Group, 
including associates, are eliminated. Dividends allocated by the 
subsidiary or associate are considered reductions of the invest-
ment held.

When the share of losses of a subsidiary or associate exceeds 
the investment value, the Group recognizes additional losses in 
the future, if the Group has incurred obligations or made pay-
ments on behalf of the associate or subsidiary.

The accounting policies implemented by subsidiaries and as-
sociates are changed, where necessary, to ensure that they are 
consistently applied by Inapa - IPG and by its subsidiaries and 
associates. 

Entities that qualify as subsidiaries and associated companies 
are listed in Note 10.

(vi) goodwill (NCRF 14)

Goodwill is booked as an asset under the heading of Investments 
- equity method and is not subject to depreciation. On an an-

nual basis, or whenever there is evidence to a possible loss of 
value, the goodwill values are subject to impairment tests. Any 
impairment loss is recorded as an expense in the profit and 
loss account for the fiscal year and cannot be prone to later 
reversal.

(vii) Financial assets and liabilities (NCRF 27)

Investments - other methods

Financial contributions corresponding to equity instruments 
that are not traded in active market and whose fair value can-
not be obtained reliably are measured at cost less any impair-
ment loss. The remaining investments are measured at fair 
value with changes in fair value being recognized in the profit 
and loss account.

Costumers and other receivables

Entries of Customers and Other receivables constitute rights to 
receive for the sale of goods or services in the Company’s ordi-
nary course of business, being recognized initially at fair value 
and subsequently measured at amortized cost less impairment 
adjustments, if applicable (Notes 13 and 15). 

Impairment losses of customer balances and accounts receiv-
able are booked, whenever there is objective evidence that they 
are not recoverable. Identified impairment losses are booked in 
the profit and loss account on impairment of receivables, being 
subsequently reversed by income, if the impairment indicators 
no longer exist (Note 16).

Financing

Financing obtained is initially recognized at fair value, net of 
transaction and set-up costs incurred. The loans are subse-
quently reflected at amortized cost being the difference be-
tween the face value and the initial fair value recognized in the 
profit and loss account over the period of the loan, using the 
effective interest rate.

The loans obtained are classified as current liabilities, unless 
the Company has an unconditional right to defer payment of the 
liability for at least 12 months from the balance sheet date, be-
ing, in this case, classified as non-current liabilities (Note 18).

Suppliers and other payables

Entries of Suppliers and Other accounts payable are obligations 
to pay for the purchase of goods or services, being recognized 
initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortized 
cost, using the effective interest rate. 

(viii) Cash and cash equivalents
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Cash and cash equivalents include cash, bank deposits, other 
short-term investments of high liquidity and with initial maturi-
ties up to three months and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts 
are shown on the balance sheet as current liabilities in the 
heading bank loans, and are considered in drafting the state-
ment of cash flows, such as cash and cash equivalents (Note 4).

(ix) Impairment of assets (NCRF 12)

An impairment of assets is assessed on the balance sheet date 
and whenever a change occurs to circumstances indicating 
that the amount for which an asset is booked may not be recov-
ered (Note 16). In the case of non-current assets that are not 
amortized because they do not have a finite useful life, impair-
ment tests are carried out on a regular basis.

Whenever an asset amount accounted is higher than its recov-
erable amount, an impairment loss/provision is recognized. , 
which is booked in the profit and loss account or in equity when 
the asset has been appraised, a situation where the respective 
appreciation will be decreased. The recoverable amount is the 
highest value from the fair value of an asset less selling costs 
and its value in use.

The reversal of impairment losses recognized in prior fis-
cal years is booked when the reasons that caused the book-
ing thereof ceased to exist (except goodwill). The reversal is 
booked in the profit and loss account unless the asset has been 
revalued and its revaluation booked in equity has been reduced 
as a result of impairment loss.

(x) Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets 
(NCRF 21)

Provisions are recognized when and only when, the Company 
has a present obligation (legal or implicit) resulting from a past 
event, and it is likely that to settle the obligation, an outflow of 
resources occurs and the obligation amount can be reasonably 
estimated. 

Provisions are reviewed at each balance sheet date and adjust-
ed to reflect the best estimate at that date, taking into account 
the risks and uncertainties inherent in such estimates. 

Provisions for restructuring expenses are recognized when 
there is a formal and detailed restructuring plan, which has 
been notified to the parties involved.

The present obligations arising from onerous contracts are 
valued and booked as provisions. There is an onerous contract 
when the company is an integral part of the provisions of a con-
tract or agreement, compliance with which entails associated 
expenses that cannot be avoided, which exceed the economic 
benefits derived from it.

Contingent liabilities are not recognized in financial state-
ments but are disclosed whenever the likelihood of an outflow 
of resources encompassing economic benefits is not remote. 
Contingent assets are not recognized in the financial state-
ments, but are disclosed when likelihood exists of a future eco-
nomical inflow of resources.  

(xi) Revenue (NCRF 20)

Revenue is valued at fair value of the consideration received or 
receivable.

The income from services is recognized at fair value of amount 
receivable and according to the degree of the service execution.

Revenue from royalties is recognized in accordance with the 
economic periodization system and meeting the substance of 
corresponding contracts, provided it is likely that the economic 
benefits will flow to the Company and its amount can be reliably 
valued and is accounted for under the heading of Other income 
and gains.

Interest revenue is recognized using the effective interest 
method, provided it is likely that economic benefits will flow to 
the Company and its amounts can be reliably valued.

(xii) Earnings basis

The transactions are recognized in the accounts when earned, 
regardless of when they are received or paid. The differences 
between the amounts received and paid and the corresponding 
income and expenses are booked under Other receivable and 
payable accounts and Deferred income

(xiii)  The effects of fluctuations in exchange rates (NCRF 23)

All assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are 
converted into euros using the exchange rates prevailing at 
balance sheet dates. Exchange differences, gains and losses 
arising from differences between exchange rates in force on 
the date of the transactions and those in effect on the settle-
ment date, or the balance sheet date were booked as income 
and expenses for the year.

Exchange differences arising from the conversion to euro from 
subsidiaries financial statements denominated in foreign cur-
rency are included in equity under the heading Other changes 
in equity

(xiv) Income taxes (NCRF 25)

The income tax comprises current tax and deferred taxes. 

Current tax on income is calculated based on the Company’s 
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taxable income under the tax rules, and the deferred tax results 
from temporary differences between the amount of assets and 
liabilities for accounting report purposes (written-down value) 
and their amounts for taxing purposes (tax base).

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated using tax 
rates in effect or announced to take effect at the date of the 
expected reversal of temporary differences.

The deferred tax assets are recognized only when there are 
reasonable prospects of obtaining future taxable income 
enough for its use, or in situations where there are taxable 
temporary differences to offset deductible temporary differ-
ences in the reversal period.

At the end of each period, the calculation of these deferred 
taxes is reviewed, and they are reduced whenever its future use 
is no longer likely.

The deferred taxes are recognized as expense or income for 
the fiscal year, except if they relate to amounts booked directly 
in equity, where the deferred tax is also revealed under the 
same heading.
 
(xv) Relevant estimates and judgements

The preparation of financial statements was conducted in ac-
cordance to generally accepted accounting principles, using the 
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of 
assets and liabilities and revenue and expenses during the re-
porting period. It should be noted that although estimates have 
been based on the best knowledge of the Board in relation to 
current events and actions, actual results may ultimately come 
to differ from them. However, the Administration Board is con-
vict that the adopted estimates and assumptions do not involve 
significant risks that may cause material adjustments to the 
value of assets and liabilities during the next fiscal year.

The estimates that show a significant risk of entailing a mate-
rial adjustment to the accounting values of assets and liabilities 
in the following fiscal year are listed below:

a) Estimated impairment of goodwill

Inapa - IPG on an annual basis tests whether goodwill im-
pairment exists or not in accordance with the accounting 
policy described in Note 3 (vi). The recoverable values of the 
cash flow generating units are determined based on the cal-
culation of usage values. These calculations require the use 
of estimates (note 10).

b) Income Tax

Inapa - IPG is subject to taxes over income, being the cal-

culation of the tax subject to review by the tax authorities. 
When the final result of this review is different from the 
values initially booked, the differences will impact on the 
income tax and provisions for deferred tax, within the period 
in which such differences are identified. 

Additionally, deferred tax assets include the effect of the 
value of tax losses for which there is expectation of recovery 
in the future. The non-recovery of tax losses or changes to 
the recovery expectation in future fiscal years will impact 
the income of the fiscal year in which the situation arises.

c) Doubtful collections

Impairment losses on bad loans are based on evaluation 
by Inapa - IPG as regards the likelihood of recovery of the 
balances of receivables. This evaluation process is subject 
to several estimates and judgements. The updates of these 
estimates may involve the determination of different impair-
ment levels and, therefore, different impacts on results.
 

d) Provisions for litigation

Inapa - IPG is a party in some on-going lawsuits, having 
set provisions that are considered necessary always ac-
cording to estimates made by management, based on the 
Company’s lawyer’s advice (Note 3 (x)).

A negative decision in any on-going lawsuit may have an ad-
verse effect on business, financial condition and results of 
the Company.

 
NOTe 4
 
CASh fLOwS

The Cash and cash equivalents as at 31 December 2011 and 2010 
are analysed as follows:

Immediately available bank 
deposits
Funds
Cash and bank deposits in
balance sheet

Bank overdrafts
Cash and its equivalents

2011

136
5

141

-18,540
-18,399

2010

224
5

229

-21,261
-21,032
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Notes to the INdIvIduAl FINANCIAl stAtemeNts

NOTe 5
 
ACCOUNTING POLICIeS, ChANGeS IN ACCOUNTING eSTIMATeS AND eRRORS

In the year 2011 there were no updates of accounting policies used under the new regulatory environment.

Restatement of previous published financial statement

Inapa-IPG, through its subsidiaries, participated in a financing operation via securitization, with a maximum grant of EUR 140,000 
thousand, for a period of seven years, taking the last credits for this operation been securitized in late 2010

Following the final determination of the operation conducted in 2011, an error was detected relating to prior periods, resulting from 
the misinterpretation information available. This correction, treated as an unrecoverable balances, totaled a record amount of 
6,309 thousand euros in December 31, 2010 under the heading Other receivables accounts.

Under these circumstances and in accordance in NCRF 4, an impairment loss has been registered through the restatement of 
financial information previously disclosed for comparative purposes, for the year ended December 31, 2010, including the opening 
balances with effect from January 1 of 2010. Thus, the results of fiscal year 2010 were reduced by 724.2 thousand euros and the 
remaining effect was recognized in retained earnings with effect from 1 January 2010. As part of this restatement the balance of 
Other receivables at 31 December 2010 was reduced by the reclassification of an amount of 1,000 thousand euros in the item Other 
payables The restatement had the following impact:

Assets 
Other current assets 
 
Liabilities 
Other current payables 
 
Equity 
Retained earnings 
Net profit and loss for the period 
 
Income statement 
Impairment of receivables 
Interest and similar expenses incurred 

01-01-2010 
PUBLISHED

31-12-2010 
RESTATED

RESTATEMENT 
EFFECT

RESTATEMENT 
EFFECT

01-01-2010 
PUBLISHED

31-12-2010 
PUBLISHED

13,410

-9,302

5,585

-5,585

18,995

-14,887

43,642

3,009

-9,302
3,666

-431
-9,986

-7,309

-1,000

-5,585
-724

-1,724
1,000

36,333

2,009

-14,887
2,942

-2,155
-8,986

Liabilities
Other current payables

Equity
Retained earnings
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Board of Administration 

Remunerations
Post-employment benefits
Other long-term benefits
Benefits from employment 
termination
Payment in shares

Audit Committee*
Remunerations

General Meeting
Remunerations

2011

1,139,500
-
-

-
-

1,139,500

103,500

7,000

2010

901,596
-
-

-
-

901,596

94,941

7,000

*Remuneration paid to members of the Audit Committee  is included in 

the Administration Board’s remuneration amount.

NOTe 6
 
ReLATeD PARTIeS

6.1. ReLATeD TO The PAReNT COMPANY

As mentioned in Note 1, Inapa - IPG is the parent company of 
the Inapa Group, whereas in Note 6.3 the balances with share-
holders are disclosed.
 

6.2. ReMUNeRATION  PROVIDeD TO MeMBeRS 
Of The CORPORATeARD  

The remuneration paid by Inapa - IPG to the members of the 
Governing Board in 2011 and 2010 are analysed as follows (eu-
ros):
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03. FINANCIAl INFormAtIoN
Notes to the INdIvIduAl FINANCIAl stAtemeNts

HEADQUARTERSDESIgNATION
% OF DIRECT PARTICIPATION ACTIVITY

Rua Castilho, nº 44-3º
1250-071 Lisbon - Portugal

91813 Corbeil Essones
Cedex - France

Warburgstraß, 28
20354 Hamburg
Germany

Althardstrasse 301
8105 Regensdorf 
– Switzerland

Rua Castilho, 44-3º
1250-071 Lisbon - Portugal

Rua Castilho, 44-3º
1250-071 Lisbon - Portugal

Gestinapa - SGPS,SA 

Inapa France, SA 

Inapa Deutschland, GmbH

Inapa Suisse, AG

Edições Inapa, Lda

Europackaging SGPS, Lda

100.00

100.00

47.00

32.50

99.20

98.00

SGPS

Paper 
Distribution

Holding

Paper 
Distribution

Editorial

Holding

6.3. BALANCeS wITh OTheR ReLATeD PARTIeS

The Company maintains business and financing relationships with subsidiaries.

The subsidiaries owned directly by the Company at 31 December 2011, are as follows:

On 31 December 2011 and 2010, balances with Inapa Group of companies were as follows:

Gestinapa - SGPS, SA 
Inapa Portugal, SA 
Edições Inapa, Lda
Inapa France, SA 
Inapa Belgique,SA
Inapa España, SA
Inapa Deutschland, GmbH
Papier Union, GmbH
Inapa Suisse, AG
Europackaging SGPS, Lda
Others

OTHER

DEBTORS

gROUP

COMPANIES

CURRENT ASSETS

OTHER RECEIVABLES OTHER

CURRENT

LIABILITIES

LIABILITIESASSETS

NONCURRENT

CLIENTSCOMPANY OTHER

RECEIVABLES

BONDS

NON CURRENT

OTHER BORROWINgS

CURRENT

-
-
-

2.7
-
-

230.9
-
-
-
-

233.5

28,906.7
1,052.7
1,237.2

-
-

145.7
4,584.6

-
4.0

816.0
-

36,747.0

-
65.5

-
62.3

-
-

106.3
187.7
217.9

-
-

639.7

-
-
-
-
-
-

20,517.0
-
-
-
-

20,517.0

-
-
-

29,744.7
-
-
-
-
-
-
-

29,744.7

-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-

1,727.5
-
-

1,727.5

-
320.6

-
713.4
120.0

6.7
4,373.6

6.2

-
-

5.563,7 

-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-

3,821.8
-
-

3,821.8

2011

LIABILITIES - FINANCINg OBTAINED
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Inapa Portugal, SA 
Edições Inapa, Lda
Inapa France, SA 
Inapa Belgique,SA
Inapa Luxembourg,SA
Inapa España, SA
Inapa Deutschland, GmbH
Papier Union, GmbH
Tavistock, Paper Sales Lda
Inapa Suisse, AG
BCP

SALES

AND SERVICES

RENDERED

OTHER

INCOME

OTHER 

ExPENSES

FINANCIAL

COSTS

194 
9 

281 
5 
- 

231 
218 

- 
- 

523 
- 

1,462 

2
- 

79
1
- 

1,078 
877 
467 

- 
3
- 

2,508

38 
2 

500 
120 
25 

- 
- 

19 
- 
- 
- 

704 

- 
- 

1,339 
- 
- 
- 
- 
- 
- 

123 
1,151 

2,614 

2011

Gestinapa - SGPS, SA 
Inapa Portugal, SA 
Edições Inapa, Lda
Inapa France, SA 
Inapa Belgique,SA
Inapa España, SA
Inapa Deutschland, GmbH
Papier Union, GmbH
Tavistock, Paper Sales Lda
Inapa Suisse, AG
Others

OTHER

DEBTORS

gROUP

COMPANIES

CURRENT ASSETS LIABILITIES - FINANCINg OBTAINED

ASSETS

NON CURRENT

CLIENTS OTHER

RECEIVABLES

BORROWINgS

OBLIgATIONAL

NON CURRENT

OTHER BORROWINgS

CURRENT

25.6
793.9

-
2.5

-
353.0
117.7
24.8

-
-
-

1,317.5

22,521.7
597.3

1,703.6
2.4
8.0

13.7
3.8

2,104.9
0.2
4,8

-
26,960.4

-
90.8

0.0
177.3
14.9
60.4
112.5

236.7
32.8

299.5
2.5

1,027.4

-
-
-
-
-
-

20,517.0
-
-
-
-

20,517.0

-
-
-

36,750.0
-
-
-
-
-
-
-

36,750.0

-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-

3,678.8
-

3,678.8

-
248.3

-
41.4

-
-
-
-
-

1,716.5
11.4

2,017.6

2010

COMPANY

The balances receivable from Gestinapa - SGPS, SA and Europackaging SGPS, Lda do not bear interest nor have fixed term of 
repayment. The receivable balances booked under Other receivable accounts - Group Companies related to Inapa France SA, to 
Inapa Deutschland, GmbH and to Paper Union bear interest at current market rates.

Additionally, Inapa - IPG has financing contracted with Banco Comercial Português SA, an entity that has a qualifying holding in 
the Company (Note 17). At December 31 of 2011 Inapa-IPG does not hold any balance for the issuance of commercial paper (2010: 
25,000 thousand euros) and bank overdrafts with Banco Comercial Português S/A. 4,752.5 thousand euros (2010: 72.4 thousand 
euros) (Note 18).

During the years 2011 and 2010, transactions with related parties were as follows:
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Notes to the INdIvIduAl FINANCIAl stAtemeNts

ACQUISITION COST

Balance as at 1 January 2011
Increases
Divestitures
Transfers/deductions
Balance as at 31 December 2011

ACCRUED DEPRECIATIONS

Balance as at 1 January 2011
Reinforcement
Divestitures
Transfers/deductions
Balance as at 31 December 2011

Net value as at beginning of 2011
Net value as at end of 2011

92.7
-
-
-

92.7

79.0
-
-
-

79.0

13.7
13.7

10.5
-
-
-

10.5

4.9
1.5

-
-

6.4

5.6
4.1

5.9
-

-5.9
-
-

5.9
-

-5.9
-
-

-
-

112.7
0.7

-
-

113.4

105.0
1.2

-
-

106.2

7.7
7.2

6.3
-
-
-

6.3

1.9
0.4

-
-

2.3

4.4
4.0

228.1
0.7

-5.9
-

222.9

196.7
3.0

-5.9
-

193.8

31.4
29.1

BUILDINgS AND OTHER 

CONSTRUCTIONS

BASIC 

EQUIPMENT

TRANSPORT 

EQUIPMENT

ADMINISTRATIVE 

EQUIPMENT

OTHER TANgIBLE 

ASSETS

TOTAL

NOTe 7
 
TANGIBLe fIxeD ASSeTS

During the fiscal year ended 31 December 2011, the transactions under the heading of tangible fixed assets were as follows:

Inapa Portugal, SA 
Edições Inapa, Lda
Inapa France, SA 
Inapa Belgique,SA
Inapa Luxembourg,SA
Inapa España, SA
Inapa Deutschland, GmbH
Papier Union, GmbH
Tavistock, Paper Sales Lda
Inapa Suisse, AG
BCP

SALES

AND SERVICES

RENDERED

OTHER

INCOME

OTHER 

ExPENSES

FINANCIAL

COSTS

133 
9 

131 
- 
- 

68 
228 

- 
-

536 
-

1,105 

34
-

321 
27
5

764 
601 
553 

-
58

-
2,363

57 
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-

57 

-
-

1,185 
-
-
-
-
-
-

83 
1,337 

2,605 

2010
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ACQUISITION COST

Balance as at 1 January 2010
Increases
Divestitures
Transfers/deductions
Balance as at 31 December 2010

ACCRUED DEPRECIATIONS

Balance as at 1 January 2010
Reinforcement
Divestitures
Transfers/deductions
Balance as at 31 December 2010

Net value as at beginning of 2010
Net value as at end of 2010

79.0
13.7

-
-

92.7

52.7
26.3

-
-

79.0

26.3
13.7

9.3
1.2

-
-

10.5

3.4
1.5

-
-

4.9

5.9
5.6

6.7
-

-0.8
-

5.9

6.7
-

-0.8
-

5.9

-
-

103.9
8.8

-
-

112.7

103.9
1.1

-
-

105.0

-
7.7

3.8
2.5

-
-

6.3

1.5
0.4

-
-

1.9

2.3
4.4

202.7
26.2
-0.8

-
228.1

168.2
29.3
-0.8

-
196.7

34.5
31.4

BUILDINgS AND OTHER 

CONSTRUCTIONS

BASIC 

EQUIPMENT

TRANSPORT 

EQUIPMENT

ADMINISTRATIVE 

EQUIPMENT

OTHER TANgIBLE 

ASSETS

TOTAL

During the fiscal year ended 31 December 2010, the transactions that occurred under the heading of tangible fixed assets were as 
follows:
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NOTe 8
 
INVeSTMeNT PROPeRTIeS

During the fiscal year ended on 31 December 2011, the transactions under the category of investment properties were as follows:

COST OF ACQUISITION

Balance as at 1 January 2011
Increases
Divestitures
Transfers/write-offs
Balance as at 31 December 2011

ACCRUED DEPRECIATIONS

Balance as at 1 January 2011
Reinforcements
Divestitures
Transfers/write-offs
Balance as at 31 December 2011

Net value as at beginning of 2011
Net value as at end of 2011

3,906.6
-
-
-

3,906.6

-
-
-
-
-

3,906.6
3,906.6

14,044.4
-
-
-

14,044.4

846.8
563.8

-
-

1,410.6

13,197.6
12,633.8

17,951.0
-
-
-

17,951.0

846.8
563.8

-
-

1,410.6

17,104.2
16,540.4

LAND PLOTS BUILDINgS AND OTHER 

CONSTRUCTIONS

TOTAL

During the fiscal year ended on 31 December 2010, the transactions under the category of investment properties were as follows:

COST OF ACQUISITION

Balance as at 1 January 2010
Increases
Divestitures
Transfers/write-offs
Balance as at 31 December 2010

ACCRUED DEPRECIATIONS

Balance as at 1 January 2010
Reinforcements
Divestitures
Transfers/write-offs
Balance as at 31 December 2010

Net value as at beginning of 2010
Net value as at end of 2010

3,906.6
-
-
-

3,906.6

-
-
-
-
-

3,906.6
3,906.6

14,044.4
-
-
-

14,044.4

282.9
563.9

-
-

846.8

13,761.5
13,197.6

17,951.0
-
-
-

17,951.0

282.9
563.9

-
-

846.8

17,668.1
17,104.2

LAND PLOTS BUILDINgS AND OTHER 

CONSTRUCTIONS

TOTAL



145

0
3

. f
in

a
n

c
ia

l
 in

f
o

r
m

a
t

io
n

N
o

t
e

s
 t

o
 t

h
e

 IN
d

Iv
Id

u
A

l 
FI

N
A

N
C

IA
l 

s
tA

t
e

m
e

N
t

s

The Investment Property account refers mainly to the acquisition in 2009 by cession of the real estate and basic equipment leas-
ing contracts from the Group’s Spanish subsidiary, of the property designed for warehousing and its robotic equipment located in 
Leganés (Madrid) (See Note 19). The assets underlying these contracts were subsequently leased to Inapa Spain, S/A for a period of 
six years, whereas the rents charged for this transaction are reflected under the heading “Other income and gains”. 

NOTe 9
 
INTANGIBLe ASSeTS

During the year ended 31 December 2011, the transactions in the items of intangible assets were as follows:

COST OF ACQUISITION 
 
Balance as at 1 January 2011 
Increases
Divestitures
Transfers/write-offs
Balance as at 31 December 2011 
 
ACCRUED AMORTIzATIONS 
 
Balance as at 1 January 2011 
Increases
Divestitures
Transfers/write-offs 
Balance as at 31 December 2011 
 
Net value as at beginning of 2011 
Net values as at end of 2011 

171.6
 18.6 

 -   
 -   

190.2

159.0
 20.1 

 -   
 -   

179.1

12.6
 11.1

1.9
 38.4 

 -   
 -   

40.3

-
-
-
-
-

1.9
40.3

104.4
 25.2 

 -   
 -   

129.6

63.6
 12.4 

 -   
 -   

76.0

40.8
53.6

277.8
 82.2 

 -   
 -   

360.0

222.6
 32.5 

-
-

255.1

55.3
105.0

SOFTWARE IN PROgRESSOTHER INTANgIBLE 

ASSETS

TOTAL
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COST OF ACQUISITION 
 
Balance as at 1 January 2010 
Increases
Divestitures
Transfers/write-offs
Balance as at 31 December 2010 
 
ACCRUED AMORTIzATIONS 
 
Balance as at 1 January 2010 
Increases
Divestitures
Transfers/write-offs
Balance as at 31 December 2010 
  
Net value as at beginning of 2010 
Net values as at end of 2010 

171.6
-
-
-

171.6

117.2
41.,8

-
-

159.0

54.4
12.6

7.2
1.9

-
-7.2
1.9

-
-
-
-
-

7.2
1.9

97.2
-
-

7.2
104.4

49.0
14.6

-
-

63.6

48.2
40.8

276.0
1.9

-
-

277.9

166.2
56.4

-
-

222.6

109.8
55.3

SOFTWARE IN PROgRESSOTHER INTANgIBLE 

ASSETS

TOTAL

During the year ended 31 December 2010, the transactions in the items of intangible assets were as follows:
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NOTe 10
 
INVeSTMeNTS 

On 31 December 2011 and 2010, investments in subsidiaries and associated companies booked under Investments - equity method, 
as well as other financial investments booked under Investments - other methods, are broken down as follows: 

Stock share in 
subsidiaries & 
associates 

a) Portuguese
Gestinapa - SGPS, SA
Edições Inapa, Lda
Europackaging - 
SGPS, Lda

a) Foreign
Inapa France, SA
Inapa Deutschland, 
GmbH
Inapa Suisse, AG

Ajustment by 
application of the 
equity method 

Stock share in 
other companies 
Medialivro - 
Actividades 
Editoriais, SA
Others
Impairment

ASSETS*HEADQUARTERS EQUITY* NET

INCOME*

% OF

SHARE

% OF

SHARE

ALLOCATED

INCOME

BALANCE

VALUE

BALANCE

VALUE

205,626.7
1,558.4

3,712.5

248,207.5 

149,548.4 
29,228.8 

**

Lisbon
Lisbon

Lisbon

France

Germany
Switzerland

Lisbon

134,470.1
217.0

4.5

145,285.9 

72,754.1 
23,707.6 

**

2,556.4
-284.7

-0.5

1,449.8

-1,379.3
-475.0

**

100.0%
98.0%

98.0%

100.0%

47.0%
32.5%

3.9%

-2,294.7
-285.9

50.4
-2,530.2

-2,083.5

3,423.9
-468.6
871.8

-1,658.4

132,469.9 
595.1 

4.9 
133,069.9 

235,245.1 

72,000.0 
5,123.1 

312,368.2 

-187,147.0
258,291.1 

83.1 
12.7 

-83.1 
12.7 

2011 2010

* Information relating to statutory financial statements    

**Financial information not available on the date    

100.0%
2.0%

-

100.0%

47.0%
32.5%

3.9%

132,469.9 
0.1 

-
132,470.0 

235,245.1 

72,000.0 
5,123.1 

312,368.2 

-186,476.0
258,362.2 

83.1 
12.7 

-83.1
12.7 
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The appropriate income was calculated after the regulatory adjustments within the scope of the equity method application.

The transactions occurred under the caption of Investments - equity method is derived primarily from application of the equity 
method. 

As mentioned in Note 3 (vi), the goodwill calculated during application of the equity method is recorded under the heading 
Investments - equity method. The goodwill booked by Inapa-IPG, together with the remaining goodwill booked in the consolidated 
accounts of the Inapa Group, was allocated as a whole to each of the several segments of the Group’s business and its impairment 
was also tested considering each segment of business throughout the Group. Thus, in the sequence of the Group’s goodwill impair-
ment booking in 2006 as a whole, it was not possible to quantify the amount of goodwill included in the section above.

The Group calculates on an annual basis the recoverable amount of assets and liabilities associated with the activity of the various 
business segments, by determining the value in use, according to the method of “discounted cash flow”.

The amounts were supported by expectations of market development, whereas future cash flow projections have been compiled, 
based on medium and long-term plans approved by the Administration Board covering a period up to 2016. The projections of cash 
flows beyond the plan period are extrapolated using the estimated growth rates shown below. The growth rate does not exceed the 
average long term growth of the various activities. 
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Management determines the gross budgeted margin accord-
ing to past performance and its expectations for market devel-
opment. The weighted average growth rate used is consistent 
with the forecasts included in reports of the sector. The dis-
count rates used are post-tax and reflect specific risks related 
to the relevant segments.

The assumptions which were the basis for Goodwill impair-
ment testing  were the following:

NOTe 11
 
OTheR fINANCIAL ASSeTS 

On 31 December 2011 and 2010 the heading Other financial as-
sets, noncurrent, is analysed as follows:

Growth rate of sales
EBITDA margin
Inflation rate
Discount rate after taxes
Discount rate before taxes

2011

1.85%
4.3%
2.0%
6.2%
8.0%

2010

1.85%
4.7%
2.0%
7.0%
8.8%

Non current financial assets
BANIF - Unidades de participação 
em fundos de investimento
Others

Current financial assets
BANIF - Unidades de participação 
em fundos de investimento
Others

2011

-  
-

628
-  

628

2010

628
-

-
-  

628

NOTe 12
 
INCOMe TAx - CURReNT AND DefeRReD

The Company and three subsidiaries based in Portugal (Inapa 
Portugal, Gestinapa and Edições Inapa) are taxed on the ba-
sis of the Corporate Income Tax (IRC) under the special regime 
for taxation of corporate groups, comprising companies with a 
stake equal to or greater than 90% and which meet the condi-
tions laid down in Article 69 and ensuing under the IRC Code. 
Inapa - IPG as the dominant company, is responsible for cal-
culating the taxable profits of the Group, through the algebraic 
sum of taxable fiscal profit and loss ascertained in the income 
statements of each one of the controlled companies belonging 
to the Group. 
 
The current tax gain or loss is calculated by each subsidiary 
based on its individual tax situation. Any gain or loss arising 
from the consolidated tax regime is recognized by the Company 
as operating reward or defrayal within the fiscal year itself.

The payment of income tax is based on self-assessment state-
ments that are subject to inspection and possible adjustment 
by the Tax Authority within the next four years. If tax losses are 
determined, they can be used in the six subsequent years if they 
have been generated up to 2009 and in the four subsequent 
years to those generated after that year and shall be subject to 
possible adjustment by the Tax Authorities following revisions 
to be made to statements in the fiscal years they are used. 

The Company is subject to IRC (Corporate Income Tax) at the 
regular rate of 25%, plus 1.5% spread, resulting in an aggre-
gate tax rate of 26.5%. Additionally Inapa is subject to a state 
tax spread rate  corresponding to a rate of 3% or 5%, levied 
on taxable income that exceed 1,5 million euros or 10 million 
euros, respectively.

In the 2011 fiscal year there was a reclassification of the non-
current investment to current financial assets due to its ma-
turity date, that will occur in 2012. During the 2010 fiscal year 
participation units were disposed by Inapa - IPG held in the 
BANIF – Unidades de participação em fundos de investimen-
to (Investment fund share units), giving rise to a gain of 147.7 
thousands euros. Additionally, in fiscal year 2010 the “Junior 
Notes” associated with the securitization transaction amount-
ing to EUR 7.6 million became due, which owing to their nature 
do not add more or less value, while interest fell due during the 
operation period at a rate of 5% per year.
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Deferred tax asset 
 
Fiscal losses
Transitional adjustment

- intangible assets
- financial discount

Others
 
 
Deferred tax liabilities 
 
Adjustment of transition

- financial discount
 
Deferred tax of the fiscal year 

BASE DEFERRED

TAx

BASE DEFERRED

TAx

INCOME OF

FISCAL YEAR

706 

666 
36 
67 

128 

177 

176 
9 

18 
380 

34 

8,940 

887 
47 

302 

171 

2,235 

235 
13 
80 

2,563 

45 

Dr/(Cr)

2,058 

59 
4 

62 

-11

2,172 

31 DECEMBER 2011 31 DECEMBER 2010

The value of deferred taxes relating to 31 December 2011 and 31 December 2010 is as follows:

The reduction of deferred tax assets relating to tax losses is 
mainly due to the value corresponding to the reversal of tax 
losses for 2007 and 2008, whose use is not considered likely.

The deferred taxes were calculated on the tax loss ascertained 
under the special tax regime for corporate groups. As at 31 
December 2011, the amount of unused tax losses of group com-
panies and the limit-years for their use are:

The tax on profit before tax differs from the theoretical amount 
that would result from applying the weighted average rate of 
income tax on profits as follows:

 (*) Includes annulation by equity method

Net income on profits before 
taxes
Nominal tax rate (26,5%)
Tax amount on income

Permanent differences
Correction of initial balance
Others (*)

2011

-3,964
1,051

-2,197
-3,248

26
2,235

987
3,248

2010

3,423
-907
-482
425

100
-

325
425

YEAR LIMIT FOR DEDUCTION

2013

2014

2017

VALUE

7,692

1,248

706

FISCAL YEAR LOSS

2007

2008

2011
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NOTe 13
 
CLIeNTS

On 31 December 2011 and 2010, the breakdown of the Clients 
item is as follows:

NOTe 14
 
STATe AND OTheR PUBLIC eNTITIeS

On 31 December 2011 and 2010 there were no debts in arrears vis-à-vis the State and other public entities. The balances with these 
entities were as follows:

Current tax
Deferred tax

2011

26
2,172

2,197

2010

39
443
482

The taxes booked in the profit and loss account for 2011 and 
2010 are detailed as follows:

Clients - group 
Clients - others 
Bad debt clients 
 

Impairment losses (Note 16) 

2011

640 
- 
-

640 

-
640 

2010

1,027 
- 
-

1,027 

-
1,027 

Tax on Added Value
Tax on Personal Income
Collections
Social Security
Tax on Personal Income
Single - withholding tax

2011

-

152
39

59
250

2011

480

442
-

-
922

2010

-

115
36

76
227

2010

192

310
-

-
503

DEBIT BALANCES CREDIT BALANCES
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NOTe 15
 
OTheR ReCeIVABLeS

On 31 December 2011 and 2010, the breakdown of the item Other 
receivable accounts, is as follows:

On 31 December 2011 and 2010, Other non-current receivables include a credit of 16.7 million euros on Fimopriv H S/A resulting from 
acquisition by this company of equity that Inapa - IPG owned. Inapa - IPG admits, in future, to raise this credit to purchase its stake 
which Fimopriv H, S/A owns in the capital of Papier Union, GmbH. 

The balances of non-current receivables from Inapa Deutschland GmbH bear interest at current market rates.

The balance of Other current receivables, on December 31, 2010 was restated in accordance with the above in Note 5. Thus, the 
previously disclosed balance of 43,642 thousand euros was reduced by 7,309 thousand euros (impairment loss), resulting in an 
amount of 36,333 thousand euros.

Other receivables 
- non current 

Inapa Deutschland
Fimopriv

Impairment losses

Others

Other receivables 
- current 

Income increases
Bank interest receivable
Amounts to be invoiced

 
 

Others debtors
Cash advances to personnel
Group Companies (Note 6)
Cash advances for account of 
Group companies
Insurances
Other debtors

  

Impairment losses

2011

20,517 
16,695 

348 
37,560 

-348
37,212

2010

20,517 
16,695 

348
37,560

-348
37,212

2011

234 
4,697 
4,931 

- 
36,747 

- 
- 

437 
37,184 

-

42,115 

2010

145 
6,718 

6,863 

15 
26,960 

8,061 
48 

1,695 
36,779 

-7,309

36,333
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NOTe 16
 
IMPAIRMeNTS

During the years 2011 and 2010, the recognized asset impairments had the following transactions:

NOTe 17
 
CAPITAL, ReSeRVeS AND OTheR ITeMS Of eqUITY

On 31 December 2011 and 2010, the equity details are as follows:

Balance as at 1 January 2010

Reinforcement
Utilizations
Transfers
Reversals

Balance as at 31 December 2010

Reinforcement
Utilizations
Reversals

Balance as at 31 December 2011

TOTALFINANCIAL
SHARINg

-

83
-
-
-

83

-
-
-

83

OTHER 
RECEIVABLES

 M/L TERM

-

348
-
-
-

348

-
-
-

348

OTHER 
RECEIVABLES
SHORT TERM

-

1,724
-

5,585
-

7,309

-
-7,309

-

-

-

2,155
-

5,585
-

7,740

-
-7,309

-

431

2010

150,000.0
2,937.3
7,500.0

225.5
-14,887.4

3,798.5
2,941.5

152,515.3

2011

204,176.5
451.1

7,500.0
225.5

-16,245.7

9,317.4
-6,161.4

199,263.4

Capital
Bonus for issue of shares
Legal reserves
Other reserves
Profits & Losses Brought Forward
Adjustments in financial assets
     - Listed with the equity method
Net income of the fiscal year
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On 31 December 2011, the share capital was represented by 450,980,441 shares, of which 150,000,000 are of ordinary nature with no 
par value and 300,980,441 preferred shares certificated and bearer without voting rights and no par value ( in 2010 the share capital 
was represented by 150,000,000 bearer shares with a face value of euro 1.00 each. Share capital is fully paid in. 

The preferred shares confer the right to a preference dividend of 5% of their issue price (0.18 euros per share), taken from the 
profits that, under applicable law, may be distributed to shareholders. In addition to the preference dividend right, preferred shares 
confer all the rights attaching to ordinary shares, except the right to vote. 

The preferred dividend that is not paid in a fiscal year must be paid within the following three years, before dividends of these, since 
there are distributable profits. In the case of the priority dividend is not fully paid during two fiscal years, preferred shares are to 
confer voting rights on the same terms that the ordinary shares and will only lost this right in the year following that in which the 
dividends have been paid.

Inapa - Investimentos, Participações e Gestão S/A was notified under articles 16 and 248-B of the Securities Code and the CMVM 
Regulation 5/2008, regarding retention of stake qualified by the following persons, individual or corporate: 

•	 Parpública – Participações Públicas, SGPS, SA: - 49,084,738 shares representing 32.72% of capital stock and voting rights;

•	 Banco Comercial Português S/A, to whom 27,361,310 shares were to allocate, corresponding to 18.24% of stock and of voting 
rights (*), and;

•	 Nova Expressão SGPS, SA, to whom 3,000,000 shares were to allocate, corresponding to 2% of stock and voting rights.

Notes:
(*) The share allocated to Banco Comercial Português S/A is broken down as follows:

- Banco Comercial Português S/A ……… 10,869,412 shares corresponding to 7.25% of voting rights;
- Fundo de Pensões do Grupo BCP …… 16,491,898 shares corresponding to 10.99% of voting rights

The Company was not notified, under the invoked legal and regulatory provisions, of any alterations to the aforesaid shares or 
through other holders, who are in charge by granting partnership shares with voting rights equal to or greater than 2%.

On 31 December 2011 and 2010, the shareholders with stocks equal to or greater than 2% are summarized as follows:

Notes to the INdIvIduAl FINANCIAl stAtemeNts

SHAREHOLDER

Parpública – Participações Públicas (SGPS), SA 

Fundo de Pensões do Grupo Banco Comercial 
Português

Banco Comercial Português, SA 

Albano R.N. Alves - Distribuição de Papel,SA
Own Shares
Shares hold by person or entity according
to article 447

Nova Expressão SGPS, SA

SHARES

49,084,738

16,491,898

10,869,412

-

-

3,000,000

SHARES

49,084,738

16,491,898

10,869,412

50,000

5,138,305

-

2011

%

32.72%

10.99%

7.25%

-

-

2.00%

2010

%

32.72%

10.99%

7.25%

0.03%

3.43%

-
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On 31 December 2011, the Company did not own treasury stocks nor were treasury stock transactions verified in this fiscal year.

The awards for issue of shares correspond to the difference between the face value of Inapa - IPG shares acquired and its fair reali-
zation value and cannot be allocated in the form of dividends but may be used to increase share capital or to cover losses. This item 
is reduced by the expenses incurred by Inapa - IPG totaling 2,486.2 thousand euros, with the capital increase carried out in 2011.

The commercial legislation establishes that at least 5% of the annual net income must be used for reinforcement of the legal 
reserve until it represents at least 20% of the capital. This reserve is not distributable except in case of liquidation of the Company, 
but can be used to absorb losses after all other reserves have been exhausted, or incorporated into the capital.

The item Adjustments on financial assets includes transactions in the equity of subsidiaries and associates of Inapa-IPG, following 
application of the equity method.

At the General Meeting held on 6 April 2011, the 2010 net profit of 3,665,724.32 euros was approved and transferred to profits and 
losses brought forward.

Following the restatement made, as detailed in Note 5, the negative balance of retained earnings at December 31, 2010, previously 
presented by the amount of 9,302.3 thousand euros, was increased by 5,585 thousand euros, having a new present value of 14,887.4 
thousand euros and the profit for the year ended on that date was reduced by 724 thousand euros presenting a restated amount 
of 2,941.5 thousand euros.

The bond loans account correspond to issue of bonds made by 
Inapa - IPG with full repayment in June 2013, earning interest at 
an Euribor rate over 12 months plus a spread. On 31 December 
2011 and 2010 these bonds were in possession of Inapa France, 
SA

The bank loans item - non current (28,763.3 thousand euros) 
and current (657.4 thousand euros) include two bank loans ma-
turing in 2012 and 2013.

The loans obtained include 64,650 thousand euros, corre-
sponding to the emissions of commercial paper, vis-à-vis six 
financial Institutions, refundable by its face value over the pe-
riod of one year, renewable for a period of 5 years, except 21,000 
thousand euros renewable for two years and 5,000 thousand 
euros renewable for 1.5 years.

The debts to credit institutions, including commercial paper, 
bear interest at the current market rates.

At the end of fiscal year 2011, the Company also had bank credit 
lines under contract, not used, in the amount of 15,160.1 thou-
sand euros.

Non current 
Guaranteed bonds (Note 6)
Bank loans
Group Companies (Note 6)

 
 
Current 

Commercial paper
Overdrafts and bonded 
accounts
Bank loans
Group Companies (Note 6)

2011

29,744.7
28,763.3

1,727.5
60,235.5

63,235.1

18,539.9
657.4

3,821.8
86,254.2

146,489.7

2010

36,750.0
21,907.8
3,678.8

62,336.6

108,000.0

21,261.0
1,287.5
2,017.6

132,566.1

194,902.7

NOTe 18
 
fINANCING OBTAINeD

On 31 December 2010 and 2010, loans obtained items are ana-
lysed as follows:
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On 31 December 2011 and 2010, the maturity of non-current 
loans is as follows: 

The providers of investments correspond to the debt for ac-
quisition of assets under financial leasing, which assets are 
booked under Investment properties (see Note 8).

Consequent on the restatement carried out as detailed in Note 
5, the balance of Other payables – other previously presented 
on December 31, 2010 in the amount of 1,481.2 thousand euros, 
was reduced by 1,000 thousand euros, presenting a new bal-
ance of 481.2 thousand euros.

On 31 December 2011 and 2010, exposure of loans to changes in 
interest rates pursuant to the contract periods for rate setting 
are as follows:

On 31 December 2011 and 2010, the net financial debt is as follows:

NOTe 19
 
OTheR PAYABLeS

On December 31, 2011 and 2010, breakdown of the item Other 
payable accounts, is as follows:

Loans 
Current
Non current

 
 
Debts for financial 
leasings (Note 19) 
 
 

Cash and bank deposits

Interest rate  setting periods
Up to 6 months
Between 6 and 12 months
Between 1 and 5 years
Over 5 years

2011

86,254.2
60,235.5

146,489.7

4,574.1
151,063.8

140.6
150,923.2

2011

140,160 
4,602 
1,728 

- 
146,490 

2010

132,566.1
62,336.6

194,902.7

5,352.1
200,254.8

229.1
200,025.7

2010

184,030
7,194
3,679

-
194,903

Up to 1 year
Between 2 and 5 years
Over 5 years

2011

-
60,236 

-
60,236 

2010

-
62,337 

-
62,337 

Other accounts payable 
- non current 
Investment Suppliers
Others
 
 
Other accounts payable 
- current 

Expenditure increases
Remunerations payable
Charges on financing
Others

 

Other Creditors
Investment Suppliers
Group Companies (Note 6)
Others

2011

3,804.3 
- 

3,804.3 

614.2 
- 

15.0 
629.2 

769.8 
5,563.7 

200.3 
6,533.8 

7,163.0 

2010
(restated)

4,570.1 
- 

4,570.1 

730.2 
- 

16.0 
746.2 

782.0 
-

481.2 
1,263.2 

2,009.4
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The item Other income consists mainly of additional income 
earned by the Company with the intervention in negotiation 
processes involving the Inapa Group. Of this amount, approxi-
mately 4,697 thousand euros (2010: 6,718 thousand euros) are 
booked under Other accounts receivable.

During the fiscal year, the Company had on average 26 employ-
ees (2010: 25 employees) working for it.

NOTe 22
 
PeRSONNeL exPeNSeS

In 2011 and 2010, the balances under the heading Personnel 
Expenses are analysed as follows:

NOTe 21
 
exTeRNAL SUPPLIeS AND SeRVICeS

In the fiscal years 2011 and 2010, the breakdown of expenses on 
external supplies and services is as follows:

The debt relating to financial leases corresponds to the amount 
owed to  BPI leasing arising from two financial lease contracts 
maturing in 2012 and 2017.

NOTe 20
 
SALeS, SeRVICeS AND OTheR INCOMe AND GAINS

On 31 December 2011 and 2010, the item Sales and services ren-
dered essentially consists of services provided to companies 
belonging to the Inapa Group (Note 6).

In 2011 and 2010, the item Other income and earnings is detailed 
as follows:

Debt relating to financial leases 
Investment suppliers 
- non current
 Investment suppliers 
- current

2010

4,570.1

782.0
5,352.1

2011

3,804.3

769.8
4,574.1

Debt relating to financial leases
Value of income - not 
discounted  
- less than 1 year
- more than 1 year and less 
than 5 years
- more than 5 years
  

  
Financial onus to bear 
 
Updated value of debt with 
leases  

859.6

2,706.6
2,114.5

5,680.7

-328.6

5,352.1

858.9

2,549.8
1,508.9

4,917.6

-343.5

4,574.1

Other supplementary income
Royalties of Group companies
Revenues
Gains from investment divestitures
Others

2011

9,360 
473 

1,077 
- 

891 
11,801 

2010

7,903
904
740
199 
636 

10,382

Specialized works
Income and rents
Elocations and stays
Communication
Insurances
Marketing
Others

2011

360.4 
146.2 
86.9 
60.8 
53.4 

655.1 
187.4 

1,550.2 

2010

370.1 
146.2 
103.6 
75.6 
70.0

- 
207.9

 
973.4 

Payrolls
Contributions to Social Security
Other costs on personnel

2011

2,529.8
350.2
319.9

3,199.9

2010

2,007.9
341.2
483.4

2,832.5

On 31 December 2011 and 2010 the debt on financial leases in-
cluded under the items of Other accounts payable - current and 
non-current was as follows:
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Financial Income
Interest obtained
Favourable Forex Differences
Other earnings

Financial Expenses
Interest incurred
Unfavourable Forex Differences
Stamp Duty
Other financial costs and 
expenses

2011

977.4
-
-

977.4

-7,470.8
-198.6
-352.6

-2,916.1
-10,938.1

-9,960.7

2010
(restated)

2,029.4
-

171.5
2,200.9

-5,257.5
-735.6
-237.0

-2,756.0
-8,986.1

-6,785.2

NOTe 23
 
OTheR exPeNSeS AND LOSSeS

Breakdown of the item Other expenses and losses for years 
2011 and 2010 is shown in the following table:

NOTe 25
 
fINANCIAL INCOMe AND exPeNDITUReS

The breakdown of financial income and expenses for fiscal 
years 2011 and 2010 is as follows:

NOTe 24
 
exPeNSeS/ReVeRSAL Of DePReCIATION AND 
AMORTIzATION

In 2011 and 2010, the balances of this item are analysed as fol-
lows: Consequent on the restatement carried out as detailed in Note 

5, the balance at Other expenses and other financial expenses, 
previously presented on December 31, 2010 in the amount of 
3,756 thousand euros, was reduced by 1,000 thousand euros, 
having a present value of 2,756 thousand euros.Tangible fixed assets

Intangible assets
Investment properties

2011

3
33

564
599

2010

29
55

564
649

Taxes
Contributions
Donations
Losses of previous fiscal years
Others

2011

84.8 
25.3 
20.0 
18.7 

110.2 
259.0 

2010

32.7 
10.4 
21.3 

144.6 
135.6 

344.6 
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Legal Review Services of Accounts 
and auditing
Chartered accountant fiscal 
consulting services
Other services

2011

73,904

11,100
-

85,004

2010

78,600

6,300
25,000

109,900

NOTe 26
 
CONTINGeNT LIABILITIeS AND CONTINGeNT ASSeTS

Contingent liabilities

On 1 August 2007, Papelaria Fernandes – Indústria e Comércio, 
SA filed against Inapa – Investimentos, Participações e Gestão, 
SA and its subsidiaries Inaprest – Prestação de Serviços, 
Participações e Gestão, SA (extinct) and Inapa Portugal – 
Distribuição de Papel, SA a lawsuit whereby the pleading reads, 
in short:

•	 the annulment of the following acts:

•	 constitution in June 2006 of a commercial pledge to 
counter-guarantee letters of comfort issued by Inapa - 
Investimentos, Participações e Gestão, as security for 
loans held by that company from Banco Espírito Santo 
and Caixa Central de Crédito Agrícola Mútuo;

•	 business conducted in 1991 of concentrated activities in 
the distribution of paper at SDP (now Inapa Portugal) and 
the production and marketing of envelopes at Papelaria 
Fernandes;

•	 acquisition of shares in 1994 held by Papelaria Fernandes 
in SDP (now Inapa Portugal);

•	 compensation of credits carried out, also in 1994 betwe-
en Papelaria Fernandes and Inaprest.

•	 condemnation of Inapa:

•	 to maintain the comfort letters issued in favor of Banco 
Espírito Santo and Caixa Central de Crédito Agrícola 
Mútuo;

•	 to indemnity Papelaria Fernandes in case of any mobili-
zation of the commercial pledge as a counter-guarantee 
for the letters of comfort.

Papelaria Fernandes - Indústria e Comércio SA later came to 
settle their liabilities toward Banco Espírito Santo and Caixa 
Central de Crédito Agrícola Mútuo and therefore:

•	 the letters of comfort issued by Inapa - IPG are no longer 
applicable, having been returned by their beneficiaries;

•	 this Company consequently notified Papelaria Fernandes 
– Indústria e Comércio SA to verify the resolutive condi-
tion of the commercial pledge made by it in favor of this 
Company.

The lawsuit, which was assigned a value of 24,460 thousand eu-
ros, was challenged by Inapa - IPG and by its subsidiary Inapa 
Portugal – Distribuição de Papel, SA, is currently awaiting the 
Court to determine the effects on the dissolution or liquidation ac-
tion of Inaprest – Prestação de Serviços, Participações e Gestão, 
SA. The Inapa Group believes that the aforesaid process should 
not result in significant charges and no provision has been made.

Liabilities for bank guarantees

The Company has provided several bank guarantees through 
several financial institutions, totalling 117,500 thousand euros, 
in favour of Inapa France, SAS (6.5 million) and for the purpose 
of issuing commercial paper (113 million euros ). Additionally, 
we provided a bank guarantee of an operational nature and in 
favour of third parties amounting to 1,000 thousand euros.

 
NOTe 27
 
feeS fOR SeRVICeS PROVIDeD BY The ChARTeReD 
ACCOUNTANT

In the fiscal years ended on 31 December 2011 and in 2010, the 
amounts incurred, in euros, for services rendered by the char-
tered accountant to Inapa - IPG are as follows:

 
NOTe 28
 
eVeNTS AfTeR The BALANCe SheeT DATe

After 31 December 2011, the following event occurred that mer-
its mention:

•	 Acquisition of Semaq (packaging company in France).
•	 Increased of the qualified participation of Nova Expressão 

SGPS, SA
•	 Establishment of a new qualified participation of Tiago 

Moreira Salgado
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INTRODUCTION

1 As required by law, we present the Audit Report for Statutory and Stock Exchange Regulatory Purposes on the financial 
information included in the Directors’ Report and in the attached financial statements of Inapa – Investimentos, Participações e 
Gestão, SA, comprising the balance sheet as at December 31, 2011 (which shows total assets of Euro 357,209 thousand and total 
shareholder’s equity of Euro 199,263 thousand, including a net loss of Euro 6,161 thousand), the income statement, the statement 
of changes in shareholders equity, the cash flow statement for the year then ended and the corresponding notes to the accounts.

ReSPONSIBILITIeS

2 It is the responsibility of the Company’s Board of Directors (i) to prepare the Directors’ Report and the financial statements which 
present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company, the results of its operations, the changes in equity and 
the cash flows; (ii) to prepare historic financial information in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in Portugal 
and which is complete, true, up to date, clear, objective and lawful, as required by the Portuguese Securities Market Code; (iii) to 
adopt appropriate accounting policies and criteria; (iv) to maintain an appropriate system of internal control; and (v) to disclose any 
significant matters which have influenced the activity, financial position or results of the Company.

3 Our responsibility is to verify the financial information included in the financial statements referred to above, namely as to 
whether it is complete, true, up to date, clear, objective and lawful, as required by the Portuguese Securities Market Code, for the 
purpose of issuing an independent and professional report based on our audit.

SCOPe 

4 We conducted our audit in accordance with the Standards and Technical Recommendations issued by the Institute of Statutory 
Auditors which require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements 
are free from material misstatement. Accordingly, our audit included: (i) verification, on a sample basis, of the evidence 

audit rePort for 
statutory and stock 
exchange regulatory 
PurPoses on the 
individual financial 
information
(Free translation from the original in Portuguese)

AudIt report For stAtutory ANd stoCk exChANge regulAtory purposes 

oN the INdIvIduAl FINANCIAl INFormAtIoN
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supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, and assessing the reasonableness of the estimates, based 
on the judgements and criteria of the Board of Directors used in the preparation of the financial statements; (ii) assessing the 
appropriateness of the accounting principles used and their disclosure, as applicable; (iii) assessing the applicability of the going 
concern basis of accounting; (iv) assessing the overall presentation of the financial statements; and (v) assessing the completeness, 
truthfulness, accuracy, clarity, objectivity and lawfulness of the financial information.

5 Our audit also covered the verification that the information included in the Directors’ Report is consistent with the financial 
statements, as well as the verification set forth in paragraphs 4 and 5 of Article 451º of the Companies Code.

6 We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

OPINION

7 In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above, present fairly in all material respects, the financial position of Inapa – 
Investimentos, Participações e Gestão, SA as at December 31, 2011, the results of its operations, the changes in equity and the cash 
flows for the year then ended in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in Portugal and the information included 
is complete, true, up to date, clear, objective and lawful. 

RePORT ON OTheR LeGAL ReqUIReMeNTS

8 It is also our opinion that the information included in the Directors’ Report is consistent with the financial statements for the year 
and that the Corporate Governance Report includes the information required under Article 245º-A of the Portuguese Securities 
Market Code.

eMPhASIS

9 Without qualifying our opinion in paragraph 7 above, we draw attention that, as mentioned in Note 26 of the notes to the accounts, 
Papelaria Fernandes – Indústria e Comércio, SA has raised in 2007 against Inapa – Investimentos, Participações e Gestão, SA a 
legal proceedings, related to events occurred in previous years.  Inapa – Investimentos, Participações e Gestão, SA considered 
that they do not have any relevant liability with Papelaria Fernandes – Indústria e Comércio, SA as a result of the transactions 
mentioned in the legal proceedings raised by this company, therefore, no provision had been created in the financial statements.

Lisbon, April 20, 2012

PricewaterhouseCoopers & Associados
 – Sociedade de Revisores Oficiais de Contas, Lda
Registered in the Comissão do Mercado de Valores Mobiliários with no. 9077
represented by:

José Pereira Alves, R.O.C.
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03. FINANCIAl INFormAtIoN

rePort and oPinion  
of the audit committee 
of the Board of 
directors 

1. INTRODUCTION

In conformance with the provisions of sub-paragraph g) of paragraph 1 of Article 423-F of the “Código das Sociedades Comerciais” 
(the Portuguese Companies Act), the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors of INAPA – Investimentos, Participações e Gestão, 
SA hereby presents its annual report on its auditing activities and its assessment of the Management Report and the individual and 
consolidated financial statements, relating to the financial year ending on 31-12-2011, as well as the proposal on the distribution of 
earnings, presented by the Board of Directors.

2. COMPANY AUDIT

In 2011 the Audit Committee continued its work of supervising the administration of the company through regular monitoring of the 
evolution of the activity of the company and its subsidiaries in Portugal and abroad, namely with the participation of its members in 
the meetings of the Board of Directors, through contacts with the Executive Committee and reading of the respective minutes, the 
systematic analysis of operating and financial information periodically available, and also the contacts it considered appropriate 
with the several executive directors and heads of the departments involved.

Supervisory activity aimed to:
•	 Ensure compliance with the law and the bylaws;
•	 Verify the compliance of the books, accounting records and supporting documents;
•	 Verify the accuracy of the documents for rendering of accounts;
•	 Verify that the adopted accounting policies and valuation criteria lead to a correct assessment of the assets and earnings.

During 2011 and in accordance with paragraph 3 of Article 456 of the “Código das Sociedades Comerciais” (the Portuguese 
Companies Act), the Audit Committee conducted the effective prior appraisal of the Board of Directors resolution to increase the 
share capital of 150 million up to EUR 225 million, and issued a favourable opinion on the transaction.

Pursuant to Internal Rules on Company business with related parties, the Commission has also appraised two adjudications for 
services rendered to the Company by a related entity. The Commission considered the operations respected the principles laid 
down in that regulation and gave its assent.

The Audit Committee has particularly monitored the preparation and analysis of periodical financial information published pursuant 
to law, and for this reason individually and collectively its members held meetings and established contacts considered appropriate 
with both the executive directors and the heads of the departments involved, as well as with the Chartered Accountant and External 
Auditor.

report ANd opINIoN oF the AudIt CommIttee oF the BoArd oF dIreCtors
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The Committee also paid special attention to the analysis of the main risks and of the efficacy of the respective management and 
internal monitoring systems.

To this purpose the Audit Committee maintained a close and regular monitoring of progress of the work on formalization of 
systematic data and important elements that compose the risk management systems and internal control of INAPA IPG and 
societies that integrate the Group. The Audit Committee considers this work of great importance not only for allowing the Group to 
provide the appropriate support documents relating to practices in use in this area, but also because the path for the identification 
and registration of these elements provides, in itself, a greater and better awareness of each and every one of those responsible at 
different levels on the most critical aspects of management and enhances the identification of improvement opportunities.

The Audit Committee did not come across any irregularities – as foreseen in the internal regulation of the company – presented by 
shareholders, company employees or any other parties. 

The Audit Committee audited the processes for the preparation of financial information and the examination of accounts, as well 
as the independence of the Chartered Accountant and External Auditor.

To this end, the Committee specifically analysed and assessed the rendering of other services besides auditing, including fiscal 
consultancy services, albeit of limited extent, by the organisation to which the Chartered Accountant and External Auditor belongs, 
namely with regards to the specific conditions in which the services were rendered and the safeguards adopted, as well as in terms 
of reasonability of the respective fees which it considered appropriate for the retention of independence of the abovementioned 
Chartered Accountant and Auditor.
 
During the financial year of 2011, besides participating in all the Board of Directors meetings, within the scope of its duties and 
responsibilities, the Audit Committee held 11 (eleven) meetings and carried out other inquiries which it deemed to be necessary 
and appropriate.

In the exercising of its supervisory activities, from which the corresponding minutes were drawn up, the Audit Committee has 
always counted on the availability and collaboration of the executive Board and the company’s services.

In order to strengthen and improve its functioning and performance, the Audit Committee, in agreement with the Executive 
Committee, held in 2011 the definition of the bases and the specific framework in which the Audit Committee now has the technical 
assistance of the Company’s responsible for Internal Audit, subject to the usual organic positioning of this function and the 
corresponding institutional relationship.

In the course of its action, the Audit Committee has not faced any constraint worth nothing.

3. ASSeSSMeNT ReGARDING RePORTS AND ACCOUNTS 

The Audit Committee examined the Management Report and the individual and consolidated financial statements relating to the 
financial year ending on December 31st 2011 (which include balance sheet, profit and loss accounts, income statements, statements 
of cash flow and those regarding changes in shareholder’s equity, as well as the respective notes in attachment), documents with 
which it agrees. 

The individual statements were drafted in accordance with the accounting principles generally accepted in Portugal (namely 
SNC) and the consolidated statements were drafted in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), as 
adopted by the European Union.

The Audit Committee examined the legal Certificates for the Accounts and Audit Reports regarding the individual and consolidated 
financial information issued in April 20th 2012 by the company’s Chartered Accountant and External Auditor, documents with which 
it is in agreement. 
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In view of the above mentioned points and the activities performed, the Audit Committee is of the opinion that the Management 
Report and the individual and consolidated financial statements, relating to the financial year of 2011, as well as the proposal for 
the distribution of earnings contained in the Management Report, are in accordance with applicable laws and regulations, due to 
which they are worthy of approval at the Shareholders Meeting.

4. DeCLARATION Of CONfORMANCe

In conformance with the provisions of nr. 1, sub-paragraph c) of Article 245 of CVM (the Securities Code), the members of the Audit 
Committee of the Board of Directors of INAPA – Investimentos, Participações e Gestão, SA, hereby declare that, to the best of their 
knowledge, the information contained in the Management Report, in the annual accounts, in the Legal Certification of Accounts and 
in all other documents for the rendering of individual and consolidated accounts, required by law or regulations, with regards to 
December 31st 2011, was drafted in accordance with applicable accounting standards, thereby giving a truthful and appropriate view 
of the assets and liabilities, the financial situation and the earnings of the company and the companies included within consolidated 
statements, and that the Management Report faithfully represents the growth of the company’s business, the performance and 
the standing of the company and the companies included in consolidated statements, including a description of the main risks and 
uncertainties affecting the companies.

In conformance with the provisions of nrs. 5 and 6 of Article 420 of the Commercial Companies Act, in order to fulfil the provisions 
of nr. 2 of Article 423-F of the same code, the Audit Committee hereby declares that:

•	 The report on the structure and practices of the company’s corporate governance, which follows the CMVM model and 
constitutes a specific chapter of the Management Report, includes the elements referred in article 245-A CVM (the Securities 
Code);

•	 It agrees with the above mentioned Management Report and annual accounts.

Lisbon, April 20th 2012

The Audit Committee

Emídio de Jesus Maria
Board Member and Chairman of the Audit Committee

Acácio Jaime Liberado Mota Piloto
Board Member and member of the Audit Committee

Eduardo Gonzalo Fernandez Espinar
Board Member and member of the Audit Committee
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comunicação visual

A comunicação é o segmento de negócio que 
apresenta maior dinamismo dentro da indús-
tria gráfica com constantes inovações tecno-
lógicas. O desenvolvimento da impressão di-
gital tem sido o principal motor da expanção 
desta indústria.

A Inapa opera unicamente no mercado Ale-
mão. A sua oferta de produtos e serviços 
abarca a venda de quipamentos de impres-
são em grande formato, os materiais onde é 
realizada a impressão, as tintas, os consumí-
veis, o software e o apoio técnico.

Visual communication is a very dynamic business segment with 
constant technology innovations. The development of digital 
printing has been the changing driver that boosted the growth in 
this industry.

Inapa operates only in the German market. Its product and 
services range from the sale of large format printer, all media 
substrates used for printing, inks, consumables, software and 
technical support.

visual communication
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04. CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
iNTROduCTiON

IntroductIon

This Corporate Governance Report was compiled in 
conformance with the provision of Regulation no.1/2007 
of CMVM (Portuguese Securities Exchange Commission).

This report follows the structure of Annex I of CMVM 
Regulation previously mentioned. 

chapter 0
COMPlIAnCE STATEMEnT

0.1.
Location where the public may find the Corporate Governance Codes to which the issuer is subject or those which the issuer 
voluntarily abides by, if applicable.

The CMVM text of the corporate governance code to which the issuer is subject (CGS CMVM 2010) is written in paragaraph 0.2, and 
the text of the governance reports referring to this company are available at:
- The Company’s Head Office, in Rua Castilho, nr 44 – 3rd floor,in lisbon
- The company’s corporate website: - www.inapa.pt;
- The website of Comissão do Mercado de Valores Mobiliários (CMVM): www.cmvm.pt;

The company hereby informs that this Report will be available for consultation at all of the aforementioned locations and may be 
obtained separately or as an Addendum to the Annual Report and Accounts of the Company, of which it is an integral part. 

coRPoRatE 
GovERnancE 
REPoRt

Best Corporate 
GovernanCe in portuGal
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ComplianCe

Yes

Yes

Yes
(with the coming into force of 
Decree-law 49/2010, of May 19, the 
regime is the one stated in Article 
23-C CVM, as written in this bylaw) 

Yes
(with the coming into force of 
Decree-law 49/2010, of May 19, the 
regime is the one stated in Article 
23-C CVM, as written in this bylaw)

Yes
(clarifying that the Company did 
not use electronic voting)

Yes

Remission in the RepoRt

I.1.

I.3.

I.4.

I.5.

I.9.
I.12.

I.11.

0.2.
Disclosure of which of the specific recommendations of CMVM’s Corporate Governance Code have and have not been adopted:

ReCommendation / ChapteR

i. GeneRal meetinG

i.1 General meetinG 

i.1.1. 
The Presiding Board of the General Meeting shall be 
equipped with the necessary and adequate human 
resources and logistic support, taking the financial 
position of the company into consideration 

i.1.2.
The remuneration of the Presiding Board of the 
General Meeting shall be disclosed in the Annual 
Report on Corporate Governance 

i.2. ParticiPation at the meetinG

i.2.1.
The requirement for the Board to receive statements 
for share deposit or blocking for participation at the 
general meeting shall not exceed 5 working days 

i.2.2.
Should the general meeting be suspended, the 
company shall not compel share blocking during the 
interim period until the meeting is resumed and shall 
then prepare itself in advance as required for the first 
session 

i.3. votinG and exercisinG votinG riGhts

i.3.1.
Companies shall not impose any statutory restriction 
on postal voting and whenever adopted or admissible, 
on electronic voting

i.3.2.
The statutory deadline for receiving early voting ballots 
by mail may not exceed three working days 
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COmPliANCE STATEmENT

ReCommendation / ChapteR

i. GeneRal meetinG

i.3. votinG and exercisinG votinG riGhts

i.3.3.
Companies shall ensure the level of voting rights 
and the shareholder’s participation is proportional, 
ideally through the statutory provision that obliges 
the one share-one vote principal. The companies 
that: i) hold shares that do not confer voting right; ii) 
establish non-casting of voting rights above a certain 
number, when issued solely by a shareholder or by 
shareholders related to former, do not comply with 
the proportionality principle

i.4. resolution-FixinG Quorum

i.4.1.
Companies shall not set a resolution-fixing quorum 
that outnumbers that which is prescribed by law

i.5.1.
 Extracts from the minutes of the general meetings 
or documents with corresponding content must be 
made available to shareholders on the company’s 
website within a five day period after the General 
Meeting has been held, irrespective of the fact that 
such information may not be classified as material 
information. The information disclosed shall cover the 
resolutions passed, the represented capital and the 
voting results. Said information shall be kept on file on 
the company’s website for no less than a 3 year period 

ComplianCe

Yes

no
(Under the Company’s Bylaw, 
meetings at first notice require a 
number of shareholders repre-
senting at least 1/3 of share capital 
to be in attendance or duly rep-
resented not only for purposes of 
the validity of resolutions taken in 
conformance with the provisions 
of paragraph 2 of Article 383 of the 
CSC (Companies Act), but also for 
purposes of any resolutions of the 
General Meeting of Shareholders. 
Such deviation from this principle 
is based on an understanding, 
long held by this Company, that 
its resolutions shall be based on 
a minimum number of attending 
shareholders that is representa-
tive, especially with a view to de-
fend the interests of small indi-
vidual shareholders.) 

Yes

Remission in the RepoRt

I.6.

I.8.

I.13.

i.5. minutes and inFormation on resolutions Passed 
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ReCommendation / ChapteR

i. GeneRal meetinG

i.6.1.
Measures aimed at preventing successful takeover 
bids, shall respect both the company’s and the 
shareholders’ interests. The company’s articles of 
association that by complying with said principal, 
provide for the restriction of the number of votes that 
may be held or exercised by a sole shareholder, either 
individually or in concert with other shareholders, shall 
also foresee for a resolution by the General Assembly 
(5 year intervals), on whether that statutory provision 
is to be amended or prevails – without super quorum 
requirements as to the one legally in force – and that 
in said resolution, all votes issued be counted, without 
applying said restriction

i.6.2.
In cases such as change of control or changes to 
the composition of the Board of Directors, defensive 
measures shall not be adopted that instigate an 
immediate and serious asset erosion in the company, 
and further disturb the free transmission of shares 
and voluntary performance assessment by the 
shareholders of the members of the Board of Directors

ii.1. General Points 

ii.1.1. structure and duties

ii.1.1.1.
The Board of Directors shall assess the adopted 
model in its Annual Report on Corporate Governance 
and pin-point possible hold-ups to its functioning 
and shall propose measures that it deems fit for 
surpassing such obstacles 

ComplianCe

not applicable
(the Company’ Bylaws do not pro-
vide for any restriction of this na-
ture).

Yes

Yes

Remission in the RepoRt

I.19.

I.20.
I.21.
I.22.

II.1.

i.6. measures on corPorate control

ii – BoaRd oF diReCtoRs and sUpeRVisoRY BoaRd
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ReCommendation / ChapteR

ii.1. General Points 

ii.1.1. structure and duties

ii.1.1.2.
Companies shall set up internal control and risk 
management systems in order to safeguard the 
company’s worth and which will identify and manage 
the risk. Said systems shall include at least the 
following components: i) setting of the company’s 
strategic objectives as regards risk assumption; ii) 
identifying the main risks associated to the company’s 
activity and any events that might generate risks; iii) 
analyse and determine the extent of the impact and 
the likelihood that each of said potential risks will 
occur; iv) risk management aimed at aligning those 
actual incurred risks with the company’s strategic 
options for risk assumption; v) control mechanisms 
for executing measures for adopted risk management 
and its effectiveness; vi) adoption of internal 
mechanisms for information and communication on 
several components of the system and of risk-warning 
; vii) periodic assessment of the implemented system 
and the adoption of the amendments that are deemed 
necessary

ii.1.1.3.
The Board of Directors shall ensure the establishment 
and functioning of the internal control and risk 
management systems. The Supervisory Board shall 
be responsible for assessing the functioning of said 
systems and proposing the relevant adjustment to the 
company’s needs

ii.1.1.4.
The companies shall: i) identify the main economic, 
financial and legal risk that the company is exposed 
to during the exercise of its activity; ii) describe the 
performance and efficiency of the risk management 
system, in its Annual Report on Corporate Governance

ii.1.1.5.
The Board of Directors and the Supervisory Board 
shall establish internal regulations and shall have 
these disclosed on the company’s website

ComplianCe

Yes
(under the terms refered on item 
II.5.)

Yes

Yes

Yes

Remission in the RepoRt

II.5.

II.6.

II.9.

II.4.

ii – BoaRd oF diReCtoRs and sUpeRVisoRY BoaRd



0
4

. C
O

R
P

O
R

A
T

E
 G

O
V

E
R

N
A

N
C

E
 R

E
P

O
R

T

173

C
O

m
P

li
A

N
C

E
 S

TA
T

E
m

E
N

T

ReCommendation / ChapteR

ii.1. General Points  

ii.1.2.1.
The Board of Directors shall include a number of 
non-executive members that ensure the efficient 
supervision, auditing and assessment of the executive 
members’ activity

ii.1.2.2.
non-executive members must include an adequate 
number of independent members. The size of the 
company and its shareholder structure must be taken 
into account when devising this number and may 
never be less than a fourth of the total number of 
Board Directors

ii.1.2.3.
The independency assessment of its non-executive 
members carried out by the Board of Directors shall 
take into account the legal and regulatory rules in 
force concerning the independency requirements and 
the incompatibility framework applicable to members 
of other corporate boards, which ensure orderly 
and sequential coherence in applying independency 
criteria to all the company. An independent executive 
member shall not be considered as such, if in another 
corporate board and by force of applicable rules, may 
not be an independent executive member

ii.1.3. eliGibility and aPPointment criteria

ii.1.3.1.
Depending on the applicable model, the Chair of the 
Supervisory Board and of the Auditing and Financial 
Matters Committees, shall be independent and 
adequately competent to carry out his/her duties

ii.1.3.2.
The selection process of candidates for non-executive 
members shall be conjured so as prevent interference 
by executive members

ComplianCe

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

no

Remission in the RepoRt

II.14

II.14.

II.15.

II.15.
II.18.

II.16.

ii – BoaRd oF diReCtoRs and sUpeRVisoRY BoaRd

ii.1.2. Governance incomPatibility and indePendence
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ReCommendation / ChapteR

ii.1. General Points 

ii.1.4.1.
The company shall adopt a policy whereby irregularities 
occurring within the company are reported. Such 
reports shall contain the following information: i) the 
means be which such irregularities may be reported 
internally, including the persons that are entitled to 
receive the reports; ii) how the report is to be handled, 
including confidential treatment, should it be required 
by the reporter

ii.1.4.2.
The general guidelines on this policy shall be disclosed 
in the Annual Report of Corporate Governance

ii.1.5. remuneration

ii.1.5.1.
The remuneration of the Members of the Board of 
Directors shall be structured so that the formers’ 
interests are capable of being aligned with the 
long-term interests of the company. Furthermore, 
the remuneration shall be based on performance 
assessment and shall discourage taking on extreme 
risk. Thus, remunerations shall be structured as follows:

(i) The remuneration of the Board of Directors 
carrying out executive duties shall include a variable 
element which is determined by a performance 
assessment carried out by the company’s 
competent bodies according to pre-established 
quantifiable criteria. Said criteria shall take into 
consideration the company’s real growth and the 
actual growth generated for the shareholders, its 
long-term sustainability and the risks taken on, as 
well as compliance with the rules applicable to the 
company’s activity

(ii) The variable component of the remuneration 
shall be reasonable overall as regard the fixed 
component of the remuneration and maximum 
limits shall be set for all components 

(iii) A significant part of the variable remuneration 
shall be deferred for a period not less than three 
years and its payment shall depend of the company’s 
steady positive performance during said period

ComplianCe

Yes

Yes

not applicable
(variable remuneration is sus-
pended for the fiscal years of 2010 
and 2011.) 

Remission in the RepoRt

II.35.

II.35.

II.22.

II.30.

II.32.

II.33.

II.34.

ii.1.4. Policy on the rePortinG oF irreGularities

not applicable

not applicable

ii – BoaRd oF diReCtoRs and sUpeRVisoRY BoaRd
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ReCommendation / ChapteR

ii.1. General Points  

ii.1.5. remuneration

ii.1.5.1. (cont.)
(iv) Members of the Board of Directors shall not 
enter into contracts with the company or third 
parties that will have the effect of mitigating the 
risk inherent in the variability of the remuneration 
established by the company

(v) The Executive Directors shall hold, up to twice 
the value of the total annual remuneration, the 
company shares that were allotted by virtue of the 
variable remuneration schemes, with the exception 
of those shares that are required to be sold for the 
payment of taxes on the gains of said shares

(vi) When the variable remuneration includes stock 
options, the period for exercising same shall be 
deferred for a period of not less than three years

(vii) The appropriate legal instruments shall be 
established so that in the event of a Director’s 
dismissal without due cause, the envisaged 
compensation shall not be paid out if the dismissal 
or termination by agreement is due to the Director’s 
inadequate performance

(viii) The remuneration of non-Executive Board 
Members shall not include any component the value 
of which is subject to the performance or the value 
of the company

ii.1.5.2. 
Statement on the remuneration policy of the Board 
of Directors and Supervisory Board referred to in 
Article 2 of law no. 28/2009 of 19 June, shall contain, 
in addition to the content therein stated, adequate 
information on: i) which groups of companies the 
remuneration policy and practices of which were 
taken as a baseline for setting the remuneration 
ii) the payments for the dismissal or termination by 
agreement of the Directors’ duties

ComplianCe

Yes

not applicable

not applicable

no

Yes

no

Remission in the RepoRt

ii – BoaRd oF diReCtoRs and sUpeRVisoRY BoaRd
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ReCommendation / ChapteR

ii.1. General Points  

ii.1.5. remuneration

ii.1.5.3.
The remuneration policy statement referred to in Article 
2 of law no. 28/2009 shall also include the directors’ 
remunerations which contain an important variable 
component, within the meaning of Article 248-B/3 of 
the Securities Code. The statement shall be detailed 
and the policy presented shall particularly take the 
long-term performance of the company, compliance 
with the rules applicable to its business and restraint in 
taking risks into account.

ii.1.5.4.
A proposal shall be submitted at the General Meeting 
on the approval of plans for the allotment of shares 
and/or options for share purchase or further yet on the 
variations in share prices, to members of the Board of 
Directors and Supervisory Board and other managers 
within the context of Article 248/3/B of the Securities 
Code. The proposal shall mention all the necessary 
information for its correct assessment. The proposal 
shall contain the regulation plan or in its absence, 
the plan’s conditions. The main characteristics of the 
retirement benefit plans established for members of 
the Board of 8 Directors and Supervisory Board and 
other managers within the context of Article 248/3/B 
of the Securities Code, shall also be approved at the 
General Meeting 

ii.1.5.6.
At least one of the Remuneration Committee’s 
representatives shall be present at the Annual General 
Meeting for Shareholders

ii.1.5.7.
The amount of remuneration received, as a whole and 
individually, in other companies of the group and the 
pension rights acquired during the financial year in 
question shall be disclosed in the Annual Report on 
Corporate Governance

ComplianCe

Yes

not Applicable
(the Company has no plan for the 
allotment of shares and/or options 
to buy shares.)

Remission in the RepoRt

II.30.

I.17.

I.15.

II.31.

no 

Yes

ii – BoaRd oF diReCtoRs and sUpeRVisoRY BoaRd
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ReCommendation / ChapteR

ii.2. board oF directors

ii.2.1.
Within the limits established by law for each 
management and supervisory structure, and unless 
the company is of a reduced size, the Board of 
Directors shall delegate the day-to-day running and 
the delegated duties shall be identified in the Annual 
Corporate Governance Report

ii.2.2.
The Board of Directors must ensure that the company 
acts in accordance with its goals, and shall not delegate 
its duties, namely in what concerns: i) definition of the 
company’s strategy and general policies; ii) definition 
of the corporate structure of the group; iii) decisions 
taken that are considered to be strategic due to the 
amounts, risk and particular characteristics involved 

ii.2.3. 
Should the Chair of the Board of Directors carry out 
executive duties, the Board of Directors shall set up 
efficient mechanisms for coordinating non-executive 
members that can ensure that these may decide 
upon, in an independent and informed manner, and 
furthermore shall explain these mechanisms to the 
shareholders in the corporate governance report

ii.2.4.
The annual management report shall include a 
description of the activity carried out by the non-
Executive Board Members and shall mention any 
restraints encountered

ii.2.5.
The company shall expound its policy of portfolio 
rotation on the Board of Directors, including the 
person responsible for the financial portfolio, and 
report on same in the Annual Corporate Governance 
Report

ComplianCe

Yes

Yes

not applicable
(The Chairman of the Board of 
Directors does not have any ex-
ecutive functions).

Yes

no 

Remission in the RepoRt

II.3.

II.3.

II.8.

II.17.

II.11.

ii – BoaRd oF diReCtoRs and sUpeRVisoRY BoaRd
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ReCommendation / ChapteR

ii.3.1. 
When Managing Directors that carry out executive 
duties are requested by other Board Members to supply 
information, the former must do so in a timely manner 
and the information supplied must adequately suffice 
the request made

ii.3.2.
 The Chair of the Executive Committee shall send the 
convening notices and minutes of the meetings to the 
Chair of the Board of the Directors and, as applicable, 
to the Chair of the Supervisory Board or the Auditing 
Committee, respectively

ii.3.3. 
 The Chair of the Board of Directors shall send the 
convening notices and minutes of the meetings to the 
Chair of the General and Supervisory Board and the 
Chair of the Financial Matters Committee 

.

 
ii.4.1.
Besides carrying out its supervisory duties, the General 
and Supervisory Board shall advise, follow-up and carry 
out an on-going assessment on the management of the 
company by the Executive Board of Directors. Besides 
other subject matters, the General and Supervisory 
Board shall decide on: i) the definition of the strategy 
and general policies of the company; ii) the corporate 
structure of the group; and iii) decisions taken that are 
considered to be strategic due to the amounts, risk and 
particular characteristics involved

ii.4.2.
The annual reports and financial information on the 
activity carried out by the General and Supervisory 
Committee, the Financial Matters Committee, the 
Auditing and Supervisory Committee must be disclosed 
on the company’s website

ComplianCe

Yes

Yes

not applicable

not applicable

Yes

Remission in the RepoRt

II.3.

II.13.

II.1.

II.1.

III.15.

ii.3. chieF executive oFFicer (ceo), executive committee and executive board oF directors

ii.4. General and suPervisory board, Financial matters committee, audit committee 
and suPervisory board

ii – BoaRd oF diReCtoRs and sUpeRVisoRY BoaRd
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ReCommendation / ChapteR

 
ii.4.3.
The annual reports on the activity carried out by the 
General and Supervisory Board, the Financial Matters 
Committee, the Audit Committee and the Supervisory 
Board must include a description on the supervisory 
activity and shall mention any restraints that they may 
have come up against

ii.4.4.
The General and Supervisory Board, the Auditing 
Committee and the Supervisory Board (depending on 
the applicable model) shall represent the company for 
all purposes at the external auditor, and shall propose 
the services supplier, the respective remuneration, 
ensure that adequate conditions for the supply of 
these services are in place within the company, as 
well as being the liaison officer between the company 
and the first recipient of the reports

ii.4.5.
According to the applicable model, the General 
and Supervisory Board, Auditing Committee and 
Supervision Board shall assess the external auditor on 
an annual basis and advise the General Meeting that 
he/she be discharged whenever justifiable grounds 
are present

ii.4.6.
The internal audit services and those that ensure 
compliance with the rules applicable to the company 
(compliance services) shall functionally report to 
the Audit Committee, the General and Supervisory 
Board or in the case of companies adopting the latin 
model, an independent director or Supervisory Board, 
regardless of the hierarchical relationship that these 
services have with the executive management of the 
company

ComplianCe

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Remission in the RepoRt

II.4.

II.3.

II.3.

II.3.
II.5.

ii.4. General and suPervisory board, Financial matters committee, audit committee 
and suPervisory board

ii – BoaRd oF diReCtoRs and sUpeRVisoRY BoaRd
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ii.5. sPecial committees

ii.5.1.
Unless the company is of a reduced size and depending 
on the adopted model, the Board of Directors and 
the General and Supervisory Committees, shall set 
up the necessary Committees in order to: i) ensure 
that a competent and independent assessment of the 
Executive Directors’ performance is carried out, as 
well as its own overall performance and further yet, 
the performance of all existing committees; ii) study 
the adopted governance system and verify its efficiency 
and propose to the competent bodies, measures to be 
carried out with a view to its improvements; iii) in due 
time identify potential candidates with the high profile 
required for the performance of director’s duties  

ii.5.2. 
Members of the Remuneration Committee or alike 
shall be independent from the Members of the Board 
of Directors and include at least one member with 
knowledge and experience in matters of remuneration 
policy

ii.5.3. 
Any natural or legal person which provides or has 
provided, over the past three years, services to any 
structure subject to the Board of Directors, to the 
Board of Directors of the company or that has to do 
with the current consultant to the company shall not 
be recruited to assist the Remuneration committee. 
This recommendation also applies to any natural or 
legal person who has an employment contract or 
provides services 

ii.5.4. 
All the Committees shall draw up minutes of the 
meetings held

ComplianCe

Yes
(Given the size of the Company, 
of its Board of Directors, and of 
the duties performed by its Audit 
Committee, it was considered 
that the appointment of any of 
the indicated committees is not 
necessary.)

Yes

Yes

Yes

Remission in the RepoRt

II.2.

II.38.
II.39.

II.39.

II.37.
II.38.

ii – BoaRd oF diReCtoRs and sUpeRVisoRY BoaRd
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iii. inFoRmation and aUditinG

iii.1. General disclosure duties

iii.1.1. 
Companies shall maintain permanent contact with 
the market thus upholding the principle of equality 
for shareholders and ensure that investors are able to 
access information in a uniform fashion. To this end, 
the company shall create an Investor Assistance Unit

iii.1.2.
The following information that is made available on 
the company’s Internet website shall be disclosed in 
the English language:

a) The company, public company status, 
headquarters and remaining data provided for in 
Article 171 of the Commercial Companies Code
b) Articles of Association
c) Credentials of the Members of the Board of 
Directors and the Market liaison Officer
d) Investor Assistance Unit – its functions and 
access means
e) Accounts Reporting documents
f) Half-Yearly Calendar on Company Events
g) Proposals sent through for discussion and 
voting during the General Meeting
h) notices convening meetings

iii.1.3. 
Companies shall advocate the rotation of auditors 
after two or three terms in accordance with four or 
three years respectively. Their continuance beyond 
this period must be based on a specific opinion for the 
Supervisory Board to formally consider the conditions 
of auditor independence and the benefits and costs of 
replacement

iii.1.4. 
The external auditor must, within its powers, verify 
the implementation of remuneration policies and 
systems, the efficiency and functioning of internal 
control mechanisms and report any shortcomings to 
the company’s Supervisory Board

ComplianCe

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Remission in the RepoRt

III.16.

III.16.

III.18.

II.6.
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iii. inFoRmation and aUditinG

iii.1. General disclosure duties

iii.1.5. 
The company shall not recruit the external auditor 
for services other than audit services, nor any entities 
with which same takes part or incorporates the same 
network. Where recruiting such services is called for, 
said services should not be greater than 30% of the total 
value of services rendered to the company. The hiring 
of these services must be approved by the Supervisory 
Board and must be expounded in the Annual Corporate 
Governance Report

iV. ConFliCts oF inteRest

iv.1. shareholder relationshiP

iv.1.1. 
Where deals are concluded between the company and 
shareholders with qualifying holdings, or entities with 
which same are linked in accordance with Article 20 of 
the Securities Code, such deals shall be carried out in 
normal market conditions

iv.1.2. 
Where deals of significant importance are undertaken 
with holders of qualifying holdings, or entities with 
which same are linked in accordance with Article 20 
of the Securities Code, such deals shall be subject to 
a preliminary opinion from the Supervisory Board. The 
procedures and criteria required to define the relevant 
level of significance of these deals and other conditions 
shall be established by the Supervisory Board

ComplianCe

Yes

Yes

Yes

Remission in the RepoRt

III.17.

III.12.

III.12.
III.13.

0.3.  
The Company analysed in detail its compliance to the recommendations of CMVM on corporate governance matters. 

0.4. 
The structure and corporate governance pratices do not diverge from CMVM recommendations, except on the signalized on the 
table above.
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I.1.
MeMbers of the presIdIng board of the 
general MeetIng

At present, the Board of the General Meeting of Shareholders is 
composed by the following members:

chairman – João Vieira de Almeida
secretary – Sofia Barata

Besides the support of the secretary, the Chairman of the Board 
of the General Meeting also has the support of the company’s 
secretary as well as its administrative services that are deemed 
adequate and sufficient for the right performance of his duties.  

I.2. 
IndIcatIon of the start and end dates of 
Mandates

The members of the Board of the General Meeting of 
Shareholders are currently serving a three year term running 
from 2010 to 2012 and were appointed by resolution of the share-
holders at their meeting of May 11, 2010.

I.3. 
detaIls of the reMuneratIon of the chaIrMan 

of the board of the general MeetIng

Pursuant to a resolution of the Remunerations Committee dated 
May 21, 2008, the remuneration of the Chairman of the General 
Meeting of Shareholders was set at 1 5,000.00 (five thousand 
Euros) payable for every meeting chaired.

I.4.  
IndIcatIon of the prIor notIce requIred for 
the blockIng of shares for partIcIpatIon In 
the general MeetIng

Paragraph 1 of Article 23-C CVM (Securities Exchange 

chapter I
GEnERAl MEETInG

Commission) stipulates, as written in Decree-law 49/2010 of 
May 19, that “Shareholders may participate and exercise their 
voting rights at meetings of the General Meeting provided they 
hold shares, at 0 hours (TMG) of the fifth business day prior to 
the date of the meeting (registration date), that entitle them, ac-
cording to the law and the Company’s Articles of Associations, to 
at least one vote”. 

I.5. 
IndIcatIon of the rules for blockIng shares 
In the event of the general MeetIng beIng 
suspended

In paragraph 2 of Article 23-C CVM it is stipulated that “the ex-
ercising of rights (to participate, discuss and vote in the general 
meeting) shall not be harmed by the allotment of shares in a 
period after the registration date, and is not dependent on the 
blocking of shares between that date and the date of the general 
meeting”.

I.6. 
nuMber of shares correspondIng to one 
vote

Paragraph 5 of Article 13 of Inapa’s Bilaws stipulates that “every 
share registered or deposited in conformance with the provi-
sions of paragraph 1 of this Article shall be entitled to one vote”.

I.7.  
IndIcatIon of statutory regulatIons whIch 
envIsage the exIstence of shares that do 
not confer votIng rIghts or whIch enable 
votIng rIghts over a certaIn nuMber not 
to be counted, when Issued by a sIngle 
shareholder or shareholders related 
thereto

The only statutory provision that foresees the existence of shares 
that do not confer voting rights is set out in paragraph 3 of its 
Article 8 which stipulates that the Company may issue prefer-
ence shares carrying no voting rights. The company during the 
course of 2011, has issued 300 980 441 preferred shares with 
no voting right, increasing the company’s share capital from  
1 150 000 000.00 to 1 204 176 479.38.

The Company’s Articles of Association do not stipulate any 
other restrictions on the counting of voting rights above a cer-
tain number, when such votes are exercised by a single share-
holder or by shareholders associated with the shareholder in 
question.

GENERAl mEETiNG
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I.8. 
the exIstence of artIcles of assocIatIon 
rules on the exercIse of votIng rIghts, 
IncludIng constItutIve and decIsIon-MakIng 
quoruMs or systeMs for equIty rIghts

The statutory provisions on this matter are set out in paragraphs 
2 and 3 of Article 17 which respectively stipulate that:

•	 “The General Meeting shall meet at first call whenever a 
number of shareholders or their representatives, whose 
holdings represent at least one third of the share capital 
are in attendance.”

•	 “Resolutions passed at a meeting held at second call shall 
be deemed valid regardless of the number of sharehold-
ers in attendance or duly represented and whichever the 
percentage of share capital their holdings may repre-
sent.”

The Company’ Bylaws do not contain provisions on any systems 
based on special rights having to do with equity.

I.9. 
the exIstence of artIcles of assocIatIon 
rules on the exercIse of votIng by post

Statutory regulations on the exercise of voting by post are set 
out in the provisions of paragraphs 2, 3 and 4 of Article 13 of the 
company’s bylaws which respectively stipulate that:

“Shareholders may exercise their voting rights by post. To do so, 
they should address a registered letter with recorded delivery 
to the Chairman of the Board of the General Meeting at least 
three working days prior to the date of the session of the General 
Meeting in question.” 

“Postal votes count towards forming the quorum for the General 
Meeting. The Chairperson of the Board of the General Meeting is 
responsible for checking the authenticity and regularity of these 
votes, as well as ensuring their confidentiality until the time of 
the vote. Postal votes are considered revoked if the shareholder 
or their representative attends the General Meeting.” 

“Postal votes for motions tabled after these votes have been is-
sued count as ‘no’ votes.” 

I.10.
provIdIng a forM for the rIght to vote by 
post

The Company provides its shareholders with a registration form 

specifically designed for purposes of voting by post, which is al-
ways forwarded upon request and which is also available on its 
corporate website: www.inapa.pt, under Investor Relations in the 
chapter “General Meeting of Shareholders”.   

I.11. 
a deadlIne requIreMent for the receIpt of 
the postal ballots and the date on whIch 
the general MeetIng Is held  

The statutory provisions ruling this matter are stipulated in para-
graph 2 of Article 13 of Inapa’s Articles of Association, as follows:

“Shareholders may exercise their voting rights by post, for 
which purpose they shall notify the Chairman of the Board of the 
General Meeting of their intention, in writing with acknowledge-
ment of receipt, in the three business days prior to the date of the 
meeting of the General Meeting of Shareholders to which such 
intention relates.”  

I.12.
the exercIse of votIng rIghts by electronIc 
Means

To date, it has not been possible to reconcile Inapa’s concerns 
that meetings of its General Meeting of Shareholders are to be 
convened in a venue providing adequate and satisfactory facili-
ties with the technical requirements to provide systems for vot-
ing by electronic means, but it is important to note that, up till 
now, the Company has not received from its shareholders any 
indication showing their possible interest in exercising their vot-
ing rights via such means.

I.13.
possIbIlIty of shareholders gaInIng access 
to excerpts froM the MInutes of the 
general MeetIngs In the coMpany’s websIte 
wIthIn fIve days after the general MeetIng 
was held

A summary of the resolutions adopted in the General Meeting 
shall be provided to shareholders on the Company’s website im-
mediately after the general meeting is held.

I.14.
exIstence of a hIstorIcal record on the 
coMpany’s websIte wIth the resolutIons 
passed at the coMpany’s general MeetIngs, 
share capItal and votIng results referrIng 
to the prevIous three years
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The Company keeps a historical record on its website with the 
resolutions passed at the company’s General Meetings including 
copies of the Minutes and presence lists, referring to the previ-
ous three years, specifically organized under the terms of the 
law.

I.15
IndIcatIon of the representatIve(s) froM 
the reMuneratIon coMMIttee present at 
general MeetIngs

In the General Assembly realized on April 6, 2011, none of the 
Remuneration Committee members was present.

I.16.  
InforMatIon of the InterventIon by the 
general MeetIng on Matters concernIng 
the coMpany’s reMuneratIon polIcy and 
the assessMent of the perforMance of 
MeMbers of the board of dIrectors and 
other dIrectors

The settlement of the remuneration and benefits to the members 
of the Board of Directors is governed by a committee comprising 
three members especially appointed by the General Meeting for 
a term of service of three years for which service they may be 
appointed one or more times.

The General Meeting of Shareholders assesses both the perfor-
mance of the members of the Board of Directors of the Company 
and the annual accounts, on an annual basis.

The assessment of the performance of the members of the 
Board of Directors at the General Meeting of Shareholders is 
conducted by means of its approval “by a vote of confidence in all 
or some of its administration and supervisory boards and their 
members or the dismissal of one or more of those members.”

Pursuant to Act nr. 28/2009, of July 19, coming into force and to 
its subsequent adoption of specific regulations issued by CMVM, 
concerning the Corporate Governance Code of listed compa-
nies approved by Regulation nr. 1/2010, Inapa shall submit to its 
shareholders at their general meetings a declaration on the re-
muneration policies applicable to members of its statutory bod-
ies with the information stipulated in paragraph 3 of Article 2 of 
the mentioned legal bylaw. 

I.17. 
InforMatIon of the InterventIon by the 
general MeetIng on Matters concernIng 
the proposal on the share allocatIon plan, 

and/or stock optIon plans, or based on 
share prIce fluctuatIons, the MeMbers of 
the board of dIrectors, supervIsory board 
and other dIrectors, wIthIn the MeanIng 
of artIcle 248-b/3 of the securItIes code 
together wIth the detaIls provIded to 
the general MeetIng for the purposes of 
correctly assessIng saId plans

The Company has not implemented any plans to allocate shares 
and/or options to buy shares or schemes based on share price 
fluctuations to members of management and supervisory 
boards and senior management as defined in accordance with 
paragraph 3 of Article 248-B of the CVM.

I.18. 
InforMatIon of the InterventIon by the 
general MeetIng on Matters concernIng 
the approval of the MaIn features of the 
retIreMent benefIt systeM as enjoyed by 
the MeMbers of the board of dIrectors, 
supervIsory board and other dIrectors, 
wIthIn the MeanIng of artIcle 248-b/3 of 
the securItIes code

The Company has not implemented any retirement benefit plans 
for members of the management  and supervisory boards as 
well as for senior management as defined in accordance with 
paragraph 3 of Article 248-B of the CVM.            

I.19. 
exIstence of statutory provIsIon that 
envIsages for a duty to be subject, at 
least every fIve years, to a resolutIon by 
the general MeetIng, for the MaIntenance 
or wIthdrawal of the statutory provIsIon 
provIdIng for the lIMItatIon of the nuMber 
of votes capable of beIng held or exercIsed 
by a sIngle shareholder IndIvIdually or 
together wIth other shareholders

The Bylaws do not stipulate any restrictions on the counting 
of voting rights above a certain number, when such votes are 
exercised by a single shareholder or by shareholders associated 
with the shareholder in question. 

I.20. 
IndIcatIon of the defensIve Measures that 
have the effect of autoMatIcally causIng a 
serIous asset erosIon of coMpany assets In 
case of transfer of control or changes to 
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the coMposItIon of the board of dIrectors

The Company has not adopted any measures of that nature.

I.21.  
IMportant agreeMents to whIch the 
coMpany Is a party and that coMe Into force, 
are changed or terMInated In cases such 
as a change In coMpany control, and also 
related outcoMe, unless the dIsclosure of 
saMe, due to Its nature, Is hIghly daMagIng 
to the coMpany and except when the 
coMpany Is specIfIcally oblIged to dIsclose 
saId InforMatIon by vIrtue of other legal 
requIreMents

The Company is not a party to any agreement that will come into 
force, be amended or terminate in the event of a mere change in 
the Company’s controlling shareholder, provided such a change 
does not interefere with the Company’s ability to honour its com-
mitments. 

The previous paragraph does not include the existence of change 
of control standard provisions in contractual clauses of medium 
or long-term finance contracts entered into by the Company and 
certain financial institutions provided that the new shareholding 
structure is not in a position to offer a guarantee of identical sol-
vency.  

I.22. 
agreeMents between the coMpany and the 
board of dIrectors, wIthIn the MeanIng of 
artIcle 248-b/3 of the securItIes code, 
that provIde for coMpensatIon In cases of 
dIsMIssal, unfaIr dIsMIssal or terMInatIon of 
eMployMent followIng a change In coMpany 
control 

no agreements between the Company and members of the 
Board of Directors and/or senior management containing provi-
sions on the payment of compensations upon resignation, unfair 
dismissal or termination of employment following a change in 
the company’s controlling shareholder are in force.
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chapter II
BOARD OF DIRECTORS AnD SUPERVISORY BOARD

sectIon I – general Issues

II.1.  
IdentIfIcatIon and coMposItIon of corporate 
boards

Pursuant to a resolution of the General Meeting of Shareholders 
of May 31, 2007, the Company adopted the governance model 
set out in the provisions of sub-paragraph b) of paragraph 
1 of Article 278 of the CSC (Companies Act) as its statutory 
administration and supervisory structure, comprising a Board 
of Directors, an Audit Committee and a Chartered Accountant 
and Auditor.

The composition of the aforementioned statutory bodies is as 
follows:

board oF directors

Álvaro João Duarte Pinto Correia                           
José Manuel Félix Morgado                  
Arndt Jost Michael Klippgen                                            
Emídio de Jesus Maria
António José Gomes da Silva Albuquerque
Jorge Manuel Viana de Azevedo Pinto Bravo
Acácio Jaime Liberado Mota Piloto
Eduardo Gonzalo Fernandez Espinar
    
executive committee oF the board oF directors

José Manuel Félix Morgado                                                   
Arndt Jost Michael Klippgen                                                
António José Gomes da Silva Albuquerque                    
Jorge Manuel Viana de Azevedo Pinto Bravo                  

chairman
vice-chairman

chairman (ceo)
Purchase and marketinG

cFo
coo

chairman

BOARd Of diRECTORS ANd SuPERViSORy BOARd

auditinG committee

Emídio de Jesus Maria                                                             
Acácio Jaime Liberado Mota Piloto
Eduardo Gonzalo Fernandez Espinar

chartered accountants and external 
auditor
 
PricewaterhouseCoopers & Associados, SROC, lda represented 
by José Pereira Alves  – Appointed Chartered Accountant 
José Manuel Henriques Bernardo - Substitute Chartered 
Accountant 

The Board of Directors believes that the corporate governance 
model has fully met the requirements of the Company and 
the Group it controls, both in terms of its management and in 
terms of the monitoring and control of its operations by its su-
pervisory bodies.

To date, no constraints arising from its application that may 
advise the adoption of measures to correct the adopted model 
have been identified. 
 

II.2. 
IdentIfIcatIon and coMposItIon of specIal 
coMMIttees establIshed wIth responsIbIlI-
tIes for the ManageMent or the supervI-
sIon of the coMpany 

Given the small size of its Board of Directors and the duties 
performed by its Audit Committee, the Board deems that the 
appointment of any of the indicative special committees, be-
sides an Executive Committee, is not justifiable.
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II.3. 
organIsatIonal structure and functIonal chart relatIng to the dIvIsIon of powers 
aMong the varIous boards, coMMIttees and/or departMents wIthIn the coMpany, IncludIng 
InforMatIon on the scope of the delegatIon of powers, partIcularly wIth regard to the 
delegatIon of day-to-day ManageMent of the coMpany, or dIstrIbutIon of functIons aMong 
the MeMbers of the board of dIrectors or supervIsory board, and a lIst of non-delegable 
Matters and powers actually delegated 

general asseMbly

reMuneratIon
coMMIssIon

corporate center

germany france switzerland

belux

spain

angola

portugal

audItIng coMMIssIon

board of dIrectors

executIve coMMIttee

Mário Donas (Chairman)

Maria Amália Almeida

Rui lopes

Internal Audit

Legal

IT

Planning & IR

Accounting

Finance

Graphic

Office

Ana Callet*

António Alvim

Carlos Jorge

Hugo Rua

Mário Silva Santos

Sofia Picoto

Gillbert Trepmann

Antoine lequitte

Arndt klippgen

Holger Pfund

Thomas Schimanowski

Rainer Augstein

ludger Hasecker

Michel Couderc

Thierry Massin

Didier nettre

Marc Gautier

Claus Peter Brück

Pascal Theler

Rudolf Hegg

Chris luyten

Oliver Monteyne

Anne Vanderseijpen

Pedro Regull

José luis Villacorta

Pedro Huidobro

Horácio Fonseca

Afonso Chaby

Filipe Vieira

Francisco Monteiro

Emídio Maria (Chairman)

Acácio Piloto

Eduardo Espinar

Non-executive

Álvaro Pinto Correia (Chairman)

Emídio Maria

Acácio Piloto

Eduardo Espinar

José Felix Morgado (CEO)

Arndt klippgen

António Albuquerque

Jorge Bravo

Executive

José Felix Morgado (Vice-Chairman)

Arndt klippgen

António Albuquerque

Jorge Bravo

*Also reports to the Audit Committee
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In accordance with the resolution of May 17,2010 of the Board of 
Directors and the provisions of paragraphs 3 and 4 of Article 407 
of the Companies Act, the following powers have been delegated 
to the Executive Committee, without prejudice to the Board of 
Directors, in conformance with the provisions of paragraph 8 of 
the aforementioned Act, of being entitled to pass resolutions on 
the matters it delegated:

•	 The day-to-day management of the Company;

•	 Setting out plans for the implementation of Company and 
Group policies, objectives and strategy for approval by the 
Board of Directors;

•	 Setting out general guidelines concerning the Company’s 
internal organisation for approval by the Board of 
Directors;

•	 Compiling operational budgets and medium and long-
term investment and development plans for approval by 
the Board of Directors; 

•	 Approving contracts for the procurement of goods and 
services up to a limit of 1 500,000.00 or less, per category 
of goods or services;

•	 negotiating and contracting short-term bank finance 
agreements to fund the Company or subsidiary compa-
nies, under the terms and conditions that most adequate-
ly suit the interests of the Group;

•	 negotiating bank finance agreements with a term longer 
than a year and a day to fund the Company and its sub-
sidiary companies and the issuing of corporate bonds and 
commercial paper programs, for which purpose binding 
the Company under any such transactions shall be made 
expressly conditional to a prior resolution of the Board of 
Directors to the effect;

•	 Purchasing, selling and pledging goods or assets ac-
counted for as fixed assets of the Company in accordance 
with budgets approved by the Board of Directors;

•	 Purchasing, selling and pledging goods or assets ac-
counted for as fixed assets of the Company not included in 
budgets approved by the Board of Directors up to a value 
of 1.5% of realised share capital per item and up to an an-
nual limit of 5% of the aforementioned capital;

•	 Renting or letting out any buildings or sectional title prop-
erties;

•	 Representing the Company in court and out of court, 
either as plaintiff or as defendant, as well as proposing 

and filing any legal suits, admitting guilt, withdrawing or 
settling out of court and committing to abide by arbitrage 
proceedings;

•	 Purchasing, selling or pledging shares in other compa-
nies, provided the transactions in question are included 
in the budget or in approved action plans not exceeding a 
limit of 1 5,000,000.00 per transaction, above which limit 
prior approval from the Board of Directors shall be re-
quired;

•	 Entering into, amending and terminating employment 
contracts and exercising powers of discipline over the 
staff;

•	 Opening, transacting and closing bank accounts;

•	 Appointing duly mandated representatives of the 
Company;

In the aforementiond resolution the Board of Directors expressly 
barred to the Executive Committee the delegation of the follow-
ing powers:

•	 The powers set out in the provisions of sub-paragraphs a) 
to m) of Article 406 of the Companies Act;

•	 Resolve, in the terms and limits of the law, on instructions 
that are binding on subsidiary companies;

•	 Approval of the Plan and Budget of the Company and sub-
sidiary companies;

•	 Approval of investment or disinvestment transactions of 
relevance into and by subsidiary companies;

•	 Resolve on the purchase and sale of majority or control-
ling shareholdings or holdings subject to special pur-
chase or selling offers in accordance with the Securities 
Market Code (CVM);

•	 Resolutions on splits, mergers or dissolution transactions 
by subsidiary or associate companies;

It is important to note that in the aforementioned resolution the 
Board of Directors has granted to the Chairman of the Executive 
Committee the power/duty to recommend to this Board the 
names of the Directors to be elected for the Executive Committee 
and, according to provisions stipulated in paragraph 6 of Article 
407 CSC, has specially granted him the following powers:

•	 Ensure that all relevant information is provided to the 
other members of the Board  of Directors regarding the 
operations and resolutions of the Executive Committee;
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•	  Ensure the fulfilling of the delegated limits, the com-
pany’s strategy and the duties to collaborate before the 
Chairman of the Board of Directors.

 
In conformance with the provisions of applicable legislation and 
with the aforementioned resolution of the Board of Directors of 
May 17, 2010, the following powers have specifically been granted 
to the Audit Committee:

•	 Supervising the administration of the Company;

•	 Ensuring due compliance with the law and the provisions 
of the Bylaws;

•	 Verifying due compliance of the accounting books, re-
cords and supporting documentation;

•	 Verifying, when and in the form deemed convenient, cash 
balances and stocks of any type of goods or assets owned 
by the Company or held in lieu of security or in trust or 
under any other entitlement;

•	 Verifying the accuracy of the financial statements;

•	 Verifying whether the accounting policies and valuation 
criteria adopted by the Company are conducive to appro-
priately represent its assets and results;

•	 Compiling, on an annual basis, an audit report on its audit 
and supervisory action and issuing an opinion on the an-
nual report and accounts and proposals of the Board of 
Directors;

•	 Convening a meeting of the General Meeting of 
Shareholders, having a duty so to act, should its Chairman 
fail to do so;

•	 Auditing the efficacy of the risk management system, the 
internal control system and the internal audit system;

•	 Being the recipient of reports on irregularities which 
shareholders, employees of the Company or other parties 
may submit;

•	 Auditing the process of preparation and disclosure of fi-
nancial statements;

•	 Recommending to the General Meeting of Shareholders 
the appointment of a Chartered Accountant and Auditor;

•	 Supervising the audit to the financial statements of the 
Company;

•	 Supervising the Chartered Accountant and Auditor’s in-

dependence, particularly with regard to provision of ad-
ditional services;

•	 notifying the Office of the Public Prosecutor of any contra-
ventions of the law constituting a public crime of which it 
may have become aware;

•	 Contracting for the provision of expert services in order to 
assist one or more of its members in the performance of 
their duties.

II.4. 
reference to the annual reports on the 
actIvItIes undertaken by the general and 
supervIsory board, the fInancIal board, the 
audIt board and the supervIsory board In-
cludIng the descrIptIon of the supervIsory 
actIvIty and IndIcatIng any restraInts found, 
and beIng subject to dIsclosure on the 
websIte of the coMpany, together wIth the 
fInancIal stateMents 

In its annual report on the Company’s commercial activities, 
the Audit Committee of the General and Supervisory Board de-
scribes its supervisory activitiy during the fiscal year and refers 
specifically to the constraints it may have faced or, being the 
case, to their absence. 

The annual report on the activities undertaken by the Audit 
Committee of the General and Supervisory Board is subject to 
disclosure on the company’s website together with the financial 
statements of the fiscal year concerned.

II.5. 
descrIptIon of the coMpany’s Internal con-
trol and rIsk ManageMent systeMs, partIcu-
larly wIth regard to fInancIal reportIng and 
the functIonIng and effectIveness thereof 

Given the fact that the Group’s commercial activities are opera-
tionally carried out by several affiliate companies of Inapa, it is 
the responsibility of the Company to ensure its economic and fi-
nancial control and the management of its risks.

For this purpose, the Company has put in place a functional 
structure as described in paragraph II.3 above and considers 
that such structure has proven adequate in achieving internal 
control and risk management objectives.

In its efforts to ensure effective internal control of Inapa’s busi-
ness and adequate management of the risks inherent in the con-
duct of its business, as described above, Inapa Group companies 
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submit monthly reports, compiled in accordance with preset 
procedures and parameters, containing information on their 
sales performance and variances in stocks, receivables, liabili-
ties and treasury related to the period in question.

This information is thoroughly examined by Inapa’s Management 
Control, Finance and Accounting departments.

It should be noted that Inapa Group’s software systems, which 
are under the control of an autonomous manager, reconcile 
and validate the data submitted by Group companies.

The activities of the aforementioned departments are, in turn, 
permanently controlled by the Executive Committee of the 
Board and are subject to regular scrutinity by the Board of 
Directors, the Audit Committee and the Chartered Accountant 
and Auditor in the performance of the duties attributed to them 
by the law or the Company’s Articles of Association.

It is also important to highlight that all management informa-
tion gathered is subject to regular scrutinity in conformance 
with applicable legal or regulatory provisions by the external 
auditors, whose full compliance to requirements is subject to 
monitoring by the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors 
within the scope of its own duties.

notwithstanding what was previously referred, the Executive 
Committee of the Board of Directors, supported by the internal 
audit, has a timely ongoing program for the revision/implemen-
tation of procedures and standard analysis and information re-
ports in terms of risk management, for a global implementa-
tion in all Group companies.

The aforementioned revision/implementation of the procedures 
and information report has been implemented, at first, at the 
level of the portuguese subsidiary – Inapa Portugal Distribuição 
de Papel, SA – and is now being implemented in all the other 
Group companies.

Finally, it should be noted that the financial information will 
only be disclosed by the Company after scrutinity by the servic-
es of the corporate center, the Executive Committee, the Audit 
Committee, the Board of Directors and, whenever required by 
law, by the Chartered Accountant and External Auditor.  

II.6. 
responsIbIlIty of the board of dIrectors and 
the supervIsory board In establIshIng and 
operatIng the coMpany’s Internal control 
and rIsk ManageMent systeMs, and also In 
assessIng saId systeM’s functIonIng and 
adaptatIon to the coMpany’s requIreMents 

It is the responsibility of the Audit Committee of the Board of 
Directors, on its own initiative or by suggestion of the Board of 
Directors, to settle the internal control and risks management 
systems of the Company and the Group, for approval by the 
Board of Directors.

The assessment of the conduct of the Company’s and the Group’s 
operations and adjustment to its needs are monitored on an on-
going basis by the Audit Committee and, within the scope of its 
own duties, by the External Auditor.

We restate, as has been said in the previous paragraph, that the 
aforementioned revision of the procedures and information re-
port, as far as risk management is concerned, will be validated 
in due time by an external autonomous entity. 

II.7. 
IndIcatIon of the exIstence of regulatIons 
on the functIonIng of the corporate 
boards or other Internally defIned rules 
on IncoMpatIbIlIty and the MaxIMuM nuMber 
of posItIons that a MeMber Is entItled to 
hold and the place where saId rules May be 
consulted 

The Company has approved, by a resolution of the Board of 
Directors dated May 17, 2010, the following regulations governing 
the operations of its statutory bodies:

•	 Board of Directors;
•	 Audit Committee;
•	 Executive Committee of the Board of Directors.

Rules concerning incompatibility are exclusively the ones arising 
from the law and are not specifically regulated by the Company. 
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Regulations on the functionning of the Board of Directors, the 
Audit Committee and the Executive Committee are made avail-
able to the shareholders and other interested parties in the 
Company’s corporate website – www.inapa.pt. 

sectIon II – board of 
dIrectors

II.8. 
In the event of the board of dIrectors’ 
chaIrMan carryIng out an executIve role, 
an IndIcatIon of the MechanIsMs coordInat-
Ing the tasks of non-executIve MeMbers In 
order to ensure Independence and notIfIca-
tIon of decIsIons 

The Chairman of Inapa’s Board of Directors does not serve in 
an executive role, and so there is no need to implement effec-
tive mechanisms to coordinate the initiatives of its non-executive 
members namely for purposes of ensuring that those members 
can act in an independent and informed capacity.

II.9. 
IdentIfIcatIon of the Major econoMIc, fInan-
cIal and legal rIsks to whIch the coMpany 
Is exposed In pursuIng Its busIness actIvIty 

Paper merchanting is the core business of the Inapa Group and, 
as such, the Group acts as a conduit between upstream paper 
producers and downstream intermediate paper consumers 
(namely companies and paper manufacturing industries, such 
as printers, advertisers, media companies, and newspaper and 
book publishers, inter alia), modern distributors (large-scale 
suppliers and specialized retail chains), and end consumers 
(companies in the office segment and individuals).

Therefore, Inapa is subject to the risks inherent to the economic 
sector where it operates and especially to fluctuations in the 
price of paper, short-term imbalances between the demand and 
supply, trends in paper consumption patterns, and the perfor-
mance of the economy in general.

In this context, the most relevant risks to which Inapa is exposed 
while conducting this business are associated with its capacity to 
pass changes in the purchase price of paper and in its operating 
costs on to customers via selling prices, particularly highlighting 
costs relative to logistics, warehousing and transport.

Moreover, the paper merchanting business is sensitive to chang-
es in the behavioral patterns of the demand for paper, mainly in 

segments such as advertising and media, and to changes in the 
structure of paper distribution.

Balance between supply and demand is a function of a number 
of factors, among which trends in installed production capacity 
and the level of overall economic activity are worth mentioning.

Inapa Group’s ability to pass paper price and/or oil price increas-
es on to its customers via the selling prices of its products or the 
fees it charges for the services it provides is not fully elastic, and 
straight margins on products sold and the net contribution of 
services rendered may be adversely impacted by such adverse 
trends, with the result that transport costs associated with its 
delivery services may increase and consequently adversely im-
pact on the Group’s performance, financial situation and earn-
ings.

Inapa has at its disposal some means of mitigating this risk, 
among which stands out its systems, which in the sales process, 
introduce various levels of authority according to the margin 
generated by the operation.

Developments in the productive capacity of various geographical 
markets, trends in the demand for paper in emerging economies 
such as China and India and its impact on suppliers to those 
markets, the impact of exchange rate fluctuation on the com-
petitiveness of the various markets, and a number of regulatory 
issues that affect the world paper trade are all factors which, 
either in combination or in isolation, may directly or indirectly 
impact the performance of the Company, its financial situation 
and its earnings performance.

Furthermore, the paper merchanting business has undergone 
structural changes in recent years, as a result of mergers among 
paper merchants, especially in Europe. Competitor moves may 
directly or indirectly impact the Company’s future strategic de-
cisions and, therefore, its positioning in each particular market 
and, consequently, affect economic and financial returns and as-
set allocation.

Given the fact that Inapa conducts its business in seven European 
countries, and, since 2009, in Angola as well, in conjunction with 
the fact that about 94% of its total turnover is sourced in foreign 
markets, the company is naturally exposed to risks arising as a 
result of the specific performance of the economies of the coun-
tries where it operates, notwithstanding the fact that the very 
nature of that exposure may equally constitute a risk-mitigating 
factor as a result of the low probability that exactly the same 
economic performance pattern will occur at once in every one 
of those markets.

Its currency risk exposure is limited but real on account of the 
fact that its aggregate turnover in currencies other than Euro 
(namely Swiss Franc, US Dollar and Angolan Kwanza) accounts 



194

04. CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
BOARd Of diRECTORS ANd SuPERViSORy BOARd

for approximately 7.2% of the Group’s total turnover.

As it is the case with any other company or group of companies, 
Inapa’s performance depends on its ability to retain its customer 
base.

In addition to serving quite a significant client base – of over 
70,000 customers – that are widely distributed from a geographi-
cal perspective and to offering a wide range of competitive, top-
quality products and appropriate service levels, Inapa has been 
developing a customer loyalty program aimed at its traditional 
clientele through a comprehensive offer of products and servic-
es that complement its core business with a view to increasingly 
assert itself as a global Paper Service Provider.

The impact on local economies of a downturn in the world econ-
omy may make it difficult for customers of the Inapa Group to 
meet their obligations towards the Group.

As a credit risk mitigation factor, Inapa contracted since 2011, 
a credit insurance policy to cover for credit risk of its operating 
subsidiaries with a major insurance company in Europe. This in-
surance covers the five major countries of the Group (Germany, 
France, Switzerland, Portugal and Spain), thus covering about 
90% of Group sales.

Regardless of the coverage contemplated above, Inapa also 
manages credit risk by acting as follows: each Group subsidiary 
has its credit committee composed by the CEO, CFO and head 
of sales and purchases; credit limits are defined and recorded 
in the computer system and inhibit new orders when the limit is 
fully utilized; limits of credit granting are subject to annual re-
view and/or whenever there is some relevant information arising 
from the recommendation of the internal and external monitor-
ing systems; approval of sales above the defined credit limits are 
subject to Board approval.

A slowdown in economic growth rates or a falling in consumer 
and producer confidence indexes may, in turn, lead to a slow-
down or fall in the paper demand, namely the demand for writ-
ing and printing paper, thereby adversely affecting its operations, 
sales, earnings, and the overall financial standing of the Inapa 
Group.

The Inapa Group’s ability to successfully implement the strategy 
it devised is a function of its ability to retain, and if necessary to 
hire, the most competent and adequately skilled staff to perform 
each duty.

Although the Inapa Group’s human resources policy strives to 
reach these objectives, it is not possible to guarantee that con-
straints may not arise in that regard.

Inapa awards supplemental retirement and subsistence pen-

sion benefits to the personnel of its subsidiaries Inapa France, 
logistipack, Inapa Switzerland and Papier Union, having duly 
accounted for the inherent expenses and costs associated 
with such benefits in accordance with the specifications of 
International Accounting Standard 19 (IAS 19).

The balance reported in the consolidated accounts under li-
abilities for pension benefits is based on preset assumptions 
on mortality rates, whereas the beneficiaries of the pension 
fund schemes in question may live longer than what such as-
sumptions accounted for and, as such, may draw benefits from 
the pension fund in excess of the provisions for such benefits. 
Therefore, liabilities for pension benefits may have an adverse 
impact on cash flows.

As regards the consolidation of accounts, Inapa has methods to 
mitigate internal and external risks.

Internally, the holding company has a team that sets the account-
ing policies to be used in the Group, validates all the movements 
of consolidation of each company and controls the processing 
of local accounts under IFRS. Additionally, all companies report 
their monthly accounts to the Group’s holding company (income 
statements and balance sheets), enabling to monitor regularly 
the progress of the accounts of each Group company. 

Externally, in order to mitigate the risks arising from the clas-
sification into different accounting categories, proper account-
ing and consolidation reports of each company and criteria, we 
chose to use a common auditor in the main geographical regions 
in which Inapa operates, in this case PricewaterhouseCoopers. 
The work done by the holding company is also subject to verifi-
cation by the same external auditor, ensuring the adequacy and 
transparency of the consolidated accounts.

In the future, Inapa may be a party in litigation arising from the 
conduct of its business, including legal proceedings which may 
have been ruled in favour of the Group, fully or partially, or sen-
tences that may be subject to recourse or petition for their an-
nulment by the counterparties in conformance with applicable 
legal procedure, until the time such sentences have been upheld 
in a court of final appeal.

At present, the main legal suit to which Inapa is a party concerns 
a petition under ordinary procedure filed by Papelaria Fernandes 
– Indústria e Comércio, SA, in August 01, 1997, which claim has 
been valued at 1 24,459,906.14, relative to events occurring from 
1991 to 1994.
In the aforementioned legal suit, and in essence, Papelaria 
Fernandes is petitioning to be declared null the contracts and 
transactions entered into during the above mentioned period 
by the Group and Papelaria Fernandes . notwithstanding the 
Group’s firm belief of its cause, Inapa cannot guarantee that 
the court case in question will be ruled in its favour or that any 
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other such legal suits relative to its operations will be ruled in 
its favour in the future. Unfavourable rulings on legal suits filed 
against it may have an adverse impact on the operations, finan-
cial situation and earnings performance of the Inapa Group.

Inapa Group’s operations require investments. It is Inapa’s in-
tention to partly fund those investments with cash resources 
generated from operations. However, should its operations fail 
to generate sufficient cash resources, Inapa may be required to 
partly fund the envisaged investments with funding raised from 
external sources, including bank finance and bond issues.

In addition, the Inapa Group is exposed to a number of other 
risks, namely liquidity risk, interest rate risk, market risk on the 
price of raw materials, operating risk, and other risks.

Interest expense on most of Inapa Group’s financial indebted-
ness bears interest at rates linked to variable market rates, on 
account of which Inapa is exposed to market risk on changes in 
interest rates.

Considering that Inapa does not hedge its exposure to adverse 
changes in market interest rates, such changes may, in turn, 
have an adverse impact on its performance, financial situation 
and earnings.

nevertheless, and in order to manage such risks, Inapa Group’s 
Finance Department strives to manage the impact of changing 
interest rates on the Group by monitoring market developments 
on an ongoing basis and by contracting the type of financial in-
struments employed to mitigate the impact of interest rate vola-
tility.

In a context of sector consolidation, Inapa may be the target of a 
public tender offer. Under such a scenario, significant changes 
to Inapa’s current strategy may occur with consequent reper-
cussions for its various businesses and the markets it serves.

Despite the fact that the Group has been implementing stringent 
risk management methodologies to manage every type of risk 
to which it is exposed, in the event of exceptionally adverse sce-
narios materializing, the policies and procedures employed by 
Inapa to identify, monitor, manage, and mitigate such risks may 
prove not to be fully effective.

The Company believes that it is sufficiently equipped to effec-
tively control the risks arising from the business conducted by 
the Company and the companies it controls, and deems that the 
actions being conducted by the Heads of its Management Control 
and Finance Departments, who have been specifically charged 
to manage these risks, particularly Inapa Group’s liquidity risk, 
are effective.

Inapa manages the Group’s liquidity risk by following a twofold 

approach: striving to structure the Group’s financial indebted-
ness to feature a large percentage of medium and long-term 
debt of a maturity that adequately matches its ability to gener-
ate cash resources; and resorting to credit facilities it may draw 
on at any time (credit facilities on current accounts); treasury 
management is done locally in each Group company supervised 
by the Holding Company, the cash flow forecast is regularly up-
dated and monitored to avoid potential deviations.

In the course of conducting Inapa’s normal business, and due to 
its organizational structure, the Group is subject to certain op-
erational risks, including possible interruptions in the services it 
renders or delays in providing such services, omissions, errors.

Those risks are monitored by the Company on an ongoing basis 
by means of the administrative and information systems it im-
plemented for that purpose, having also arranged for insurance 
policies to cover certain operational risks.

Inapa Group operations are also dependent on IT processing. IT 
processing involves the storing and processing of financial re-
porting records, monitoring and control records from its logis-
tics, warehousing and delivery services, and internal accounting 
records.

notwithstanding the ongoing assessment of the IT systems con-
dition and the fact that their capacity has proven to be reliable, 
it is not possible to absolutely guarantee a full identification and 
timely redressing of every single issue concerning information 
technology systems or the unqualified success of every single 
implementation of a technological enhancement to such sys-
tems.

In this scenario, there could be significant changes in the current 
strategy of Inapa with implications for the several businesses 
and markets where it operates.

Inapa Group may be adversely affected by amendments to ruling 
legislation and to other tax legislation applicable in Portugal, the 
European Union, and the particular countries where it operates.

Inapa Group units are subject to risks that are inherent to the 
conduct of any economic activity, such as accidents, faults, or 
natural catastrophes that may cause damages to the Group’s 
assets or a temporary interruption of its trading activities.

II.10.
powers of the board of dIrectors, partIcu-
larly regardIng resolutIons concernIng 
capItal Increase 

In accordance with the provisions of Article 20 of the Articles of 
Association, the Board of Directors shall be entitled to exercise, 
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in general, full powers in managing the affairs of the Company 
and shall represent it in court and out of court, either as plain-
tiff or as defendant, as well as conduct all necessary acts in the 
pursuit of the business purposes of the Company, namely the 
following:

•	 Setting up, maintaining, relocating or closing down any of 
the Company’s premises, plants, laboratories;

•	 Setting up, maintaining, relocating or closing down any of 
the Company’s offices, branches, agencies or any other 
type of Company premises;

•	 Purchasing, selling and pledging in any manner Company 
shares and securities held on its own account or any other 
Company securities of an identical or similar nature;

•	 Purchasing, selling and pledging in any manner shares, 
rights, or any other type of shareholdings of an identical 
or similar nature held on other companies, together with 
public debt securities;

•	 Purchasing and selling any assets other than fixed assets 
held by the Company or pledging such assets in any man-
ner;

•	 Acquiring fixed assets, as well as selling or pledging them 
under any acts or contracts, even if for purposes of provid-
ing tangible security against credit facilities provided that 
a recommendation for approval thereof has been obtained 
from the Audit Committee in any of those instances;

•	 Admitting guilt, withdrawing or setting out of court on any 
legal proceedings, as well as committing to abide by the 
findings of arbitrage proceedings;

•	 Appointing duly mandated representatives in accordance 
with applicable legislation.

By deliberation of the General Meeting of April 6 2011, the Board 
of Directors is entitled to resolve on a share capital increase up 
to a maximum of 1 225 000 000.00, having changed number 1 
article 7 of the company’ bylaws, which now states that “The 
Board of Directors may increase the share capital one or more 
times, by means of cash payments, up to a maximum of 1 225 
000 000.00 (two hundred and twenty five million Euros), through 
preferred shares with no voting right and a priority dividend of 
5% of subscription value, with a subscription reserve to current 
shareholders.”

Under this staturial authorization, the share capital of the compa-
ny has been increased from 1 150 000 000.00 to 1 204 176 479.38.

The Board of Directors is entitled to resolve up to the maximum 

legal term – 5 years from the authorization – on a share capital 
increase up to 1 20 823 520.62, through the emission of preferred 
shares with no voting right and a priority dividend of 5% of sub-
scription value, with a subscription reserve to current share-
holders and realized by means of cash payments.
 

II.11. 
the InforMatIon on the rotatIon polIcy of 
the board of dIrectors’ functIons, naMely 
as to the fInancIal responsIbIlIty dIvIsIon 
and the rules applIcable to the appoInt-
Ment and replaceMent of MeMbers of the 
board of dIrectors and of the supervIsory 
board 

Without prejudice of what is stated in the paragraphs that fol-
low, the Board of Directors is constituted by five to twelve mem-
bers, to be appointed by the shareholders attending the General 
Meeting responsible for the appointment. Among the appoin-
tees, the shareholders will designated the Chairman.

In conformity with the provisions of paragraphs 2 and 3 of Article 
18 of its Bylaws, “The shareholders who vote against a motion to 
elect the Directors have the right to appoint one Director, as long 
as this minority represents at least 10% of the share capital; In 
order to enact the provision in the item above, the election will 
take place by a vote of the aforementioned minority at the same 
meeting, and the Director thus elected will automatically substi-
tute the least voted person on the winning list, or, in case of a tie, 
the person in last place on that same list”.
 
In conformity with the provisions of paragraph 7 of Article 18 
of its Bylaws, “If the Board of Directors is composed of fewer 
members than the maximum set forth in item 1 of this article 
and it deems it necessary for the management of the company 
business to increase the number of Directors, it may appoint 
two new members prior to the next scheduled annual General 
Meeting…; The first annual General Meeting to be held after 
such appointment will either confirm or reject the advice of the 
Board of Directors with regard to the number of Directors. If the 
instruction is confirmed, the appointment of the new members 
will be ratified.”

In conformity with the provisions of paragraph 9 of Article 18 of 
its Bylaws, “The Board of Directors will elect replacements for 
any members deemed definitively absent, dismissed under the 
terms of the law, or who resign their post. Any replacements 
thus made will remain in force until the end of the term to which 
the members of the Board of Directors who made the selection 
were elected, unless the selection is not ratified by the first sub-
sequent General Meeting…” 

The Company has not implemented in its Bylaws or internal 
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regulations a policy for the rotation of the members in charge, 
namely the member of the Board of Directors in charge of 
Finance and Administration. 

However, it is important to note in this respect that the mem-
ber of the Board of Directors presently in charge of Finance and 
Administration has only been appointed on May 31, 2010, and that 
as far as the other members of the Executive Committee are 
concerned, the ones that have the longest permanence in their 
duties are only serving their second term of office as Directors 
of the Company. 

II.12. 
the nuMber of MeetIngs held by the board 
of dIrectors and the supervIsoryboard as 
well as reference to the MInutes of saId 
MeetIngs 

During the course of 2011, the Board of Directors held 7 (seven) 
meetings.

Also during the course of 2011 the Audit Committee held 11 (elev-
en) meetings.

Minutes of all those meetings of the two Boards were drawn up 
and are duly written in a special book organized to the effect. 

II.13.  
the nuMber of MeetIngs held by the exec-
utIve coMMIttee or by the executIve board 
of dIrectors, as well as reference to the 
drawIng up of the MInutes of those Meet-
Ings and whenever applIcable, the subMIs-

sIon of saMe wIth the convenIng notIces to 
the chaIr of the board of dIrectors, the 
chaIr of the supervIsory board or of the 
audIt coMMIttee, the chaIr of the general 
and supervIsory board and to the chaIr of 
the fInancIal Matters coMMIttee 

During the course of 2011, the Executive Committee of the Board 
of Directors held 19 (nineteen) formal meetings and minutes 
were drawn up of those meetings.

A copy of these minutes has been sent by the Chairman of the 
Executive Committee to the Chairmans of the Board of Directors 
and of the Audit Committee.

II.14. 
dIstInctIon between executIve and non-ex-
ecutIve MeMbers and aMong these, dIffer-
entIatIng those MeMbers that would coM-
ply If the IncoMpatIbIlIty rules were to be 
applIed (artIcle 414-a/1 of the coMMercIal 
coMpanIes code, except for IteM /b and the 
Independency crIterIa provIded for In artI-
cle 414/5, both of the coMMercIal coMpa-
nIes code). 

II.14.1. 
exeCutive memBers of the Board of direCtors 

José Manuel Félix Morgado ………..……………...Chairman (CEO)
Arndt Jost Michael Klippgen ……...….Purchase and Marketing
António José Gomes da Silva Albuquerque …..….Finance (CFO)
Jorge Manuel Viana de Azevedo Pinto Bravo … Operations (COO)
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II.14.2.
non- exeCutive memBers of the Board of direCtors and inCompatiBility rules set By paraGraph 1 of 
artiCle 414-a of the Companies aCt and independenCe Criteria set out in paraGraph 5 of artiCle 414-a 
of the Companies aCt

NAME     FuNCTION  INCOMPATIBILITIES        INDEPENDENCE 

Álvaro João Duarte Pinto Correia  Chairman  no   Yes
Emídio de Jesus Maria    Director  no   Yes
Acácio Jaime liberado Mota Piloto  Director  no   no
Eduardo Gonzalo Fernandez Espinar  Director  no   Yes

BOARd Of diRECTORS ANd SuPERViSORy BOARd

II.15. 
a descrIptIon of the legal and regulato-
ry rules and other crIterIa that have been 
used as a basIs for assessIng the Independ-
ency of Its MeMbers carrIed out by the 
board of dIrectors 

The incompatibility and independence criteria that served as a 
basis to the evaluation of the function of the Directors were the 
provisions set out in the Companies Act – Articles 414 and 414-A.  

II.16.
a descrIptIon of the selectIon rules for 
candIdates for non-executIve MeMber 
posItIons and the way In whIch executIve 
MeMbers refraIn froM InterferIng In the 
selectIon process 

The Company has not established formal rules for the selection 
of candidates to the position of non-executive Directors.

II.17. 
reference to the fact that the coMpany’s 
annual ManageMent report Includes a 
descrIptIon on the actIvIty carrIed out 
by non-executIve MeMbers and possIble 
obstacles that May be detected 

In the Company’s annual management report, Chapter 1, a short 
summary of the activities developed by non-executive Directors 
is written, referring eventual constraints arising from the exer-
cise of their duties. 

II.18. 
the professIonal qualIfIcatIons of the 
MeMbers of the board of dIrectors, the 
professIonal actIvItIes carrIed out by saMe 

durIng the last fIve years at least, the 
nuMber of coMpany shares they hold, the 
date of the fIrst appoIntMent and the date 
of the end of Mandate 

II.18.1. 
QualifiCations of the memBers of the Board of 
direCtors and professional aCtivities Carried out 
By same durinG the last five years at least 

ii.18.1.1. Álvaro João duarte pinto Correia 

II.18.1.1.1. Academic qualifications

•	 Degree in Engineering by Instituto Superior Técnico 
•	 Associate Professor in Instituto Superior Técnico
•	 Professor in Academia Militar (Military Academy)

II.18.1.1.2. Professional qualifications 

•	 Chairman of the Board of Directors of Tagusgás – 
Empresa de Gás do Vale do Tejo, SA (from 06.02.1997 to 
30.05.2008)

•	 Director of SHCB – Sociedade Hidroeléctrica de Cabora 
Bassa (from 27.11.2007 to 12.04.2010)

•	 Chairman of the Board of Directors of Sofid – Sociedade 
para o Financiamento do Desenvolvimento – Instituição 
Financeira de Crédito, SA (from 04.04.2008 to 12.05.2010)

•	 Chairman of the Supervisory Committee of Instituto de 
Seguros de Portugal (Portuguese Insurance Institute) 
(since 19.12.2004) 

•	 Chairman of the Board of Directors of Fundação Cidade 
de lisboa (since 01.07.2000)

•	 Chairman of the General Board of nersant – Associação 
Empresarial da Região de Santarém (since 17.07.2000)

•	 Coordinator of the Business Committee of Angola’s Debt 
negotiation (since 07.02.2003)

•	 Coordinator of the Project Team for the follow-up of the 
study and implementation of the new lisbon Airport, 
and coordination with the privatization of AnA,SA (since 
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12.12.2006)
•	 Chairman of the Remuneration Committee of PT – 

Portugal Telecom, SGPS, SA (since 22.06.2007)

ii.18.1.2. José manuel félix morGado

II.18.1.2.1. Academic qualifications

•	 Degree in Business Economics and Adminstration by 
Universidade Católica Portuguesa

•	 Specialization in Asset and liabilities Management with 
InSEAD

II.18.1.2.2. Professional qualifications

•	 Manager of Poresin – Investimentos Mobiliários e 
Imobiliários, lda 

•	 Managing Director of OnI – SGPS, SA (from 2005 to2006)
•	 Vice-President of the Board of Directors and Chairman 

of the Executive Committee of Inapa– Investimentos, 
Participações e Gestão, SA (since15.02.2007)

•	 Director and Chairman of the Audit Committee of Gestmin 
– SGPS (since 2010)

•	 Director of REn, SGPS, S.A. (since 15.09.2011)
•	 Chairman of the Board of Directors/Management of the 

subsidiary companies of Inapa Group:
- Gestinapa – Sociedade Gestora de Participações 
Sociais, SA
- Inapa Portugal Distribuição de Papel, SA
- Inapa Deutschland, GmbH
- Inapa France, SAS
- Inapa España Distribución de Papel, SA
- Inapa Suisse, SA
- Inapa Belgium, SA
- Inapa luxembourg, SA
- logistipack, SAS
- Inapa Merchants Holding, ltd

ii.18.1.3. emídio de Jesus maria

II.18.1.3.1. Academic qualifications

•	 Degree in Business Economics and Administration by 
Instituto Superior de Economia de lisboa

•	 Chartered Accountant  (registered in the respective 
Association Chartered Accountant) and Auditor (regis-
tered in the respective Association, having voluntarily 
suspended such duties for the time being)

II.18.1.3.2. Professional qualifications

•	 Member of the Supervisory Board of Santander Totta 
Seguros – Companhia de Seguros de Vida, SA (since 2009)

•	 Chartered Accountant and Auditor and independent 

Consultant (from 1990 to 2008)
•	 Chairman of the Monitoring Committee of the Work 

Accidents Fund (from 2001 to 2006)
•	 Member and Chairman of the Audit Committee of the EIB 

– European Investment Bank – luxemburg (from 1996 to 
2003)

•	 Inspector of Finance in IGF – technical career and man-
ager until Assistant Inspector-General (from 1980 to 2003)

ii.18.1.4. arndt Jost miChael KlippGen

II.18.1.4.1. Academic qualifications

•	 Diplom-Kaufmann academic degree from the University 
of Hamburg

II.18.1.4.2. Professional qualifications

•	 General Manager of the following subsidiary companies 
of Inapa Group:
- Papier Union, GmbH
- Inapa Deutschland, GmbH
- PMF – Print Media Factoring, GmbH
- Inapa Packaging, GmbH
- Inapa VisCom, GmbH

 
ii.18.1.5. antónio José Gomes da silva alBuQuerQue

II.18.1.5.1. Academic qualifications

•	 Degree in Finance Administration from Instituto Superior 
de Ciências Económicas e Financeiras (current ISEG)

II.18.1.5.2. Professional qualifications

•	 Director of Parpública – Participações Públicas, SGPS, SA 
(from 2004 to  2010)

•	 Director and President of Sagesecur, SGPS, SA (from 
2004 to 2010)

•	 Director of Capitalpor, SGPS, SA (from 2008 to 2010)

ii.18.1.6. JorGe manuel viana de azevedo pinto 
Bravo

II.18.1.6.1. Academic qualifications

•	 Bachelor’s Degree in Engineering from Instituto Superior 
de Engenharia de lisboa

•	 Post-graduation in Management and Marketing with 
Stockley Park Management Center
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II.18.1.6.2. Professional qualifications

•	 Vice-Chairman of the Board of Directors of Reditus Gestão, 
SA (from 2009 to 2010)

•	 Director of the Grupo Tecnidata (from October 2007 to 2010)
•	 Managing Director of Financial Services Iberia of logica 

(ex-Edinfor) (from January 2006 to July 2007)
•	 General Manager of the following subsidiary companies of 

Inapa Group:
- Inapa Portugal Distribuição de Papel, SA
- Inapa España Distribución de Papel, SA
- Inapa Suisse, SA

ii.18.1.7. aCÁCio Jaime liBerado mota piloto

II.18.1.7.1. Academic qualifications

•	 Degree in law from Faculdade de Direito de lisboa
•	 Scholarship from Foundation Hans Seidel, Muniche
•	 Post-graduation in Community law with University 

ludwig Maximilian, Munich
•	 Post-graduation in Competition Community law with  

Max Planck Institut, Munich
•	 Intern in European Patent Institut, Munich
•	 Insead – Executive Programme

II.18.1.7.2. Professional qualifications

•	 Director of Bank Millennium BCP Investimento, SA (from 
2000 to 2009)

•	 General Manager of Bank Millennium BCP, SA (since 2000)
•	 Director of Elos – ligações de Alta Velocidade, SA
•	 Director of TIIC – Transport Infrastructure Investment 

Company
•	 Member of the General Board of Asterion, ACE
•	 Director of  Millennium BCP Gestão de Activos, SGFI, SA
•	 President of the Board of Directors of Millennium SICAV, 

luxembourg

ii.18.1.8. eduardo Gonzalo fernandez espinar

II.18.1.8.1. Academic qualifications

•	 B.S. in Business Administration from Universidade 
Católica de Santiago do Chile

•	 MBA with Wharton School of Pensylvannia University 

II.18.1.8.2. Professional qualifications

•	 Director of Emergence Capital Partner, SA (Madrid) (since 
January 2006)

•	 Director of Akoleo, SA (Geneva) (since January 2006)
•	 Director of Patris Capital, SA (since January 2006)
•	 Director of Ongoing TMT, SA ( since February 2011)
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II.18.2. 
numBer of Company shares they hold, the date of the first appointment and the date of the end of 
mandate 

NuMBER OF  
ORDINARy ShARES

0
563 631

0
0
0
0
0

200 000

DESIGNATION
DATE

11.05.2010
15.02.2007
09.04.2008
31.05.2007
11.05.2010
11.05.2010
11.05.2010
11.05.2010

NuMBER OF  
PREFERRED ShARES

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

TERMINATION OF
TERM SERVICE

31.12.2012
31.12.2012
31.12.2012
31.12.2012
31.12.2012
31.12.2012
31.12.2012
31.12.2012

   
Álvaro João Duarte Pinto Correia  
José Manuel Félix Morgado  
Emídio de Jesus Maria  
Arndt Jost Michael Klippgen  
António José Gomes da Silva Albuquerque
Jorge Manuel Viana de Azevedo Pinto Bravo
Acácio Jaime liberado Mota Piloto
Eduardo Gonzalo Fernandez Espinar

II.19.
dutIes that the MeMbers of the board of 
dIrectors carry out In other coMpanIes and 
a descrIptIon of dutIes carrIed out In oth-
er coMpanIes of the saMe holdIng 

II.19.1. 
Álvaro João duarte pinto Correia 

II.19.1.1. Activities in other companies outside Inapa Group
 

•	 Chairman of the Board of Directors of Sofid – Sociedade 
para o Financiamento do Desenvolvimento – Instituição 
Financeira de Crédito, SA 

II.19.1.2. Activities in other companies of Inapa Group 
_________

II.19.2. 
José manuel félix morGado

II.19.2.1. Activities in other companies outside Inapa Group
 

•	 Manager of Poresin – Investimentos Mobiliários e 
Imobiliários, SA 

•	 Director and Chairman of the Audit Committee of 
Gestmin – SGPS

•	 Director of REn, SGPS, SA

II.19.2.2. Activities in other companies of Inapa Group

•	 Chairman of the Board of Directors of Gestinapa – 
Sociedade Gestora de Participações Sociais, SA

•	 Chairman of the Board of Directors of Inapa Portugal 

Distribuição de Papel, SA
•	 Chairman of the Management Board of Inapa 

Deutschland, GmbH
•	 Chairman of Inapa France, SAS
•	 Chairman of the Board of Directors of Inapa España 

Distribución de Papel, SA
•	 Chairman of the Board of Directors of Inapa Suisse, SA
•	 Chairman of the Board of Directors of Inapa Belgium, SA
•	 Chairman of the Board of Directors of Inapa luxembourg, 

SA
•	 Chairman of the Board of Directors of logistipack, SA

II.19.3. 
emídio de Jesus maria

II.19.3.1. Activities in other companies outside Inapa Group
  

•	 Member of the Supervisory Board of Santander Totta 
Seguros – Companhia de Seguros de Vida, SA (since 
2009)

II.19.1.3.2. Activities in other companies of Inapa Group
________

II.19.4. 
arndt Jost miChael KlippGen

II.19.4.1. Activities in other companies outside Inapa Group
___________

II.19.4.2. Activities in other companies of Inapa Group

•	 Manager of Papier Union, GmbH
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•	 Manager of Inapa Deutschland, GmbH
•	 Manager of PMF – Print Media Factoring, GmbH
•	 Manager of Inapa Packaging, GmbH
•	 Manager of Inapa VisCom, GmbH

II.19.5. 
antónio José Gomes da silva alBuQuerQue

II.19.5.1. Activities in other companies outside Inapa Group
_________

II.19.5.2. Activities in other companies of Inapa Group
_________

II.19.6. 
JorGe manuel viana de azevedo pinto Bravo

II.19.6.1. Activities in other companies outside Inapa Group
_________

II.19.5.2. Activities in other companies of Inapa Group

•	 Director of Inapa Portugal Distribuição de Papel, SA
•	 Director of Inapa España Distribución de Papel, SA
•	 Director of Inapa Suisse, SA

II.19.7. 
aCÁCio Jaime liBerado mota piloto

II.19.7.1. Activities in other companies outside Inapa Group
 

•	 General Manager of Bank Millennium BCP, SA 
•	 Director of Millennium BCP Gestão de Activos, SGFI, SA
•	 Director of Elos – ligações de Alta Velocidade, SA
•	 Director of TIIC – Transport Infrastructure Investment 

Company
•	 Member of the General Board of Asterion, ACE
•	 President of the Board of Directors of Millennium SICAV, 

luxembourg

II.19.5.2. Activities in other companies of Inapa Group
_________

II.19.8. 
eduardo Gonzalo fernandez espinar

II.19.7.1. Activities in other companies outside Inapa Group
 

•	 Director of Emergence Capital Partner, SA (Madrid)
•	 Director of Akoleo, SA (Geneva)

•	 Director of Patris Capital, SA 
•	 Director of Ongoing TMT, SA

II.19.5.2. Activities in other companies of Inapa Group
_________

sectIon III – general 
and supervIsory board, 
fInancIal Matters 
coMMIttee and 
supervIsory board 

II.21. to II. 29. 

not applicable 

The Company adopted the governance model set out in the 
provisions of sub-paragraph b) of paragraph 1 of Article 278 of 
the Companies Act as its statutory administration and super-
visory structure, comprising a Board of Directors, and Audit 
Committee and a Chartered Accountant and Auditor.
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sectIon Iv – reMuneratIon

II.30. 
descrIptIon of the reMuneratIon polIcy of 
the board of dIrectors and the supervIsory 
board, as provIded for In artIcle 2 of law 
28/2009 of 19 june 

The remuneration policy has been the object of a separate as-
sessment by the General Meeting of April 6,2011.

In such Meeting, the following description on remuneration 
policy has been approved by a majority of 96.37% of votes:

1. The remuneration of the members of the Board of 
Directors comprises exclusively a fixed sum, except in 
the case of the members of the Executive Committee that 
shall also have a variable component. 

2. The Remunerations Committee stipulates the amount 
of the fixed sum in the remuneration of the Governing 
Bodies has to be included in the Governance Report. 

3. The remuneration of the members of the Governing 
Bodies is determined based on general criteria: align-
ments of the remuneration with the interests of the 
Company’ Stakeholders, evaluation of the performance 
and financial conditions of the Group and justice and 
equilibrium on the evaluation and application. 

4. The statutory account auditor will be remunerated in the 
terms and conditions that will be agreed between him 
and Inapa, in accordance with the market pratices and 
legal and recommendational framework.

5. For 2011 it was established to maintain the fixed remu-
neration of the Governing Bodies, notwithstanding the 
provisions on mandatory legal standards may state the 
reverse. 

6. The setting of a variable component of the remuneration 
of the members of the Executive Committee should be 
based on the evaluation of their performance, following 
the criteria that consider the financial results improve-
ment in line with the setted strategy and goals, the value 
creation for the shareholders and the Group image on 
the market and its intervenients. 

7. In case there is a variable component of the remunera-
tion, it will be compose by two components;

a) An annual component, based  on the annual goals 
achievement;

b) A pluri-annual component, based on mandate goals 
achievement (or on the years ok work, in case of an in-
complete mandate).

8. Exceptional restrictions to the variable component of the 
remuneration: 

Taking into account the prohibition of a variable com-
ponent on the remuneration based on performance, as 
stated in the Order 5696-A/2010 and in article 29 of law 
55-A/2010, it is not foreseen the attribution of any vari-
able remuneration or management premiums regarding 
the years of 2010 and 2011.
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II.31. 
IndIcatIon on the aMount concernIng the annual reMuneratIon paId IndIvIdually to MeMbers 
of the board of dIrectors and of the supervIsory board of the coMpany, IncludIng fIxed 
and varIable reMuneratIon and as to the latter, MentIonIng the dIfferent coMponents 
that gave rIse to saMe, the parts that have been deferred and paId 

FIxED 
REMuNERATION 

PAID IN 2011

84 000.00
399 000.00

35 000.00
259 000.00
259 000.00

70 500.00
16 500.00
16 500.00

NAME        INAPA - IPG         SuBSIDIARIES

FIxED 
REMuNERATION 

PAID IN 2011

–
–

1 260 000.00
–
–
–
–
–

VARIABLE 
REMuNERATION 

IN 2011

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

VARIABLE 
REMuNERATION 

IN 2011

–
–

1 192 000.00(*)
–
–
–
–
–

   
Álvaro João Duarte Pinto Correia 
José Manuel Félix Morgado
Arndt Jost Michael Klippgen
António José Gomes da Silva Albuquerque 
Jorge Manuel Viana de Azevedo Pinto Bravo 
Emídio de Jesus Maria
Acácio Jaime liberado Mota Piloto
Eduardo Gonzalo Fernandez Espinar

 (*) see II.33.12.

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

II.32. 
InforMatIon on the way the reMuneratIon 
Is structured so as to allow alIgnIng the 
Interests of the MeMbers of the board of 
dIrectors wIth the long-terM Interests of 
the coMpany as well as how It Is based on 
the perforMance assessMent and how It 
dIscourages excessIve rIsk assuMptIon 

1. The remuneration of the members of the Board of 
Directors, as it was approved in the General Meeting, 
is determined based on three general criteria: (i) align-
ments of the remuneration with the interests of the 
Company’s Stakeholders, (ii) evaluation of the perfor-
mance and financial conditions of the Group and (iii) jus-
tice and equilibrium on the evaluation and application. 

2. The remuneration of the members of the Board of 
Directors comprises exclusively a fixed sum, except in 
the case of the members of the Executive Committee 
that shall also have a variable component. 

3. The Remunerations Committee stipulates the amount 
of the fixed sum in the remuneration of the Governing 
Bodies, that has to be included in the Governance Report. 

4. The setting of a variable component of the remuneration 
of the members of the Executive Committee should be 

based on the evaluation of their performance, following 
the criteria that considers the financial results improve-
ment in line with the setted strategy and goals, the value 
creation for the shareholders and the Group image on 
the market and its intervenients. 

5. In case there is a variable component of the remunera-
tion, it will be composed by two components:

a. An annual component, based on the annual goals 
achievement;

b. A pluri-annual component, based on mandate goals 
achievement (or on the years that have been working, in 
case of an imcomplete mandate).

 
6. For 2011 it was established that there will be no variable 

component on the remuneration, maintaining the fixed 
remuneration of 2010. 

II.33. 
as regards the reMuneratIon of the exec-
utIve MeMbers:

II.33.1. 
referenCe to the faCt that the exeCutive mem-
Bers’ remuneration inCludes a variaBle Compo-
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II.33.6. 
an aCCount of the way whereBy the payment of 
the variaBle remuneration is suBJeCt to the 
Company’s Continual positive performanCe durinG 
the deferral period;

Having the General Meeting approved, for the years of 2010 and 
2011, the principle of non-distribution of variable component of 
remunerations to Directors with executive duties, it is no longer 
a subject the fact that it should be dependent on the company’s 
long-term positive performance.

II.33.7. 
suffiCient information on the Criteria where-
on the alloCation of variaBle remuneration on 
shares is Based, as well as on maintaininG Company 
shares that the exeCutive memBers have had aC-
Cess to, on the possiBle share ContraCts, namely 
hedGinG ContraCts or risK transfer, the rele-
vant limit and its relation apropos the value of 
the total annual remuneration;

notwithstanding what is referred in relation to the financial 
years of 2010 and 2011, it should be noted that the remuneration 
policy of executive members does not foresee the allocation of 
shares.

II.33.8. 
suffiCient information on the Criteria whereon 
the alloCation of variaBle remuneration on op-
tions is Based as well as its deferral period and 
exerCisinG priCe;

notwithstanding what is referred in relation to the financial 
years of 2010 and 2011, it should be noted that the remunera-
tion policy of executive members does not foresee the option 
to buy shares.

II.33.9.1. 
the main faCtors and reasons for any annual Bo-
nus sCheme and any other non-finanCial Benefits  

notwithstanding what is referred in relation to the financial 
years of 2010 and 2011, the parameters and basis of the bonus 
payments made to executive members are the ones mentioned 
in II.32..

II.33.9.2. 
remuneration paid in the form of a share in the 
profits and/or the payment of Bonuses and the 
rationale Behind the aCt of awardinG suCh Bo-
nuses and/or share in profits 

The remuneration policy approved in General Meeting does not 

nent and information on the way said Component 
relies of the assessment performanCe;

The remuneration of Directors with executive duties shall com-
prise a variable component dependent on regular assessments 
of their performance to be determined under previously stated 
terms.

notwithstanding what has been previously mentioned, the 
General Meeting has approved that, at exceptional level, in the 
years of 2010 and 2011 no variable component of remuneration 
shall be distributed to executive Members.

II.33.2. 
the Corporate Bodies responsiBle for assessinG 
the performanCe of exeCutive memBers;

The performance assessment of the executive Members for 
purposes of remuneration is the responsibility of:

•	 The Remunerations Committee;
•	 The General Meeting.

II.33.3. 
the pre-estaBlished Criteria for assessinG the 
performanCe of exeCutive memBers;

There are no pre-established criteria for assessing the perfor-
mance of executive Members besides the principles mentioned 
in II.32..

II.33.4. 
the relative importanCe of the variaBle and fixed 
Components of the memBers’ remuneration, as 
well as the maximum limits for eaCh Component;

notwithstanding what regards to the financial years of 2010 and 
2011, in which the General Meeting established the principle 
of non-distribution of a variable component of remuneration, 
maximum limits for this component have not been established. 

II.33.5. 
the deferred payment of the remuneration’s 
variaBle Component and the relevant deferral 
period 

notwithstanding what is referred in relation to the financial 
years of 2010 and 2011, when there is a variable component of 
the remuneration, it will have two components:

a. An annual component, based on the annual goals 
achievement;
b. A pluri-annual component, based on mandate goals 
achievement (or on the years that have been working, in 
case of an imcomplete mandate).
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include any share in profits.

II.33.10. 
Compensation paid or owed to former exeCutive 
direCtors in relation to early ContraCt termina-
tion 

During the course of the financial year under analysis, no com-
pensation was paid or is due to former Executive Directors.

II.33.11.
referenCe to the envisaGed ContraCtual re-
straints for Compensation owed for undue dis-
missal of exeCutive direCtors and its relation 
apropos the remunerations’ variaBle Component  

There are no contractual restraints for compensations owed 
for undue dismissal of executive Directors.

II.33.12. 
amounts paid on any Basis By other Companies in a 
Group relationship or exerCisinG Control over 
the Company  

The amounts paid to Directors by other companies in a group 
relationship or controlled by the group are the ones referred to 
in II.31. and arise from the agreement settled with the benefi-
ciary in question to assume duties as CEO quite before his ap-
pointment for the Board of Directors of Inapa – Investimentos, 
Participações e Gestão, SA.  

II.33.13. 
a desCription of the main CharaCteristiCs of 
the supplementary pensions or early retirement 
sChemes set up for exeCutive direCtors and 
whether said sChemes were suBJeCt or not to 
the approval of the General meetinG  

At present, the Company does not provide complementary re-
tirement benefit plans for members of the management and 
supervisory boards and senior management.

II.33.14. 
an estimate of the non-finanCial Benefits Consid-
ered as remuneration whiCh do not fall under 
the CateGories listed aBove  

The Directors do not receive non-financial benefits that may be 
deemed to constitute remuneration which do not fall under the 
categories listed above.

II.33.15. 
meChanisms for prevent exeCutive direCtors 
from havinG employment ContraCts that Ques-

tions the Grounds of the variaBle remuneration  

If, on one hand, there are no specific mechanisms to prevent 
executive Directors from questioning the variable component 
of their remuneration, on the other hand there is no contract 
or other form of agreement signed by them that can produce 
the same effect asa remuneration through share or options at-
tributed.

II.34. 
reference to the fact that reMuneratIon 
of non-executIve MeMbers of the board of 
dIrectors Is not Included In the varIable 
coMponent  

The remuneration of non-executive members of the Board of 
Directors does not include a variable component.

II.35. 
InforMatIon on the reportIng of Irregu-
larItIes adopted by the coMpany (report-
Ing Means, persons entItled to receIve 
saId reports, how the reports are to be 
handled and the naMes of the persons or 
bodIes that have access to the InforMatIon 
and the relevant InvolveMent In the pro-
cedure)  

The Board of Directors has adopted internal regulations for 
disclosure of irregular practices, containing the following fea-
tures:

1. The employees of Inapa Group (management and staff 
of the parent company, Directors, and management and 
staff of its affiliate companies) are bound to report any ir-
regular practices of which they may have become aware 
being perpetrated in Inapa Group companies to the fol-
lowing officials:

a) To the Chairman of the Executive Committee 
of the Board of Directors of Inapa – Investimentos, 
Participações e Gestão, SA should such irregular prac-
tices involve the management and staff of the parent 
company, Directors and the management and staff of its 
affiliate companies;

b) To the Chairman of the Audit Committee of the Board 
of Directors should such irregular practices involve 
the Directors of Inapa – Investimentos, Participações e 
Gestão, SA or of its supervisory board and/or its staff;

c) To the Chairman of the Board of Directors should 
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such irregular practices involve a member of the Audit 
Committee of the Board of Directors of the Company.

2. In the situations referred in sub-paragraph a) of para-
graph 1 above, the Chairman of the Executive Committee 
shall submit such allegations, with the urgency deemed 
necessary, to the Chairman of the Audit Committee of 
the Board of Directors.

3. Such allegations shall be submitted in writing, and their 
author shall be entitled to demand from the recipient a 
written statement to the effect that the information in 
question shall be treated in the strictest confidence.

4. The reporting official shall be assured that, barring al-
legations of a calumnious nature, any information pro-
vided within the scope of these regulations shall neither 
be raised as grounds for instituting proceedings against 
him or her nor for any unfavourable treatment towards 
him or her.

sectIon v – specIal 
coMMIttees

II.36.
IdentIfIcatIon of MeMbers of those coM-
MIttees that have been constItuted for 
the purposes of IndIvIdual and overall per-
forMance assessMent of the executIve 
MeMbers, consIderatIon on the govern-
ance systeM that has been adopted by the 
coMpany and the IdentIfIcatIon of potentIal 
candIdates wIth the professIonal profIle 
fIttIng the MeMber posItIon  

To date, the Company has not appointed any special commit-
tee to assess the individual and global performance of execu-
tive Directors, ponder on the adopted governance model and 
identify potential candidates with a professional profile for the 
position of Director.

II.37. 
nuMber of MeetIngs held by the coMMIt-
tees that have been constItuted for Man-
ageMent and supervIsIon durIng the perIod 
concerned, as well as reference to the 
MInutes of saId MeetIngs that have been 
held 

During the course of 2011, the Executive Committee of the 
Board of Directors held 19 meetings.

During the course of 2011, the Audit Committee of the Board of 
Directors held 11 meetings.

Minutes of all those meetings of the referred committees were 
drawn up and are duly written in a special book organized to 
the effect. 

II.38. 
reference to the fact that one MeMber 
of the reMuneratIon coMMIttee has knowl-
edge and experIence In reMuneratIon polIcy 
Issues 

The Remunerations Committee is a statutory body for which, 
either in the mandate terminated on May 11, 2010 (mandate 
from 2007 to 2009) or in the mandate of 2010 to 2012, individuals 
or entities with experience in remunerations policy have been 
appointed.
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For the present mandate, the following appointments were made to constitute this Committee: as Chairman, Mário Alberto Duarte 
Donas and two members to be appointed by corporate shareholders Parpública – Participações Públicas SGPS, SA and Millennium 
BCP which have indicated to the effect the names of Maria Amália Freire de Almeida and Rui Manuel Alexandre lopes, respectively.
 
The resolutions of the Remunerations Committee are reasoned and written in a special book.

II.39. 
reference to the Independency of natural or legal persons wIth an eMployMent contract 
or provIdIng servIces to the reMuneratIon coMMIttee, as regards the board of dIrectors 
as well as, when applIcable, to the fact that these persons have an exIstIng relatIon wIth 
the coMpany consultant  

none of the members of the Remunerations Committee has an employment contract or services to the Company and do not have an 
existing relation with the company consultant.

Moreover, the Remunerations Committee did not hire a person or entity to support it within the scope of its duties that rendered ser-
vices over the last three years to any structure depending on the Board of Directors, the Board of Directors itself or that may have a 
current relation with the company consultant.
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III.1. 
the equIty structure IncludIng those shares that are not adMItted to tradIng, the 
dIfferent category of shares, rIghts and dutIes of these shares and the equIty 
percentage that each category represents  

The share capital of the Company is represented by 150,000,000 ordinary shares with no face value and a 1 1 emission value and 
300,980,441 preferred shares with no voting right, no face value and 1 0.18 emission value. All shares are listed in the Euronext 
Stock Exchange.

All shares give their respective owners the same right to participate on the results of the company, being considered that the 
preferred shares, due to its nature, have a dividend preference corresponding to 5% of their emission value, being the remaining 
dividend distributed in the proportion of ordinary and preferred shares owners.

All ordinary share qualify for the same voting rights – 1 vote per share.  

III.2.
qualIfyIng holdIngs In the Issuer’s equIty calculated as per artIcle 20 of the securItIes 
code  

 

III.3.
IdentIfIcatIon of the shareholders that hold specIal rIghts and a descrIptIon of those 

rIghts  

no shareholders are entitled to special rights.

chapter III 
InFORMATIOn AnD AUDITInG

VOTING 
RIGhTS

49 084 738
27 361 310
3 000 000

NuMBER OF ORDINARy 
ShARES

49 084 738
27 361 310
3 000 000

PERCENTAGE
OF VOTING RIGhTS

32,72%
18,24%

 2,0%

   
Parpública
Millennium Bcp
nova Expressão SGPS, SA
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III.4. 
possIble restrIctIons on share-transfer 
I.e. consent clauses for theIr dIsposal or 
restrIctIons on share-ownershIp 

There are no restrictions to the free transfer of ownership of 
the shares other than the ones arising from the applicable law 
(namely the obligation to launch a public tender offering  when 
the shareholder ownership exceeds 1/3 or ½ of the total voting 
rights). 

III.5. 
shareholder agreeMents that the coMpany 
May be aware of and that May restrIct the 
transfer of securItIes or votIng rIghts  

The Company is not aware of any shareholder agreements that 
may restrict the free transfer of securities or voting rights.

III.6. 
rules applIcable to the aMendMent of the 
artIcles of assocIatIon

The amendment of the articles of association is exclusively 
ruled by the provisions of the Companies Act, as follows:

•	 In terms of quorum:

•	 The General Meeting shall meet at first call whenever a 
number of shareholders or their representatives, whose 
holdings represent at least 1/3 of share capital are in at-
tendance (Article 383, paragraph 2 of the Bylaws);

•	 Resolutions passed at a meeting held at second call 
shall be deemed valid regradless of the number of 
shareholders in attendance or duly represented and 
whichever the percentage of share capital their holdings 
may represent (Article 383, paragraph 3 of the Bylaws).

•	 In terms of resolution majorities:

•	 At a first call, resolutions require a majority of 2/3 of the 
issued votes (Article 386, paragraph 3 of the Bylaws);

•	 At second call, the resolutions on statutory changes re-
quire approval, as follows:

•	 A majority of 2/3 of the issued votes (Article 386, para-
graph 3); 
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•	 A simple majority of the votes provided that the reso-
lutions are based on a minimum number of attend-
ing shareholders or duly represented in the General 
Meeting that hold, at least half of the share capital 
(Article 386, paragraph 4 of the Bylaws).

III.7. 
control MechanIsMs for a possIble eMploy-
ee-shareholder systeM In as Much as the 
votIng rIghts are not dIrectly exercIsed 
by theM

The Company does not have any stock option scheme to award 
shares in the capital of the Company to its personnel.

III.8. 
descrIptIon concernIng the evolutIon of 
the Issuer’s share prIce and takIng the
followIng Into account:

III.8.1. 
the issuanCe of shares or other seCurities that 
entitle the suBsCription or aCQuisition of shares

The Company in October of 2011 has issued 300,980,441 pre-
ferred shares with no voting right, no face value and an emis-
sion value of 10.18 each.

III.8.2. 
the outCome announCement

In the transaction periods that followed to the announcement 
of the Company’s outcome there were slight movements on 
its earnings performance. In the total year, the shares traded 
registered a fall of 63%.

III.8.3. 
the dividend payment for eaCh share CateGory 
inCludinG the net value per share

The Company did not distribute dividends to its shareholders.

III.9. 
descrIptIon of the dIvIdend dIstrIbutIon 
polIcy adopted by the coMpany, IncludIng 
the dIvIdend value per share dIstrIbuted 
durIng the last three perIods

Over the last three financial years, the Company paid no divi-
dends to shareholders.
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III.10. 
a descrIptIon of the MaIn characterIstIcs 
of the share and stock-optIon plans 
adopted or valId for the fInancIal year 
In questIon, the reason for adoptIng saId 
scheMe and detaIls of the category and 
nuMber of persons Included In the scheMe, 
share-assIgnMent condItIons, non-transfer 
of share clauses, crIterIa on share-prIcIng 
and the exercIsIng optIon prIce, the perIod 
durIng whIch the optIons May be exercIsed, 
the characterIstIcs of the shares to be 
allocated, the exIstence of IncentIves to 
purchase and/or exercIse optIons, and the 
responsIbIlItIes of the board of dIrectors 
for executIng and/or changIng the plan

The Company has not approved any scheme to allocate shares 
or options to buy shares for the financial year in question.

III.10.1. 
the numBer of shares reQuired for the share 
allotment and the numBer of shares reQuired 
for the exerCise of the exerCisaBle options at 
the start and end of the year in Question 

not applicable, according to what is stated in III.10.

III.10.2. 
the numBer of allotted, exerCisaBle and extinCt 
shares durinG the year  

not applicable, according to what is stated in III.10.

III.10.3. 
the General meetinGs’ appraisal of the plans 
adopted or in forCe durinG the period in Ques-
tion  

not applicable, according to what is stated in III.10.

III.11. 
a descrIptIon of the MaIn data on busI-
ness deals and transactIons carrIed out 
between the coMpany and between the 
MeMbers of the ManageMent and supervI-
sory board or coMpanIes In a control or 
group relatIonshIp, provIded the aMount 
Is econoMIcally sIgnIfIcant for any of the 
partIes Involved, except for those busI-
ness deals or transactIons that are cu-
MulatIvely consIdered wIthIn the bounds 
of norMal Market condItIons for sIMIlar 

iNfORmATiON ANd AudiTiNG

transactIons and are part of the coMpany’s 
current busIness  

no business or transactions were entered into by the Company 
and/or its subsidiaries and the members of its board of direc-
tors and supervisory board during the financial year under 
analysis.

III.12. 
a descrIptIon of the vItal data on busIness 
deals and transactIons carrIed out In the 
absence of norMal Market condItIons 
between coMpanIes and owners of qualIfyIng 
holdIngs or entIty-relatIonshIps wIth the 
forMer, as envIsaged In artIcle 20 of the 
securItIes code  

no business or transactions, out of normal market conditions, 
were entered into by the Company and owners of qualifying 
sholdings or entity relationships with the former, as envisaged 
in Article 20 of the CVM (Securities Code).

III.13. 
a descrIptIon of the procedures and 
crIterIa applIcable to the supervIsory body 
when saMe provIdes prelIMInary assessMent 
of the busIness deals to be carrIed out 
between the coMpany and the owners of 
qualIfyIng holdIngs or entIty-relatIonshIps 
wIth the forMer, as envIsaged In artIcle 20 
of the securItIes code  

The Board of Directors of Inapa – Investimentos, Participações 
e Gestão, SA has approved, on proposal of the Audit Committee, 
regulations related to business deals to be carried out be-
tween the Company and entity relationships with the former.

For purposes of the aforementioned regulations, the owners 
of qualifying holdings or entity relationships as well as the 
Company board members and/or of its subsidiaries are con-
sidered, under the terms of Article 20 of the CVM (Securities 
Code).

With such regulations it has been defined, as object of specific 
supervisory duties of the Audit Committee, the deals carried 
out between those entities and the Company and/or its sub-
sidiary companies establishing three supervisory actions:

•	 Previous binding recommendation;
•	 Previous recommendation;
•	 A posteriori appraisal.
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Under the terms of the referred regulations, the deals to be 
carried out between the Company board members and/or of 
its subsidiary companies with the Company or subsidiaries, 
are subjected to previous and binding recommendation of the 
Audit Committee, with exception of the deals within the scope 
of the company’s business itself, in which no special advan-
tage is granted to the persons in question.

The relevant deals or transactions to be carried out between 
the Company and/or its subsidiary companies with owners of 
qualifying holdings or entity relationships with the former are 
subjected to previous recommendation, in conformance with 
Article 20 of CVM (Securities Code).

Given the situation of the Company and its subsidiary com-
panies, and following an advise of the External Auditor, the 
following limits have been fixed, after which the business or 
transactions are deemed as significantly relevant: 

TyPE OF TRANSACTION LIMIT

Purchasing and selling of goods and services       750 000,00
Financial investments   5 000 000,00
loans and other type of funding, excluding 
simple renewals                    10 000 000,00
Other transactions  500 000,00
  

notwithstanding the aforementioned criteria, the deals or 
transactions with owners of qualifying holdings or entity rela-
tionships with the former that, due to its nature, value or con-
ditions may have particular relevance in terms of transparency 
and/or conflict of interests, are also subject to a previous rec-
ommendation of the Audit Committee.

Finally, it is stated in the referred regulations that all trans-
actions with entities having a relationship with the Company 
that do not require a previous recommendation of the Audit 
Committe (either binding or not) are compulsorily submitted 
to the appraisal by this supervisory body and, for this effect, 
shall be notified up to the end of the month subsequent to said 
transactions.

In addition, the regulations stipulate that the Audit Committee 
shall deem the reasonability and transparency of the busi-
ness and transactions submitted to its appraisal, namely in 
what regards to pursuing the interests of the Company and its 
subsidiary companies, taking into account the normal market 
conditions where such operations are carried out and that they 
do not provide, directly or indirectly, a more favourable treat-
ment than the one obtained by third parties under equal cir-
cumstances and, in the case of owners of qualifying holdings 
or entity relationships with the former, an unfair treatment in 
relation to the other shareholders. 

1

1

1

1

III.14. 
a descrIptIon of the statIstIcal data (nuM-
ber, average and MaxIMuM values) on the 
busIness deals subject to prelIMInary opIn-
Ion by the supervIsory board

During the course of the financial year under analysis, there 
were no deals or transactions carried out between the 
Company and/or companies related with its board members.

During the course of the financial year under analysis, there 
were no deals or transactions between the Company and/or 
its subsidiary companies and owners of qualifying holdings 
and/or entity relationships with the former that, for its nature 
and value, fit the limits mentioned in the previous paragraph 
or that, by its nature, value or conditions may have particular 
relevance in terms of transparency and/or conflict of interests.

III.15. 
IndIcatIon of the avaIlabIlIty on the coM-
pany’s websIte, of annual actIvIty reports 
drawn up by the general and supervIsory 
board, by the fInancIal Matters coMMIttee, 
the audIt coMMIttee and the supervIsory 
board, IncludIng constraInts that MIght be 
encountered, as well as fInancIal InforMa-
tIon docuMents

The annual reports on the activities developed by the Audit 
Committee, including a reference to any constraints they may 
have faced, are available to the interested parties at the com-
pany’s website: www.inapa.pt, together with the Annual Report 
and Accounts.

III.16. 
reference to an Investor assIstance unIt 
or a sIMIlar servIce, descrIbIng

The Company has an Investor Relations Office headed by the 
responsible for relations with the market.

III.16.1. 
the role of said offiCe 

To provide all investors – corporate or particular – with the 
most complete and accurate information, in the strict respect 
for the applicable legislation, concerning the corporate struc-
ture of the Company and the Group, on the rights and duties 
of the shareholders in conformance with the legislation and 
the Company’s Articles of Association, on its financial and eco-
nomic situation according to the disclosed elements and the 
indication of the probable calendar of the most relevant events 
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of corporate initiative.

To provide investors, in due respect for applicable legislation, 
with any additional or complementary information and clarifi-
cation they may ask for. 

III.16.2. 
type of information made availaBle 

The Office provides interested parties with a wide range of in-
formation divulged by the Company on corporate and financial 
and economic nature on the course of, at least, the three pre-
vious years. 

III.16.3. 
aCCess means to said offiCe 

By post to: Rua Castilho, n.º 44 -3 .º, 1250-071 Lisboa
By fax:  + 351 21 382 30 16
By telephone: + 351 21 382 30 07
By e-mail: hugo.rua@inapa.pt

III.16.4.
the Company’s weBsite

The corporate website on the internet is: www.inapa.pt

III.16.5.
the marKet liaison offiCer’s Credentials  

The Company’s representative for market relations is Mr. 
Hugo Duarte de Oliveira Rua.

III.17.
IndIcatIon of the annual coMpensatIon paId 
to the audItor and to other IndIvIduals or 
groups that belong to the saMe network 
supported by the coMpany and/or by any 
group that bears wIth It a control or 
group relatIonshIp and the percentage of 
the total aMount paId for the followIng 
servIces

III.17.1. 
statutory aCCount review serviCes 

The fees paid during the financial year of 2011 to the external 
auditor (and to other individual or corporate entities belonging 
to the same network) supported by the company or companies 
that bear with it a control or group relationship amounted to 
555,502 Euros.

iNfORmATiON ANd AudiTiNG

III.17.2. 
other audit reliaBility serviCes 

The fees to be supported by the company or companies that 
bear with it a control or group relationship amounted to 11,233 
Euros. 

The object of the services rendered was essentialy related with 
the support on the elaboration of the subsidiaries annual re-
ports and the process of refinancing the securitization. 

III.17.3. 
tax ConsultinG serviCes 

The external auditors (and/or individual or corporate entities 
belonging to the same network) rendered tax consultancy ser-
vices, in 2011, in the amount of 11,100 Euros.

The services consisted in the specific revision of the annual 
corporate income tax declaration and tax support.

The possible conflict between providing these services and 
the independence of the external auditor has been duly con-
sidered, and the Company concluded that his independence 
would not be affected for the following reasons: 

•	 The very limited remuneration considering the total 
amount due for the auditing services provided;

•	 The attribution of these services to a work team not 
only independent in relation to the team performing the 
auditing services but also being part of an autonomous 
sector that does not depend on the audit department of 
this entity.

III.17.4. 
other non-statutory auditinG serviCes

In addition to the services mentioned in the previous para-
graph, no other services were rendered by the external audi-
tor (and individual or corporate entities belonging to the same 
network) to the Company or to companies it controls.

III.18. 
reference to the external audItor’s rota-
tIon perIod

The Chartered Accountant and external auditor is presently 
serving his second mandate, after being appointed for these 
duties on May 31, 2007, in substitution of the company Grant 
Thornton.
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